# Regularisation and Long-Time Behaviour of Random Systems

Dissertation

zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades Doktor der Mathematik (Dr. math.)

Eingereicht von

Andre Schenke

Fakultät für Mathematik Universität Bielefeld Dezember 2019

ABSTRACT. In this work, we study several different aspects of systems modelled by partial differential equations (PDEs), both deterministic and stochastically perturbed. The thesis is structured as follows:

Chapter I gives a summary of the contents of this work and illustrates the main results and ideas of the rest of the thesis.

Chapter II is devoted to a new model for the flow of an electrically conducting fluid through a porous medium, the tamed magnetohydrodynamics (TMHD) equations. After a survey of regularisation schemes of fluid dynamical equations, we give a physical motivation for our system. We then proceed to prove existence and uniqueness of a strong solution to the TMHD equations, prove that smooth data lead to smooth solutions and finally show that if the onset of the effect of the taming term is deferred indefinitely, the solutions to the tamed equations converge to a weak solution of the MHD equations.

In Chapter III we investigate a stochastically perturbed tamed MHD (STMHD) equation as a model for turbulent flows of electrically conducting fluids through porous media. We consider both the problem posed on the full space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  as well as the problem with periodic boundary conditions. We prove existence of a unique strong solution to these equations as well as the Feller property for the associated semigroup. In the case of periodic boundary conditions, we also prove existence of an invariant measure for the semigroup.

The last chapter deals with the long-time behaviour of solutions to SPDEs with locally monotone coefficients with additive Lévy noise. Under quite general assumptions, we prove existence of a random dynamical system as well as a random attractor. This serves as a unifying framework for a large class of examples, including stochastic Burgers-type equations, stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equations, the stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model, stochastic power law fluids, the stochastic Ladyzhenskaya model, stochastic Cahn-Hilliard-type equations, stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky-type equations, stochastic porous media equations and stochastic p-Laplace equations.

# Contents

Chapter I. Introduction and Motivation	V
1. Tamed MHD Equations - Deterministic and Stochastic	V
2. Random Dynamical Systems and Random Attractors	vii
3. Acknowledgements	viii
Chapter II. The Deterministic Tamed MHD Equations	1
1. Introduction	1
1.1. Magnetohydrodynamics	1
1.2. Regularised Fluid Dynamical Equations	2
1.2.1. Mollifying the Nonlinearity and the Force	4
1.2.2. Leray- $\alpha$ Model and Related Models (Clark- $\alpha$ , LANS,)	4
1.2.3. A Cutoff Scheme due to Yoshida and Giga	4
1.2.4. Globally Modified Navier-Stokes Equations	5
1.2.5. Regularisation by Delay	5
1.2.6. Lions' Hyperviscosity Method	6
1.2.7. Navier-Stokes-Voigt Equations	6
1.2.8. Damped Navier-Stokes Equations (or Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended	
Darcy Models)	6
1.3. The Tamed Equations	7
1.3.1. Physical Motivation	7
1.3.2. Mathematical Motivation	10
1.3.3. Review of Results for Tamed Navier-Stokes Equations	10
1.3.4. The Magnetic Pressure Problem	10
1.3.5. The Magnetic Field: To Regularise or Not to Regularise?	12
1.3.6. The Tamed MHD Equations	12
1.4. Results and Structure of This Chapter	13
1.5. Notation	15
2. The Case of the Whole Space	15
2.1. Auxiliary Results	15
<ul><li>2.2. Existence and Uniqueness of Weak Solutions</li><li>2.3. Existence, Uniqueness and Regularity of a Strong Solution</li></ul>	21
	32 39
2.4. Convergence to the Untamed MHD Equations	39
Chapter III. The Stochastic Tamed MHD Equations	49
1. Introduction	49
1.1. Regularisation of Fluid Dynamical Equations	51
1.1.1. Leray- $\alpha$ Model	51
1.1.2. Globally Modified Navier-Stokes Equations	52
1.1.3. Regularisation by Delay	52
1.1.4. Lions' Hyperviscosity Method	52
1.1.5. Navier-Stokes-Voigt Equations	52

iv CONTENTS

1.1.6. Damped Navier-Stokes Equations (or Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended	
Darcy Models)	53
1.2. Results and Structure of This Chapter	54
2. Preliminaries	55
2.1. Notation and Assumptions	55
2.2. Estimates on the Operators $\mathcal{A}$ and $\mathcal{B}$	58
2.3. A Tightness Criterion	64
3. Existence and Uniqueness of Strong Solutions	67
3.1. Weak and Strong Solutions	67
3.2. Pathwise Uniqueness	72
3.3. Existence of Martingale Solutions	75
3.4. Proof of Theorem 1.1	87
4. Feller Property and Existence of Invariant Measures	87
Chapter IV. Dynamical Systems and Random Attractors	95
1. Introduction	95
1.1. Literature	97
1.2. Overview	97
2. Main Framework	97
3. Strictly Stationary Solutions for Monotone SPDE	96
4. Generation of Random Dynamical Systems	103
5. Existence of a Random Attractor	108
6. Examples	109
6.1. Stochastic Burgers-type and Reaction-Diffusion Equations	110
6.2. Stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes Equation and Other Hydrodynamical Models	112
6.3. Stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$ Model	113
6.4. Stochastic Power Law Fluids	114
6.5. Stochastic Ladyzhenskaya Model	116
6.6. Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard-type Equations	119
6.7. Stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky Equation	120
6.8. SPDE with Monotone Coefficients	121
7. Existence and Uniqueness of Solutions to Locally Monotone PDE	122
Appendices	123
A. $L^p$ Solutions and Integral Equations	125
A.1. A Divergence-Free Solution to the Heat Equation on the Whole Space	125
A.2. Equivalence of Weak Solutions to the MHD Equations and Solutions to the	,
Integral Equation	128
A.3. Regularity of Solutions to the Integral Equation	132
B. A Note on Vector Calculus	135
B.1. Gradient of a Vector – Navier-Stokes Case	135
B.2. Gradient of a Vector – MHD Case	135
C. Stochastic Flows and Random Dynamical Systems	136
Bibliography	141

#### CHAPTER I

#### **Introduction and Motivation**

Random phenomena occur in numerous places in nature and society. They can often be modelled by partial differential equations perturbed by a noise term.

In this thesis, we analyse several different facets of (S)PDE models, ranging from well-posedness and regularity to their long-time behaviour. Many, but not all, of the models considered here have their origin and their main applications in fluid dynamics.

The chapters are written in a self-contained way and can largely be read independently from each other. This chapter serves to give a short overview of the contents of each of the following chapters and some of the main ideas used there.

### 1. Tamed MHD Equations - Deterministic and Stochastic

The first two chapters of this thesis deal with a regularised version of the magnetohydrodynamics (MHD) equations, which we call the *tamed MHD* (TMHD) *equations* and which are of the form

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{Re} \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + S \left( \boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{S|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{v}, 
\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{Rm} \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{B}.$$

Here  $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(x,t)$  denotes the velocity field of the fluid,  $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}(x,t)$  its magnetic field and p = p(x,t) the pressure, for points x in a domain  $\mathbb{D} \subseteq \mathbb{R}^3$ . For the appearance of the additional term  $\pi = \pi(x,t)$ , which arises from introducing the taming term into the equation for the magnetic field and to which we refer to as the "magnetic pressure", cf. Chapter II, Section 1.3.4. The numbers Re, Rm > 0 are the Reynolds numbers of the velocity field and the magnetic field, and S > 0 denotes the Lundquist number. The parameter N models the onset of an additional restoring force, i.e. the size of the norm of the fields needed for the additional force to kick in. The function  $g_N$  is smooth, equal to zero for small arguments and, after a short onset, for arguments of order N and greater it starts to grow linearly. A more precise definition is given in Chapter II, Section 1.3.6.

This new system of equations is a generalisation of the tamed Navier-Stokes equations of M. Röckner, X.C. Zhang and T.S. Zhang, cf. [194–197,250], to the MHD case.

The MHD equations (where  $g_N \equiv 0$ ) are an important model in the field of fluid dynamics, which describes the flow of a fluid consisting of electrically conducting particles (e.g. a liquid metal or a plasma). They share many traits with the related Navier-Stokes equations (where  $\mathbf{B} = 0$ ), and the uniqueness and regularity of their solutions are open problems to this day. To address this issue, different regularisation schemes have been proposed in the past, starting with the classical work of J. Leray [148] for the Navier-Stokes equations. They aim at making the equations more amenable to analysis by changing them, either by modifying the terms (weakening the influence of the nonlinear convective terms, or strengthening the linear dissipative term) or adding additional regularising terms.

These changes then ensure that the resulting equations become well-posed, and one often can prove that if one makes the effect of the regularisation smaller and smaller, their solutions converge to weak solutions of the non-regularised equations. Moreover, in many models, the long-time behaviour of the regularised and the non-regularised equations can be shown to coincide.

We start in each of the two chapters by giving a relatively detailed (though by no means complete) overview of the existing literature of regularisation schemes for Navier-Stokes as well as MHD equations in the introductions of the chapters, comparing different schemes with each other and embedding our own results into the broader context.

Apart from being a regularised version of the MHD equations, the tamed equations are of their own interest. As a special case of (a magnetohydrodynamical) version of the so-called Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy model, they describe the flow of an electrically conducting fluid through porous media. The tamed equations have the property that bounded solutions to the MHD equations – if they exist, which has yet to be shown – coincide with solutions to the TMHD equations, a fact that does not necessarily hold for other regularisation schemes.

In Chapter II, we then proceed to study the deterministic tamed MHD equations. After providing the necessary tools in a preparatory section as well as in Appendix A, and defining the notion of weak solution, we prove existence and uniqueness of such weak solutions to the TMHD equations by a Faedo-Galerkin approximation scheme. We then prove that not only uniqueness holds for weak solutions but that for sufficiently smooth initial data, the solutions of the TMHD equations are smooth themselves, i.e. a regularity statement. For the untamed equations, similar regularity results are unknown. Finally, we prove that the solution to the tamed equations converges to a suitable weak solution of the untamed MHD equations as the onset of the taming force is deferred indefinitely, i.e. as N tends to infinity.

In Chapter III, we consider stochastically perturbed TMHD equations, both on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and on the torus  $\mathbb{T}^3$ , given by<sup>1</sup>

$$d\mathbf{v} = \left[ \Delta \mathbf{v} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \mathbf{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{S|\mathbf{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{B})|^2) \mathbf{v} \right] dt$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_k(t) \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \nabla p_k(t) + \boldsymbol{h}_k(t, y(t)) \right] dW_t^k + \boldsymbol{f}_v(t, y(t)) dt,$$

$$d\mathbf{B} = \left[ \Delta \mathbf{B} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \mathbf{B} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{B})|^2) \mathbf{B} \right] dt$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ (\bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_k(t) \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B} + \nabla \pi_k(t) + \bar{\boldsymbol{h}}_k(t, y(t)) \right] d\tilde{W}_t^k + \boldsymbol{f}_B(t, y(t)) dt.$$

We study problems of existence and uniqueness, more precisely, we study existence of a probabilistically weak solution, prove pathwise uniqueness and then conclude that there exists a unique (probabilistically) strong solution to the problem by employing the theorem of Yamada and Watanabe. In the time-homogeneous case, the well-posedness ensures that the solution to our equation is a Markov process and hence we can define an associated operator semigroup. This semigroup is then proven to be a Feller semigroup, which means that it maps the space of bounded and locally uniformly continuous functions to itself. Furthermore, we prove that in the periodic case there exists an invariant measure for the problem.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that we have set all the parameters Re, Rm, S appearing in the equations to unity.

#### 2. Random Dynamical Systems and Random Attractors

Dynamical systems can exhibit very complicated behaviour on short timescales. On longer timescales, however, their behaviour often simplifies considerably by being confined to a small subset of phase space, called an *attractor*. Although these attractors themselves can still be very intricate objects, they nonetheless provide a simplification in many cases.

For systems subjected to randomness, the notion of a random attractor was proposed by H. Crauel and F. Flandoli in their 1994 paper [47], see also [45]. They have since then been studied extensively by many authors – their paper is the most highly cited article of the journal Probability Theory and Related Fields since its creation in 1962 – for a variety of different systems described by stochastic evolution equations (a more detailed overview is given in the introduction of Chapter IV). Many of the papers, albeit devoted to particular equations, follow the same patterns in proving existence of random attractors (and also random dynamical systems, the existence of which is a nontrivial task in itself, cf. [78]). In Chapter IV of this thesis we consider equations of the form

$$dX_t = A(X_t)dt + dN_t,$$

with a locally monotone operator  $A \colon V \to V^*$  and a Lévy process  $N_t \in H$ . Here, the spaces  $V, H, V^*$  form a so-called Gelfand triple, i.e.  $V \subset H \subset V^*$  with compact, dense embeddings. The compactness means, in the case that A is a differential operator, that the underlying domain on which our model is defined is bounded.

Typically, for the dynamics of a complex system to settle on a "small" set in phase space, one needs to have some dissipation effects in the system. This dissipativity is provided in our case by the locally monotone operator present in the evolution equation description of the system.

Within the variational or weak solution framework for stochastic equations, the case of monotone operators was treated by B. Gess in [94], who generalised an earlier work the porous medium equations by W.-J. Beyn, B. Gess, P. Lescot and M. Röckner [17]. In a joint work [98] with B. Gess as well as W. Liu, the author has worked on showing existence of random dynamical systems as well as random attractors for equations with locally monotone coefficients driven by additive Lévy noise. We generalised the idea of [94], especially the introduction of a nonlinear Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process generated by the strongly monotone part of the equation, which ensures sufficient regularity to allow for a transformation of the equation into a deterministic PDE with random coefficients, which in turn can be treated pathwise by methods from the deterministic theory of dynamical systems. Then we can undo this transformation and obtain existence of a random dynamical system for the stochastic equation. Random attractors are obtained by using the a priori estimates to show there exists an absorbing set. Using the compactness of the flow (which in the variational setting follows immediately from the compactness of the embeddings in the Gelfand triple), we prove that this absorbing set is in fact compact, which is equivalent to the existence of a random attractor, cf. [44].

Our methods apply to a wide range of equations from different areas of science. They include stochastic reaction-diffusion equations, stochastic Burgers-type equations, stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equations, the stochastic Leray- $\alpha$  model, stochastic power law fluids, the stochastic Ladyzhenskaya model, stochastic Cahn-Hilliard-type equations as well as stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky-type equations. And, of course, those equations with (weakly) monotone coefficients from [94] satisfy the conditions of our theorems and hence we also cover generalised p-Laplace equations, as well as generalised porous media equations. In each of these examples, we can prove the existence of a random dynamical system and a random attractor, in some range of the parameters of each model.

We tried to find the largest possible such range for the models considered. The results were in several cases, but not always, known before, and can of course be improved when one exploits features particular to each model. For most of the examples considered, results in the generality (especially concerning the noise considered here) are new, e.g. for the Burgers-type equations, the 2D Navier-Stokes equations, the hydrodynamical systems of I.D. Chueshov and A. Millet [40,41] including the Leray- $\alpha$  model, where existence of a random attractor, to the best of the author's knowledge, has not been shown before. The same holds for the Cahn-Hilliard-type equations as well as the Kuramoto-Sivashinsky-type equations. Further discussions of each example can be found in Chapter IV, Section 6. We consider our main contribution to be a unifying framework for dealing with this large class of equations.

Proving the existence of random attractors is only one of several steps towards a full understanding of the long-term dynamics of random dynamical systems. Next steps would include estimating the Lyapunov exponents (i.e. how fast neighbouring trajectories diverge), the exponential decay of the volume element as well as estimating the dimension of the attractor (which can be infinite, as it lies in a space of functions). For more information on this programme, cf. [213]. In this thesis, however, we confine ourselves to proving the existence of random attractors.

#### 3. Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express my deep gratitude to my advisor Prof. Dr. Michael Röckner for his support and helpful advice during the last several years. His mentorship and his example, his lectures and discussions, have shaped significantly who I am today.

I would also like to thank Prof. Dr. Benjamin Gess and Prof. Dr. Felix Otto as well as the many other people I have met their for their hospitality during my stays at the Max Planck Institute for Mathematics in the Sciences in Leipzig, the result of which is the last chapter of this thesis.

Many thanks go to the team of the IRTG 2235 for their enduring support. In particular, Prof. Dr. Moritz Kaßmann and Prof. Dr. Panki Kim who established the programme, as well as Claudia Köhler, Nadine Brehme, Anke Bodzin and Rebecca Reischuk who provided the organisational support. Moreover, I wish to express my gratitude to all the Korean members of the IRTG 2235, researchers and PhD students alike, for their great hospitality during our stay at Seoul National University. In particular, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Kyeonghun Kim of Korea University and Prof. Dr. Gerald Trutnau for their patient support and for hosting me during that time.

I would also like to acknowledge the financial support by the German Research Foundation (DFG) through the IRTG 2235, without which my studied and this wonderful research stay in Korea would not have been possible.

Without the support of my colleagues and friends within and without the IRTG 2235, doing this PhD would have been much harder. I am particularly indebted to those who helped me with the many issues during the process of writing this thesis such as proof-reading, for which I would like to thank Peter Kuchling, Chengcheng Ling and Arthur Sinulis. Thanks go also to my office mates and all members of the Stochastic Analysis working group in Bielefeld.

Furthermore, I would like to thank the kind stranger, whose name I never asked, who convinced me fifteen years ago that mathematics was something worthwhile pursuing, as well as my teachers, mentors and advisors since then who proved to me that he was right.

Finally, I want to express my heartfelt gratitude to my wife Maren and my family who supported me all the time without any hesitation.

#### CHAPTER II

# The Deterministic Tamed MHD Equations

ABSTRACT. We study a regularised version of the MHD equations, the tamed MHD (TMHD) equations. They describe the flow of electrically conducting fluids through porous media and have the property that bounded solutions to the MHD system also satisfy the tamed equations. Thus, these (hypothetical) solutions may be studied through the study of the tamed equations. We first give a review of the literature on regularised fluid dynamical equations. Then we prove existence and uniqueness of TMHD on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , that smooth data give rise to smooth solutions, and show that solutions to TMHD converge to a suitable weak solution of the MHD equations as the taming parameter N tends to infinity. Furthermore, we adapt a regularity result for the Navier-Stokes equations to the MHD case.

#### 1. Introduction

1.1. Magnetohydrodynamics. The magnetohydrodynamics (MHD) equations describe the dynamic motion of electrically conducting fluids. They combine the equations of motion for fluids (Navier-Stokes equations) with the field equations of electromagnetic fields (Maxwell's equations), coupled via Ohm's law. In plasma physics, the equations are a macroscopic model for plasmas in that they deal with averaged quantities and assume the fluid to be a continuum with frequent collisions. Both approximations are not met in hot plasmas. Nonetheless, the MHD equations provide a good description of the low-frequency, long-wavelength dynamics of real plasmas. In this thesis, we consider the incompressible, viscous, resistive equations with homogeneous mass density, and regularised variants of it. In dimensionless formulation, the MHD equations are of the following form:

(1.1) 
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{Re} \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + S \left( \boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{S|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right),$$

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{Rm} \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}$$

$$\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v} = 0, \quad \operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{B} = 0.$$

Here,  $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(x,t)$ ,  $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}(x,t)$  denote the velocity and magnetic fields, p = p(x,t) is the pressure, Re > 0, Rm > 0 are the Reynolds number and the magnetic Reynolds number and S > 0 denotes the Lundquist number (all of which are dimensionless constants). The two last equations concerning the divergence-freeness of the velocity and magnetic field are the incompressibility of the flow and Maxwell's second equation. Mathematical treatment of the deterministic MHD equations reaches back to the works of G. Duvaut and J.-L. Lions [65] and M. Sermange and R. Temam [201]. Since then, a large amount of papers have been devoted to the subject. We only mention several interesting regularity criteria [30, 111, 112, 126] and the more recent work on non-resistive MHD equations  $(Rm = \infty)$  by C.L. Fefferman, D.S. McCormick J.C. Robinson and J.L. Rodrigo on local existence via higher-order commutator estimates [73, 74].

In this chapter, we want to study a regularised version of the MHD equations, which we call the *tamed MHD equations* (TMHD), following M. Röckner and X.C. Zhang [197]. They arise from (1.1) by adding two extra terms (the *taming terms*) that act as restoring forces:

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{Re} \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + S \left( \boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla \right) \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{S|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{v},$$

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \frac{1}{Rm} \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{B}.$$

The taming terms are discussed in more detail in Section 1.3, and we discuss the results of this chapter in Section 1.4. The extra term  $\nabla \pi$ , which we call the magnetic pressure, will be explained in Section 1.3.4. However, before we study the tamed equations, we want to give an overview of regularisation schemes for the Navier-Stokes and the MHD equations to put our model into the broader context of the mathematical literature.

We consider both the case of the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  (Cauchy problem) as well as that of a bounded, smooth domain with zero boundary conditions (Dirichlet problem), but treat each case with different methods due to the lack of compactness of embeddings of the associated function spaces in the former case.

1.2. Regularised Fluid Dynamical Equations. Since the question of global well-posedness still remains an open problem for the Navier-Stokes and MHD equations alike, it has been suggested by different authors to regularise the equations to make them more tractable. We consider the following abstract evolution equation-type form of our equations which contains both the case of the Navier-Stokes as well as the MHD equations (more on deriving it in the case of the MHD equations is said in Chapter III, Section 2.1, cf. Equation (2.4)):

(1.2) 
$$\partial_t y = \mathcal{L}(y) + \mathcal{N}(y, y) + f, \quad \nabla \cdot y = 0.$$

Here,  $\mathcal{L}$  is a linear or nonlinear operator (usually related to the Stokes operator  $\frac{1}{Re}P\Delta$ , with Helmholtz-Leray projection  $P\colon L^2\to L^2\cap\operatorname{div}^{-1}(\{0\})$ ),  $\mathcal{N}$  is a bilinear operator, and f is a forcing term. Usually, the operator  $\mathcal{N}$  consists of terms of the form  $P\left[(\varphi\cdot\nabla)\psi\right]$ , where  $\varphi,\psi$  are vectors made of components of y. Using the divergence-freeness constraint, this may be rewritten as  $P\left[\nabla\cdot(\varphi\otimes\psi)\right]$ . The operator  $\nabla\cdot y$  has to be understood appropriately.

To be yet more precise, we focus on the following two cases:

- (i) Navier-Stokes equations. Here  $y = \mathbf{v}$  is the velocity field,  $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{Re}P\Delta$  and  $\mathcal{N}(y,y) = \mathcal{N}(\mathbf{v},\mathbf{v}) = -P(\mathbf{v}\cdot\nabla)\mathbf{v}$ , and  $\nabla\cdot y := \nabla\cdot\mathbf{v}$ .
- (ii) MHD equations. Here  $y = \begin{pmatrix} v \\ B \end{pmatrix}$ , with velocity field  $\boldsymbol{v}$  and magnetic field  $\boldsymbol{B}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}y := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{Re}P\Delta\boldsymbol{v} \\ \frac{1}{Rre}P\Delta\boldsymbol{B} \end{pmatrix},$

$$\mathcal{N}(y,y) := P \otimes P \begin{pmatrix} -(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} \\ -(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -P(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} + P(\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} \\ -P(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} + P(\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} \end{pmatrix},$$

and  $\nabla \cdot y = 0$  has to be understood in the following sense:

$$\nabla \cdot y = \begin{pmatrix} \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} \\ \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

There are two classes of regularisations in the literature that we want to consider here:

- (A) Modify the nonlinear term  $\mathcal{N}$ ;
- (B) Add regularising terms to the operator  $\mathcal{L}$ .

Note that all of the proposed models are equations different from the original model and their solutions thus in general do not coincide. We can at this stage only show a range of convergence results. These are usually of the form "if the smoothing terms vanish, we get convergence to a weak solution of the original equation" or "if the original equations possess a (weak) solution for all times, then, as  $t \to \infty$ , the regularised solution converges to a weak solution of the original equation".

There are, of course, several other ways (e.g. introducing artificial compressibility) of regularising the equations which we cannot all discuss here. It is also clear that one can combine several schemes with each other, and this has been done in the literature (e.g. there are Brinkman-Forchheimer-Voigt regularisations of the Navier-Stokes equations).

Name	Type	$\mathcal{L}(oldsymbol{v}) =$	$\mathcal{N}(oldsymbol{v}) =$
Mollifying nonlinearity	(A)	$P\Delta oldsymbol{v}$	$-P\left[\left(\left(\boldsymbol{v}*\rho_{\kappa}\right)\cdot\nabla\right)\boldsymbol{v}\right]$
Leray- $\alpha$ model	(A)	$P\Delta oldsymbol{v}$	$-P\left[\left(\left\{\left(I-\alpha^2\Delta\right)^{-1}\boldsymbol{v}\right\}\cdot\nabla\right)\boldsymbol{v}\right]$
Linear cutoff-scheme	(A)	$P\Delta oldsymbol{v}$	$-\psi_M(\ \Delta^{1/2}\boldsymbol{u}\ _{L^2})P\left[(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{u}\right]$
Globally modified NSE	(A)	$P\Delta oldsymbol{v}$	$-\min\left\{1, rac{N}{\ \Delta^{1/2} oldsymbol{u}\ _{L^2}} ight\} P\left[(oldsymbol{u} \cdot  abla) oldsymbol{u} ight]$
Regularisation by delay	(A)	$P\Delta oldsymbol{v}$	$-P\left[(\boldsymbol{v}(t-\mu,x)\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}(t,x)\right]$
Hyperviscosity	(B)	$P\left(\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \kappa(-\Delta)^{\ell/2}\boldsymbol{v}\right)$	$-P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$
Navier-Stokes-Voigt	(B)	$P\left(\Delta \boldsymbol{v} + \alpha^2 \Delta \partial_t \boldsymbol{v}\right)$	$-P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$
Damped	(B)	$P\left(\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha  \boldsymbol{v} ^{\beta-1} \boldsymbol{v}\right)$	$-P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$
Tamed	(B)	$P\left(\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - g_N( \boldsymbol{v} ^2)\boldsymbol{v}\right)$	$-P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$

Table 1. Overview of several regularisation schemes for the Navier-Stokes equations. We have set the viscosity  $\nu$  (and hence the Reynolds number Re) to one for simplicity.

We first give a brief survey of strategies of type (A), then of (B). This survey is not aimed at completeness, but just intended to give an overview of the topic of regularised Navier-Stokes and MHD equations. We would also like to draw attention to the survey article by P. Constantin [42], providing a more detailed view on the Navier-Stokes cases of several of the models discussed here. Furthermore, the paper [114] by M. Holst, E. Lunasin and G. Tsogtgerel contains a nice overview as well as a unified framework and many results for many regularised hydrodynamical equations, including MHD.

For ease of presentation, we restrict ourselves to reproducing the formulas only for the Navier-Stokes case and in the MHD case just provide references. The full adaptation to the MHD system can then be found in the references given. Furthermore, we set Re=1 for simplicity.

1.2.1. Mollifying the Nonlinearity and the Force. This classical example of a strategy of type (A) was already considered by J. Leray in his seminal 1934 paper [148]. Instead of  $\mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v}) := -P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$ , he considered the mollified nonlinearity

$$\mathcal{N}_{ ext{moll}}(oldsymbol{v}, oldsymbol{v}) := -P\left[\left(\left(oldsymbol{v} * 
ho_{\kappa}
ight) \cdot 
abla
ight) oldsymbol{v}
ight], \ oldsymbol{f}_{ ext{moll}} := oldsymbol{f} * 
ho_{\kappa},$$

where  $\kappa > 0$ ,  $\rho$  is a smooth, compactly supported function with  $\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \rho dx = 1$  and  $\rho_{\kappa}(x) := \kappa^{-3} \rho(x/\kappa)$ , i.e. a mollifier. The operator  $\mathbf{u} \mapsto \mathbf{u} * \rho_{\kappa}$  is sometimes called *filtering operator* (cf. [92,93] and [107], Sect. 2.3) as it filters out high spatial frequencies and thus maps  $(L^1(\mathcal{O}))^3$  to  $(C^{\infty}(\mathcal{O}))^3$ , at least for  $\mathcal{O} = \mathbb{T}^3$ , the torus.

This smoothing of the advection velocity allows one to prove the existence of a unique smooth solution, which converges to a weak solution of the original equation as  $\kappa \to 0$ . Moreover, as  $t \to \infty$ , for fixed  $\kappa > 0$ , these solutions converge in a suitable sense toward weak solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations. This result – at least so far – needs the assumption that the initial conditions and forces are "small" in a suitable norm, cf. M. Cannone, G. Karch [29].

1.2.2. Leray- $\alpha$  Model and Related Models (Clark- $\alpha$ , LANS, ...) Another way to regularise the nonlinearity consists in applying the smoothing (or filtering) operator  $(I - \alpha^2 \Delta)^{-1}$ , usually called Helmholtz filter, to the first factor of the nonlinearity. Thus

$$\mathcal{N}_{\text{Leray}-\alpha}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v}) := -P\left[\left(\left((I - \alpha^2 \Delta)^{-1} \boldsymbol{v}\right) \cdot \nabla\right) \boldsymbol{v}\right],$$
  
$$\boldsymbol{f}_{\text{Leray}-\alpha} := (I - \alpha^2 \Delta)^{-1} \boldsymbol{f}.$$

Intuitively, the smoothing operator has the effect of damping high (spatial) Fourier modes<sup>1</sup> k, which correspond to small length scales  $\ell \sim k^{-1}$ . As this appears in the convection term, it means that convection occurs only by large-scale features, usually called *large eddies*. Thus, the Leray- $\alpha$  model is an example of a large-eddy simulation (LES) model.

The model was proposed by A. Cheskidov, D.D. Holm, E. Olson and E.S. Titi in [39] (cf. [218] for more references). The resulting model for the Navier-Stokes equations is called  $Leray-\alpha$  model. For this equation there exists a unique global strong solution.

In the case of MHD equations, Leray- $\alpha$ -type models have been studied in several papers. The first paper seems to have been by J.S. Linshiz and E.S. Titi [159], where only the velocity field is filtered and periodic boundary conditions (i.e. posed on  $\mathbb{T}^3$ ) are applied.

Y.J. Yu and K.T. Li [247] proved existence and uniqueness of a global strong solution in three dimensions for periodic boundary conditions. They proposed to apply the above filtering to all advection terms occurring in the equations. For further results for related MHD  $\alpha$ -type models, see [70,129,130,181,229,247,261,262] and references therein.

Similar models in this direction include the Clark- $\alpha$  model, for more information cf. [102]. There is a rich literature on these so-called  $\alpha$ -models, see for example [114] or [146] and the references therein. We consider another example, the Navier-Stokes-Voigt equations, of this class of models in Section 1.2.7.

1.2.3. A Cutoff Scheme due to Yoshida and Giga. A third way to modify the non-linearity of our fluid dynamical equations consists in truncating it. This approach was pioneered by Z. Yoshida and Y. Giga in [243].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>As its Fourier transform is proportional to  $(1 + \alpha^2 |\mathbf{k}|^2)^{-1}$ , thus suppressing higher frequencies, i.e. higher  $|\mathbf{k}| = k$ .

They consider the case of a bounded domain  $\mathcal{O}$ , and a truncated operator equal to

$$\mathcal{N}_{YG}(\boldsymbol{u}) := \psi_M(\|\Delta^{1/2}\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^2})P\left[(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{u}\right],$$

with the following piecewise linear cutoff function

$$\psi_M(s) := \begin{cases} 1, & 0 \le s \le \frac{M}{2}, \\ 2(1 - \frac{s}{M}), & \frac{M}{2} < s < M \\ 0, & s \ge M. \end{cases}$$

This makes the operator  $\mathcal{L} + \mathcal{N}_{YG} - cM^4I$  hyperdissipative (cf. [133, 134]) in  $H := \mathbb{L}^2(\mathcal{O}) := L^2(\mathcal{O}) \cap \operatorname{div}^{-1}(\{0\})$  for sufficiently large constant c > 0, and hence one can apply nonlinear semigroup theory to find a unique global-in-time solution to the truncated system. For d = 2, this solution coincides with the global-in-time solution of the Navier-Stokes equations. For d = 3, this is only true locally in time, unless the initial data are small, in which case it gives a global (in time) solution to the Navier-Stokes equations.

It seems that this approach has not yet been applied to the case of MHD equations and neither do there exist stochastic versions of this equation in the literature.

1.2.4. Globally Modified Navier-Stokes Equations. A cutoff scheme similar to the one considered above was introduced by T. Caraballo, P.E. Kloeden and J. Real in [38]. They called the resulting equations the globally modified Navier-Stokes (GMNS) equations. They arise by introducing a different (nonlinear) cutoff function in the nonlinear term:

$$\mathcal{N}_{\text{GMNS}}(\boldsymbol{u}) := F_N(\|\Delta^{1/2}\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^2})P\left[(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{u}\right],$$

with the damping function  $(N \in (0, \infty))$  given by

$$F_N(r) := \min\left\{1, \frac{N}{r}\right\}.$$

Like Yoshida and Giga, they considered the equation on a bounded domain, but instead of studying mild solutions, they study weak (or variational) solutions. The above mentioned authors prove existence and uniqueness of a weak solution, that this solution is even a strong solution, as well as long-time behaviour and continuous dependence of the solutions and the global attractors on the parameter N. Several further properties of the model have been studied in subsequent papers, cf. [33, 34, 132] and references therein. Global as well as exponential attractors for this system were studied recently by F. Li and B. You [150]. A globally modified version of the MHD equations has not yet been considered.

1.2.5. Regularisation by Delay. H. Bessaih, M. Garrido-Atienza and B. Schmalfuss [15] recently suggested regularising the nonlinear term by introducing a time delay in the advection velocity, i.e. they consider the nonlinearity

$$\mathcal{N}_{ ext{delay}}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{v})(x, t) := P\left[ (\boldsymbol{v}(t - \mu, x) \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}(t, x) \right],$$

where the initial conditions (i.e. the initial velocity  $v_0$  and the initial delay  $\phi$ ) must be sufficiently smooth, e.g.

$$\mathbf{v}_0 \in \dot{\mathbb{H}}^{\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^3), \phi \in L^2((-\mu, 0); \dot{\mathbb{H}}^{1+\alpha}(\mathbb{T}^3)),$$

for some  $\alpha > 1/2$ . Here  $\dot{\mathbb{H}}^{\alpha}$  denotes the homogeneous fractional Sobolev space of order  $\alpha$  of functions with vanishing divergence (for this notation, see Section 1.5). This time delay again has a smoothing effect on the solution and allows the authors to obtain unique global-in-time weak solutions and for  $\alpha \geq 1$  also strong solutions. Letting the delay  $\mu \to 0$ , the solutions converge to a weak solution of the Navier-Stokes equations. Their work builds on that of S.M. Guzzo and G. Planas [109,110] as well as C.J. Niche and G. Planas [183] and W. Varnhorn [217].

- T. Caraballo and J. Real [37] seem to have been the first to consider Navier-Stokes equations with delays, proving existence in d=2,3 and uniqueness for d=2. However, their model contained delay in the forcing term, not in the convective term. To the best of the authors knowledge, MHD equations with delay of this type have not been studied yet.
- 1.2.6. Lions' Hyperviscosity Method. Our first method of type (B) provides another way to add more dissipativity to the model. As opposed to the cutoff scheme of Yoshida and Giga (cf. Section 1.2.3), this is not achieved by weakening the nonlinearity but instead by strengthening the linear operator  $\mathcal{L}$ . J.-L. Lions [160] proposed to consider the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{hyper}}(\boldsymbol{v}) := P\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \kappa P(-\Delta)^{\ell/2} \boldsymbol{v},$$

where  $\ell > 2$  and  $\kappa > 0$ . For  $\ell > 5/2$ , he could prove existence of a unique regular solution in a bounded domain. The case of the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  has been treated by N.H. Katz and N. Pavlović in [128]. As in the case of the mollified Navier-Stokes equations (Section 1.2.1), this solution – for small data – converges towards the weak solution of the Navier-Stokes equations as  $t \to \infty$ , cf. M. Cannone and G. Karch [29]. Further related problems have been studied, such as optimal control by S.S. Sritharan [205] or the inhomogeneous Navier-Stokes system by D.Y. Fang and R.Z. Zi [72].

In the MHD case, variants of this approach have been studied in three dimensions, e.g. by J.H. Wu, W.R. Yang and Q.S. Jiu in [233, 240] (see the latter for more references).

1.2.7. Navier-Stokes-Voigt Equations. The Navier-Stokes-Voigt (sometimes written as Voight) equations employ the following regularisation of the Stokes operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{NSV}(\boldsymbol{v}) := P\Delta \boldsymbol{v} + \alpha^2 P\Delta \partial_t \boldsymbol{v}.$$

This regularisation changes the parabolic character of the equations and simulates a property of so-called Kelvin-Voigt fluids, e.g. in polymer solutions, of not immediately reverting back to the original state once external stress is removed. It was pioneered by A.P. Oskolkov [186] in 1973 and has since then been studied by many authors. The Navier-Stokes-Voigt equations were shown to be globally well-posed in [186, 187] as well as in the work of Y.P. Cao, E.M. Lunasin and E.S. Titi, cf. [32]. The long-term behaviour was studied by V.K. Kalantarov and E.S. Titi in [123] and by Kalantarov, Titi and B. Levant in [122]. The case of unbounded domains was treated by C.T. Anh and P.T. Trang in [3,4].

In the case of the MHD equations, a Voigt regularisation in the inviscid case was studied first by A. Larios and E.S. Titi in a series of papers [144–146]. Consult these for further references.

1.2.8. Damped Navier-Stokes Equations (or Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy Models). Instead of adding a linear dissipative term, one can also add nonlinear, power-type terms that counteract the nonlinearity. This leads to the so-called (nonlinearly) damped Navier-Stokes equations, where one considers the (nonlinear) operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{damped}}(\boldsymbol{v}) := P\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha P |\boldsymbol{v}|^{\beta - 1} \boldsymbol{v},$$

with  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta \ge 1$ . The damping term  $-\alpha |\boldsymbol{v}|^{\beta-1}\boldsymbol{v}$  models the resistence to the motion of the flow resulting from physical effects like porous media flow, drag or friction or other dissipative mechanisms (cf. [28] and Section 1.3.1). It represents a restoring force, which for  $\beta = 1$  assumes the form of classical, linear damping, whereas  $\beta > 1$  means a restoring force that grows superlinearly with the velocity (or magnetic field). X.J. Cai and Q.S. Jiu [28] first proved existence and uniqueness of a global strong solution for  $\frac{7}{2} \le \beta \le 5$ . This range was lowered down to  $\beta \in (3,5]$  by Z.J. Zhang, X.L. Wu and M. Lu in [252].

Furthermore, they considered the case  $\beta = 3$  to be critical [252, Remark 3.1]. Y. Zhou in [260] proved the existence of a global solution for all  $\beta \in [3, 5]$ . For the case  $\beta \in [1, 3)$ , he established regularity criteria that ensure smoothness. Uniqueness holds for any  $\beta \geq 1$  in the class of weak solutions. Existence, decay rates and qualitative properties of weak solutions were also investigated by S.N. Antontsev and H.B. de Oliveira [5].

The Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy model (cf. Section 1.3.1) is a related model for flow of fluids through porous media and uses the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{BFeD}(\boldsymbol{v}) := P\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_0 \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_1 P |\boldsymbol{v}| \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_2 P |\boldsymbol{v}|^2 \boldsymbol{v}.$$

The first problems studied were continuous dependence of the solutions on their parameters, e.g. in F. Franchi, B. Straughan [83]. V.K. Kalantarov and S. Zelik [124] and P.A. Markowich, E.S. Titi and S. Trabelsi [173] proved existence and uniqueness of a weak solution for Dirichlet and periodic boundary conditions, respectively. Long-time behaviour and existence of global attractors have been studied by several authors [188,216,224,246]. An anisotropic version of the equations was studied by H. Bessaih, S. Trabelsi and H. Zorgati [16].

The flow of electrically conducting fluids through porous media, modelled by MHD equations with damping, was studied first by Z. Ye in [241]. He considered the system with nonlinear damping in the equations for both the velocity field (with nonlinear damping parameter  $\alpha$ ) and the magnetic field (with parameter  $\beta$ ) and he proved existence and uniqueness of global strong solutions in the full space case for several ranges of parameters, most interestingly for our purposes for  $\alpha, \beta \geq 4$ . Z.J. Zhang and X. Yang [253] tried to improve this to  $\alpha, \beta > 3$ , but apparently made a mistake in their proof ([251, Remark after Equation (9), p. 2]). Z.J. Zhang, C.P. Wu, Z.A. Yao [251] then improved the range to  $\alpha \in [3, \frac{27}{8}], \beta \geq 4$ . The present chapter, in a way, deals with the "critical" case  $\alpha = \beta = 3$ , see the discussion of the results below. Furthermore, E.S. Titi and S. Trabelsi [215] proved global well-posedness for an MHD model with nonlinear damping only in the velocity field. They thus avoid the magnetic pressure problem outlined in Section 1.3.4, as opposed to the above papers which seem to have overlooked this issue.

- 1.3. The Tamed Equations. We first motivate the tamed equations, both from a physical point of view by pointing out situations where similar models arise naturally in applications, as well as from a mathematical point of view. The tamed Navier-Stokes equations are in a sense a variant of the Navier-Stokes equations with damping in the critical case  $\beta = 3$ , combined with a cutoff.
- 1.3.1. *Physical Motivation*. Since the tamed equations are closely related to the damped equations of Section 1.2.8, which are much more well-studied, we focus on the occurence of these in the physics literature.
- 1. Shallow-Water Systems with Friction on the Bottom. F. Marche derived, at least formally, in [171] a set of equations modelling a shallow-water system with free surface height h including damping terms with  $\beta = 1$  and  $\beta = 2$  via asymptotic analysis and hydrostatic approximation. The damping terms originate from the kind of boundary conditions imposed on the bottom of the ocean: linear (or laminar) friction of the form

(1.3) 
$$(\sigma(\mathbf{v}) \cdot n_b) \cdot \tau_{b_i} = k_{\text{laminar}}(\mathbf{v} \cdot \tau_{b_i}), \quad z = 0$$

leads to a linear damping term of the form  $-\alpha_0(h)\boldsymbol{v}$ . Here,  $\sigma$  denotes the total stress tensor,  $n_b$  denotes the outward normal, the vectors  $\tau_{b_i}$  form a basis of the tangential surface on the bottom, and  $k_{\text{laminar}}$  is the laminar friction coefficient.

On the other hand, quadratic friction (associated with turbulence)

(1.4) 
$$(\sigma(\mathbf{v}) \cdot n_b) \cdot \tau_{b_i} = k_{\text{turbulent}}(h|\mathbf{v}|\mathbf{v} \cdot \tau_{b_i}), \quad z = 0,$$

implies a damping term of the form  $-\alpha_1(h)h|\boldsymbol{v}|\boldsymbol{v}$ . The full set of equations (cf. [171, Equation (5.20), p. 59]), with both forms of friction, has the form

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h + \operatorname{div}(h\boldsymbol{v}) &= 0\\ \partial_t (h\boldsymbol{v}) + \operatorname{div}(h\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) + gh\nabla h &= -\alpha_0(h)\boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_1(h)h|\boldsymbol{v}|\boldsymbol{v} + 2\mu\operatorname{div}(hD(\boldsymbol{v}))\\ &+ 2\mu\nabla(h\operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v})) + \beta h\nabla\Delta h - f(h\boldsymbol{v})^{\perp} - gh\nabla d, \end{cases}$$

where h denotes the variable height of the body of water, v the horizontal velocity, averaged vertically, g is the acceleration due to gravity,  $\mu$  denotes the dynamical viscosity,  $\beta$  a capillary constant, f the Coriolis coefficient and d describes variations in the topography of the bottom. A mathematical analysis can be found in D. Bresch, B. Desjardins [19].

We now make the following simplifying assumptions:  $h(x, y, t) = \bar{h} \in (0, \infty)$ , constant in space and time, so the first equation reduces to the incompressibility condition. Neglecting gravity, capillary effects and the Coriolis force, i.e. setting g = 0,  $\beta = 0$  and f = 0 and dividing the second equation by h, we heuristically obtain the following equations:

$$\operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v}) = 0,$$

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) = -\alpha_0 \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_1 |\boldsymbol{v}| \boldsymbol{v} + 2\mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v}.$$

These are the damped Navier-Stokes equations with  $\beta = 1$  and  $\beta = 2$ . However, there are several problems with this approach:

- (i) The resulting equations are in two space dimensions only, and this derivation does not cover the case of three dimensions, which is most interesting from a mathematical point of view.
- (ii) The heuristic simplifications above, especially concerning the height, would have to be justified.
- (iii) From this model, we can only get  $\beta \in \{1, 2\}$ , in particular we cannot get the "tamed" case  $\beta = 3$ .

They do provide, however, an example of a physically relevant system that includes fluid dynamical systems with damping of a form similar to the one we consider in this work.

2. Flows Through Porous Media. Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy Model. Another system with possibly nonlinear damping is considered as a model for the flow of a fluid through porous media, described for example by the following compressible Euler equations with damping:

(1.5) 
$$\rho_t + \partial_x(\rho v) = 0, (\rho v)_t + \partial_x (\rho v^2 + p) = -\alpha \rho v.$$

The interpretation that this equation models the flow through porous media is in line with the result that as  $t \to \infty$ , the density  $\rho$  converges to the solution of the porous medium equation (cf. F.M. Huang, R.H. Pan [117]). The momentum, on the other hand, is described in the limit by Darcy's law:

$$\nabla p = -\frac{\mu}{k} \boldsymbol{v},$$

which represents a simple linear relationship between the flow rate and the pressure drop in a porous medium. Here, k is the permeability of the porous medium and  $\mu$  is the dynamic viscosity. The velocity  $\boldsymbol{v}$  is called Darcy's seepage velocity.

In the interface region between a porous medium and a fluid layer, C.T. Hsu and P. Cheng [116, Equation (31), p. 1591] proposed the following equation<sup>2</sup>:

$$\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v} = 0,$$

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) = -\nabla p + \nu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_0 \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_1 |\boldsymbol{v}| \boldsymbol{v},$$

where  $\boldsymbol{v}$  is the so-called volume-averaged Darcy seepage velocity and p is the volume-averaged pressure. This equation is motivated by a quadratic correction of P. Forchheimer to Darcy's law, called *Forchheimer's law* or *Darcy-Forchheimer law* (cf. for example P.A. Markowich, E.S. Titi, S. Trabelsi [173]):

$$\nabla p = -\frac{\mu}{k} \boldsymbol{v}_F - \gamma \rho_F |\boldsymbol{v}_F| \boldsymbol{v}_F,$$

with the Forchheimer coefficient  $\gamma > 0$ , the Forchheimer velocity  $v_F$  as well as the density  $\rho_F$ . Furthermore, this correction becomes necessary at higher flow rates through porous media, see below for a more detailed discussion.

The question arises whether there are cases where a nonlinear correction of yet higher degree is necessary, i.e. where the flow obeys a *cubic Forchheimer's law*:

(1.6) 
$$\nabla p = -\frac{\mu}{k} \mathbf{v} - \gamma \rho |\mathbf{v}| \mathbf{v} - \kappa \rho^2 |\mathbf{v}|^2 \mathbf{v}.$$

Indeed, this seems to be the case. P. Forchheimer [81] himself suggested several corrections to Darcy's law at higher flow velocities, one of them being the cubic law (1.6). M. Firdaouss, J.-L. Guermond and P. Le Quéré [77] revisited several historic data sets, amongst them the ones used by Darcy and Forchheimer (who did not correct for Reynolds numbers) and found that the data are actually better described by a linear and cubic Darcy-Forchheimer law (i.e. where  $\gamma=0$ ), at least in the regime of low to moderate Reynolds numbers, which, as they note<sup>3</sup>, includes most practical cases:

(1.7) 
$$\nabla p = -\frac{\mu}{k} \boldsymbol{v} - \kappa \rho^2 |\boldsymbol{v}|^2 \boldsymbol{v}.$$

Concerning the question of when this happens, M. Fourar, G. Radilla, R. Lenormand and C. Moyne [82, p. 670] write: "it is generally admitted that the onset of non-Darcy flow occurs for Re (based on the average velocity and grain size) between 1 and 10."

At higher Reynolds numbers, the correct behaviour seems to be quadratic, i.e. Forchheimer's law, in accordance with numerical simulations, e.g. in the work of M. Fourar et al. [82]. The point at which this behaviour changes seems to be dimension-dependent: it occurs much earlier in the numerical simulations of [82, Figure 7] in the 3D case than in the 2D case. Another instance where a cubic Forchheimer law is observed is the high-rate flow in a radial fracture with corrugated walls, cf. M. Buès, M. Panfilov, S. Crosnier and C. Oltean [27, Equation (7.2), p. 54].

Taking into account all nonlinear corrections of Darcy's law, we arrive at the Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy model

$$\operatorname{div} \boldsymbol{v} = 0,$$

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}) = -\nabla p + \nu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_0 \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_1 |\boldsymbol{v}| \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha_2 |\boldsymbol{v}|^2 \boldsymbol{v}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>For ease of presentation, we have omitted various physical constants in the formulation of the equations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> [77, p. 333]: "[T]he most frequent practical applications (for either gas or liquids) involve Reynolds numbers of order 1 or less."

The tamed Navier-Stokes equations model the behaviour of the flow through porous media in the regime of relatively low to moderate Reynolds numbers, assuming that the higher-order behaviour is much more significant than the linear Darcy behaviour. For a more physically accurate model, one should also include the linear damping term, but we want to focus on the nonlinear effects here and thus for simplicity have omitted this term. The fact that the onset of nonlinear behaviour occurs at higher flow rates is modelled by the cutoff function  $g_N$  which is nonzero only for sufficiently high velocity. Apart from these physical reasons, there is also a mathematical reason for the form of the taming term.

1.3.2. *Mathematical Motivation*. The tamed Navier-Stokes equations were introduced in [197] by M. Röckner and X.C. Zhang and have the following form:

(1.8) 
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} = \nu \Delta \mathbf{v} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} - g_N(|\mathbf{v}|^2) \mathbf{v} + \nabla p + \mathbf{f}$$
$$\nabla \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$$
$$\mathbf{v}(0, x) = \mathbf{v}_0(x).$$

The "taming function" allowed them to obtain stronger estimates than for the untamed Navier-Stokes equations, and hence regularity results that are out of reach for the Navier-Stokes equations. Furthermore, they could show that bounded solutions to the Navier-Stokes equations, if they exist, coincide with the solutions to the tamed Navier-Stokes equations, as shown in [197]. This is a feature that most regularisations of the Navier-Stokes equations do not share.

1.3.3. Review of Results for Tamed Navier-Stokes Equations. The deterministic case was further studied by X.C. Zhang on uniform  $C^2$ -domains in [250]. In a series of subsequent papers, various properties of the stochastic version of the equations were studied: existence and uniqueness to the stochastic equation as well as ergodicity in [197], Freidlin-Wentzell type large deviations in [195] as well as the case of existence, uniqueness and small time large deviation principles for the Dirichlet problem in bounded domains [194] (both with T.S. Zhang). More recently, there has been resparked interest in the subject, with contributions by Z. Dong and R.R. Zhang [64] (existence and uniqueness for multiplicative Lévy noise) as well as Z. Brzeźniak and G. Dhariwal [23] (existence, uniqueness and existence of invariant measures in the full space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  for a slightly simplified system and by different methods).

The taming function was subsequently simplified by changing the expression of  $g_N$  as well as replacing the argument of the function  $g_N$  by the square of the spatial  $L^{\infty}$  norm of the velocity, i.e.  $g_N(\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{\infty}}^2)$ , see W. Liu and M. Röckner [167, pp. 170 ff]. This leads to simpler assumptions on  $g_N$  as well as easier proofs, especially when spatial derivatives are concerned (which then act only on the remaining factor  $\boldsymbol{v}$ ). However, this only works within the framework of locally monotone operators which cannot be applied in all settings due to the crucial assumption of compact embeddings. Thus we do not use this simplification in this work.

1.3.4. The Magnetic Pressure Problem. From the form of the MHD equations, it would seem like there should also be a "pressure" term  $\nabla \pi$  in the equation for the magnetic field. That this is not the case is due to the structure of the nonlinear term in the equation, as was noted already in the work of M. Sermange and R. Temam [201, p. 644]. To make this precise, consider the MHD equations on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ 

(1.9) 
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right),$$

(1.10) 
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \mathbf{B} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v},$$

and the associated equation projected on the space of divergence-free functions:

$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \mathbf{v} - P(\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + P(\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B},$$
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \mathbf{B} - P(\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B} + P(\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v}.$$

Assume that  $(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})$  is a smooth weak solution. Now since the first equation lies in the space of square-integrable divergence-free functions  $\mathbb{H}^0$ , there exists a function  $\nabla \tilde{p}$  in the orthogonal complement  $(\mathbb{H}^0)^{\perp}$  such that<sup>4</sup>

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \tilde{p}.$$

Note that

$$(1.11) - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{B} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{v} = \nabla \times (\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}),$$

i.e. the nonlinear terms in the magnetic field equation combine to an expression that is manifestly divergence-free. If there existed a magnetic pressure  $\pi$  such that

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B} = \Delta \mathbf{B} + \nabla \times (\mathbf{v} \times \mathbf{B}) + \nabla \pi,$$

taking the divergence of this equation, observing that div B=0, would give

$$\Delta \pi = 0$$
,

where  $\nabla \pi(t,x) \in L^2_{\text{loc}}(\mathbb{R}_+;L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ , which implies  $\nabla \pi=0$ . Thus, a careful balancing in the two nonlinear terms leads to the "magnetic pressure" being zero. Now, if we introduce further nonlinearities into the equation for the magnetic field, we might offset this cancellation and thus we will get an artificial "magnetic pressure" in our tamed equations. We can show that this pressure converges to zero as  $N \to \infty$ , but for the tamed equations, it is undeniably present. We will informally name this phenomenon the magnetic pressure problem:

DEFINITION 1.1 (Magnetic Pressure Problem). Introducing extra terms  $\mathcal{N}(y)$  that are not divergence-free into the equation for the magnetic field  $\mathbf{B}$  in the MHD equations will lead to the appearance of an artificial, possibly unphysical "magnetic pressure"  $\pi$ , i.e. (1.10) will be of the form

$$\partial_t \mathbf{B} = \Delta \mathbf{B} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B} - (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \nabla \pi + \mathcal{N}(y).$$

This term does not manifest itself in the weak formulation of the problem, which is most often studied. Our system is no exception here, so when talking about the pointwise form of the equation, we have to include the magnetic pressure term  $\pi$ , as above. This fact is easily overlooked when introducing regularising terms into the equation for the magnetic field. To give an example, in the work of Z.J. Zhang, C.P. Wu and Z.A. Yao [251], the authors introduce a damping term  $|\mathbf{B}|^{\beta-1}\mathbf{B}$  into the magnetic field equation, but forgot to include a "magnetic pressure" in the strong form of this equation. Note that in other regularisations of the MHD equations, such as the Leray- $\alpha$  model, this problem is avoided by only introducing terms that preserve the structure of the nonlinearities (1.11).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>The function  $\tilde{p}$  can then be chosen to have the form  $\tilde{p} = p + \frac{|B|^2}{2}$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Since  $\nabla \pi$  is  $C^2$  by assumption, we find that each of its components  $\partial_i \pi$  solves Laplace's equation  $\Delta \partial_i \pi = 0$  and is thus smooth. The integrability condition implies that  $\partial_i \pi$  is bounded outside a sufficiently large compact set. The smoothness implies that it is also bounded inside that compact set. Then Liouville's theorem [100] implies  $\pi \equiv \text{const}$ , hence  $\partial_i \pi \equiv 0$ . In the case of bounded domains, we can argue in a similar way using uniqueness.

Ideally, one should thus introduce taming terms for the velocity field only. For mathematical reasons, however, at this point we have to content ourselves with taming terms in both components, for otherwise, in the crucial  $H^1$ -estimate (2.10) we could not cancel all four nonlinearities.

1.3.5. The Magnetic Field: To Regularise or Not to Regularise? There seems to be no clear answer, even for schemes which do not introduce magnetic pressure, to the question of whether in the MHD equations the magnetic field should be regularised as well, or whether one should restrict oneself to only regularising the velocity field. A mathematical criticism formulated in J.S. Linshiz and E.S. Titi [159, p. 3] is that regularising the magnetic part as well might add an unnecessary amount of dissipativity to the system. However, for the mathematical reasons discussed in the previous section, we add a taming term to the magnetic field equation as well.

1.3.6. The Tamed MHD Equations. We investigate the case of the deterministic version of tamed magnetohydrodynamics (TMHD) equations in this chapter. They can be understood as a model of an electrically conducting fluid in a porous medium at low to moderate Reynolds numbers (cf. P.A. Markowich, E.S. Titi and S. Trabelsi [173]). Following the approach of M. Röckner and X.C. Zhang, we study the following equations:

(1.12) 
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{f}_v$$

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{B} + \boldsymbol{f}_B.$$

For simplicity we have set all the constants appearing in the MHD equations to one:

$$(1.13) S = Rm = Re = 1.$$

If we write  $y := (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})$ , the equations differ from the "untamed" MHD equations by the taming term

$$-g_N(|y(t,x)|^2)y(t,x),$$

which is a direct generalisation of the term in (1.8). The norm is defined in equation (2.2) below. One could think of other generalisations as well such as adding four taming terms, each tailored to one of the nonlinear terms, so e.g. for the term  $-(\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$  we could add  $-g_N(|\boldsymbol{B}|^2)\boldsymbol{v}$  etc. However, this is not necessary. In a sense, the most problematic terms are the ones of the form  $(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{X}$ , where  $\boldsymbol{X} \in \{\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B}\}$ . The other terms can be dealt with in any case.

The taming function  $g_N \colon \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is defined by

(1.14) 
$$\begin{cases} g_N(r) := 0, & r \in [0, N], \\ g_N(r) := C_{\text{taming}} \left( r - N - \frac{1}{2} \right), & r \ge N + 1, \\ 0 \le g'_N(r) \le C_1, & r \ge 0, \\ |g_N^{(k)}(r)| \le C_k, & r \ge 0, k \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

Here, the constant  $C_{\text{taming}}$  is be defined by

$$C_{\text{taming}} := 2 \max\{Re, Rm\} = 2.$$

For the Navier-Stokes case, M. Röckner and X.C. Zhang in [197] set  $C = \frac{1}{\nu} \propto Re$ , so the fact that  $C_{\text{taming}} \propto Re$  is not surprising. The factor 2 arises from the fact that we need to tame more terms here. The dependency on Rm seems natural as well.

The idea of the taming procedure remains very clear: try to counteract the nonlinear terms of which there are four in the case of the MHD equations. To pinpoint the exact place where the power of the taming function unfolds, see the discussion after Lemma 2.2.

1.4. Results and Structure of This Chapter. We follow the ideas of [197]. However, the proof of the regularity of the solution requires an MHD adaptation of a result from E.B. Fabes, B.F. Jones and N.M. Rivière [69], which the author could not find in the literature. See Appendix A for a discussion and a proof of this result.

Our main results can be summarised as follows:

THEOREM 1.2 (Global well-posedness, cf. Theorems 2.7 and 2.8 below). Let  $y_0 = (\mathbf{v}_0, \mathbf{B}_0) \in \mathcal{H}^1$  and  $f = (\mathbf{f}_v, \mathbf{f}_B) \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0)$ . For any N > 0, there exists a unique weak solution y to the TMHD equation in the sense of Definition 2.5, depending continuously on the initial data, such that

(i) For all  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0} \le ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^0} + \int_0^t ||f(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds,$$

and

$$\int_0^t \|\nabla y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} + \|\sqrt{g_N(|y(s)|^2)}|y(s)|\|_{L^2}^2 ds \le \|y_0\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 2\left[\int_0^t \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds\right]^2.$$

(ii) The solution satisfies  $y \in C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^1) \cap L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^2)$ ,  $\partial_t y \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0)$  and for all  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} &\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \left(\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + \||y(s)||\nabla y(s)|\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right) \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C \left(\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s\right) + C(1 + N + t) \left(\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \left[\int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \mathrm{d}s\right]^{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

(iii) There exist real functions p(t,x) and  $\pi(t,x)$ , satisfying  $\nabla p \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$ ,  $\nabla \pi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$ , such that for almost all  $t \geq 0$ , in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^6)$  we have

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{f}_v,$$

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{B} + \boldsymbol{f}_B.$$

In the case of smooth data, we can prove smoothness of the solutions to the TMHD equations:

THEOREM 1.3 (Regularity and Strong Solutions, cf. Theorem 2.9 below). Let  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty} := \bigcap_{m \in \mathbb{N}_0} \mathcal{H}^m$  and  $\mathbb{R}_+ \ni t \mapsto f(t) \in \mathcal{H}^m$  be smooth for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then there exists a unique smooth velocity field

$$\mathbf{v}_N \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \cap C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^2),$$

a unique smooth magnetic field

$$\boldsymbol{B}_N \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \cap C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^2),$$

and smooth pressure functions

$$p_N, \pi_N \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}),$$

which are defined up to a time-dependent constant. The quadruplet  $(\mathbf{v}_N, \mathbf{B}_N, p_N, \pi_N)$  solves the tamed MHD equations (1.12).

Moreover, we have the following estimates: for any T, N > 0

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \int_0^T \|\nabla y_N\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds \le C \left( \|y_0\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \left[ \int_0^T \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds \right]^2 \right),$$

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \int_0^T \|y_N(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds \le C_{T,y_0,f} \cdot (1+N),$$

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \le C'_{T,y_0,f} + C_{T,y_0,f} \cdot (1+N^2).$$

Finally, we have the following convergence result for vanishing taming terms, i.e. in the limit  $N \to \infty$ .

THEOREM 1.4 (Convergence to the untamed equations, cf. Theorem 2.10 below). Let  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^0$ ,  $f \in L^2([0,T];\mathcal{H}^0)$ ,  $y_0^N \in \mathcal{H}^1$  such that  $\mathcal{H}^0 - \lim_{N \to \infty} y_0^N = y_0$ . Denote by  $(y_N, p_N, \pi_N)$  the unique solutions to the tamed equations (1.12) with initial value  $y_0^N$  given by Theorem 1.2.

Then there is a subsequence  $(N_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $y_{N_k}$  converges to a y in  $L^2([0,T];\mathcal{L}^2_{loc})$  and  $p_{N_k}$  converges weakly to some p in  $L^{9/8}([0,T];L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . The magnetic pressure  $\pi_{N_k}$  converges to zero, weakly in  $L^{9/8}([0,T];L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Furthermore, (y,p) is a weak solution to (1.1) such that the following generalised energy inequality holds:

$$2\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla y|^{2} \phi dx ds \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left[ |y|^{2} \left( \partial_{t} \phi + \Delta \phi \right) + 2 \langle y, f \rangle \phi + (|y|^{2} - 2p) \langle \boldsymbol{v}, \nabla \phi \rangle - 2 \langle \boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{v} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{B}, \nabla \phi \rangle \right] dx ds.$$

We have been able to extend all the results of [197] as well as [167] to the case of tamed MHD equations. This posed several technical obstacles: we had to extend the regularity result of [69] to the MHD case, which the author could not find in the literature. Moreover, we describe the magnetic pressure problem in regularised MHD equations. Furthermore, our work basically provides the critical case  $\alpha = \beta = 3$  of the model considered in [241,251,253].

The chapter is organised as follows: we first treat the Cauchy problem (i.e. the equations posed on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ ) in Section 2. We start in Section 2.1 by introducing the functional framework of the problem. Then we state and prove a number of elementary lemmas regarding estimates as well as (local) convergence results for the operators appearing in the tamed MHD equations. Existence and uniqueness of a weak solution is shown in Section 2.2 via a Faedo-Galerkin approximation procedure. Employing the results of Appendix A, we then show in Section 2.3 that for smooth data the solution to the tamed MHD equations remains smooth. Finally, in Section 2.4 we show that as  $N \to \infty$ , the solution to the tamed MHD equations converges to a weak solution of the (untamed) MHD equations.

A publication of the results of this chapter is in preparation, cf. [198].

- **1.5.** Notation. Let  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a domain and denote the divergence operator by div. We use the following notational hierarchy for  $L^p$  and Sobolev spaces:
  - (1) For the spaces  $L^p(G, \mathbb{R})$  of real-valued integrable (equivalence classes of) functions we use the notation  $L^p(G)$  or  $L^p$  if no confusion can arise. These are the spaces of the components  $v^i$ ,  $B^i$  of the velocity and magnetic field vector fields.
  - (2) We sometimes use the notation  $\mathbf{L}^p(G) := L^p(G; \mathbb{R}^3)$  to denote 3-dimensional vector-valued integrable quantities, especially the velocity vector field and magnetic vector field  $\mathbf{v}$  and  $\mathbf{B}$ .
  - (3) The divergence-free and p-integrable vector fields are denoted by \mathbb symbols, so  $\mathbb{L}^p(G) := \mathbf{L}^p(G) \cap \operatorname{div}^{-1}\{0\}$ . Its elements are still denoted by bold-faced symbols  $\mathbf{v}$ ,  $\mathbf{B}$  and they satisfy by definition  $\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = \nabla \cdot \mathbf{v} = 0$ ,  $\operatorname{div} \mathbf{B} = 0$ .
  - (4) Finally, we denote the space of the combined velocity and magnetic vector fields by \mathcal symbols, i.e.  $\mathcal{L}^p(G) := \mathbb{L}^p(G) \times \mathbb{L}^p(G)$ . It contains elements of the form  $y = (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})$ , with both  $\boldsymbol{v}$  and  $\boldsymbol{B}$  divergence-free.

For Sobolev spaces, we use the same notational conventions, so for example  $\mathbb{H}^k(G) := \mathbf{H}^k(G) \cap \operatorname{div}^{-1}\{0\} := W^{k,2}(G;\mathbb{R}^3) \cap \operatorname{div}^{-1}\{0\}$  etc. Finally, if the domain of the functions is not in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , in particular if it is a real interval (for the time variable), then we use the unchanged  $L^p$  notation.

For brevity, we use the following terminology when discussing the terms on the right-hand side of the tamed MHD equations: the terms involving the Laplace operator are called the *linear terms*, the terms involving the taming function  $g_N$  are called taming terms and the other terms are called the *nonlinear terms*. Furthermore, we refer to the initial data  $y_0 = (\mathbf{v}_0, \mathbf{B}_0)$  and the force  $f = (\mathbf{f}_v, \mathbf{f}_B)$  collectively as the data of the problem.

#### 2. The Case of the Whole Space

We first consider the equations on an unbounded domain, namely the full space  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Note that in this case, as the embedding  $V \subset H$  is not compact, we cannot apply the local monotonicity framework of W. Liu and M. Röckner, [167], Theorem 5.2.2. Compactness is used heavily in the crucial step of proving that a locally monotone and hemicontinuous operator is pseudo-monotone. Thus we have to prove the claim directly. To this end, will follow the steps in [197]. Starting with stating the main definitions and some important lemmas in Section 2.1, we then move on to prove existence and uniqueness of weak solutions in Section 2.2. For sufficiently smooth data, we show that these are actually strong solutions and prove their regularity in Section 2.3. Finally, we show in Section 2.4 that as  $N \to \infty$ , the solution to the TMHD equations converges to a weak solution of the MHD equations.

## 2.1. Auxiliary Results. We define the following spaces<sup>6</sup>:

$$\boldsymbol{W}^{m,p} := \overline{C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)}^{\|\cdot\|_{m,p}},$$

the closure with respect to the norm (using the so-called Bessel potentials)

$$\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{m,p} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |(I-\Delta)^{m/2}\boldsymbol{u}|^p dx\right)^{1/p}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>As we are in the case of full space as a domain, there are no boundary considerations and hence the spaces  $W_0^{m,p}$  and  $W^{m,p}$  coincide.

This norm is equivalent to the Sobolev norm given by

$$\|oldsymbol{u}\|_{W^{m,p}}:=\sum_{j=0}^m\|
abla^joldsymbol{u}\|_{L^p}$$

where  $\nabla^{j} \boldsymbol{u}$  denotes the j-th total weak derivative of  $\boldsymbol{u}$  of order j. We define the solenoidal spaces by

$$\mathbb{H}^m := \{ \boldsymbol{u} \in \boldsymbol{W}^{m,2} \mid \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{u} = 0 \},$$

where the divergence is taken in the sense of Schwartz distributions.

To handle the velocity and the magnetic field of the MHD equations at the same time, we will need to define a norm on the space  $\mathcal{H}^m := \mathbb{H}^m \times \mathbb{H}^m$ . We will define the scalar products in the usual way (see [201], p. 7): for the vector field y = (v, B) define

$$(2.2) \qquad \langle y_1(x), y_2(x) \rangle := \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v}_1 \\ \boldsymbol{B}_1 \end{pmatrix}(x), \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v}_2 \\ \boldsymbol{B}_2 \end{pmatrix}(x) \right\rangle := \left\langle \boldsymbol{v}_1(x), \boldsymbol{v}_2(x) \right\rangle + \left\langle \boldsymbol{B}_1(x), \boldsymbol{B}_2(x) \right\rangle$$

and similarly, for  $y \in \mathbf{H}^m \times \mathbf{H}^m$ , we set

$$(2.3) (y_1, y_2)_{\mathcal{H}^m} := (\mathbf{v}_1, \mathbf{v}_2)_{\mathbf{H}^m} + (\mathbf{B}_1, \mathbf{B}_2)_{\mathbf{H}^m},$$

and accordingly for the norms. They behave just like an  $\ell^2$ -type product norm. In the variational formulation of the problem, we will take the scalar product w.r.t. a test function.

In a similar fashion we define Lebesgue norms by

$$||y||_{\mathcal{L}^p} := \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left( |\boldsymbol{v}|^2 + |\boldsymbol{B}|^2 \right)^{p/2} dx \right)^{1/p} = ||y||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^3)}$$

and

(2.4) 
$$||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}} := \operatorname{ess sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^3} \left( |\boldsymbol{v}(x)|^2 + |\boldsymbol{B}(x)|^2 \right)^{1/2} = \operatorname{ess sup}_{x \in \mathbb{R}^3} |y(x)|.$$

In the following, we will often employ the following Gagliardo-Nirenberg-Sobolev-type interpolation inequality: Let  $p,q,r\geq 1$  and  $0\leq j< m$ . Assume the following three conditions:

$$m-j-\frac{3}{p} \notin \mathbb{N}_0, \quad \frac{1}{r} = \frac{j}{3} + \alpha \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{m}{3}\right) + \frac{1-\alpha}{q}, \quad \frac{j}{m} \le \alpha \le 1.$$

Then for any  $\mathbf{u} \in W^{m,p} \cap L^q(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  we have the following estimate:

(2.5) 
$$\|\nabla^{j} \boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^{r}} \leq C_{m,j,p,q,r} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{m,p}^{\alpha} \|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^{q}}^{1-\alpha}.$$

Applying it to each component of the norm for  $y = (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})$ , the same estimate carries over to yield

(2.6) 
$$\|\nabla^{j}y\|_{L^{r}} \leq C_{m,j,p,q,r} \|y\|_{m,p}^{\alpha} \|y\|_{L^{q}}^{1-\alpha}.$$

Define the space of (solenoidal) test functions by

$$\mathcal{V} := \{ y = (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B}) : \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3), \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = 0, \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{B} = 0 \} \subset C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^6).$$

We then have the following lemma, the proof of which can be transferred verbatim as it is simply a property of the spaces  $\mathcal{H}^m$  and not of the equations.

LEMMA 2.1. The space V is dense in  $\mathcal{H}^m$  for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ .

PROOF. See 
$$[197]$$
, Lemma 2.1.

Let  $P: L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \to \mathbb{H}^0$  be the Leray-Helmholtz projection. Then P commutes with derivative operators ( [192, Lemma 2.9, p. 52]) and can be restricted to a bounded linear operator

$$P|_{H^m}\colon H^m\to\mathbb{H}^m.$$

Furthermore, consider the tensorised projection

$$\mathcal{P} := P \otimes P, \quad \mathcal{P}y := (P \otimes P) \begin{pmatrix} v \\ B \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Pv \\ PB \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{P} \colon \mathcal{L}^2 \to \mathcal{H}^0$  is a bounded linear operator:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{P}y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} &= \|P\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|P\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \leq \|P\|_{L^{2} \to \mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \left(\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|B\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right) \\ &= \|P\|_{L^{2} \to \mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

We define the following operator for the terms on the right-hand side of the TMHD equations, projected on the space of divergence free functions:

$$\mathcal{A}(y) := \mathcal{P}\Delta y - \mathcal{P}\left(\begin{matrix} (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B} \\ (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v} \end{matrix}\right) - \mathcal{P}\left(g_N(|y|^2)y\right).$$

For  $y := (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})$  and a test function  $\tilde{y} := (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}) \in \mathcal{H}^1$ , consider (using the self-adjointness of the projection  $\mathcal{P}$ )

(2.7) 
$$\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} = \langle \boldsymbol{v}, \Delta \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} + \langle \boldsymbol{B}, \Delta \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} - \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} - \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} - g_{N}(|y|^{2}) \langle y, \tilde{y} \rangle.$$

and for  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{H}^3$ 

$$\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} = \langle \mathcal{A}(y), (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \rangle_{0}$$

$$= -\langle \nabla \boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta)\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}} - \langle \nabla \boldsymbol{B}, \nabla (I - \Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}}$$

$$- \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, (I - \Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}}$$

$$- \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, (I - \Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}}$$

$$- \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}.$$

Let us give names to the linear, nonlinear and taming terms of (2.8):

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}(y, \tilde{y}) := -\langle \nabla \boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta) \nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}} - \langle \nabla \boldsymbol{B}, \nabla (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}}, 
\mathcal{A}_{2}(y, \tilde{y}) := -\langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}} 
- \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}}, 
\mathcal{A}_{3}(y, \tilde{y}) := -\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2}) y, (I - \Delta) \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}.$$

The following lemma provides elementary estimates on the terms defined above.

Lemma 2.2.

(i) For any  $y \in \mathcal{H}^1$  and  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{V}$ ,

$$|\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| \le C(1 + ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^3) ||\tilde{y}||_{\mathcal{H}^3},$$

i.e.  $\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  can be considered as an element in the dual space  $(\mathcal{H}^3)'$  with its norm bounded by  $C(1 + ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^3)$ .

(ii) If  $y \in \mathcal{H}^1$ , then

(2.9) 
$$\langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} = -\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 - \langle g_N(|y|^2)y, y \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}.$$

(iii) If  $y \in \mathcal{H}^2$ , then

$$\langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \leq -\frac{1}{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2(N+1) \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}$$

$$- \||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} - \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2}$$

$$- \||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} - \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2}.$$

REMARK 2.3. The estimate (2.10) of this lemma lies at the heart of the improved estimates of the tamed equations compared to the untamed equations. Young's inequality allows us to create a minus sign in front of the first two terms on the right-hand side and hence to bring it to the other side of the inequality. The taming term produces the minus signs in the terms of the second and third lines. Thus the otherwise uncontrollable nonlinear term is transformed into a nonpositive term that can be estimated from above by zero and hence made to disappear in subsequent estimates.

PROOF OF LEMMA 2.2. Throughout this proof, let  $\varphi, \psi, \theta \in \{v, B\}$ . To prove (i), we observe that by Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski for

$$\langle (I-\Delta)^{1/2} \boldsymbol{\varphi}, (I-\Delta)^{1/2} \Delta \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle \leq C \|\boldsymbol{\varphi}\|_{\mathbb{H}^1} \|\boldsymbol{\psi}\|_{\mathbb{H}^3}$$

and hence

$$\mathcal{A}_1(y,\tilde{y}) \leq C \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^1} \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^3}.$$

Similarly, using also the Sobolev embedding theorem we find

$$\begin{split} \langle \boldsymbol{\varphi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi}, \nabla (I - \Delta) \boldsymbol{\theta} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} &\leq \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi} \|_{L^{2}} \| \nabla (I - \Delta) \boldsymbol{\theta} \|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}} \\ &\leq C \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4}} \| \boldsymbol{\psi} \|_{L^{4}} \| \boldsymbol{\theta} \|_{\mathbb{H}^{3}} \leq C \| \boldsymbol{\varphi} \|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}} \| \boldsymbol{\psi} \|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}} \| \boldsymbol{\theta} \|_{\mathbb{H}^{3}}, \end{split}$$

which yields

$$A_2(y, \tilde{y}) \le C \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^3}.$$

For the taming term we use the estimate  $g_N(r) \leq Cr$  and the embedding of  $H^1$  into  $L^6$  to find

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}(y,\tilde{y}) \leq |\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, (I-\Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{L^{2}}| \leq ||g_{N}(|y|^{2})y||_{L^{2}}||(I-\Delta)\tilde{y}||_{L^{2}}$$
  
$$\leq C||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{6}}^{3}||\tilde{y}||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} \leq C||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{3}||\tilde{y}||_{\mathcal{H}^{3}},$$

to get

$$|\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}| \le C(\|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^1} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^3)\|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^3},$$

which implies the assertion.

For equality (2.9), we note that by the zero divergence conditions on v and B,

$$\langle (\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2} = 0.$$

Thus the first and the third nonlinear term will drop out. The remaining two terms cancel since we have (for the same reason) the symmetry condition

$$\langle (\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\psi}, \boldsymbol{\theta} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^2} = -\langle (\boldsymbol{\varphi} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^2}.$$

Let us proceed to prove the inequality (2.10). Again, we analyse the linear, nonlinear and taming terms separately. First we find the equality

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}(y,y) = \langle (\Delta - I + I)\boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta)\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} + \langle (\Delta - I + I)\boldsymbol{B}, (I - \Delta)\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}$$

$$= -\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} - \|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} + \|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|\nabla\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2}$$

$$+ \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2}.$$

The nonlinear terms can be estimated by the Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski and Young inequality:

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}(y,y) = -\langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, (I-\Delta)\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, (I-\Delta)\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ -\langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, (I-\Delta)\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, (I-\Delta)\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ \leq \|(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} + \|(\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} \\ \|(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} + \|(\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}\|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2}.$$

Thus,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_{1}(y,y) + \mathcal{A}_{2}(y,y) &\leq -\frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{2}}^{2} + \|\nabla \boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2} + \|\nabla \boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2} \\ &+ \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \\ &+ \|(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} + \|(\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ \|(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} + \|(\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The taming terms are estimated using integration by parts, the product rule and  $g_N(r) \ge C(r-N)$ :

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{A}_{3}(y,y) &= -\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, (I-\Delta)y\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} \\ &= -\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, y\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} - \langle \nabla\left(g_{N}(|y|^{2})y\right), \nabla y\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} \\ &\leq -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \sum_{i,k=1}^{3} \partial_{i}v^{k}\partial_{i}\left(g_{N}(|y|^{2})v^{k}\right) - S\partial_{i}B^{k}\partial_{i}\left(g_{N}(|y|^{2})B^{k}\right) \mathrm{d}x \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \sum_{i,k=1}^{3} \left(\partial_{i}v^{k}\right)^{2} g_{N}(|y|^{2}) + g'_{N}(|y|^{2})\left(\partial_{i}|y|^{2}\right)v^{k}\partial_{i}v^{k} \mathrm{d}x \\ &- \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \sum_{i,k=1}^{3} \left(\partial_{i}B^{k}\right)^{2} g_{N}(|y|^{2}) + g'_{N}(|y|^{2})\left(\partial_{i}|y|^{2}\right)B^{k}\partial_{i}B^{k} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}(|y|^{2})|\nabla y|^{2} \mathrm{d}x - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g'_{N}(|y|^{2})\sum_{i,j,k} \left\{\partial_{i}\left((v^{j})^{2} + (B^{j})^{2}\right)v^{k}\partial_{i}v^{k} + \partial_{i}\left((v^{j})^{2} + (B^{j})^{2}\right)\sum_{i,j,k} \left\{v^{j}\partial_{i}v^{j}v^{k}\partial_{i}v^{k} + B^{j}\partial_{i}B^{j}v^{k}\partial_{i}v^{k} + v^{j}\partial_{i}v^{j}B^{k}\partial_{i}B^{k} + B^{j}\partial_{i}B^{j}B^{k}\partial_{i}B^{k}\right\} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}(|y|^{2})|\nabla y|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}(|y|^{2})|\nabla y|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}(|y|^{2})|\nabla y|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}'(|y|^{2})\left(\langle \nabla |v|, \nabla |v| \rangle + 2\langle \nabla |v|, \nabla |B| \rangle + \langle \nabla |B|, \nabla |B| \rangle\right) \mathrm{d}x \end{split}$$

$$= -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g_N(|y|^2) |\nabla y|^2 dx - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g'_N(|y|^2) |\nabla |y|^2 |dx$$
  
$$\leq -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g_N(|y|^2) |\nabla y|^2 dx,$$

as the last term in the penultimate equation is non-negative. Finally, since  $g_N(|y|^2) \ge C_{\text{taming}}(|y|^2 - (N + \frac{1}{2}))$  by definition, we get that

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}(y,y) \leq -C_{\text{taming}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |y|^{2} |\nabla y|^{2} dx + C_{\text{taming}}(N + \frac{1}{2}) \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} 
= -C_{\text{taming}} (\||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} 
+ \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2}) + C_{\text{taming}}(N + \frac{1}{2}) \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}.$$

Since  $C_{\text{taming}} = 2$ , we get (2.10) by combining the above three estimates.

LEMMA 2.4. Let  $y_n, \tilde{y} \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $y \in \mathcal{H}^1$ . Let  $\Omega := \operatorname{supp}(\tilde{y})$  and assume that

$$\sup_{n} \|y_n\|_{\mathcal{H}^1} < \infty, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \|(y_n - y)1_{\Omega}\|_{\mathcal{L}^2} = 0.$$

Then

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \langle \mathcal{A}(y_n), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}.$$

PROOF. For the linear part we get

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} |\mathcal{A}_1(y_n, \tilde{y}) - \mathcal{A}_1(y, \tilde{y})| = \lim_n |\langle y_n - y, \Delta(I - \Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}|$$

$$= \lim_n |\langle (y_n - y)1_{\Omega}, \Delta(I - \Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}| \le C \lim_n ||(y_n - y)1_{\Omega}||_{\mathcal{L}^2}||\tilde{y}||_{\mathcal{H}^4} = 0.$$

The nonlinear part is treated using the trick

$$\nabla \cdot (\boldsymbol{\phi} \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi}) = (\boldsymbol{\phi} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\psi}.$$

Thus, for example

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} |\langle (\boldsymbol{v}_n \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_n, (I-\Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^2} - \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, (I-\Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^2}|$$

$$= \lim_{n} |\langle \boldsymbol{v}_n \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_n - \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}, \nabla (I-\Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^2}|$$

$$= \lim_{n} |\langle (\boldsymbol{v}_n \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_n - \boldsymbol{v} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}) 1_{\Omega}, \nabla (I-\Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^2}|$$

$$= 0$$

The other three terms are shown to converge in just the same way.

Using the estimate  $|g'_N| \leq C$  as well as the Sobolev embedding theorem, we find for the taming term

$$\lim_{n} |\mathcal{A}_{3}(y_{n}, \tilde{y}) - \mathcal{A}_{3}(y, \tilde{y})| = \lim_{n} |\langle g_{N}(|y_{n}|^{2})y_{n} - g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, (I - \Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle| 
\leq \lim_{n} |\langle g_{N}(|y_{n}|^{2})(y_{n} - y)1_{\Omega}, (I - \Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle| 
+ |\langle g_{N}'(\theta)(|y_{N}|^{2} - |y|^{2})y1_{\Omega}, (I - \Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle| 
\leq C \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{3}} |\langle I - \Delta)\tilde{y}(x)| \lim_{n} \left\{ ||y_{n}||_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2} ||(y_{n} - y)1_{\Omega}||_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} 
+ ||(y_{n} - y)1_{\Omega}||_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}(||y_{n}||_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2} + ||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2}) \right\} 
\leq C \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^{3}} |\langle I - \Delta)\tilde{y}(x)| \lim_{n} \left\{ ||y_{n}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ||(y_{n} - y)1_{\Omega}||_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} 
+ ||(y_{n} - y)1_{\Omega}||_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}(||y_{n}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}) \right\} = 0.$$

2.2. Existence and Uniqueness of Weak Solutions. In this section we will study the well-posedness of the weak formulation of the TMHD equations. We start by stating our notion of weak solution. We proceed to show uniqueness first and then existence of weak solutions via a Faedo-Galerkin approximation scheme.

DEFINITION 2.5 (Weak solution). Let  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^0$ ,  $f \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0)$ . Let  $y = \begin{pmatrix} v \\ B \end{pmatrix}$ where v and B are measurable vector fields,  $v, B: \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$ . We call y a weak solution of the tamed MHD equations if

(i) 
$$\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B} \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^4(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)) \cap L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{H}^1).$$
  
(ii) For all  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{V}$  and  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$\langle y(t), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} = \langle y_{0}, \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} - \int_{0}^{t} \langle \nabla y, \nabla \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2}) y, \tilde{y} \rangle_{L^{2}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \langle f, \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds.$$

(iii) 
$$\lim_{t\downarrow 0} ||y(t) - y_0||_{\mathcal{L}^2} = 0.$$

This definition deals with purely spatial test functions, but it can be extended to the case of test functions that depend also on time, as the next proposition demonstrates.

PROPOSITION 2.6. Let  $y = \begin{pmatrix} v \\ B \end{pmatrix}$  be a weak solution and let T > 0. Then for all  $\tilde{y} \in C^1([0,T];\mathcal{H}^1)$  such that  $\tilde{y}(T) = 0$ , we have

(2.12) 
$$\int_{0}^{T} \langle y, \partial_{t} \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} dt = -\langle y_{0}, \tilde{y}(0) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \int_{0}^{t} \langle \nabla y, \nabla \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds 
+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds - \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds 
+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds - \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds 
+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2}) y, \tilde{y} \rangle_{L^{2}} ds - \int_{0}^{t} \langle f, \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds.$$

Moreover, the following energy equality holds:

(2.13) 
$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 2 \int_0^t ||\nabla y||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds + 2 \int_0^t ||\sqrt{g_N(|y|^2)}|y||_{L^2}^2 ds$$

$$= ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 2 \int_0^t \langle f, y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

PROOF. We first show that the right-hand side of (2.12) is well-defined.

Starting with the nonlinear terms, by applying Hölder's inequality for  $(p,q)=(4,\frac{4}{3})$  and  $(p,q)=(3,\frac{3}{2})$  as well as the Sobolev embedding theorem, we get

$$\int_{0}^{T} |\langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} | dt \leq \int_{0}^{T} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4}} \|(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4/3}} dt 
\leq \int_{0}^{T} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4}} \||\boldsymbol{v}|| \nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{4/3}} dt 
\leq \int_{0}^{T} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4}} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4}} \|\nabla \boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}} dt 
\leq C \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\boldsymbol{L}^{4}} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\|_{\boldsymbol{H}^{1}} dt \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\boldsymbol{H}^{1}} dt \right)^{1/2}.$$

The other three nonlinear terms can be handled in exactly the same way.

For the taming terms, we get, by applying Hölder's inequality (to the spatial integration) and the Sobolev embedding theorem:

$$\int_{0}^{T} |\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, \tilde{y}\rangle_{L^{2}}| dt \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |g_{N}(|y|^{2}) | |\langle y, \tilde{y}\rangle| dx dt 
\leq C \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |y|^{3} |\tilde{y}| dx dt 
\leq C \int_{0}^{T} ||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{3} ||\tilde{y}||_{\mathcal{L}^{4}} ds 
\leq C \sup_{0 \leq t \leq T} ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{3} \int_{0}^{T} ||\tilde{y}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} dt.$$

Thus, the right-hand side of (2.12) is well-defined and if we use the definition of a weak solution, (2.11) and (2.12), the energy equality follows from approximating the solution accordingly, cf. [18, Lemma 2.7, p. 635].

THEOREM 2.7 (Uniqueness of weak solutions). Let  $y_1, y_2$  be two weak solutions in the sense of Definition 2.5. Then we have  $y_1 = y_2$ .

PROOF. We fix a T > 0 and set  $z(t) := y_1(t) - y_2(t) =: {v \choose B}$ . Then z satisfies the equation

$$\langle z(t), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} = -\int_{0}^{t} \langle \nabla z, \nabla \tilde{y} \rangle ds - \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{v}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{2}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{2}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{v}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{2}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \langle (\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{2}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- \int_{0}^{t} \langle g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2}) y_{1} - g_{N}(|y_{2}|^{2}) y_{2}, \tilde{\boldsymbol{y}} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} ds.$$

Now, running the same proof as for (2.13) (which essentially amounts to being able to set  $\tilde{y} = z$ ), we get

$$||z(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} = -2 \int_{0}^{t} ||\nabla z||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds - 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle \boldsymbol{v}, (\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{v}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle \boldsymbol{v}, (\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{2} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle \boldsymbol{B}, (\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{v}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{2} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle \boldsymbol{B}, (\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - (\boldsymbol{B}_{2} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \rangle_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle z, g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2}) y_{1} - g_{N}(|y_{2}|^{2}) y_{2} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$=: I_{L}(t) + I_{NL}(t) + I_{T}(t).$$

We first investigate the linear term and find, using integration by parts and the definition of the norms  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  that

$$I_L(t) = -2 \int_0^t \langle \nabla z, \nabla z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds = 2 \int_0^t \langle \Delta z, z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds$$
$$= -2 \int_0^t ||z||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds - 2 \int_0^t ||z||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds.$$

The nonlinear term  $I_{NL}(t)$  consists of four terms of the same structure

$$\langle oldsymbol{arphi}, (oldsymbol{\psi}_1 \cdot 
abla) oldsymbol{ heta}_1 - (oldsymbol{\psi}_2 \cdot 
abla) oldsymbol{ heta}_2 
angle_{oldsymbol{L}^2} = - \langle 
abla oldsymbol{arphi}, oldsymbol{\psi}_1 \otimes oldsymbol{ heta}_1 - oldsymbol{\psi}_2 \otimes oldsymbol{ heta}_2 
angle_{oldsymbol{L}^2}.$$

We estimate them by using Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski and Young's inequality:

$$\|\langle 
abla oldsymbol{arphi}, oldsymbol{\psi}_1 \otimes oldsymbol{ heta}_1 - oldsymbol{\psi}_2 \otimes oldsymbol{ heta}_2 
angle_{oldsymbol{L}^2} \leq rac{1}{4} \|
abla oldsymbol{arphi}\|_{\mathbb{H}^0}^2 + \|oldsymbol{\psi}_1 \otimes oldsymbol{ heta}_1 - oldsymbol{\psi}_2 \otimes oldsymbol{ heta}_2 \|_{L^2}^2.$$

Thus we need to estimate the latter term which we do by applying Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski, the Sobolev embedding theorem as well as Young's inequality with  $\varepsilon$  for (p,q)=(4,4/3):

$$\begin{split} \|\psi_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \psi_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \|(\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}) \otimes \boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} + \psi_{2} \otimes (\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq 2 \left(\|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{L^{4}}^{2} \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\|_{L^{4}}^{2} + \|\psi_{2}\|_{L^{4}}^{2} \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{L^{4}}^{2}\right) \\ &\leq 2C_{1,0,2,2,4} \left(\|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{3/2} \|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{1/2} \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\|_{L^{4}}^{2} \right. \\ &+ \|\psi_{2}\|_{L^{4}}^{2} \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{3/2} \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{1/2}\right) \\ &\leq C_{\varepsilon} \left(\|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\|_{L^{4}}^{8} + \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \|\psi_{2}\|_{L^{4}}^{8}\right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \|\psi_{1} - \psi_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2} + \varepsilon \|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1} - \boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

We collect the four terms and use the previous estimates and find (again using the definition of the Sobolev norms)

$$I_{NL}(t) \leq \int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla(y_{1} - y_{2})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds + 8\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \|y_{1} - y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} (\|y_{1} - y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8} + \|y_{1} - y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8}) ds$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds + 8\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} (1 + \|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8} + \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8}) ds$$

$$\leq (1 + 8\varepsilon) \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds + C_{\varepsilon} M_{y_{1}, y_{2}, t} \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds,$$

where

$$M_{y_1,y_2,t} := \operatorname{ess sup}_{s \in [0,t]} \left( 1 + \|y_1\|_{\mathcal{L}^4}^8 + \|y_2\|_{\mathcal{L}^4}^8 \right) < \infty$$

by our definition of weak solutions.

Concerning the taming term,  $I_T(t)$ , we have, using Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski for the scalar product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ , the mean-value theorem of calculus (and the fact that  $|g'| \leq C$ ), the inequality  $g_N(r) \leq Cr$ , as well as Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski for the 3D integral, Sobolev's embedding theorem and Youngs inequality (for (p,q)=(4,4/3))

$$\begin{aligned} &|\langle z, g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2})y_{1} - g_{N}(|y_{2}|^{2})y_{2}\rangle_{L^{2}}| \\ &= |\langle z, g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2})z\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle z, \left(g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2}) - g_{N}(|y_{2}|^{2})\right)y_{2}\rangle_{L^{2}}| \\ &\leq \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |z|^{2}g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2})\mathrm{d}x + \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |z||g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2}) - g_{N}(|y_{2}|^{2})||y_{2}|\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |z|^{2}|y_{1}|^{2} + |z|||y_{1}|^{2} - |y_{2}|^{2}||y_{2}|\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |z|^{2}|y_{1}|^{2} + |z|^{2}\left(|y_{1}| + |y_{2}|\right)|y_{2}|\mathrm{d}x \\ &= C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |z|^{2}\left(|y_{1}|^{2} + |y_{1}||y_{2}| + |y_{2}|^{2}\right)\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |z|^{2}\left(|y_{1}| + |y_{2}|\right)^{2}\mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq C \||z|\left(|y_{1}| + |y_{2}|\right)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq C \|z\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2} \||y_{1}| + |y_{2}|\|_{L^{4}}^{2}$$

$$\leq C \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{3/2} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{1/2} \||y_{1}| + |y_{2}|\|_{L^{4}}^{2}$$

$$\leq C_{\varepsilon} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \left( \|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8} + \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8} \right) + \varepsilon \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}.$$

This implies that

$$I_{T}(t) = -2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle z, g_{N}(|y_{1}|^{2})y_{1} - g_{N}(|y_{2}|^{2})y_{2} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$\leq 2\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds + C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \left(\|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8} + \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{8}\right) ds$$

$$\leq 2\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds + C_{\varepsilon} M_{y_{1}, y_{2}, t} \int_{0}^{t} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds.$$

Hence, altogether we have the inequality

$$||z(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \le -2 \int_0^t ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds + (1+10\varepsilon) \int_0^t ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds + C_\varepsilon M_{y_1, y_2, t} \int_0^t ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds.$$

Choosing  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{10}$ , we find that

$$||z(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \le CM_{y_1,y_2,t} \int_0^t ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds$$

and Gronwall's lemma implies that z(s) = 0 for all  $s \in [0, t]$ .

Our next step is to establish existence of weak solutions.

THEOREM 2.8. Let  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1$  and  $f \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0)$ . For any N > 0, there exists a weak solution  $y = y_N$  in the sense of Definition 2.5 to the TMHD equations such that

(i) For all  $t \geq 0$ ,

(2.14) 
$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0} \le ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^0} + \int_0^t ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^0} \mathrm{d}s$$

and

(2.15) 
$$\int_0^t \|\nabla y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} + \|\sqrt{g_N(|y|^2)}|y|\|_{L^2}^2 ds \le \|y_0\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 2\left[\int_0^t \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds\right]^2$$

(ii) The solution satisfies  $y \in C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^1) \cap L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^2)$ ,  $\partial_t y \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0)$  and for all  $t \geq 0$ ,

$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} (||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + ||y||\nabla y||_{L^{2}}^{2}) ds$$

$$\leq C \left( ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds \right)$$

$$+ C(1 + N + t) \left( ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \left[ \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right]^{2} \right) =: C_{t,N,y_{0},h}^{1}.$$

(iii) There exist real functions p(t,x),  $\pi(t,x)$ , satisfying  $\nabla p$ ,  $\nabla \pi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$  such that for almost all  $t \geq 0$ , in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^6)$  we have

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{v}$$
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{B}.$$

PROOF. We use a Faedo-Galerkin approximation on [0, T]. Let us construct an orthonormal basis tailored to our needs.

By the separability of  $\mathcal{H}^3$  and the density of  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathcal{H}^3$ , there is a linearly independent countable subset  $\{\bar{e}_k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathcal{V}$  which is dense in  $\mathcal{H}^3$ . To be more precise, by the separability of  $\mathcal{H}^3$ , there exists a countable topological basis  $(U_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  of open subsets of  $\mathcal{H}^3$ . Choose an  $\bar{e}_1 \in \mathcal{V} \cap U_1$  (which exists by the density of  $\mathcal{V}$ ). Now let  $\{\bar{e}_1, \ldots, \bar{e}_n\}$  be chosen already, and define  $S_n := \operatorname{span}\{\bar{e}_1, \ldots, \bar{e}_n\}$ . Since the dimension of  $\mathcal{H}^3$  is infinite, the finite-dimensional subspace  $S_n$  is a proper subspace and thus has empty interior (if it contained an open ball, it would be equal to the whole space). In particular, it does not contain  $U_{n+1}$ . Since  $S_n$  is closed,  $U_{n+1} \setminus S_n = U_{n+1} \cap S_n^c$  is open and thus there exists an  $\bar{e}_{n+1} \in \mathcal{V} \cap (U_{n+1} \setminus S_n)$ .

Using the Gram-Schmidt orthonormalisation procedure in  $\mathcal{H}^1$ , we can construct an orthonormal basis  $\{e_k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathcal{V}$  of  $\mathcal{H}^1$  such that span $\{e_k\}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}^3$ . Fix an  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . For  $z = (z^1, \ldots, z^n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and  $e = (e_1, \ldots, e_n) \in \mathcal{V}^n$  set

$$z \cdot e := \sum_{i=1}^{n} z^{i} e_{i} \in \mathcal{V}$$

$$b_{n}(z) := (\langle \mathcal{A}(z \cdot e), e_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}})_{i=1}^{n}$$

$$f_{n}(t) := (\langle \rho_{n} * f(t), e_{1} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}, \dots, \langle \rho_{n} * f_{n}(t), e_{n} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}),$$

where the  $\rho_n$  are a family of mollifiers such that

$$\|\rho_n * f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} \le \|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}, \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \|\rho_n * f(t) - f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} = 0.$$

Now we consider the ordinary differential equation

(2.17) 
$$\begin{cases} \frac{\mathrm{d}z_n}{\mathrm{d}t}(t) &= b_n(z_n(t)) + f_n(t), \\ z_n(0) &= (\langle y_0, e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1})_{i=1}^n. \end{cases}$$

Then we have

$$\langle z, b_n(z) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \sum_{i=1}^n z^i \langle \mathcal{A}(z \cdot e), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle \mathcal{A}(z \cdot e), z \cdot e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}.$$

Noting that  $z \cdot e \in \mathcal{H}^3 \subset \mathcal{H}^2$ , the estimate (2.10) on  $\langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  from Lemma 2.2 then yields

$$\langle z, b_n(z) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^n} = \langle \mathcal{A}(z \cdot e), z \cdot e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \le C_{n,N} |z|^2,$$

where the constant  $C_{n,N}$  contains the norms of all the  $e_i$  for i = 1, ..., n (as all the terms on the right-hand side of (2.10) are quadratic in y). Moreover, since

$$z \mapsto b_n(z) = (\langle \mathcal{A}(z \cdot e), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1})_{i=1}^n \in \mathbb{R}^n$$

is a polynomial in the components of z in each component, it is a smooth map. Hence, the differential equation (2.17) has a unique solution  $z_n(t)$  such that

$$z_n(t) = z_n(0) + \int_0^t b_n(z_n(s)) ds + \int_0^t f_n(s) ds, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Now we set

$$y_n(t) := z_n(t) \cdot e = \sum_{i=1}^n z_n^i(t) e_i$$

$$\prod_n \mathcal{A}(y_n(t)) := \sum_{i=1}^n \langle \mathcal{A}(y_n(t)), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} e_i$$

$$\prod_n f(t) := \sum_{i=1}^n \langle \rho_n * f(t), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} e_i.$$

Then the function  $y_n$  satisfies the differential equation

$$\partial_t y_n(t) = (\partial_t z_n(t)) \cdot e = (b_n(z_n(t)) \cdot e) + (f_n(t) \cdot e)$$
$$= \prod_n \mathcal{A}(y_n(t)) + \prod_n f(t)$$

and for all  $n \ge k$ 

$$\langle y_n(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle y_n(0), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$$

$$+ \int_0^t \left\langle \prod_n \mathcal{A}(y_n(s)), e_k \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + \int_0^t \left\langle \prod_n f(s), e_k \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds$$

$$= \langle y_0, e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} + \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y_n(s)), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + \int_0^t \langle \rho_n * f(s), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds.$$

This implies that

$$||y_n(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 = ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + 2\int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y_n(s)), y_n(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + 2\int_0^t \langle \rho_n * f(s), y_n(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds.$$

Using the definition of  $\mathcal{H}^1$ , the self-adjointness of  $(I - \Delta)$  and the Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski and Young inequalities for the last term as well as (2.10) for the second term (dropping the nonlinear terms, all of which have negative signs), we find that

$$||y_n(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \le ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 - \int_0^t ||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 + 2||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 4(N+1)||\nabla y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_0^t ||\rho_n * f(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds + \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t ||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds$$

$$\le ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 - \int_0^t \frac{1}{2} ||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 + 2||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 4(N+1)||\nabla y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_0^t ||f(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds.$$

This implies that

$$(2.19) ||y_n(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \int_0^t ||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds \le C_N \left( ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \int_0^t ||y_n||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds + \int_0^t ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds \right).$$

Dropping the second term on the left-hand side and using Gronwall's lemma, we find that

$$\sup_{t \le T} \|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \le C_{y_0, N, T, f}.$$

Using this information in (2.19), we find that also

$$\int_0^t \|y_n\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s \le C_{y_0, N, T, f}.$$

Now for a fixed  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , set  $G_n^{(k)}(t) := \langle y_n(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$ . Then by the preceding step, the  $G_n^{(k)}$  are uniformly bounded on [0, T]. Furthermore, they are equi-continuous, as can be seen from

$$|G_{n}^{(k)}(t) - G_{n}^{(k)}(r)| = |\langle y_{n}(t), e_{k} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} - \langle y_{n}(r), e_{k} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}|$$

$$= \left| \int_{r}^{t} \langle \mathcal{A}(y_{n}(s), e_{k} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} ds + \int_{r}^{t} \langle \rho_{n} * f(s), e_{k} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} ds \right|$$

$$\leq C \int_{r}^{t} (1 + \|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{3}) \|e_{k}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{3}} ds + \|e_{k}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} \int_{r}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds,$$

and equation (2.19), where we used Lemma 2.2 (i). Therefore, the theorem of Arzelà-Ascoli implies that  $\left(G_n^{(k)}\right)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is sequentially relatively compact with respect to the uniform topology and hence there is a subsequence such that  $\left(G_{n_l^k}^{(k)}\right)_{l\in\mathbb{N}}$  converges uniformly to a limit  $G^{(k)}$ . Now a diagonalisation argument implies that there is a subsequence, which we denote again by  $\left(G_n^k\right)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ 

$$\forall k \in \mathbb{N}: \quad \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |G_n^{(k)}(t) - G^{(k)}(t)| = 0.$$

Again invoking (2.19), we see that  $\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \sup_{t\in[0,T]} \|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \leq C$ . Since closed balls of  $\mathcal{H}^1$  are weakly compact by the Banach-Alaoglu theorem, we find that for almost all  $t\in[0,T]$  we have the  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -weak convergence  $y_n(t)\rightharpoonup y(t)$  as  $n\to\infty$ . To conclude that this holds true for all  $t\in[0,T]$  we note that  $G^{(k)}$ , as the uniform limit of continuous functions, is continuous, and that on the other hand by the weak convergence just mentioned,

$$G_n^{(k)}(t) = \langle y_n(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \to \langle y(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}.$$

Hence,  $t \mapsto \langle y(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  is continuous for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and by the density of the  $\{e_k\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ , we find that  $t \mapsto \langle y(t), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  is continuous for all  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{H}^1$ . We can thus conclude that  $t \mapsto y(t)$  is weakly continuous in  $\mathcal{H}^1$ , and that for all  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{H}^1$ :

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| = 0.$$

This implies (by considering  $\tilde{y} = (I - \Delta)^{-1} \tilde{z} \in \mathcal{H}^2 \subset \mathcal{H}^1$  for  $z \in \mathcal{H}^0$  and using the formal self-adjointness of  $(I - \Delta)$ )

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \tilde{z} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}| = 0.$$

We next invoke the Helmholtz-Weyl decomposition  $\mathcal{L}^2 = \mathcal{H}^0 \oplus (\mathcal{H}^0)^{\perp}$ . Since  $y_n(t) - y(t) \in \mathcal{H}^1 \subset \mathcal{H}^0$ , this allows us to conclude that

(2.20) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \tilde{z} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}| = 0 \quad \forall \tilde{z} \in \mathcal{L}^2.$$

To be more precise, we can use the Helmholtz-Weyl decomposition for  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  for both the velocity component and the magnetic field component of  $y_n - y$ , and putting these two together yields (2.20). Note that this equation implies the component-wise convergence

(2.21) 
$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \sup_{t\in[0,T]} |\langle \phi_{i,n}(t) - \phi_i(t), \tilde{z} \rangle_{L^2}| = 0 \quad \forall z \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}), \phi \in \{\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B}\}.$$

This can be seen by taking  $\tilde{z}$  of the form  $\tilde{z} = (0, \dots, 0, z, 0, \dots, 0)$ , where  $z \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R})$ . Thus, we get weak convergence of each component of the velocity and magnetic field in  $L^2$ .

From this equation as well as (2.19) and Fatou's lemma, we get

$$\int_0^T \|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_0^T \|y_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s < \infty.$$

Next we want to show that y is indeed a solution of the tamed MHD equations (1.8).

To this end, recall first the following Friedrichs' inequality<sup>7</sup> (see e.g. [141]): let  $Q \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded cuboid. Then for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is a  $K_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  and functions  $h_i^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(G)$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, K_{\varepsilon}$  such that for all  $w \in W_0^{1,2}(G)$ 

(2.22) 
$$\int_{Q} |w(x)|^{2} dx \leq \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \left( \int_{Q} w(x) h_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x) dx \right)^{2} + \varepsilon \int_{Q} |\nabla w(x)|^{2} dx.$$

Now let  $G \subset \bar{G} \subset Q$  and choose a smooth cutoff function  $\rho$  such that  $1 \geq \rho \geq 0$ ,  $\rho \equiv 1$  on G and supp  $\rho \subset Q$ . Then we have for all j = 1, 2, 3 and  $\phi \in \{v, B\}$  that  $\rho(\phi_{j,n}(t,\cdot) - \phi_j(t,\cdot)) \in W_0^{1,2}(Q)$  and hence by applying Friedrichs' inequality, we find

$$\int_{G} |y_{n}(t,x) - y(t,x)|^{2} dx 
= \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{G} |v_{j,n}(t,x) - v_{j}(t,x)|^{2} dx + \int_{G} |B_{j,n}(t,x) - B_{j}(t,x)|^{2} dx 
\leq \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{Q} \rho^{2}(x) |v_{j,n}(t,x) - v_{j}(t,x)|^{2} dx + \int_{Q} \rho^{2}(x) |B_{j,n}(t,x) - B_{j}(t,x)|^{2} dx 
\leq \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \left( \int_{Q} (v_{j,n} - v_{j}) \rho h_{i}^{\varepsilon} dx \right)^{2} + \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{Q} |\nabla \left[ \rho(v_{j,n} - v_{j}) \right] |^{2} dx 
+ \sum_{j=1}^{3} \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \left( \int_{Q} (B_{j,n} - B_{j}) \rho h_{i}^{\varepsilon} dx \right)^{2} + \varepsilon \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{Q} |\nabla \left[ \rho(B_{j,n} - B_{j}) \right] |^{2} dx.$$

The first and third terms in the last two lines vanish in the limit  $n \to \infty$  by (2.21), since  $\rho h_i^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ . To the second and fourth term (those proportional to  $\varepsilon$ ), we apply the product rule for weak derivatives (see e.g. [68, Theorem 5.2.3.1 (iv), pp. 261 f.]) and (2.19) to see that the integrals are bounded. As  $\varepsilon > 0$  is arbitrary, we find

(2.23) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \int_{G} |y_n(t,x) - y(t,x)|^2 dx = 0.$$

Now let, for  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , supp $(e_k) \subset G_k$  for bounded sets  $G_k$ . If we fix  $s \in [0, t]$ , then by (2.19) and (2.23) we get

$$\sup_{n} \|y_n(s,\cdot)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1} < \infty \quad \text{and} \quad \lim_{n} \|(y_n(s,\cdot) - y(s,\cdot))1_{G_k}\|_{L^2} = 0.$$

Thus an application of Lemma 2.4 and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem yields

$$\int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y_n(s)), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds \to \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>The first use of the inequality in the context of the Navier-Stokes equations seems to be in E. Hopf [115, p. 230]. Hopf uses the inequality and cites R. Courant's and D. Hilbert's book [43]. The inequality and a proof can be found in Chapter VII, Paragraph 3, Section 1, Satz 1, p. 489. Hopf also notes that the statement is not true for arbitrary bounded domains. For a more modern presentation, cf. J.C. Robinson, J.L. Rodrigo and W. Sadowski [192, Exercises 4.2–4.9, pp. 107 ff.].

Having established this convergence, we can take limits  $n \to \infty$  in (2.18) to find

$$\langle y(t), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle y_0, e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} + \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)), e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + \int_0^t \langle f(s), (I - \Delta)e_k \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds.$$

As this equation is linear in  $e_k$ , it holds for linear combinations and since span $\{e_k\}$  forms a dense subset in  $\mathcal{H}^3$ , we conclude

$$\langle y(t), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle y_0, \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} + \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + \int_0^t \langle f(s), (I - \Delta) \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds.$$

Now, letting  $\tilde{y} := (I - \Delta)^{-1} \bar{y}$  for  $\bar{y} \in \mathcal{H}^3$ ,

$$\langle y(t), \bar{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} = \langle y_0, \bar{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} + \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s), \bar{y}) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds + \int_0^t \langle f(s), \bar{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds,$$

that is, Equation (2.11).

We are left to prove (i) - (iii). We will start with (iii). At first it might seem difficult to extract two pointwise 3-D equations from one weak 1-D equation, as [214, Chapter I, Section 1, Proposition 1.1., p. 14] only works when the number of components of the solution equals the space dimension. Note, however, that our weak formulation holds for a larger class of test functions. In particular, we note that if  $\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)$  with  $\nabla \cdot \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} = 0$ , then  $(\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}, 0) \in \mathcal{V}$ . Thus in equation (2.11) we set  $\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}} = (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}, 0)$  and we find for almost all  $t \geq 0$  that

(2.24) 
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \mathcal{P}\left[ (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} \right] - \mathcal{P}\left[ g_N(|\boldsymbol{y}|^2) \boldsymbol{v} \right] + \boldsymbol{f}_1(t)$$

and infer from Proposition 1.1. of [214] the existence of a function  $\bar{p}$  with  $\nabla \bar{p} \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$  such that (for almost all  $t \geq 0$ )

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B} - g_N(|y|^2) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \bar{p} + \boldsymbol{f}_1(t).$$

Now we define the pressure p by

$$\bar{p} = p + \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2},$$

and we observe that since  $\nabla \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}|^2}{2} = (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$  due to (2.16), and by the regularity of  $\bar{p}$ , p also satisfies the right regularity condition  $\nabla p \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$ .

In the same way (cf. Section 1.3.4), by testing against  $\tilde{y} = (0, \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}) \in \mathcal{V}$  to get

(2.25) 
$$\frac{\partial \mathbf{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \mathbf{B} - \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B} + \mathcal{P}(\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} - \mathcal{P}\left[g_N(|(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{B})|^2)\mathbf{B}\right] + \mathbf{f}_2,$$

we can find a  $\pi$  such that  $\nabla \pi \in L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3))$  (note that this function in general cannot be expected to be equal to zero for our equation, as we argued in Section 1.3.4) such that for almost all  $t \geq 0$ 

$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} + (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})|^2) \boldsymbol{B} + \boldsymbol{f}_2.$$

These two statements imply (iii).

Next we want to prove (i). We take the scalar product in  $\mathcal{H}^0$  of the system (2.24), (2.25) with y(t) as well as (2.9) to find

$$\langle \partial_{t} y(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} = \langle \mathcal{A}(y(t)), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \langle f(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}$$

$$= -\|\nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \|\sqrt{g_{N}(|y(t)|^{2})}|y(t)|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \langle f(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}$$

$$\leq -\|\nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \|\sqrt{g_{N}(|y(t)|^{2})}|y(t)|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}},$$

which yields (as 
$$\langle \partial_t y(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 = ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0} \frac{d}{dt} ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}$$
)
$$\frac{d}{dt} ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0} \le ||f(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}.$$

Integrating this inequality gives

and integrating (2.26), we find

$$\int_{0}^{t} \|\nabla y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|\sqrt{g_{N}(|y(s)|^{2})}|y(s)|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \left( \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \int_{0}^{s} \|f(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} dr \right) ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds + \left[ \int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right]^{2}$$

$$\leq \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \frac{3}{2} \left[ \int_{0}^{t} \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right]^{2}.$$

Thus we have shown (i).

For (ii), we note that

$$\mathcal{H}^2 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}^1 \hookrightarrow \mathcal{H}^0$$

forms a Gelfand triple and thus by [214, Chapter III, Section 1, Lemma 1.2, p. 260 f.] and (2.24), (2.25) we get the equality

$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 = ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + 2\int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + 2\int_0^t \langle f, y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds.$$

The right-hand side is continuous in t and thus together with the weak continuity of  $t \mapsto y(t) \in \mathcal{H}^1$  by [248, Proposition 21.23 (d), p. 258] we get that  $t \mapsto y(t) \in \mathcal{H}^1$  is strongly continuous. We then apply (2.10), (i) and Young's inequality to find

$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}$$

$$\leq ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} - \int_{0}^{t} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds + 2 \int_{0}^{t} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds + 2(N+1) \int_{0}^{t} ||\nabla y||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$- 2 \int_{0}^{t} |||v|||\nabla v|||_{L^{2}}^{2} - |||B|||\nabla B|||_{L^{2}}^{2} - |||v|||\nabla B|||_{L^{2}}^{2} - |||B|||\nabla v|||_{L^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} ds$$

$$\leq C \left( ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right) + C(1+N+t) \left( ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \left[ \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right]^{2} \right)$$

$$- 2 \int_{0}^{t} |||v|||\nabla v|||_{L^{2}}^{2} - |||B|||\nabla B|||_{L^{2}}^{2} - |||v|||\nabla B|||_{L^{2}}^{2} - |||B|||\nabla v|||_{L^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds.$$

Hence we can conclude that

$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{t} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} |||\boldsymbol{v}|| \nabla \boldsymbol{v}||_{\mathbf{L}^{2}}^{2} + |||\boldsymbol{B}|| \nabla \boldsymbol{B}||_{\mathbf{L}^{2}}^{2} + |||\boldsymbol{v}|| \nabla \boldsymbol{B}||_{\mathbf{L}^{2}}^{2} + |||\boldsymbol{B}|| \nabla \boldsymbol{v}||_{\mathbf{L}^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq C \left( ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right) + C(1 + N + t) \left( ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \left[ \int_{0}^{t} ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds \right]^{2} \right),$$

which implies (2.16).

2.3. Existence, Uniqueness and Regularity of a Strong Solution. In this section, we will show that for smooth initial data, the TMHD equations admit a smooth solution. To prove this, we have to prove their regularity, which is done via the regularity result of Appendix A. Our main result in this section is the following.

THEOREM 2.9 (Strong Solutions). Let  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^{\infty} := \bigcap_{m \in \mathbb{N}_0} \mathcal{H}^m$  and  $\mathbb{R}_+ \ni t \mapsto f(t) \in \mathcal{H}^m$  be smooth for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}_0$ . Then there exists a unique smooth velocity field

$$\mathbf{v}_N \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \cap C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{H}^2),$$

a unique smooth magnetic field

$$\mathbf{B}_N \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3) \cap C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{H}^2)$$

and pressure functions

$$p_N, \pi_N \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R})$$

which are defined up to a time-dependent constant. The triple  $(\mathbf{v}_N, \mathbf{B}_N, p_N)$  solves the tamed MHD equations, (1.12).

Moreover, we have the following estimates: for any T, N > 0

(2.29) 
$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \int_0^T \|\nabla y_N\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds \le C \left( \|y_0\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \left[ \int_0^T \|f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds \right]^2 \right)$$

and

(2.30) 
$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \int_0^T \|y_N(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds \le C_{T,y_0,f} \cdot (1+N),$$

(2.31) 
$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \le C'_{T,y_0,f} + C_{T,y_0,f} \cdot (1+N^2).$$

To be precise, the constant  $C_{T,y_0,f}$  depends on  $||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  and  $\int_0^T ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds$  and goes to zero as both these quantities tend towards zero. The constant  $C'_{T,y_0,f}$  depends on T,  $||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^2}$  and  $\sup_{t\in[0,T]} ||f(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}$  as well as  $\int_0^T ||\partial_s f||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds$ .

We use the notation from Appendix A. We denote the space-time  $L^p$  norms by  $||y||_{\mathcal{L}^p(S_T)}$ . Let  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  be the Gaussian heat semigroup on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . We define its action on a function by the space-convolution

$$\mathcal{F}_t h(x) := \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} e^{-\frac{|x-z|^2}{4t}} h(z) dz.$$

We can thus rewrite the operator  $\bar{\mathcal{B}}$  as

$$\bar{\mathcal{B}}(u,u)_i(t,x) = \sum_{j=1}^3 \int_0^t \left( D_{x_j} \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \right) \left[ u^j(s) u_i(s) - \sum_k R_i R_k u^k(s) u^j(s) \right] (x) ds.$$

Then by Appendix A, Lemma A.4 and Theorem A.5, the weak solution y constructed in Theorem 2.8 satisfies the integral equation

$$y(t,x) = f_N(t,x) - \mathcal{B}(y,y)(t,x),$$

where

$$f_N(t,x) := \mathcal{F}_t y_0 - \Gamma \bar{\circledast} \left( \mathbb{1}_{\mathbb{R}_+} \mathcal{P}(g_N(|y|^2)y - f) \right) (t,x)$$
  
:=  $\mathcal{F}_t y_0 - \int_0^t \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_N(|y(s)|^2)y(s) - f(s)) \right) (x) ds.$ 

The Riesz projection term vanishes here because the Helmholtz-Leray projection  $\mathcal{P}$  ensures that the divergence of the taming term is zero, and the forcing term has zero divergence by assumption.

PROOF OF THEOREM 2.9. We first prove the regularity statement. To this end, we show the following for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ :

$$(2.32) y \in \mathcal{L}^{10\cdot(\frac{5}{3})^{k-1}}(S_T), D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j y \in \mathcal{L}^{2\cdot(\frac{5}{3})^k}(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le 2.$$

We use a proof by induction.

 $\underline{k=1}$ . First, by the Sobolev embedding theorem, since

$$\frac{0}{3} + \frac{1}{5} \left( \frac{1}{2} - \frac{2}{3} \right) + \frac{\frac{4}{5}}{6} = \frac{3}{30} = \frac{1}{10},$$

we have

$$||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{10}(S_T)}^{10} = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y(s,x)|^{10} dx ds$$

$$\leq C_{2,0,2,6,10}^{10} \int_0^T \left( ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^{1/5} ||y||_{\mathcal{L}^6}^{4/5} \right)^{10} ds$$

$$= C_{2,0,2,6,10}^{10} \int_0^T ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ||y||_{\mathcal{L}^6}^8 ds$$

$$\leq C \int_0^T ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^8 ds$$

$$\leq C \sup_{t \in [0,T]} ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^8 \int_0^T ||y(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds < \infty.$$

Hence we find that

$$g_N(|y|^2)y \in \mathcal{L}^{10/3}(S_T).$$

Now, as  $y_0$  and f are smooth, by Lemma A.2, we find that

$$D_r^{\alpha} D_t^j f_N \in \mathcal{L}^{10/3}(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le 2.$$

An application of Theorem A.7 then yields

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j y \in \mathcal{L}^{10/3}(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le 2.$$

 $\underline{k \to k+1}$ . Assume (2.32). We want to apply the Sobolev embedding theorem, which is justified as

$$\frac{0}{3} + \frac{1}{5} \left( \frac{1}{2 \cdot \left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^k} - \frac{2}{3} \right) + \frac{1 - 1/5}{6} = \frac{1}{10 \cdot \left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^k}.$$

Therefore,

$$||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{10\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}}}^{10\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} \leq C_{2,0,2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k},6,10\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}}^{10\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} \int_{0}^{T} \left(||y||_{2,2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}}^{1/5} ||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{6}}^{4/5}\right)^{10\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} ds$$

$$\leq C \int_{0}^{T} ||y||_{2,2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}}^{2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{8\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} ds$$

$$\leq C \sup_{t\in[0,T]} ||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{8\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} \int_{0}^{T} ||y||_{2,2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}}^{2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k}} ds < \infty,$$

which implies

$$g_N(|y|^2)y \in \mathcal{L}^{2\cdot\left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k+1}}(S_T)$$

and by another application of Lemma A.2, this yields

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j f_N \in L^{2 \cdot \left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k+1}}(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le 2,$$

and hence, by Theorem A.7,

$$D_r^{\alpha} D_t^j y \in L^{2 \cdot \left(\frac{5}{3}\right)^{k+1}}(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le 2.$$

We have thus shown that

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j f_N \in \bigcap_{q>1} L^q(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le 2.$$

The next step of the proof consists of another induction on the number of derivatives. Namely we want to show that

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j f_N \in \bigcap_{q>1} L^q(S_T), \quad |\alpha| + 2j \le m.$$

We have shown the base case m=2 already. So we are left to show the induction step  $m \to m+1$ .

We have to consider two cases:

(a) There is at least one spatial derivative, i.e. we have

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j f_N = D_{x_k} D_x^{\beta} D_t^j f_N, \quad |\beta| = |\alpha| - 1 > 0, \quad |\beta| + 1 + 2j = m + 1.$$

In this case we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \|D_{x_k} D_x^{\beta} D_t^j f_N \|_{L^q(S_T)} \\ & = \left\| D_{x_k} D_x^{\beta} D_t^j \left( \mathcal{F}_t y_0 - \int_0^t \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_N(|y(s)|^2) y(s) - f(s)) \right) (x) ds \right) \right\|_{L^q}. \end{aligned}$$

Applying linearity and the triangle inequality, we see that the term containing the initial condition  $y_0$  is bounded. For the other term we get the upper bound

$$\left\| D_{x_{k}} D_{x}^{\beta} D_{t}^{j} \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(s)|^{2})y(s) - f(s)) \right) ds \right\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$\leq \left\| D_{t}^{j-1} D_{x_{k}} D_{x}^{\beta} \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(t)|^{2})y(t) - f(t)) \right\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$+ \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \left( D_{x_{k}} \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \right) D_{x}^{\beta} D_{t}^{j} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(s)|^{2})y(s) - f(s)) \right) ds \right\|_{L^{q}}.$$

The first term is bounded by the induction hypothesis, since

$$|\beta| + 1 + 2(j-1) = |\alpha| - 1 + 2j = m.$$

The second term is bounded by Young's convolution inequality and the fact that  $D_{x_k}\mathcal{F}_t \in L^1(S_T)$  just like in the proof of Lemma A.1.

(b) There are only derivatives with respect to time, i.e.

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j f_N = D_t^j f_N, \quad 2j = m + 1.$$

The term containing the initial condition is again not a problem. In a similar way as before we find

$$\left\| D_{t}^{j} \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(s)|^{2})y(s) - f(s)) \right) ds \right\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$\leq \left\| D_{t}^{j-1} \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(t)|^{2})y(t) - f(t)) \right\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$+ \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \left( D_{t} \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \right) D_{t}^{j-1} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(s)|^{2})y(s) - f(s)) \right) ds \right\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$= \left\| D_{t}^{j-1} \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(t)|^{2})y(t) - f(t)) \right\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$+ \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \left( \Delta \mathcal{F}_{t-s} \right) D_{t}^{j-1} \left( \mathcal{P}(g_{N}(|y(s)|^{2})y(s) - f(s)) \right) ds \right\|_{L^{q}},$$

where we have used that  $\mathcal{F}_t$  solves the heat equation. Now by using integration by parts, in the last term, we transfer one spatial derivative from the Laplacian to the second factor and since 2j-1=m, we conclude the boundedness as before by Young's convolution inequality and the  $L^1$ -boundedness of  $D_{x_k}\mathcal{F}_{t-s}$ .

By the Sobolev embedding theorem we now find that y is smooth. Thus we get for every  $t \ge 0$  that

(2.33) 
$$\partial_t \mathbf{v}(t) = \Delta \mathbf{v}(t) - \mathcal{P}((\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{v}) + \mathcal{P}((\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{B}) - \mathcal{P}(g_N(|\mathbf{v}|^2)\mathbf{v}) + \mathbf{f}_v(t) \\ \partial_t \mathbf{B}(t) = \Delta \mathbf{B}(t) - \mathcal{P}((\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{B}) + \mathcal{P}((\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla)\mathbf{v}) - \mathcal{P}(g_N(|\mathbf{B}|^2)\mathbf{B}) + \mathbf{f}_B(t)$$

We take this equation and apply 3 different inner products to both sides of the equations:

- (a)  $\langle \cdot, \partial_t y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}$ , which will lead to an estimate for  $\int_0^T \|\partial_t y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 dt$
- (b) First apply  $\partial_t$ , then apply  $\langle \cdot, \partial_t y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}$ . This will lead to an estimate for  $\|\partial_t y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2$ .
- (c)  $\langle \cdot, y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$ , which gives an estimate for  $||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2$ .

(a) We find by using Young's inequality

$$\begin{split} \|\partial_{t}y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} &= \langle \Delta y, \partial_{t}y(t)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} - \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ &- \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} - \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, \partial_{t}y\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ &+ \langle f, \partial_{t}y\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ &= -\langle \nabla y, \partial_{t}\nabla y(t)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} - \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ &- \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} - \int g_{N}(|y|^{2})\frac{1}{2}\partial_{t}|y|^{2}\mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \langle f, \partial_{t}y\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} - \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ &- \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, \partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}\rangle_{L^{2}} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|G_{N}(|y|^{2})\|_{L^{1}} \\ &+ \langle f, \partial_{t}y\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ &\leq -\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \frac{1}{8}\left(2\|\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{v}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2\|\partial_{t}\boldsymbol{B}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right) \\ &+ 2\left(\||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla\boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla\boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla\boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla\boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{4}\|\partial_{t}y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|G_{N}(|y|^{2})\|_{L^{1}} \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \frac{1}{2}\|\partial_{t}y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2\||y|\cdot|\nabla y|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ \|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\|G_{N}(|y|^{2})\|_{L^{1}}. \end{split}$$

Here, we denote by  $G_N$  a primitive function of  $g_N$ . Since  $g_N(r) \leq 2r$ , we find  $0 \leq G_N(r) := \int_0^r g_N(s) ds \leq 2\frac{r^2}{2} = r^2$ . Integrating from 0 to T yields – estimating the nonpositive terms by zero – the following:

$$\frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{t}y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} dt$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{T} \left(2\||y| \cdot |\nabla y|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|f\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right) dt$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \|G_{N}(|y(0)|^{2})\|_{L^{1}}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2TC_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{(1)} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} dt + \frac{1}{2} \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4}$$

$$=: C_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{(2)}.$$

(b) We first differentiate Equation (2.33) with respect to t and then take the inner product with  $\partial_t y$  in  $\mathcal{H}^0$ . Note that for  $\theta, \phi, \psi \in \{v, B\}$ , we get

$$(2.35) \qquad \langle \partial_t ((\boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\phi}), \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2} = \langle (\partial_t \boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\phi}, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2} + \langle (\boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \nabla) \partial_t \boldsymbol{\phi}, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2}.$$

By the (anti-)symmetry of the nonlinear terms, if  $\phi = \psi$ , the second term vanishes, which accounts for the  $(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}$  and  $(\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}$  terms. The other two nonlinear terms cancel each other, so we are left with four variations of the first term of the right-hand side of Equation (2.35), which can be simplified further

using the divergence-freeness to yield

$$\langle (\partial_t \boldsymbol{\theta} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{\phi}, \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2} = \langle \nabla \cdot (\partial_t \boldsymbol{\theta} \otimes \boldsymbol{\phi}), \partial_t \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2} = -\langle \partial_t \boldsymbol{\theta} \otimes \boldsymbol{\phi}, \partial_t \nabla \boldsymbol{\psi} \rangle_{L^2}.$$

Taking this into account and applying Young's inequality, we find

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\partial_t y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \\
= \langle \Delta \partial_t y(t), \partial_t y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} + \langle \partial_t f, \partial_t y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} \\
+ \langle \partial_t v \otimes v, \partial_t \nabla v \rangle_{L^2} - \langle \partial_t B \otimes B, \partial_t \nabla v \rangle_{L^2} \\
+ \langle \partial_t v \otimes B, \partial_t \nabla B \rangle_{L^2} - \langle \partial_t B \otimes v, \partial_t \nabla B \rangle_{L^2} \\
- \langle g_N(|y|^2) \partial_t y, \partial_t y \rangle_{L^2} - \langle g_N'(|y|^2) y \partial_t |y|^2, \partial_t y \rangle_{L^2} \\
= -\|\partial_t \nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \langle \partial_t f, \partial_t y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} \\
+ \langle \partial_t v \otimes v, \partial_t \nabla v \rangle_{L^2} - \langle \partial_t B \otimes B, \partial_t \nabla v \rangle_{L^2} \\
+ \langle \partial_t v \otimes B, \partial_t \nabla B \rangle_{L^2} - \langle \partial_t B \otimes v, \partial_t \nabla B \rangle_{L^2} \\
- \|\sqrt{g_N(|y|^2)} |\partial_t y| \|_{L^2}^2 - \|\sqrt{g_N'(|y|^2)} |\partial_t |y|^2 \|_{L^2}^2 \\
\leq -\|\partial_t \nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \|\partial_t f\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \|\partial_t y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \\
+ \||v||\partial_t v\|_{L^2}^2 + \||B||\partial_t B\|_{L^2}^2 + \||v||\partial_t B\|_{L^2}^2 + \||B||\partial_t v\|_{L^2}^2 \\
+ \frac{1}{4} \left(2\|\partial_t \nabla v\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 2\|\partial_t \nabla B\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2\right) \\
- \|\sqrt{g_N(|y|^2)} |\partial_t y| \|_{L^2}^2 \\
\leq -\frac{1}{2} \|\partial_t \nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \||y||\partial_t y|\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \|\partial_t f\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \|\partial_t y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \\
- \|\sqrt{2(|y|^2 - (N + \frac{1}{2}))} |\partial_t y|\|_{L^2}^2 \\
= -\frac{1}{2} \|\partial_t \nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 - \||y||\partial_t y|\|_{L^2}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \|\partial_t f\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 2(N + 1) \|\partial_t y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2$$

Integrating from 0 to  $t \leq T$  then gives (again estimating non-positive terms by zero)

$$(2.36) \qquad \begin{aligned} \|\partial_{t}y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \\ &\leq \|\partial_{t}y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 4(N+1) \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{s}y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{s}f(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &\leq C(1 + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{6} + \|f(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}) + 8(N+1)C_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{(2)} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{0}^{T} \|\partial_{s}f\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &=: C_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{(3)}. \end{aligned}$$

Here we used (2.34) as well as the following estimate for the time derivative of the initial condition: since (2.33) holds for all t, we can set t = 0 there to and take the  $\mathcal{H}^0$ -norm to find

$$\|\partial_{t}y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \leq C\left(\|\Delta y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \||y_{0}||\nabla y_{0}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{6} + \|f(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right)$$

$$\leq C\left(\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + \||y_{0}|\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \||\nabla y_{0}|\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{6} + \|f(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right)$$

$$\leq C\left(\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + \||y_{0}|\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{4} + \||\nabla y_{0}|\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{4} + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{6} + \|f(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right)$$

$$\leq C\left(1 + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{6} + \|f(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right).$$

(c) Finally, we take the  $\mathcal{H}^1$  inner product with y(t) and use Equation (2.10):

$$\langle \partial_{t} y(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} = \langle \mathcal{A} y(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} + \langle f(t), y(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}$$

$$\leq -\frac{1}{2} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2(N+1) ||\nabla y||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - |||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}||_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} - |||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}||_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2}$$

$$- |||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}||_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} - |||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}||_{\boldsymbol{L}^{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4} ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + ||f||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2},$$

which implies

$$||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} \leq 4||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 8(N+1)||\nabla y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 4||f(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 4|\langle\partial_{t}y(t),y(t)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}|$$

$$\leq 4||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 8(N+1)||\nabla y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 4||f(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 8||\partial_{t}y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}||y(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2},$$
and hence, using (2.36) and (2.29),

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}$$

$$\leq 16(N+1) \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\nabla y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 8 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}$$

$$+ 8 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 16 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\partial_{t}y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}$$

$$\leq C(N+1)C_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{(1)} + 4 \left[\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \int_{0}^{T} \|f\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds\right]^{2}$$

$$+ 8 \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 16C_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{(3)}$$

$$= C_{T,N,y_{0},f}^{\prime} + C_{T,N,y_{0},f}(1+N^{2}),$$

i.e. (2.31). Equation (2.29) follows from (2.15), and Equation (2.30) follows from (2.16). This concludes the proof.

**2.4. Convergence to the Untamed MHD Equations.** In this section we stress the dependence of the solution to the tamed equation on N by writing  $y_N$ . We will prove that as  $N \to \infty$ , the solutions to the tamed equations converge to weak solutions of the untamed equations. The precise statement is given in the following theorem.

THEOREM 2.10 (Convergence to the untamed equations). Let the data  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^0$ ,  $f \in L^2([0,T];\mathcal{H}^0)$ ,  $y_0^N \in \mathcal{H}^1$  be given such that  $\mathcal{H}^0 - \lim_{N \to \infty} y_0^N = y_0$ . Denote by  $(y_N, p_N, \pi_N)$  the unique solutions to the tamed equations (1.12) with initial value  $y_0^N$  given by Theorem 2.8.

Then there is a subsequence  $(N_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $y_{N_k}$  converges to a y in  $L^2([0,T];\mathcal{L}^2_{loc})$  and  $p_{N_k}$  converges weakly to some p in  $L^{9/8}([0,T];L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . The magnetic pressure  $\pi_{N_k}$  converges to a zero, weakly in  $L^{9/8}([0,T];L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3))$ . Furthermore, (y,p) is a weak solution to the (untamed) MHD equations (1.1) such that the following generalised energy inequality holds: for any non-negative  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ ,

(2.37) 
$$2\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla y|^{2} \phi dx ds \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left[ |y|^{2} \left( \partial_{t} \phi + \Delta \phi \right) + 2 \langle y, f \rangle \phi + (|y|^{2} - 2p) \langle \boldsymbol{v}, \nabla \phi \rangle - 2 \langle \boldsymbol{B}, \boldsymbol{v} \rangle \langle \boldsymbol{B}, \nabla \phi \rangle \right] dx ds.$$

Remark 2.11. Compared to the Navier-Stokes case, we get a different type of term in the inequality, namely the last one on the right-hand side of the inequality.

Note also that the "magnetic pressure" disappears as  $N_k \to \infty$ .

PROOF. The proof follows along the same lines as that of Theorem 1.2 in [197]. Let  $y_0^N \in \mathcal{H}^1$  with  $y_0^N \to y_0$  in  $\mathcal{H}^0$  and  $(y_N, p_N)$  be the associated unique strong solution given by Theorem 2.8. Combining (2.27) with (2.28) yields

(2.38) 
$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \int_0^T \|y_N\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \|\sqrt{g_N(|y|^2)}|y|\|_{L^2}^2 ds \le C_{y_0,f,T}.$$

For  $q \in [2, \infty)$ ,  $r \in (2, 6]$  such that

$$\frac{3}{r} + \frac{2}{q} = \frac{3}{2},$$

by an application of the Sobolev embedding (2.6) and (2.38) we find

(2.39) 
$$\int_0^T \|y_N\|_{\mathcal{L}^r}^q dt \le C_{1,0,2,2,r}^q \int_0^T \|y_N\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \|y_N\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^{q-2} dt \le C_{y_0,f,T,r,q}.$$

Employing the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem and the Helmholtz-Weyl decomposition in the same way as in the proof of Theorem 2.8, we find a subsequence  $y_{N_k}$  (again denoted by  $y_N$ ) and a  $y = (\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{B}) \in L^{\infty}([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^0) \cap L^2([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^1)$  such that for all  $\tilde{y} = (\tilde{\mathbf{v}}, \tilde{\mathbf{B}}) \in \mathcal{L}^2$ 

(2.40) 
$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_N(t) - y(t), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}| = 0.$$

In fact, we can even prove that for every bounded open set  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ , we have

(2.41) 
$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{0}^{T} \int_{C} |y_N(t, x) - y(t, x)|^2 dx dt = 0.$$

To this end, let  $G \subset \bar{G} \subset Q$  for a cuboid Q, and  $\rho$  be a smooth, non-negative cutoff function with  $\rho \equiv 1$  on G,  $\rho \equiv 0$  on  $\mathbb{R}^3 \setminus Q$ , and by Friedrichs' inequality (2.22)

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |y_{N}(t,x) - y(t,x)|^{2} dx dt 
= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |\boldsymbol{v}_{N}(t,x) - \boldsymbol{v}(t,x)|^{2} dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |\boldsymbol{B}_{N}(t,x) - \boldsymbol{B}(t,x)|^{2} dx dt 
\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} |\boldsymbol{v}_{N}(t,x) - \boldsymbol{v}(t,x)|^{2} \rho^{2}(x) dx dt + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} |\boldsymbol{B}_{N}(t,x) - \boldsymbol{B}(t,x)|^{2} \rho^{2}(x) dx dt 
\leq \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \int_{0}^{T} \left( \int_{Q} (\boldsymbol{v}_{N}(t,x) - \boldsymbol{v}(t,x)) \rho(x) h_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x) dx \right)^{2} dt 
+ \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \int_{0}^{T} \left( \int_{Q} (\boldsymbol{B}_{N}(t,x) - \boldsymbol{B}(t,x)) \rho(x) h_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x) dx \right)^{2} dt 
+ \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} |\nabla \left( (\boldsymbol{v}_{N} - \boldsymbol{v}) \rho \right)(x)|^{2} dx dt + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{T} \int_{Q} |\nabla \left( (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} - \boldsymbol{B}) \rho \right)(x)|^{2} dx dt 
=: I_{1}(N,\varepsilon) + I_{2}(N,\varepsilon) + I_{3}(N,\varepsilon) + I_{4}(N,\varepsilon).$$

The terms  $I_1(N,\varepsilon)$ ,  $I_2(N,\varepsilon)$  vanish for  $N\to\infty$  as using (2.40) we get

$$\lim_{N\to\infty} I_1(N,\varepsilon) \leq T \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \lim_{N\to\infty} \sup_{t\in[0,T]} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} (\boldsymbol{v}_N(t,x) - \boldsymbol{v}(t,x)) \rho(x) h_i^{\varepsilon}(x) 1_Q(x) \mathrm{d}x \right|^2 = 0,$$

and an analogous computation yields  $\lim_{N\to\infty} I_2(N,\varepsilon) = 0$ .

The other two terms can be bounded by

$$I_3(N,\varepsilon) + I_4(N,\varepsilon) \le \varepsilon \cdot C_\rho \int_0^T \left( \|y_N(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \right) dt \le C_{\rho,y_0,T,f} \cdot \varepsilon,$$

and the arbitrariness of  $\varepsilon > 0$  implies the claim.

Next we prove that for any  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{V}$ 

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_0^t \langle g_N(|y_N(s)|^2) y_N(s), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds = 0.$$

This can be seen as follows:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \int_{0}^{t} \langle g_{N}(|y_{N}(s)|^{2}) y_{N}(s), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$\leq \|\tilde{y}\|_{L^{\infty}} \cdot \limsup_{N \to \infty} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |y_{N}(s)|^{3} \cdot 1_{\{|y_{N}(s,x)|^{2} \geq N\}} dx ds$$

$$\leq \|\tilde{y}\|_{L^{\infty}} \cdot \limsup_{N \to \infty} \left( \int_{0}^{t} \|y_{N}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{10/3}}^{10/3} ds \right)^{9/10} \cdot \left( \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} 1_{\{|y_{N}(s,x)|^{2} \geq N\}} dx ds \right)^{1/10}$$

$$\leq C_{\tilde{y},y_{0},T,f} \cdot \limsup_{N \to \infty} \left( \frac{1}{N} \int_{0}^{t} \|y_{N}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds \right)^{1/10} = 0,$$

where we have used (2.39) and Chebychev's inequality.

As in the proof of Theorem 2.8, there are  $p_N, \pi_N \in L^2([0,T]; L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^3))$  such that  $\nabla p_N, \nabla \pi_N \in L^2([0,T]; L^2(\mathbb{R}^3;\mathbb{R}^3))$ , and we have for almost all  $t \geq 0$  that

(2.42) 
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{v}_{N}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{v}_{N} - (\boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v}_{N} + (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B}_{N} + \nabla \left( p_{N} + \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}_{N}|^{2}}{2} \right) - g_{N}(|(\boldsymbol{v}_{N}, \boldsymbol{B}_{N})|^{2}) \boldsymbol{v}_{N} + \boldsymbol{f}_{1}$$

(2.43) 
$$\frac{\partial \boldsymbol{B}_{N}}{\partial t} = \Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{N} - (\boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{N} + (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{N} + \nabla \pi_{N} - g_{N} (|(\boldsymbol{v}_{N}, \boldsymbol{B}_{N})|^{2}) \boldsymbol{B}_{N} + \boldsymbol{f}_{2}.$$

To derive the generalised energy inequality, we take a non-negative  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$  and then take the inner products with  $2y_N\phi$  in  $\mathcal{H}^0$  of this equation. Let us use the abbreviation  $\iint = \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} dx dt$ . Then we get

(2.44) 
$$\iint \partial_t \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot 2\boldsymbol{v}_N \phi + \iint \partial_t \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot 2\boldsymbol{B}_N \phi$$

$$(2.45) \qquad = \iint \Delta \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot 2\boldsymbol{v}_N \phi + \iint \Delta \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot 2\boldsymbol{B}_N \phi$$

$$(2.46) - \iint (\boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot 2 \boldsymbol{v}_N \phi + \iint (\boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot 2 \boldsymbol{v}_N \phi$$

$$(2.47) - \iint (\boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot 2\boldsymbol{B}_N \phi + \iint (\boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot 2\boldsymbol{B}_N \phi$$

(2.48) 
$$-2 \iint g_N(|y_N|^2) |\boldsymbol{v}_N|^2 \phi - 2 \iint g_N(|y_N|^2) |\boldsymbol{B}_N|^2 \phi$$

$$(2.49) +2 \iint \nabla p_N \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_N \phi + 2 \iint \nabla \pi_N \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_N \phi + 2 \iint \langle f, y_N \rangle \phi.$$

Let us discuss this equation line by line. The first line (2.44) is a simple application of integration by parts (with respect to the time variable):

$$\iint \partial_t y_N \cdot y_N \phi = -\iint y_N \cdot \partial_t (y_N \phi)$$
$$= -\iint y_N \cdot (\partial_t y_N) \phi - \iint |y_N|^2 \partial_t \phi$$

which in turn yields

$$2 \iint \partial_t y_N \cdot y_N \phi = - \iint |y_N|^2 \partial_t \phi.$$

For the second line (2.45), we proceed along similar lines, this time with respect to the space variable. To avoid confusion, we will write the equation in components:

$$2 \iint \Delta \boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{N} \phi + 2 \iint \Delta \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \phi$$

$$= 2 \iint \sum_{i,k} (\partial_{i} \partial_{i} \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k}) \, \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k} \phi + 2 \iint \sum_{i,k} (\partial_{i} \partial_{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k}) \, \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \phi$$

$$= -2 \iint \sum_{i,k} (\partial_{i} \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k}) \, \partial_{i} \left( \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k} \phi \right) - 2 \iint \sum_{i,k} (\partial_{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k}) \, \partial_{i} \left( \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \phi \right).$$

We will focus on the velocity terms, the magnetic field works in exactly the same way.

$$-2 \iint \sum_{i,k} \left( \partial_i \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \right) \partial_i \left( \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \phi \right) = -2 \iint \sum_{i,k} \left| \partial_i \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \right|^2 \phi - 2 \iint (\partial_i \boldsymbol{v}_N^k) \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \partial_i \phi.$$

The last term on the right-hand side equals, after another application of integration by parts,

$$-2 \iint (\partial_i \boldsymbol{v}_N^k) \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \partial_i \phi = 2 \iint \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \partial_i \left( \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \partial_i \phi \right)$$
$$= 2 \iint \left( \partial_i \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \right) \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \partial_i \phi + 2 \iint \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \left( \partial_i^2 \phi \right),$$

and thus

$$-2\iint (\partial_i \boldsymbol{v}_N^k) \boldsymbol{v}_N^k \partial_i \phi = \iint |\boldsymbol{v}_N|^2 \Delta \phi.$$

Hence, (2.45) can be rewritten as

$$2\iint \Delta \boldsymbol{y}_N \cdot \boldsymbol{y}_N \phi = -\iint |\nabla y_N|^2 \phi + \iint |y_N|^2 \Delta \phi.$$

The third line, (2.46) will be dealt with term by term. By the incompressibility condition

$$-2 \iint (\boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla) \, \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_N \phi = 2 \iint |\boldsymbol{v}_N|^2 \nabla \cdot (\boldsymbol{v}_N \phi) = 2 \iint |\boldsymbol{v}_N|^2 \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla \phi.$$

The second term, in a similar fashion, becomes (again using the divergence-freeness)

$$2 \iint (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{N} \phi = 2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{i} (\partial_{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k}) \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k} \phi$$

$$= -2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \partial_{i} (\boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k} \phi)$$

$$= -2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} (\partial_{i} \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k}) \phi - 2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{k} \partial_{i} \phi$$

$$= -2 \iint (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \phi - 2 \iint (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_{N}) (\boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \nabla \phi).$$

The first term of the last line here cancels with the second term of (2.47). Thus we only have to deal with the first term of (2.47):

$$-2 \iint (\boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \phi = -2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{i} (\partial_{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k}) \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \phi$$

$$= 2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \partial_{i} (\boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \phi) = 2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \partial_{i} (\boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \phi)$$

$$= 2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} (\partial_{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k}) \phi + 2 \sum_{i,k} \iint \boldsymbol{v}_{N}^{i} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \boldsymbol{B}_{N}^{k} \partial_{i} \phi$$

$$= 2 \iint (\boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_{N} \phi + 2 \iint |\boldsymbol{B}_{N}|^{2} \boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \nabla \phi,$$

and therefore

$$-2\iint (\boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_N \phi = \iint |\boldsymbol{B}_N|^2 \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla \phi.$$

The last terms that we have to treat are the pressure terms of (2.49). For the first term, we find, again by integration by parts and the incompressibility

$$2\iint \nabla p_N \cdot \boldsymbol{v}_N \phi = -2\iint p_N \boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla \phi,$$

and similarly for the second term

$$2\iint \nabla \pi_N \cdot \boldsymbol{B}_N \phi = -2\iint \pi_N \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot \nabla \phi.$$

Thus, altgether we find that

$$(2.50) \qquad 2\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\nabla y_{N}|^{2} \phi \, dxds + 2\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}(|y_{N}|^{2})|y_{N}|^{2} \phi \, dxds$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \left[ |y_{N}|^{2} \left( \partial_{t} \phi + \Delta \phi \right) + 2\langle y_{N}, f \rangle \phi - 2\pi_{N} \langle \mathbf{B}_{N}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} + (|y_{N}|^{2} - 2p_{N}) \langle \mathbf{v}_{N}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} - 2\langle \mathbf{B}_{N}, \mathbf{v}_{N} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \langle \mathbf{B}_{N}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \right] dxds.$$

Since  $0 \le \phi \in C_c^{\infty}$ , it acts as a density, and thus, by [53, Theorem 1.2.1], the map  $y \mapsto \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla y|^2 \phi \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s$  is lower semi-continuous in  $L^2([0,T];\mathcal{H}^0)$ . Thus, the limit of the left-hand side of (2.50) as  $N \to \infty$  is greater than or equal to

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \inf \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla y_N|^2 \phi \, dx ds + 2 \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} g_N(|y_N|^2) |y_N|^2 \phi \, dx ds \\
\ge \lim_{N \to \infty} \inf \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla y_N|^2 \phi \, dx ds \ge 2 \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla y|^2 \phi \, dx ds.$$

On the other hand, the limit of the right-hand side as  $N \to \infty$  consists of four terms, which we treat individually. We denote  $G := \operatorname{supp} \phi$ .

For the first term, by Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski, (2.38) and (2.41), we find

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (|y_{N}|^{2} - |y|^{2}) (\partial_{t}\phi + \Delta\phi) dxds$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |y_{N} - y| (|y_{N}| + |y|) (\partial_{t}\phi + \Delta\phi) dxds$$

$$\leq C_{\phi} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |y_{N} - y|^{2} dxds \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} 2(|y_{N}|^{2} + |y|^{2}) dxds \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C_{\phi,y_{0},T,f} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |y_{N} - y|^{2} dxds \right)^{1/2} \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} 0.$$

The second term can be treated in a similar fashion:

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} 2\langle y_{N} - y, f \rangle \phi \, dxds$$

$$\leq \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |y_{N} - y|^{2} dxds \right)^{1/2} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |f|^{2} \phi^{2} dxds \right)^{1/2}$$

$$\leq C_{\phi} ||f||_{L^{2}([0,T];\mathcal{H}^{0})} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \int_{G} |y_{N} - y|^{2} dxds \right)^{1/2} \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} 0.$$

For the term

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y_N|^2 \langle \boldsymbol{v}_N, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} dx ds = \int_0^T \int_G |y_N|^2 \left\langle \boldsymbol{v}_N, 1_G \frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} \phi dx ds,$$

we note that since  $\phi \in C_c^{\infty}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ , (2.41) implies convergence in measure for the finite measure  $\mu := \phi dx \otimes ds$ . This can be seen as follows: Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Define  $X_N := 1_G |y_N|^2 \left\langle \boldsymbol{v}_N, \frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3}$ . By the binomial formula and Young's inequality

$$\left| |y_N|^2 \left\langle \boldsymbol{v}_N, 1_G \frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} - |y|^2 \left\langle \boldsymbol{v}, 1_G \frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} \right|$$

$$\leq \frac{3}{2} |y_N - y| \left( |y_N|^2 + |y|^2 \right) 1_G \left| \frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi} \right|.$$

Set  $A := \left\{ \frac{3}{2} |y_N - y| \left( |y_N|^2 + |y|^2 \right) 1_G \left| \frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi} \right| > \varepsilon \right\}$ . Fix an arbitrary  $\delta > 0$ . By the above computation we find

$$\mu\left(|X_N - X| > \varepsilon\right) \le \mu\left(\frac{3}{2}|y_N - y|\left(|y_N|^2 + |y|^2\right)1_G\left|\frac{\nabla\phi}{\phi}\right| > \varepsilon\right)$$

$$= \mu(A \cap \{|y_N - y| > \delta\}) + \mu(A \cap \{|y_N - y| \le \delta\})$$

$$\le \mu(|y_N - y| > \delta) + \mu(A \cap \{|y_N - y| \le \delta\}).$$

The first term converges to zero by the Chebychev inequality and (2.41):

$$\mu(|y_N - y| > \delta) \le \frac{1}{\delta^2} \int \int_G |y_N - y|^2 \phi dx ds$$
$$\le \frac{C_\phi}{\delta^2} \int \int_G |y_N - y|^2 dx ds \xrightarrow{N \to \infty} 0.$$

The second term can be bounded by the Markov inequality and (2.38):

$$\mu(A \cap \{|y_N - y| \le \delta\}) \le \mu \left(\frac{3}{2}\delta \left(|y_N|^2 + |y|^2\right) 1_G \left|\frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi}\right| > \varepsilon\right)$$

$$\le \delta \cdot \frac{3}{2\varepsilon} \int \int_G \left(|y_N|^2 + |y|^2\right) 1_G \left|\frac{\nabla \phi}{\phi}\right| \phi dx ds$$

$$\le \delta \cdot \frac{3}{2\varepsilon} \int \int_G \left(|y_N|^2 + |y|^2\right) |\nabla \phi| dx ds$$

$$\le \delta \cdot \frac{3}{2\varepsilon} C_{\phi, y_0, T, f}.$$

The claim  $\lim_{N\to\infty} \mu(|X_N-X|>\varepsilon)=0$  now follows since  $\delta>0$  was arbitrary. Furthermore, the family  $(X_N)_N$  lies in  $L^1([0,T]\times\mathbb{R}^3,\mu)$  since by (2.39) for r=q=10/3

$$||X_N||_{L^1(\mu)} \le \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y_N|^3 |\nabla \phi| dx ds$$

$$\le \left( \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y_N|^{10/3} dx ds \right)^{9/10} \left( \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\nabla \phi|^{10} dx ds \right)^{1/10}$$

$$\le C_{y_0, T, f} \cdot C_{\phi} < \infty.$$

Finally, using (2.39) in a similar way, we see that the family  $(X_N)_N$  is  $\mu$ -uniformly integrable:

$$\lim_{c \to \infty} \sup_{N} \int \int_{\{|X_N| \ge c\}} |X_N| \mu(\mathrm{d}x, \mathrm{d}s) = \lim_{c \to \infty} \sup_{N} \int \int 1_{\{|X_N| \ge c\}} |X_N| \phi \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s$$

$$= \lim_{c \to \infty} \sup_{N} \int \int 1_{\{|X_N| \ge c\}} |y_N|^2 |\langle \boldsymbol{v}_N, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} |\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq \lim_{c \to \infty} \sup_{N} \int \int 1_{\{|X_N| \ge c\}} |y_N|^3 |\nabla \phi| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\leq \lim_{c \to \infty} \sup_{N} \left( \int \int |y_N|^{10/3} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s \right)^{9/10} \left( \int \int 1_{\{|X_N| \ge c\}} |\nabla \phi| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s \right)^{1/10}$$

$$\leq C_{y_0, T, f} \lim_{c \to \infty} \sup_{N} \left( \int \int 1_{\{|X_N| \ge c\}} |\nabla \phi| \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s \right)^{1/10} = 0.$$

Thus, by the generalised Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem we get

$$\int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y_N|^2 \langle \boldsymbol{v}_N, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s \overset{N \to \infty}{\longrightarrow} \int_0^T \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y|^2 \langle \boldsymbol{v}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}s.$$

Moving on with the energy inequality, the last term of (2.50) can be treated in the same way as just discussed. We are left with the pressure term. As in [197], pp. 547 f., we take the divergence of (2.42) to find

(2.51) 
$$\Delta p_N = \operatorname{div}\left((\boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}_N - (\boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}_N - \nabla \frac{|\boldsymbol{B}_N|^2}{2} + g_N(|y_N|^2)\boldsymbol{v}_N\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{div}\left((\boldsymbol{v}_N \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}_N - (\boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B}_N - \boldsymbol{B}_N \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_N) + g_N(|y_N|^2)\boldsymbol{v}_N\right).$$

Similarly, we take the divergence of (2.43) and obtain<sup>8</sup>

(2.52) 
$$\Delta \pi_N = \operatorname{div}\left(g_N(|y_N|^2)\boldsymbol{B}_N\right).$$

We note that for N sufficiently large

$$(g_N(r))^{9/8} \cdot r^{9/16} \le Cg_N(r) \cdot r.$$

This is obviously true on the set  $\{r \mid g_N(r) = 0\}$ . If r > 0 is such that  $g_N(r) > 0$  (which implies  $r \ge 1$ ), we have

$$(g_N(r))^{9/8} \cdot r^{9/16} \le g_N(r)(g_N(r))^{1/8} \cdot r^{9/16}$$
  
 
$$\le g_N(r)2^{1/8}r^{1/8} \cdot r^{9/16} \le g_N(r)2^{1/8} \cdot r^{11/16} \le 2^{1/8}g_N(r) \cdot r,$$

where the factor of 2 appears due to the definition of the taming function. Using this inequality and (2.38), we find

(2.53) 
$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |g_{N}(|y|^{2})y|^{9/8} dxdt \leq C \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} g_{N}(|y|^{2}) \cdot |y|^{2} dxdt \leq C_{T,y_{0},f}.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Noting that  $(v_N \cdot \nabla)B_N - (B_N \cdot \nabla)v_N = \nabla \times (v \times B)$ , which is divergence-free, cf. Section 1.3.4.

For the first three nonlinear terms on the right-hand side of (2.51), we note that by Hölder's inequality (first for the product measure  $dx \otimes dt$  and with p = 16/7, q = 16/9, then for dt with p = 14/6, q = 14/8) and the Sobolev embedding (2.6) we have

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |(\boldsymbol{v}_{N} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}_{N}|^{9/8} dx dt \leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} |\boldsymbol{v}_{N}|^{9/8} |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_{N}|^{9/8} dx dt 
\leq \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{v}_{N}\|_{L^{18/7}}^{18/7} \right)^{\frac{7}{16}} \cdot \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{v}_{N}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2} dt \right)^{\frac{9}{16}} 
\leq \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{18/7}}^{18/7} dt \right)^{\frac{7}{16}} \cdot \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} dt \right)^{\frac{9}{16}} 
\leq C_{y_{0},T,f} \left( C_{2,0,2,2,18/7}^{18/7} \int_{0}^{T} \left( \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{1/3} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2/3} \right)^{18/7} dt \right)^{7/16} 
= C_{y_{0},T,f} C_{2,0,2,2,18/7}^{9/8} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{6/7} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{12/7} dt \right)^{7/16} 
\leq C_{y_{0},T,f} C_{2,0,2,2,18/7}^{9/8} \left( \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} dt \right)^{6/14} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \|\boldsymbol{y}_{N}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{3} dt \right)^{8/14} \right)^{7/16} 
\leq C_{T,y_{0},f}.$$

The other terms can be bounded in the same way.

Again using the interpolation inequality (2.6), this time with j = 0, m = 1, p = 9/8, r = 9/5 and  $\alpha = 1$ , we find

(2.55) 
$$\int_{0}^{T} \|p_{N}\|_{L^{9/5}}^{9/8} dt \le C_{1,0,9/8,9/8,9/5}^{9/8} \int_{0}^{T} \|p_{N}\|_{1,9/8}^{9/8} dt.$$

Recall that  $\Delta p_N = \operatorname{div} \mathcal{R}_N$ , where  $\mathcal{R}_N$  is defined by (2.51). Then we have

$$||p_N||_{1,9/8} = ||(I - \Delta)^{1/2} \Delta^{-1} \Delta p_N||_{L^{9/8}}$$

$$= ||(I - \Delta)^{1/2} \Delta^{-1} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{R}_N||_{L^{9/8}}$$

$$= ||(I - \Delta)^{1/2} (\operatorname{div} \nabla)^{-1} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{R}_N||_{L^{9/8}}$$

$$= ||(I - \Delta)^{1/2} \nabla^{-1} \operatorname{div}^{-1} \operatorname{div} \mathcal{R}_N||_{L^{9/8}}$$

$$= ||(I - \Delta)^{1/2} \nabla^{-1} \mathcal{R}_N||_{L^{9/8}} < ||\mathcal{R}_N||_{L^{9/8}}.$$

In the last step, we used the  $L^p$  theory for singular integrals, e.g. [207, Chapter V.3.2, Lemma 2, p. 133 f.]. By (2.53) and (2.54) it follows that the right-hand side of (2.55) is uniformly bounded in N.

Therefore, by the Eberlein-Šmuljan theorem (cf. [248, Theorem 21.D, p. 255]), there is a subsequence  $(p_{N_k})_k$  and a function

$$p \in L^{9/8}([0,T]; L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$$

such that for  $k \to \infty$ 

(2.56) 
$$p_{N_k} \to p$$
 weakly in  $L^{9/8}([0,T]; L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)).$ 

Finally, by another application of (2.39), with q = 12, r = 9/4 (so  $\frac{3}{9/4} + \frac{2}{12} = \frac{12}{9} + \frac{2}{12} = \frac{54}{36} = \frac{3}{2}$ ), we find

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|y_N\|_{\mathcal{L}^{9/4}}^{12} \mathrm{d}t \le C_{T,y_0,f}.$$

Thus, in the same way as above, we can employ the generalised Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem to conclude that for  $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}((0,T) \times \mathbb{R}^3)$ 

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \langle p_{N} \boldsymbol{v}_{N} - p \boldsymbol{v}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx dt \right| \\
\leq \lim_{N \to \infty} \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} (p_{N} - p) \langle \boldsymbol{v}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx dt \right| \\
+ \left| \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} p_{N} \langle \boldsymbol{v}_{N} - \boldsymbol{v}, \nabla \phi \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx dt \right| \\
\leq \lim_{N \to \infty} \left( \|p_{N}\|_{L^{9/5}}^{9/8} dt \right)^{8/9} \left( \int_{0}^{T} \||\boldsymbol{v}_{N} - \boldsymbol{v}| \cdot |\nabla \phi|\|_{L^{9/4}}^{9} \right)^{1/9} = 0.$$

In exactly the same way we find a subsequence  $(N_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that

$$\pi_{N_k} \to \pi$$
 weakly in  $L^{9/8}([0,T]; L^{9/5}(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3))$ .

The limit  $\pi$  satisfies the equation

$$\Delta \pi = 0$$
,

which, combined with the integrability property of  $\pi$  yields  $\pi \equiv 0$ , thus eliminating the "magnetic pressure" from the resulting weak equation as well as the generalised energy inequality. Hence we have shown that the solutions to the tamed MHD equations converge to suitable weak solutions to the MHD equations.

REMARK 2.12. It is to be expected that existence and uniqueness in the case of a bounded domain  $\mathbb{D} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  can be shown in a similar way as for the tamed Navier-Stokes equations, as in W. Liu and M. Röckner [167, p. 170 ff.]. However, their method uses an inequality [167, Equation (5.61), p. 166], sometimes called Xie's inequality, for the  $L^{\infty}$ -norm of a function in terms of the  $L^2$ -norms of the gradient and the Laplacian (more precisely, the Stokes operator). This inequality holds for Dirichlet boundary conditions on quite general domains (cf. R.M. Brown, Z.W. Shen [20, Equation (0.2), p. 1184] for Lipschitz boundaries). If we were to use method of [167], we would need to have a similar inequality for the magnetic field as well. Unfortunately, to the best of the author's knowledge, such an inequality has not yet been established for the boundary conditions

$$\mathbf{B} \cdot \mathbf{\nu} = 0$$
,  $(\nabla \times \mathbf{B}) \times \mathbf{\nu}$  on  $\partial \mathbb{D}$ 

of the magnetic field (which mean that the boundary is perfectly conducting, cf. [201, Equation (1.3), p. 637]). Here,  $\nu$  is the outward unit normal vector of the boundary of the domain. If such an inequality could be shown, the rest of the proof of Liu and Röckner should follow in exactly the same way.

## CHAPTER III

## The Stochastic Tamed MHD Equations

ABSTRACT. We study the tamed magnetohydrodynamics equations perturbed by multiplicative Wiener noise of transport type on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and on the torus  $\mathbb{T}^3$ . In a first step, existence of a unique strong solution are established by constructing a weak solution, proving that pathwise uniqueness holds and using the Yamada-Watanabe theorem. We then study the associated Markov semigroup and prove that it has the Feller property. Finally, existence of an invariant measure of the equation is shown for the case of the torus.

## 1. Introduction

In this chapter, we consider a randomly perturbed version of the tamed MHD (TMHD) equations of the previous chapter. This aims at modelling the turbulent behaviour of a flow of electrically conducting fluids through porous media. To be precise, we study existence and uniqueness of strong solutions, as well as existence of invariant measures of the following system of equations:

$$d\mathbf{v} = \left[ \Delta \mathbf{v} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \mathbf{v} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \, \mathbf{B} + \nabla \left( p + \frac{|\mathbf{B}|^2}{2} \right) - g_N(|(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{B})|^2) \mathbf{v} \right] dt$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ (\boldsymbol{\sigma}_k(t) \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \nabla p_k(t) + \boldsymbol{h}_k(t, y(t)) \right] dW_t^k + \boldsymbol{f}_v(t, y(t)) dt,$$

$$(1.1) \qquad d\mathbf{B} = \left[ \Delta \mathbf{B} - (\mathbf{v} \cdot \nabla) \, \mathbf{B} + (\mathbf{B} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} + \nabla \pi - g_N(|(\mathbf{v}, \mathbf{B})|^2) \mathbf{B} \right] dt$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left[ (\bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_k(t) \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B} + \nabla \pi_k(t) + \bar{\boldsymbol{h}}_k(t, y(t)) \right] d\bar{W}_t^k + \boldsymbol{f}_B(t, y(t)) dt,$$

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) = 0, \quad \operatorname{div}(\mathbf{B}) = 0.$$

Here,  $\mathbf{v} = \mathbf{v}(t, x)$  denotes the velocity field of the fluid,  $\mathbf{B} = \mathbf{B}(t, x)$  is the magnetic field, p = p(t, x) is the pressure,  $\pi = \pi(t, x)$  is the "magnetic pressure" (cf. Chapter II, Section 1.3.4),  $g_N$  denotes the taming function, whereas  $\mathbf{f}_v = \mathbf{f}_v(t, x, y(t))$  and  $\mathbf{f}_B = \mathbf{f}_B(t, x, y(t))$  are forces acting on the fluid. The form of the noise term will be discussed below. For simplicity, we have set all the constants appearing in the equations to one. For the assumptions on the coefficients, see Section 2.1.

We do not repeat the motivation for studying these equations, cf. Chapter II, Section 1.3, but note that these equations can be seen as a model for the flow of electrically conducting fluids through porous media at low to moderate Reynolds numbers.

The stochastic MHD equations were first studied by S.S. Sritharan and P. Sundar in [206] who proved existence of martingale solutions in the two- and three-dimensional case. The paper [211] by Z. Tan, D.H. Wang and H.Q. Wang contains results on existence of a global strong solution in 3D for small initial data as well as existence and uniqueness of a local solution. Their paper, however, was later retracted due to allegations of plagiarism.

Questions of ergodicity in two dimensions were studied by V. Barbu, G. Da Prato [11] for Wiener noise, and for  $\alpha$ -stable noise by T.L. Shen and J.H. Huang [203]. K. Yamazaki [237] proved ergodicity in the case of random forcing only by a few modes. In three dimensions, he also proved ergodicity of a Faedo-Galerkin approximation of the MHD equations for degenerate noise in [236].

The asymptotic behaviour of the SMHD equations was studied in the 2D additive white noise case by W.Q. Zhao and Y.R. Li [257], and in the 2D fractional case by J.H. Huang and T.L. Shen [118]. H.Q. Wang [227] studied the system's exponential behaviour. Furthermore, S.H. Wang and Y.R. Li [228] proved long-time robustness of the associated random attractor.

Jump-type and fractional noises have been studied by P. Sundar [209]. U. Manna and M.T. Mohan [169], as well as E. Motyl [182] studied the jump noise case, and the latter author provided a nice and very general framework for 3D hydrodynamic-type equations with Lévy noise on unbounded domains, generalising the 2D framework of I.D. Chueshov and A. Millet [40]. Chueshov and Millet proved large deviations principles as well, and in [41] also a Wong-Zakai approximation and a support theorem.

The existence of solutions to the non-resistive MHD equations with Lévy noise was investigated by U. Manna, M.T. Mohan and S.S. Sritharan [170].

K. Yamazaki proved existence of global martingale solutions for the nonhomogeneous system [234]. The case of non-Newtonian electrically conducting fluids and their long-time behaviour was studied in a paper by P.A. Razafimandimby and M. Sango [190].

In modelling the noise, we follow the approach of R. Mikulevicius and B.L. Rozovskii [178–180] who proposed a multiplicative noise of transport-type for the Navier-Stokes equations, motivated by the turbulence theory of R.H. Kraichnan [135], which was further developed by K. Gawedzki and co-authors in [90,91]. Transport-type noise was studied by several other authors as well, e.g. Z. Brzeźniak, M. Capiński and F. Flandoli [21,22], as well as in Flandoli and D. Gatarek [79, Section 3.3, pp. 378 f.]. More recently, M. Hofmanová, J.-M. Leahy and T. Nilssen [113] studied the problem via rough path methods.

We note that Mikulevicius and Rozovskii consider the case of only Hölder continuous  $\sigma$  as being important to Kraichnan's turbulent velocity model, but for simplicity, we restrict ourselves to the case of differentiable  $\sigma$  (see Assumption (H2) below). We would also like to point out that we have chosen Itô noise instead of the Stratonovich noise considered in [179].

Existence and uniqueness as well as ergodicity for the stochastic tamed Navier-Stokes equation were studied by M. Röckner and X.C. Zhang in [197]. The study of Freidlin-Wentzell-type large deviations was carried out by M. Röckner, T.S. Zhang and X.C. Zhang in [195]. The case of existence, uniqueness and small time large deviation principles for the Dirichlet problem in bounded domains can be found in the work of M. Röckner and T.S. Zhang [194]. More recently, there has been resparked interest in the subject, with contributions by Z. Dong and R.R. Zhang [64] (existence and uniqueness for multiplicative Lévy noise), as well as Z. Brzeźniak and G. Dhariwal [23] (existence, uniqueness and existence of invariant measures in the full space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  by different methods).

From a physical point of view, the fact that our model is most appropriate for low to moderate Reynolds numbers raises the question of whether or not a stochastic model for turbulence (which is commonly associated with high Reynolds numbers) is appropriate in this setting. It is, nevertheless, an interesting mathematical problem that we want to address in this chapter.

Note also that there are instances of apparently turbulent flows at low Reynolds numbers, such as elastic turbulence (which can even occur at arbitrarily low Reynolds numbers), found in non-Newtonian fluids like polymer solutions and described by A. Groisman and V. Steinberg in [103]. Another example occurs in microfluidics, as discovered by G.R. Wang, F. Yang and W. Zhao [226]. Here, the Reynolds number at which the flow exhibits turbulent behaviour is of order  $Re \approx 1$ . However, these are more "exotic" examples and not relatable to our case.

1.1. Regularisation of Fluid Dynamical Equations. In this section, we give a short overview of other regularisations of fluid dynamical equations. For additional regularisations, cf. Section 1.2 of Chapter II. As in that section, we consider fluid dynamical equations as abstract evolution equations

(1.2) 
$$\partial_t y = \mathcal{L}(y) + \mathcal{N}(y, y) + f, \quad \nabla \cdot y = 0,$$

where  $\mathcal{L}$  is a linear or nonlinear operator,  $\mathcal{N}$  is a bilinear operator, and f is a forcing term. We limit our presentation of the regularised terms to the Navier-Stokes case, where  $y = \boldsymbol{v}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}(y) := \mathcal{L}(\boldsymbol{v}) := \frac{1}{Re} P \Delta \boldsymbol{v}$ , and  $\mathcal{N}(y,y) := \mathcal{N}(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{v}) = -P\left[(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\right]$ ). Here we denote the Helmholtz-Leray projection by  $P \colon L^2 \to L^2 \cap \operatorname{div}^{-1}(\{0\})$ . For the related MHD models, we give references for each model.

1.1.1. Leray- $\alpha$  Model. The Leray- $\alpha$  model for the deterministic Navier-Stokes equations was introduced by A. Cheskidov, D.D. Holm, E. Olson and E.S. Titi in [39] (cf. [218] for more references). Here, the nonlinearity is regularised by applying the smoothing (or filtering) operator  $(I - \alpha^2 \Delta)^{-1}$  to the first factor of the nonlinearity. Thus

$$\mathcal{N}_{\text{Leray}-\alpha}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{v}) := -P\left[\left(\left\{(I - \alpha^2 \Delta)^{-1} \boldsymbol{v}\right\} \cdot \nabla\right) \boldsymbol{v}\right],$$
$$f_{\text{Leray}-\alpha} := (I - \alpha^2 \Delta)^{-1} f.$$

In the stochastic case, the model was first studied by G. Deugoué and M. Sango in a series of papers [58–62]. The works [58–60] establish (probabilistically) weak and strong solutions for Wiener noise and prove convergence to a weak solution of the stochastic Navier-Stokes equations. [61] investigates the convergence of a numerical scheme to these equations, whereas [62] is devoted to proving the existence and uniqueness of strong solutions in the case of Lévy noise. The case of the Euler equations (i.e. with zero viscosity,  $\nu=0$ , or equivalently  $Re=\infty$ ) was carried out by D. Barbato, H. Bessaih and B. Ferrario [10]. More recently, the less regularising Leray- $\alpha$  model with fractional dissipation (akin to the hyperviscosity scheme introduced below, but for  $\ell<2$  instead of  $\ell>2$ , i.e. the "hypoviscous" case) was studied by L. Debbi [54] who proved well-posedness on bounded domains and on the torus  $\mathbb{T}^3$ , and also by S.H. Li, L. Wei and Y.C. Xie in [151–153] where they prove large deviation principles, ergodicity and exponential mixing, respectively. Finally, the existence of random dynamical systems and random attractors for additive Lévy noise was studied by B. Gess, W. Liu and the author in [98], and is discussed in greater detail in Chapter IV, Section 6.3.

The stochastic 3D MHD Leray- $\alpha$  model was introduced by G. Deugoué, M. Sango and P.A. Razafimandimby in [57], where both weak and strong solutions are studied. Deugoué [56] considered the long-time behaviour for  $\alpha \to 0$ . Furthermore, R.R. Zhang [249] proved backwards uniqueness for these equations. Moreover, a related model for the MHD equations was investigated by N.E. Wilson in [231,232].

1.1.2. Globally Modified Navier-Stokes Equations. The globally modified Navier-Stokes equations (GMNS) were introduced by T. Caraballo, P.E. Kloeden and J. Real in [38]. Here, the nonlinearity is modified through a nonlinear damping factor:

$$\mathcal{N}_{\text{GMNS}}(\boldsymbol{u}) := F_N(\|\Delta^{1/2}\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^2})P\left[(\boldsymbol{u}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{u}\right],$$

with a damping function  $(N \in (0, \infty))$  given by

$$F_N(r) := \min\left\{1, \frac{N}{r}\right\}.$$

In the deterministic case, further properties of the model have been studied in a series of subsequent papers, cf. [33, 34, 132] and references therein. The stochastic Navier-Stokes case has first been treated quite recently by G. Deugoué and T. Tachim Medjo [63], who studied existence, uniqueness and convergence as  $N \to \infty$ . To the best of the author's knowledge, the MHD case is still completely open.

1.1.3. Regularisation by Delay. Another way of regularising the nonlinear term, studied recently by H. Bessaih, M. Garrido-Atienza and B. Schmalfuss [15], consists in introducing a time delay in the advection velocity, i.e. in considering the nonlinearity

$$\mathcal{N}_{\text{delay}}(\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{v})(t, x) := P\left[(\boldsymbol{v}(t - \mu, x) \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v}(t, x)\right].$$

This time delay again has a smoothing effect on the solution and allows the authors to obtain unique global-in-time weak solutions and, for a certain parameter range in the regularity of the initial conditions, also strong solutions. For  $\mu \to 0$ , their solutions converge to a weak solution of the Navier-Stokes equations. Their work builds on that of S.M. Guzzo and G. Planas [109, 110] as well as C.J. Niche and G. Planas [183] and W. Varnhorn [217].

In the stochastic Navier-Stokes case, X.C. Gao and H.J. Gao [89] showed existence and uniqueness of weak solutions for the above model with linear multiplicative noise. The stochastic MHD equations have not been studied yet.

1.1.4. Lions' Hyperviscosity Method. Another way to add more dissipativity to the model was proposed by J.-L. Lions [160], who considered the operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{hyper}}(\boldsymbol{v}) := \nu_0 P \Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \nu_1 P (-\Delta)^{\ell/2} \boldsymbol{v},$$

where  $\ell > 2$ ,  $\nu_0 \ge 0$  and  $\nu_1 > 0$ . For  $\ell > 5/2$ , he could prove existence of a unique regular solution in a bounded domain. In the stochastic case, it was first considered in 2D by J.C. Mattingly and coauthors in [174,175] where  $\nu_0 = 0$  and by S.S. Sritharan in the setting of stochastic control (in 2D and 3D) in [205]. It was then further studied by B. Ferrario [75] who proved well-posedness in 3D and in [76] characterised the law via a Girsanov transformation for the vorticity form of the equation for  $\ell > 3$ . Furthermore, F.Y. Wang and L. Xu [225] derived a Bismut-type derivative formula for the semigroup associated with the stochastic hyperdissipative equations on the torus for  $\ell > 5$ .

To the best of our knowledge, the stochastic MHD equations with this regularisation have not yet been studied mathematically.

1.1.5. Navier-Stokes-Voigt Equations. The Navier-Stokes-Voigt (sometimes written as Voight) equations employ the following regularisation of the Stokes operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{NSV}(\boldsymbol{v}) := \nu P \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + \alpha^2 P \Delta \partial_t \boldsymbol{v}.$$

This regularisation changes the parabolic character of the equations and simulates a property of so-called Kelvin-Voigt fluids, e.g. polymer solutions, of not immediately reverting back to the original state once external stress is removed. It was pioneered by A.P. Oskolkov [186] in 1973 and has since then been studied by many authors.

The stochastic case was studied by H. Gao and C. Sun in [88, 208], where the existence and uniqueness of weak solutions as well as questions regarding the system's random attractor and its Hausdorff dimension were posed and answered, see also C.T. Anh and N.V. Thanh [2]. Q.B. Tang [212] proved existence and upper semicontinuity of random attractors for unbounded domains and H. Liu and C. Sun first proved large deviation principles in [163].

The stochastic MHD-Voigt case has not been studied so far.

1.1.6. Damped Navier-Stokes Equations (or Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy Models). Instead of adding a linear dissipative term, one can also add nonlinear, power-type terms that counteract the nonlinearity. This leads to the so-called (nonlinearly) damped Navier-Stokes equations. Thus, we consider the (nonlinear) operator

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{damped}}(\boldsymbol{v}) := P\Delta \boldsymbol{v} - \alpha P |\boldsymbol{v}|^{\beta - 1} \boldsymbol{v},$$

where  $\alpha > 0$  and  $\beta \geq 1$ . The damping term  $-\alpha |\boldsymbol{v}|^{\beta-1}\boldsymbol{v}$  models the resistence to the motion of the flow resulting from physical effects like porous media flow, drag or friction, or other dissipative mechanisms (cf. [28]). It represents a restoring force, which for  $\beta = 1$  assumes the form of classical, linear damping, whereas  $\beta > 1$  means a restoring force that grows superlinearly with the velocity (or magnetic field). X.J. Cai and Q.S. Jiu [28] first proved existence and uniqueness of a global strong solution for  $\frac{7}{2} \leq \beta \leq 5$ . This range was lowered down to  $\beta \in (3,5]$  by Z.J. Zhang, X.L. Wu and M. Lu in [252] and considered this the case  $\beta = 3$  to be critical [252, Remark 3.1]. Y. Zhou in [260] proved the existence of a global solution for all  $\beta \in [3,5]$ . For the case  $\beta \in [1,3)$ , he established regularity criteria that ensure smoothness. Uniqueness holds for any  $\beta \geq 1$  in the class of weak solutions.

The first problems studied in the stochastic damped Navier-Stokes case were related to the inviscid limit of the damped equations for  $\beta = 1$  in 2D, cf. H. Bessaih and B. Ferrario [14] and N. Glatt-Holtz, V. Šverák and V. Vicol [101]. B. You [244] proved existence of a random attractor under the assumption of well-posedness for additive noise for  $\beta \in (3,5]$  (notably leaving out the critical, or tamed, case  $\beta = 3$ ). K. Yamazaki [235] proved a Lagrangian formulation and extended Kelvin's circulation theorem to the partially damped case (i.e. only a few components are damped, but the damping there is much stronger, e.g.  $\beta_k = 9$  in two components k = 3, 4 in the 4D case). Z. Brzeźniak and B. Ferrario [24] showed existence of stationary solutions on the whole space  $\mathbb{R}^3$  for  $\beta = 1$ . H. Liu and H.J. Gao [161] proved existence and uniqueness of an invariant measure and a random attractor for  $\beta \in [3, 5]$ . The same authors in [86] proved a smalltime large deviation principle for the same parameter range. Furthermore, again for the same range, for multiplicative noise, exponential convergence of the weak solutions in  $L^2$ to the stationary solution as well as stabilisation were proved by H. Liu, L. Lin, C.F. Sun and Q.K. Xiao [162]. Finally, for jump noise, H. Liu and H.J. Gao showed well-posedness and existence of invariant measures in [87].

To the best of the author's knowledge, the stochastic damped MHD equations have not been considered so far. This work is a first step in this direction.

1.2. Results and Structure of This Chapter. Here are our main results for this chapter. First, we prove existence and uniqueness of a strong solution to the tamed MHD equations. To be precise, we show this for the evolution equation form (2.4).

THEOREM 1.1 (Existence and uniqueness, Theorems 3.9, 3.10 and 3.11 below). Let the coefficients  $f := (\mathbf{f}_v, \mathbf{f}_B)$ ,  $\Sigma := (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}})$  and  $H := (\mathbf{h}, \bar{\mathbf{h}})$  satisfy Assumptions (H1)-(H3) and let  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1$ . Then there exists a unique strong solution y to the stochastic tamed MHD equations, in the sense of Definition 3.7, with the following properties:

(i) 
$$y \in L^2(\Omega, P; C([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^1)) \cap L^2(\Omega, P; L^2([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^2))$$
 for all  $T > 0$  and

(1.3) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\right] ds \leq C_{T,f,H}\left(1 + \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right) \cdot N.$$

(ii) In  $\mathcal{H}^0$ , the following equation holds:

$$(1.4) y(t) = \int_0^t [\mathcal{A}(y(s)) + \mathcal{P}f(s, y(s))] ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_0^t \mathcal{B}_k(s, y(s)) dW_s^k \quad \forall t \ge 0, P - \text{a.s.}$$

By the preceding theorem, for time-homogeneous coefficients, the solution process  $y = (y(t; y_0))_{t\geq 0}$  is a strong Markov process. For  $t\geq 0$ , we can define the associated Markov semigroup on the space  $BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  of bounded, locally uniformly continuous functions on the divergence-free Sobolev space  $\mathcal{H}^1$ , by

$$T_t \phi(y_0) := \mathbb{E}\left[\phi(y(t; y_0))\right], \quad \phi \in BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1), y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1.$$

Then, under a slightly stronger assumption on the coefficients of the noise, this semigroup satisfies the Feller property.

THEOREM 1.2 (Feller property, Theorem 4.2 below). Under the Assumptions (H1), (H2) and (H3)', for every  $t \geq 0$ ,  $T_t$  maps  $BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  into itself, i.e. it is a Feller semigroup on  $BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ .

In the case of a periodic domain  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}^3$ , we prove the existence of an invariant measure.

THEOREM 1.3 (Existence of an invariant measure, Theorem 4.3 below). Under the hypotheses (H1), (H2), (H3)', in the periodic case  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}^3$ , there exists an invariant measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  associated to  $(T_t)_{t\geq 0}$ , i.e. a measure  $\mu$  such that for every  $t\geq 0$ ,  $\phi \in BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ 

$$\int_{\mathcal{H}^1} T_t \phi(y_0) d\mu(y_0) = \int_{\mathcal{H}^1} \phi(y_0) d\mu(y_0).$$

The goal of this chapter is to generalise the results of M. Röckner and X.C. Zhang [196] for the stochastic tamed Navier-Stokes equations to the stochastic tamed MHD case. In doing so, we have to prove MHD versions of several technical tools they use, in particular the estimates of the Lemmas 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5, which are more difficult in our setting, the tightness criterion Lemma 2.6 and the *a priori* estimates 3.11.

The chapter is organised as follows: we state our assumptions in Section 2.1 as well as auxiliary results and estimates on the coefficients of our equation in Section 2.2. Since our proof of existence involves a tightness argument, we provide a tightness criterion in Section 2.3. Existence and uniqueness of a strong solution is then proven in Section 3. We start by defining weak and strong solutions in 3.1. The next section, 3.2 is then devoted to proving pathwise uniqueness.

Existence of a weak solution is proved in Section 3.3 via the by now classical strategy of proving a priori estimates for the Faedo-Galerkin approximation to the equation and using them to infer tightness of the sequence of laws, Skorokhod coupling to obtain almost sure convergence, and concluding by proving uniform moment estimates and convergence in probability. This allows us to obtain – using the Yamada-Watanabe theorem – that there exists a unique strong solution. The Feller property of the semigroup as well as existence of invariant measures are then shown in Section 4.

A publication of the results of this chapter is in preparation, cf. [199].

## 2. Preliminaries

In this section, we provide the basic tools needed later. After establishing our notation and the assumptions the coefficients, we prove some elementary estimates for the operators associated to the coefficients. We then provide a tightness criterion for later use.

**2.1. Notation and Assumptions.** We define the spaces  $L^q$ ,  $W^{m,p}$ ,  $\mathcal{L}^q$ ,  $\mathcal{H}^k$ , etc. as in Chapter II, Section 2.1 and follow the notational conventions established in Chapter II, Section 1.5. By  $\ell^2$ , we denote the space of square-summable sequences.

We make the following assumptions on our coefficients:

(H1) For any T > 0, the function  $f = (\mathbf{f}_v, \mathbf{f}_B)$  with  $\mathbf{f}_v, \mathbf{f}_B : [0, T] \times \mathbb{D} \times \mathbb{R}^6 \to \mathbb{R}^3$  satisfies: there is a constant  $C_{T,f} > 0$  and a function  $F_f(t,x) \in L^{\infty}([0,T];L^1(\mathbb{D}))$ 

$$|\partial_{x^j} f(t, x, y)|^2 + |f(t, x, y)|^2 \le C_{T, f} |y|^2 + F_f(t, x), \quad j = 1, 2, 3, x \in \mathbb{D}, y \in \mathbb{R}^6,$$
  
$$|\partial_{y^l} f(t, x, y)| \le C_{T, f}, \quad l = 1, \dots, 6, x \in \mathbb{D}, y \in \mathbb{R}^6.$$

(H2) For any T > 0, for the function  $\Sigma = (\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}})$  with  $\boldsymbol{\sigma}, \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}} : [0, T] \times \mathbb{D} \to \ell^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , there are constants  $C_{\sigma,T}, C_{\bar{\sigma},T} > 0$  such that for j = 1, 2, 3

$$\sup_{t\in[0,T],x\in\mathbb{D}}\|\partial_{x^j}\boldsymbol{\sigma}(t,x)\|_{\ell^2}\leq C_{\sigma,T},\quad \sup_{t\in[0,T],x\in\mathbb{D}}\|\partial_{x^j}\bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}(t,x)\|_{\ell^2}\leq C_{\bar{\sigma},T},$$

as well as

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T], x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^2}^2 \le \frac{1}{36}.$$

(H3) For any T > 0, for the function  $H = (\boldsymbol{h}, \bar{\boldsymbol{h}})$  with  $\boldsymbol{h}, \bar{\boldsymbol{h}} \colon [0, T] \times \mathbb{D} \times \mathbb{R}^6 \to \ell^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , there exists a constant  $C_{T,H} > 0$  and  $F_H(t,x) \in L^{\infty}([0,T];L^1(\mathbb{D}))$  such that for any  $0 \le t \le T$ ,  $x \in \mathbb{D}$ ,  $y \in \mathbb{R}^6$  and j = 1, 2, 3, l = 1, 2, ..., 6

$$\|\partial_{x^{j}}H(t,x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} + \|H(t,x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \leq C_{T,H}|y|^{2} + F_{H}(t,x),$$
  
$$\|\partial_{y^{l}}H(t,x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}} \leq C_{T,H}.$$

REMARK 2.1. The origin of the constant  $36 = 4 \cdot 3^2$  in Assumption (H2) lies in the fact that in the places where we need the numerical value, i.e. in the proof of (2.13) of Lemma 2.5 as well as in the proof of Lemma 4.1, we estimate the homogeneous second-order Sobolev norm against the Bessel potential norm via Lemma 2.2 below, giving an additional factor of  $9 = 3^2$ . We do not claim that this value for  $\Sigma$  is sharp, but we wanted to give an explicit bound that suffices to make all the calculations work.

The integrability conditions  $F_f$ ,  $F_H \in L^{\infty}([0,T];L^1(\mathbb{D}))$  are used in proving continuity in time, as we want to estimate

$$\int_{s}^{t} \|F_{f,H}(r)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} \mathrm{d}r \le C|t-s|$$

in the proof of Lemma 3.12.

One could also model the equations in a way that the terms  $\mathbf{f}_v$  and  $\mathbf{h}$  in the equations of  $\mathbf{v}$  depend only on  $\mathbf{v}$  instead of y. However, this case is included in our assumptions, which are more symmetric this way.

For definiteness, we want to state the following very elementary relationship between the classical homogeneous second-order Sobolev norm and the norm we use in this work (which is defined via Bessel potentials).

LEMMA 2.2. Let  $\mathbb{D} \in {\mathbb{R}^3, \mathbb{T}^3}$  and  $y \in \mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})$ . Then the following estimate holds:

(2.1) 
$$||y||_{\dot{\mathcal{W}}^{2,2}(\mathbb{D})}^2 := \sum_{i,j=1}^d ||\partial_{x^i}\partial_{x^j}y||_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{D})}^2 \le 3^2 ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^2(\mathbb{D})}^2.$$

PROOF. Using Plancherel's theorem and Young's inequality, we find

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \|\partial_{x^{i}}\partial_{x^{j}}y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \|\xi_{i}\xi_{j}\hat{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \left( \|\xi_{i}\xi_{j}\hat{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\{|\xi|\leq1\})}^{2} + \|\xi_{i}\xi_{j}\hat{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\{|\xi|>1\})}^{2} \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \left( \|\hat{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} + \left\| \frac{\left(\xi_{i}^{2} + \xi_{j}^{2}\right)}{2}\hat{y} \right\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\{|\xi|>1\})}^{2} \right) \leq 3^{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} + 3 \||\xi|^{2}\hat{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\{|\xi|>1\})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3^{2} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} \right) \leq 3^{2} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} + 2\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} + \|\Delta y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} \right) = 3^{2} \|(I - \Delta)y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} \\ &= 3^{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

We define the set of solenoidal test functions as

$$\mathcal{V} := \{ y = (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B}) \mid \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B} \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{D}; \mathbb{R}^3), \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{v}) = \operatorname{div}(\boldsymbol{B}) = 0 \}.$$

As in Chapter II, Lemma 2.1,  $\mathcal{V}$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H}^k$  for any  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let  $P: L^2(\mathbb{D}; \mathbb{R}^3) \to \mathbb{H}^0$  be the Leray-Helmholtz projection. In the case of  $\mathbb{D} \in \{\mathbb{T}, \mathbb{R}^3\}$ , P commutes with derivative operators ( [192, Lemma 2.9, p. 52]) and can be restricted to a bounded linear operator

$$P|_{H^m}\colon H^m\to \mathbb{H}^m.$$

Furthermore, consider the tensorised projection

$$\mathcal{P} := P \otimes P, \quad \mathcal{P}y := (P \otimes P) \begin{pmatrix} v \\ B \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} Pv \\ PB \end{pmatrix}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{P} \colon \mathcal{L}^2 \to \mathcal{H}^0$  is a bounded linear operator:

$$\|\mathcal{P}y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} = \|P\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|P\boldsymbol{B}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \le \|P\|_{L^{2} \to \mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \left(\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|B\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right)$$
$$= \|P\|_{L^{2} \to \mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2}.$$

We now define operators

$$\mathcal{A}(y) := \mathcal{P}\Delta y - \mathcal{P}\left( egin{aligned} (oldsymbol{v} \cdot 
abla) oldsymbol{v} - (oldsymbol{B} \cdot 
abla) oldsymbol{B} \ (oldsymbol{v} \cdot 
abla) oldsymbol{v} - \mathcal{P}\left( g_N(|y|^2) y 
ight), \end{aligned}$$

$$(2.2) \qquad \langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle \mathcal{A}(y), (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} = \mathcal{A}_1(y, \tilde{y}) + \mathcal{A}_2(y, \tilde{y}) + \mathcal{A}_3(y, \tilde{y}),$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}(y, \tilde{y}) := \langle \mathcal{P}\Delta y, (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}, 
\mathcal{A}_{2}(y, \tilde{y}) := -\left\langle \mathcal{P}\left( (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} \right), (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}, 
\mathcal{A}_{3}(y, \tilde{y}) := -\left\langle \mathcal{P}g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}.$$

For the noise terms, we define  $\Sigma(t,x) := \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{\sigma}_k(t,x) \\ \bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_k(t,x) \end{pmatrix}_{k \in \mathbb{N}} \in \ell^2(\mathbb{R}^6)$  and for  $y = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v} \\ \boldsymbol{B} \end{pmatrix}$ 

$$(\Sigma_k(t,x)\cdot\nabla)\,y:=\begin{pmatrix}(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_k(t,x)\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\\(\bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_k(t,x)\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}\end{pmatrix}.$$

Similarly, we define  $H_k(t,y) := \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{h}_k(t,y) \\ \bar{\mathbf{h}}_k(t,y) \end{pmatrix}$ , and

$$\mathcal{B}_k(t, x, y) := \mathcal{P}\left(\left(\Sigma_k(t, x) \cdot \nabla\right)y\right) + \mathcal{P}H_k(t, x, y).$$

Finally, let  $\{W_t^k \mid t \in \mathbb{R}_+, k \in \mathbb{N}\}, \{\tilde{W}_t^k \mid t \in \mathbb{R}_+, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$  be two independent sequences of independent Brownian motions, and define

$$\mathcal{W}_t^k := \begin{pmatrix} W_t^k \\ \tilde{W}_t^k \end{pmatrix},$$

as well as

$$\int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,x,y) d\mathcal{W}_{s}^{k} := \begin{pmatrix} \int_{0}^{t} P(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_{k}(s,x) \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} + P\boldsymbol{h}_{k}(s,x,y) dW_{s}^{k} \\ \int_{0}^{t} P(\tilde{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_{k}(s,x) \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} + P\tilde{\boldsymbol{h}}_{k}(s,x,y) d\tilde{W}_{s}^{k} \end{pmatrix}.$$

The Brownian motions W and  $\overline{W}$  can be understood as independent cylindrical Brownian motions on the space  $\ell^2$ . Similarly, W is a cylindrical Brownian motion on the space  $\ell^2 \times \ell^2$ . For  $y \in \mathcal{H}^m$ , m = 1, 2,  $\mathcal{B}(t, x, y(x))$  can be understood as a linear operator

$$\mathcal{B}(t,\cdot,y)\colon \ell^2\times\ell^2\to\mathcal{H}^{m-1}.$$

To make this clear, we note that if we take the canonical basis of  $\ell^2$ , i.e. orthonormal basis consisting of the sequences  $e_1 := (1, 0, 0, \ldots), e_2 := (0, 1, 0, 0, \ldots), \ldots$ , then the system

$$\left\{ \begin{pmatrix} e_k \\ 0 \end{pmatrix} \in \ell^2 \times \ell^2 \mid k \in \mathbb{N} \right\} \cup \left\{ \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ e_k \end{pmatrix} \in \ell^2 \times \ell^2 \mid k \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$$

forms an orthonormal basis of  $\ell^2 \times \ell^2$ . Then we define

$$\mathcal{B}(t,\cdot,y)\begin{pmatrix}e_k\\0\end{pmatrix}(x):=\begin{pmatrix}P(\boldsymbol{\sigma}_k(t,x)\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}(x)+P\boldsymbol{h}_k(t,x,y(x))\\0\end{pmatrix}\in\mathcal{H}^{m-1},$$

and

(2.3) 
$$\mathcal{B}(t,\cdot,y)\begin{pmatrix}0\\e_k\end{pmatrix}(x) := \begin{pmatrix}0\\P(\bar{\boldsymbol{\sigma}}_k(t,x)\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}(x) + P\bar{\boldsymbol{h}}_k(t,x,y(x))\end{pmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}^{m-1}.$$

It turns out that  $\mathcal{B}$  is even a Hilbert-Schmidt operator, i.e.  $\mathcal{B}(t,\cdot,y) \in L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2;\mathcal{H}^{m-1})$ , as will be proven below in Lemma 2.5. Hence we are in the usual framework of stochastic analysis on Hilbert spaces, cf. [52] or [167].

We can now formulate Equation (1.1) in the following abstract form as an evolution equation:

(2.4) 
$$dy(t) = [\mathcal{A}(y(t)) + \mathcal{P}f(t, y(t))]dt + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{B}_k(t, y(t))d\mathcal{W}_t^k,$$
$$y(0) = y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1.$$

**2.2. Estimates on the Operators**  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ . In this section, we will prove important but elementary estimates on the operators  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ . These play an important role in deriving the *a priori* estimates for the STMHD equations. The first theorem is concerned with estimates for the case of testing with the solution y itself.

LEMMA 2.3 (Estimates for A). Let  $y \in \mathcal{H}^2$ . Then the following estimates hold true

$$(2.6) \langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} = -\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 - \|\sqrt{g_N(|y|^2)}|y|\|_{\mathcal{L}^2}^2$$

$$(2.7) \leq -\|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 - \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^4}^2 + CN\|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2,$$

$$\langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \leq -\frac{1}{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} - \left( \||\boldsymbol{v}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{v}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) + (2N+1) \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}.$$

PROOF. For the first inequality, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{A}(y)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} &\leq \|\mathcal{P}(I-\Delta)y + \mathcal{P}y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \left\|\mathcal{P}\left((\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}\right)(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\right)\right\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ &+ \|\mathcal{P}g_{N}(|y|^{2})y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ &\leq C_{N}\left(\|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \|P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}} + \dots + \|P(\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{6}}^{3}\right). \end{aligned}$$

The nonlinear terms can be dealt with as follows: applying first the Sobolev embedding and then Young's inequality twice, we find

$$||P(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \leq C||(\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}||_{L^{2}} \leq C||\boldsymbol{v}||_{L^{4}}||\nabla\boldsymbol{B}||_{L^{4}}$$

$$\leq C\left(||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{1}}^{3/4}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{L^{2}}^{1/4}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{2}}^{3/4}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{1}}^{1/4}\right)$$

$$\leq C\left(||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{1}}^{3/2}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{L^{2}}^{1/2} + ||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{2}}^{3/2}||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{1}}^{1/2}\right)$$

$$\leq C\left(||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{1}}^{3/2} + ||\boldsymbol{v}||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{2}}^{2} + ||\boldsymbol{v}||_{H^{1}}^{2}\right)$$

$$\leq C\left(1 + ||\boldsymbol{y}||_{H^{2}}^{2}\right),$$

and similarly for the other terms. The last term can be estimated by the Sobolev embedding theorem and Young's inequality by

$$||y||_{\mathcal{L}^6}^3 \le C||y||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^{3/2}||y||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^{3/2} \le C(||y||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 + ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^6).$$

Combining these estimates yields (2.5).

Equation (2.6) follows in exactly the same way as Chapter II, Equation 2.9. Equation (2.7) can then be obtained by using the definition of  $q_N$ .

The proof of 
$$(2.8)$$
 is exactly the one of Chapter II, Equation  $(2.8)$ .

The next lemma deals with the case of testing the right-hand side of our equation with another, arbitrary, compactly supported test function.

LEMMA 2.4 (Estimates for  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$ ). Let  $\tilde{y} \in \mathcal{V}$  with compact support supp $(\tilde{y}) \subset \mathcal{O} := \{x \in \mathbb{D} \mid |x| \leq m\}$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ . Let T > 0. Then for any  $y, y' \in \mathcal{H}^2$  and  $t \in [0, T]$ , we have

(2.9) 
$$|\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| \leq C_{\tilde{y}} \left( 1 + ||y||_{L^3(\mathcal{O})}^3 \right),$$

(2.10) 
$$\|\langle \mathcal{B}_{\cdot}(t,y), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \leq C_{\tilde{y}, \Sigma, H, T} \left( \|F_{H}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} + \|y\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} \right),$$

and

$$(2.11) |\langle \mathcal{A}(y) - \mathcal{A}(y'), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| \leq C_{\tilde{y},N} ||y - y'||_{\mathcal{L}^2} \left( 1 + ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + ||y'||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \right).$$

PROOF. The first inequality follows easily from the following calculations:

$$\mathcal{A}_1(y,\tilde{y}) = \langle y, (I-\Delta)\Delta \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} \le \|y\|_{L^2(\mathcal{O})} \|(I-\Delta)\Delta \tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^0} \le C_{\tilde{y}} \|y\|_{L^3(\mathcal{O})} \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^4},$$

where the constant  $C_{\tilde{y}}$  depends on the domain  $\mathcal{O}$ , and hence on  $\tilde{y}$ . For the next term we find

$$\mathcal{A}_{2}(y,\tilde{y}) = -\langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, (I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, (I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ - \langle (\boldsymbol{v}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{B}, (I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}\rangle_{L^{2}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B}\cdot\nabla)\boldsymbol{v}, (I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ = \langle \boldsymbol{v}\otimes\boldsymbol{v}, \nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\rangle_{L^{2}} - \langle \boldsymbol{B}\otimes\boldsymbol{B}, \nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ + \langle \boldsymbol{v}\otimes\boldsymbol{B}, \nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}\rangle_{L^{2}} - \langle \boldsymbol{B}\otimes\boldsymbol{v}, \nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}\rangle_{L^{2}} \\ \leq \left(\left(\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{2}\right) \cdot \sup_{x\in\mathbb{D}} |\nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}(x)| \\ + 2\|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})}\|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \cdot \sup_{x\in\mathbb{D}} |\nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}(x)|\right) \\ \leq 2\|\boldsymbol{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} \cdot \sup_{x\in\mathbb{D}} |\nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}(x)| \\ \leq C_{\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}}\|\boldsymbol{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{3}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} \cdot \sup_{x\in\mathbb{D}} |\nabla(I-\Delta)\tilde{\boldsymbol{y}}(x)|.$$

Finally,

$$\mathcal{A}_{3}(y,\tilde{y}) = -\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y, (I-\Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{L^{2}} \leq \|g_{N}(|y|^{2})y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{1}(\mathcal{O})} \cdot \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} |(I-\Delta)\tilde{y}(x)|$$
  
$$\leq C\|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{3}(\mathcal{O})}^{3} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} |(I-\Delta)\tilde{y}(x)|.$$

Combining the above estimates yields (2.9).

For the second estimate (2.10), we have by the boundedness of the Leray-Helmholtz projections

$$\begin{aligned} &\|\langle \mathcal{B}.(t,y), \tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \leq \|\langle (\Sigma \cdot \nabla)y, (I-\Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} + \langle H(t,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq 2\Big(\sum_{k} |\langle (\Sigma_{k} \cdot \nabla)y, (I-\Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}|^{2} + |\langle H_{k}(t,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{y}\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}|^{2}\Big). \end{aligned}$$

The first term can be estimated using the definitions of the scalar products and norms involved, integration by parts, the product rule and Jensen's inequality:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{k} \left| \langle (\Sigma_{k} \cdot \nabla) y, (I - \Delta) \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} \left( (\sigma_{k} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v} \right) \cdot \left( (I - \Delta) \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} \left\langle (\sigma_{k} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{v}, (I - \Delta) \tilde{\mathbf{v}} \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} + \left\langle (\bar{\sigma}_{k} \cdot \nabla) \mathbf{B}, (I - \Delta) \tilde{\mathbf{B}} \right\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \, \mathrm{d}x \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} \sigma_{k}^{j} \left( \partial_{x^{j}} v^{l} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{\mathbf{v}}^{l} + \bar{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \left( \partial_{x^{j}} B^{l} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{\mathbf{B}}^{l} \, \mathrm{d}x \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| -\int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} v^{l} \partial_{x^{j}} \left( \sigma_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \tilde{v}^{l} \right) + B^{l} \partial_{x^{j}} \left( \bar{\sigma}_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \tilde{\mathbf{B}}^{l} \right) \, \mathrm{d}x \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| -\int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} v^{l} \partial_{x^{j}} \left( \sigma_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \tilde{v}^{l} \right) + V^{l} \sigma_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{v}^{l} \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathcal{O}} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} v^{l} \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \sigma_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{v}^{l} + v^{l} \sigma_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{v}^{l} \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathcal{O}} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} v^{l} \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \sigma_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{v}^{l} + v^{l} \sigma_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{v}^{l} \right|^{2} \\ &= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathcal{O}} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} v^{l} \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \sigma_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{v}^{l} + v^{l} \sigma_{k}^{j} (I - \Delta) \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{v}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left. \left. \left. \left| \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{l} \right|^{2} \right| \right. \right. \right. \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left| \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \right| \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{v}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left| \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{l} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{j} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{j} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{j} \right|^{2} \right. \right. \\ &+ \left. \left. \left. \left. \left| \left( \partial_{x^{j}} \tilde{\sigma}_{k}^{j} \right) (I - \Delta) \tilde{b}^{j} \right|^{2} \right. \right$$

which we estimate further by using Assumption (H2), arriving at

$$\sum_{k} \left| \left\langle (\Sigma_k \cdot \nabla) y, (I - \Delta) \tilde{y} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2} \right|^2 \le C_{\Sigma, T, \tilde{y}} \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{O})}^2.$$

Similarly, for the second term we find

$$\sum_{k} \left| \langle H_{k}(t,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} \right|^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathbb{D}} \left( \mathbf{h}_{k}(t,x,y), \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k}(t,x,y) \right), \begin{pmatrix} (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{v}} \\ (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{B}} \end{pmatrix} dx \right|^{2}$$

$$= \sum_{k} \left| \int_{\mathcal{O}} \langle \mathbf{h}_{k}(t,x,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{v}}(x) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} + \langle \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k}(t,x,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{B}}(x) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} dx \right|^{2}$$

$$\leq 2\lambda(O) \sum_{k} \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left| \langle \mathbf{h}_{k}(t,x,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{v}}(x) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \right|^{2} + \left| \langle \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k}(t,x,y), (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{B}}(x) \rangle_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} \right|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq 2\lambda(O) \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \left| (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{v}}(x) \right|^{2} \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left\| \mathbf{h}_{k}(t,x,y) \right\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} + \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \left| (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{B}}(x) \right|^{2} \left\| \bar{\mathbf{h}}_{k}(t,x,y) \right\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} dx$$

$$\leq 2\lambda(O) C_{T,H} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \left| (I-\Delta)\tilde{\mathbf{y}}(x) \right|^{2} \int_{\mathcal{O}} \left| \mathbf{y}(x) \right|^{2} + F_{H}(t,x) dx$$

$$\leq C_{H,T,\tilde{\mathbf{y}}} \left( \|\mathbf{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} + \|F_{H}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} \right).$$

Thus, altogether we have proven (2.10).

For estimate (2.11), we look at each of the three terms of  $\mathcal{A}$  separately:

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{1}(y,\tilde{y}) - \mathcal{A}_{1}(y',\tilde{y})| &= |\langle (y - y'), 1_{\mathcal{O}}(I - \Delta)\Delta \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}| \\ &\leq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} |(I - \Delta)\Delta \tilde{y}(x)| ||y - y'||_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} = C_{\tilde{y}} ||y - y'||_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})}. \end{aligned}$$

The nonlinear terms are handled in the usual way

$$\begin{aligned} &|\mathcal{A}_{2}(y,\tilde{y}) - \mathcal{A}_{2}(y',\tilde{y})| \\ &\leq \left| \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{v}' \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}', (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{B}' \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}', (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v}' \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}', (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &+ \left| \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} - (\boldsymbol{B}' \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}', (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| .\end{aligned}$$

We treat the third term only, the other terms work in a similar manner:

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \left\langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v}' \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B}', (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &= \left| \left\langle (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v}') \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{B} - (\boldsymbol{v}' \cdot \nabla) (\boldsymbol{B}' - \boldsymbol{B}), (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &= \left| \left\langle (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v}') \otimes \boldsymbol{B} - \boldsymbol{v}' \otimes (\boldsymbol{B}' - \boldsymbol{B}), \nabla (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \right\rangle_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \left| \nabla (I - \Delta) \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}(x) \right| \left( \|\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v}'\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \|\boldsymbol{B}\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} + \|\boldsymbol{B} - \boldsymbol{B}'\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \|\boldsymbol{v}'\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right) \\ &\leq C_{\tilde{y}} \|\boldsymbol{y} - \boldsymbol{y}'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \left( \|\boldsymbol{y}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} + \|\boldsymbol{y}'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right), \end{aligned}$$

and thus we obtain

$$|\mathcal{A}_{2}(y,\tilde{y}) - \mathcal{A}_{2}(y',\tilde{y})| \leq C_{\tilde{y}} \|y - y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} + \|y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right) \leq C_{\tilde{y}} \|y - y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})} + \|y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})} \right).$$

For the taming term, we find

$$\begin{aligned} |\mathcal{A}_{3}(y,\tilde{y}) - \mathcal{A}_{3}(y',\tilde{y})| &= \left| \left\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y - g_{N}(|y'|^{2})y', (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &= \left| \left\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})(y - y') - \left( g_{N}(|y'|^{2}) - g_{N}(|y|^{2}) \right) y', (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &= \left| \left\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})(y - y') - g'_{N}(\theta)(|y|^{2} - |y'|^{2})y', (I - \Delta)\tilde{y} \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \right| \\ &\leq \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \left| (I - \Delta)\tilde{y}(x) \right| \int_{\mathcal{O}} |y - y'| \left[ g_{N}(|y|^{2}) + g'_{N}(\theta) (|y| + |y'|) |y'| \right] dx \\ &\leq C_{\tilde{y}} C_{N} \int_{\mathcal{O}} |y - y'| \left[ |y|^{2} + (|y| + |y'|) |y'| \right] dx \\ &\leq C_{\tilde{y}} C_{N} \int_{\mathcal{O}} |y - y'| \left[ |y|^{2} + |y'|^{2} \right] dx \\ &\leq C_{\tilde{y},N} \|y - y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} + \|y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Collecting the terms, we get

$$\begin{aligned} |\langle \mathcal{A}(y) - \mathcal{A}(y'), \tilde{y} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}| \\ &\leq C_{\tilde{y},N} \|y - y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})} \left( 1 + \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})} + \|y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} + \|y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} + \|y'\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathcal{O})}^{2} \right), \end{aligned}$$

which implies (2.11) by Sobolev embedding.

The estimates of the next lemma appear often in expressions for the quadratic variation of the Itô term when we apply Itô's formula.

LEMMA 2.5 (Estimates for  $\mathcal{B}$ ). For any T > 0,  $0 \le t \le T$  and  $y \in \mathcal{H}^2$ , the following estimates hold:

PROOF. To calculate the Hilbert-Schmidt norm (cf. [167, Definition B.0.5, p. 217]), we take the orthonormal basis of  $\ell^2 \times \ell^2$  from Equation (2.3) and enumerate it as a set  $\{\hat{e}_l\}_{l\in\mathbb{N}}$ . Then by definition, for m=0,1,

$$\|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{m})}^{2} = \sum_{l\in\mathbb{N}} \|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\hat{e}_{l}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{m}}^{2} = \sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\begin{pmatrix} e_{k} \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{m}}^{2} + \sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ e_{k} \end{pmatrix}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{m}}^{2}$$
$$= \sum_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \|\mathcal{B}_{k}(t,y)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{m}}^{2}.$$

The first inequality follows from Assumptions (H2) and (H3):

$$\|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2} = \sum_{k} \int_{\mathbb{D}} |\mathcal{B}_{k}(t,x,y)|^{2} dx$$

$$= \sum_{k} \int_{\mathbb{D}} |(\Sigma_{k}(t,x)\cdot\nabla)y + H_{k}(t,x,y)|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq 2 \int_{\mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} |\nabla y|^{2} + \|H_{k}(t,x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} dx$$

$$\leq 2 \left(\sup_{t\in[0,T],x\in\mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2}\right) \int_{\mathbb{D}} |\nabla y|^{2} + 2C_{T,H}|y|^{2} + F_{H}(t,x) dx$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + (2C_{T,H} - \frac{1}{2}) \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|F_{H}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})}.$$

For the second inequality, we note that

$$\|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\|_{L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2;\mathcal{H}^1)}^2 = \|\mathcal{B}(t,y)\|_{L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2;\mathcal{H}^0)}^2 + \|\nabla \mathcal{B}(t,y)\|_{L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2;\mathcal{H}^0)}^2,$$

and, using the commutativity of derivatives and  $\mathcal{P}$  as well as the chain rule, we find

$$\partial_{x^{j}}\mathcal{B}_{k}(t,x,y) = \partial_{x^{j}}\mathcal{P}\left[\left(\Sigma_{k}(t,x)\cdot\nabla\right)y + H_{k}(t,x,y)\right] = \mathcal{P}\partial_{x^{j}}\left[\left(\Sigma_{k}(t,x)\cdot\nabla\right)y + H_{k}(t,x,y)\right]$$

$$= \mathcal{P} \left[ (\partial_{x^j} \Sigma_k(t,x) \cdot \nabla) y + (\Sigma_k(t,x) \cdot \nabla) \partial_{x^j} y + (\partial_{x^j} H_k) (t,x,y) + \sum_{i=1}^6 \partial_{y^i} H_k(t,x,y) \partial_{x^j} y^i \right].$$

Therefore, employing Assumptions (H2), (H3), as well as Equation (2.1), we find

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla \mathcal{B}(t,y)\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2} &\leq \sum_{k} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \left| (\partial_{x^{j}} \Sigma_{k}(t,x) \cdot \nabla) y + (\Sigma_{k}(t,x) \cdot \nabla) \partial_{x^{j}} y \right|^{2} dx \\ &+ (\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}) (t,x,y) + \sum_{i=1}^{6} \partial_{y^{i}} H_{k}(t,x,y) \partial_{x^{j}} y^{i} \right|^{2} dx \\ &\leq \sum_{k} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \int_{\mathbb{D}} 2 |(\Sigma_{k}(t,x) \cdot \nabla) \partial_{x^{j}} y|^{2} + 2 |(\partial_{x^{j}} \Sigma_{k}(t,x) \cdot \nabla) y + \\ &+ (\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}) (t,x,y) + \sum_{i=1}^{6} \partial_{y^{i}} H_{k}(t,x,y) \partial_{x^{j}} y^{i} \right|^{2} dx \\ &\leq 2 \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{i,j=1}^{3} \|\Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} |\partial_{x^{i}} \partial_{x^{j}} y|^{2} dx + 6 \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \|\partial_{x^{j}} \Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} |\nabla y|^{2} \\ &+ \| (\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}) (t,x,y) \|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} + 6 \sum_{i=1}^{6} \|\partial_{y^{i}} H(t,x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} |\partial_{x^{j}} y^{i}|^{2} dx \\ &\leq 2 \cdot 3^{2} \sup_{t \in [0,T], x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + 6 \Big(\sup_{t \in [0,T], x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\partial_{x^{j}} \Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \\ &+ C_{T,H} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|F_{H}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} + C_{T,H} \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \Big) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{T,H,\Sigma} \left( \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|F_{H}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} \right), \end{split}$$

which, together with (2.12), implies (2.13).

2.3. A Tightness Criterion. In this section we establish a tightness criterion, which is a version of a corresponding result in [196, Lemma 2.7]. As the case of periodic boundary conditions can be treated in the same way, we will focus on the case of the full space  $\mathbb{R}^3$ .

Let  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{R}^3$ . We endow the space  $\mathcal{H}^0_{loc}$  of locally  $L^2$ -integrable and divergence-free vector fields with the following Fréchet metric: for  $y, z \in \mathcal{H}^0_{loc}$ 

$$\rho(y,z) := \sum_{m \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-m} \left( \left[ \int_{|x| \le m} |y(x) - z(x)|^2 dx \right]^{1/2} \wedge 1 \right).$$

Then the space  $(\mathcal{H}_{loc}^0, \rho)$  is a Polish space and  $\mathcal{H}^0 \subset \mathcal{H}_{loc}^0$ . Now set  $\mathcal{X} := C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}_{loc}^0)$  and endow it with the metric

$$\rho_{\mathcal{X}}(y,z) := \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} 2^{-m} \left( \sup_{t \in [0,m]} \rho(y(t), z(t)) \wedge 1 \right).$$

Similar to the considerations in the proof of Chapter II, Theorem 2.8, we fix a complete orthonormal basis  $\mathcal{E} := \{e_k \mid k \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathcal{V} \text{ of } \mathcal{H}^1 \text{ such that span}\{\mathcal{E}\} \text{ is a dense subset}$ of  $\mathcal{H}^3$  and - in the case  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}^3$  - such that it is also an orthogonal basis of  $\mathcal{H}^0$ . Given  $y \in \mathcal{H}^0, z \in \mathcal{H}^2$ , the inner product  $\langle y, z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  is understood in the generalised sense:

$$(2.14) \langle y, z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle y, (I - \Delta)z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}.$$

This works in accordance to our choice of evolution triple

$$\mathcal{H}^2 \subset \mathcal{H}^1 \subset \mathcal{H}^0$$
.

The next lemma provides conditions for a set of  $\mathcal{X}$  to be relatively compact, similar to the classical theorem of Arzelá and Ascoli.

LEMMA 2.6 (Compactness in  $\mathcal{X}$ ). Let  $K \subset \mathcal{X}$  satisfy the following conditions: for every T>0

- (i)  $\sup_{y \in K} \sup_{s \in [0,T]} ||y(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} < \infty$ ,
- (ii)  $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{y \in K} \sup_{s,t \in [0,T], |t-s| < \delta} |\langle y(t) y(s), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| = 0$  for all  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ .

Then K is relatively compact in  $\mathcal{X}$ .

PROOF. We follow the proof of [196, Lemma 2.6]. It suffices to prove that K is relatively compact in  $C([0,T];\mathcal{H}^0_{loc})$  for every T>0. Then for T=1, we can find a convergent subsequence  $(y_n^{(1)})_n \to y^{(1)}$  in  $C([0,1];\mathcal{H}^0_{loc})$ . This sequence then has a subsequence converging in  $C([0,2];\mathcal{H}^0_{loc})$  to  $y^{(2)}$ . By uniqueness of limits, we find that  $y^{(2)}|_{[0,1]} = y^{(1)}$ . Continuing inductively, we find a function  $\bar{y} \in C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0_{loc})$  by defining  $\bar{y}(t) := y^{(m)}(t)$  for  $t \in [0, m]$ . The diagonal sequence  $\{y_m^{(m)} \mid m \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset K$  then converges

Thus we fix a T>0 in the following. Let  $\{y_n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  be any sequence in K. For  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ , define

$$G_n^e(t) := \langle y_n(t), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \ (= \langle y_n(t), (I - \Delta)e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}).$$

The two assumptions immediately yield that the sequence of functions  $\{t \mapsto G_n^e(t) \mid n \in$  $\mathbb{N}$  is uniformly bounded and equicontinuous on [0,T]. By the Arzelà-Ascoli theorem, we can find a subsequence  $(G_{n_k}^e)$  and a continuous function  $G^e$  such that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |G_{n_k}^e(t) - G^e(t)| = 0.$$

Since  $\mathcal{E}$  is a countable set, we enumerate it as  $\{e_n \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  and apply the above observation to  $e_1$  to find  $(G_{n_k}^{e_1})$  converging uniformly to  $G^{e_1}$ .

We take the associated  $(y_{n_k})_k \subset K$  and apply the same procedure with  $e_2$  to find a subsequence  $(y_{n_{k_l}})_l$  such that  $(G_{n_{k_l}}^{e_i})$  converges uniformly to  $G^{e_i}$ , i=1,2. We continue again inductively and consider the diagonal sequence, which we denote by  $(y_n)_n$  such that for every  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ 

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|G_n^e(t)-G^e(t)|=0.$$

On the other hand, by Assumption (i), for every t, the sequence  $\{y_n(t) \mid n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is bounded in  $\mathcal{H}^1$ . By the Eberlein-Šmuljan theorem (cf. [248, Theorem 21.D, p. 255]), closed balls in  $\mathcal{H}^1$  are weakly compact and thus there is a function  $y \in L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathcal{H}^1)$  such that for any  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_n(t) - y(t), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| = 0.$$

By definition of  $\mathcal{E}$ , we can conclude that for all  $z \in \mathcal{H}^1$ 

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_n(t) - y(t), z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| = 0.$$

For  $\tilde{z} \in \mathcal{H}^0$ , we have  $(I - \Delta)^{-1}\tilde{z} \in \mathcal{H}^2 \subset \mathcal{H}^1$  and thus we also find

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\langle y_n(t)-y(t),\tilde{z}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}|=\lim_{n\to\infty}\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|\langle y_n(t)-y(t),(I-\Delta)^{-1}\tilde{z}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}|=0.$$

Finally, using the Helmholtz-Weyl decomposition for both components v, B, we find that even for  $z \in \mathcal{L}^2$ 

(2.15) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} |\langle y_n(t) - y(t), z \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}| = 0.$$

We use this to show the convergence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \rho(y_n(t), y(t)) = 0,$$

which, by definition of  $\rho$ , follows if we can show that for any  $m \in \mathbb{N}$ 

(2.16) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \int_{\{|x| \le m\}} |y_n(t) - y(t)|^2 dx = 0.$$

To this end, recall first the following Friedrich's inequality (see e.g. [141] and Chapter II, Equation (2.22)): let  $G \subset \mathbb{R}^3$  be a bounded set. Then for all  $\varepsilon > 0$  there is a  $K_{\varepsilon} \in \mathbb{N}$  and functions  $h_i^{\varepsilon} \in L^2(G)$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, K_{\varepsilon}$  such that for all  $w \in W_0^{1,2}(G; \mathbb{R}^3) \times W_0^{1,2}(G; \mathbb{R}^3)$ 

$$\int_{G} |w(x)|^{2} dx \leq \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} \left( \int_{G} w(x) h_{i}^{\varepsilon}(x) dx \right)^{2} + \varepsilon \int_{G} |\nabla w(x)|^{2} dx.$$

Fix an  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We choose  $G := \{|x| \le m\} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ ,  $w_n := \zeta_m(y_n(t) - y(t))$  where  $0 \le \zeta_m \le 1$  is a smooth cutoff function such that supp  $\zeta_m \subset G$  and  $\zeta_m \equiv 1$  on an open set  $G' \subset G$ .

We find, similar to the calculations in the proof of Chapter II, Theorem 2.8, that

$$\int_{\{|x| \leq m\}} |y_n(t) - y(t)|^2 dx$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} (\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \zeta_m \cdot h_i^{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2})^2 + \varepsilon \int_G |[\nabla \zeta_m](y_n - y)(t) + \zeta_m \nabla (y_n - y)(t)|^2 dx$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} (\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \zeta_m \cdot h_i^{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2})^2$$

$$+ 2\varepsilon \left( \|\nabla \zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \vee \|\zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} |y_n(t) - y(t)|^2 + |\nabla (y_n(t) - y(t))|^2 dx$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} (\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \zeta_m \cdot h_i^{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2})^2 + 2\varepsilon \left( \|\nabla \zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \vee \|\zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \right) \|y_n(t) - y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{K_{\varepsilon}} (\langle y_n(t) - y(t), \zeta_m \cdot h_i^{\varepsilon} \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2})^2 + 2\varepsilon \left( \|\nabla \zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \vee \|\zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \right) C_T,$$

where we used Assumption (i). Thus, by (2.15)

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \int_{\{|x| \le m\}} |y_n(t) - y(t)|^2 dx \le 2\varepsilon \left( \|\nabla \zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \vee \|\zeta_m\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 \right) C_T,$$

which, since  $\varepsilon > 0$  was arbitrary, implies (2.16) and concludes the proof.

This compactness statement can be turned into a tightness condition, as we demonstrate in the next lemma.

LEMMA 2.7 (Tightness in  $\mathcal{X}$ ). Let  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a family of probability measures on  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}))$  and assume that

(i) For all T > 0

$$\lim_{R \to \infty} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mu_n \left\{ y \in \mathcal{X} \mid \sup_{s \in [0,T]} ||y(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} > R \right\} = 0.$$

(ii) For all  $e \in \mathcal{E}$  and any  $\varepsilon, T > 0$ 

$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mu_n \left\{ y \in \mathcal{X} \mid \sup_{s,t \in [0,T], |s-t| \le \delta} |\langle y(t) - y(s), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| > \varepsilon \right\} = 0.$$

Then  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is tight on  $(\mathcal{X},\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}))$ .

PROOF. Fix  $\eta > 0$ . For any given  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ , Assumption (i) guarantees that for  $R_l > 0$  sufficiently large

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mu_n\left\{y\in\mathcal{X}\mid \sup_{s\in[0,l]}\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}>R_l\right\}\leq \frac{\eta}{2^l}.$$

For any  $k, l \in \mathbb{N}$ , and  $e_i \in \mathcal{E}$ , Assumption (ii) guarantees that for  $\delta_{k,i,l} > 0$  sufficiently small

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mu_n\left\{y\in\mathcal{X}\mid \sup_{s,t\in[0,l],|s-t|\leq\delta_{k,i,l}}|\langle y(t)-y(s),e_i\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}|>\frac{1}{k}\right\}\leq \frac{\eta}{2^{k+i+l}}.$$

Now we set

$$K_1 := \bigcap_{l \in \mathbb{N}} \left\{ y \in \mathcal{X} : \sup_{s \in [0,l]} ||y(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \le R_l \right\},$$

$$K_2 := \bigcap_{k,i,l \in \mathbb{N}} \left\{ y \in \mathcal{X} \mid \sup_{s,t \in [0,l],|s-t| \le \delta_{k,i,l}} |\langle y(t) - y(s), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| \le \frac{1}{k} \right\}.$$

The set  $K := K_1 \cap K_2$  is relatively compact by Lemma 2.6 and hence the closure  $\bar{K}$  is compact. Then, using the definitions of the sets  $K_1, K_2$ , we find

$$\mu_n(\bar{K}^c) \le \mu_n(K^c) \le \mu_n(K_1^c) + \mu_n(K_2^c) \le \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{\eta}{2^l} + \sum_{k, l=1}^{\infty} \frac{\eta}{2^{k+l+l}} \le \eta.$$

Since  $\eta > 0$  was arbitrary, we conclude that the sequence  $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is tight on  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}))$ .

## 3. Existence and Uniqueness of Strong Solutions

In this section, we prove the main results of this chapter, namely that there exists a unique strong solution to the TMHD equations. After defining the notions of weak solution, strong solutions and unique strong solution and stating the celebrated Yamada-Watanabe theorem, we prove that pathwise uniqueness holds for the STMHD equations. In proving the existence of a strong solution, we employ the classical Faedo-Galerkin approximation scheme and show existence of a weak solution via the solution of the corresponding martingale problems. Together with the pathwise uniqueness, the Yamada-Watanabe theorem implies existence of a unique strong solution.

**3.1. Weak and Strong Solutions.** For a metric space  $\mathcal{U}$ , we denote the set of all probability measures on  $\mathcal{U}$  by  $\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{U})$ .

DEFINITION 3.1. Equation (2.4) is said to possess a weak solution with initial law  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  if there exists a stochastic basis  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0})$ , an  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued,  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_t$ -adapted process y and two independent infinite sequences of independent standard  $(\mathcal{F}_t)$ -Brownian motions  $\left\{ \mathcal{W}^k(t) = \begin{pmatrix} W^k(t) \\ \bar{W}^k(t) \end{pmatrix} \mid t \geq 0, k \in \mathbb{N} \right\}$  such that

- (i) y(0) has law  $\vartheta$  in  $\mathcal{H}^1$ ;
- (ii) For P-a.e.  $\omega \in \Omega$  and every T > 0,  $y(\cdot, \omega) \in C([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^1) \cap L^2([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^2)$ ;
- (iii) it holds that in  $\mathcal{H}^0$

$$y(t) = y_0 + \int_0^t [\mathcal{A}(y(t)) + \mathcal{P}f(t, y(t))] dt + \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_0^t \mathcal{B}_k(t, y(t)) d\mathcal{W}_t^k,$$

for all  $t \geq 0$ , P-a.s.

The solution is denoted by  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t>0}; \mathcal{W}; y)$ .

Remark 3.2. Under the Assumptions (H1)–(H3) in this section, the above integrals are well-defined by Equation (2.5).

For weak solutions, there are several notions of uniqueness. In this work, we are concerned mostly with pathwise uniqueness.

//·

DEFINITION 3.3. We say that pathwise uniqueness holds for Equation (2.4) if, whenever we are given two weak solutions on the same stochastic basis with the same Brownian motion.

$$(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t>0}; \mathcal{W}; y), (\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t>0}; \mathcal{W}; y'),$$

the condition  $P\{y(0) = y'(0)\} = 1$  implies  $P\{y(t) = y'(t), \forall t \ge 0\} = 1$ .

The following proposition links existence of weak solutions to existence of a solution to a corresponding martingale problem.

PROPOSITION 3.4. Let  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $\mathcal{X}$  be given as in Section 2.3. For  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ , the following are equivalent:

- (i) There exists a weak solution to Equation (2.4) with initial law  $\vartheta$ ;
- (ii) There exists a measure  $P_{\vartheta} \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$  with the following property: for  $P_{\vartheta}$ -almost all  $y \in \mathcal{X}$  and any T > 0, the real-valued process defined by

$$(3.1) y \in L^{\infty}([0,T];\mathcal{H}^1) \cap L^2([0,T];\mathcal{H}^2),$$

and for any  $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  and any  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ 

$$\begin{split} M_e^{\varphi}(t,y) &:= \varphi(\langle y(t),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) - \varphi(\langle y(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \\ &- \int_0^t \varphi'(\langle y(s),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \cdot \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \int_0^t \varphi'(\langle y(s),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \cdot \langle f(s,y(s)),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \mathrm{d}s \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \varphi''(\langle y(s),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \cdot \|\langle \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)),e\|_{\ell^2} \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

is a continuous local  $P_{\vartheta}$ -martingale with respect to  $(\mathcal{B}_t(\mathcal{X}))_t$ , where  $\mathcal{B}_t(\mathcal{X})$  denotes the sub  $\sigma$ -algebra of  $\mathcal{X}$  up to time t.

PROOF. We follow the proof of [196], Section 6.1, pp. 257 ff.

 $(i) \Rightarrow (ii)$  follows from Itô's formula. For  $(ii) \Rightarrow (i)$ , we consider the e-th "component"

$$M_e(t,y) := \langle (y(t) - y(0)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} - \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds - \int_0^t \langle f(s, y(s)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds.$$

Then by [191, Chapter VII, Section 2, (2.2) Proposition, p. 295],  $(M_e(t,y))_{t\geq 0}$  is a continuous local  $P_{\vartheta}$ -martingale with respect to  $\mathcal{B}_t(\mathcal{X})$ , and its quadratic variation process is given by

$$[M_e](t,y) = \int_0^t \|\langle \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}\|_{\ell^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s.$$

Now we consider the process

(3.2) 
$$M(t,y) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} M_{e_j}(t,y)e_j.$$

As it involves a limit, we need to show that it is well-defined. More precisely, we show that  $t \mapsto M(t, y)$  is an  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued continuous local  $P_{\vartheta}$ -martingale with respect to  $(\mathcal{B}_t(\mathcal{X}))_t$ . To this end, let R > 0 and define the stopping time

$$\tau_R := \tau_R(y) := \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid \int_0^t \|\mathcal{B}(s, y(s))\|_{L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2; \mathcal{H}^1)}^2 ds \ge R\}.$$

By (2.13), (3.1) and Assumption (H3), we find for  $P_{\vartheta}$ -almost every  $y \in \mathcal{X}$  that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|\mathcal{B}(s, y(s))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2} ds \leq \int_{0}^{T} \frac{1}{2} \|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{T, H} \|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C \|F_{H}(s)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} ds 
\leq \frac{1}{2} \|y\|_{L^{2}([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^{2})} + TC_{T, H} \|y\|_{L^{\infty}([0, T]; \mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2} + C \|F_{H}\|_{L^{1}([0, T] \times \mathbb{D})} < \infty,$$

and therefore we have that  $(\tau_R(y))_R$  is a localising sequence for the local martingale, i.e.

$$\tau_R(y) \uparrow \infty$$
,  $P_{\vartheta} - a.a. y$ , as  $R \to \infty$ .

Now we define the approximations

$$M^{R,n}(t,y) := \sum_{j=1}^{n} M_{e_j}(t \wedge \tau_R, y)e_j.$$

As a finite sum of martingales,  $(M^{R,n}(t,y))_t$  is an  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued continuous martingale with square-variation (some authors use the terminology tensor-quadratic process, cf. [176, pp. 11-13])

$$\ll M^{R,n} \gg_{\mathcal{H}^1} (t,y) = \sum_{i,j=1}^n [M_{e_i}, M_{e_j}](t \wedge \tau_R, y) \cdot e_i \otimes e_j$$
$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^n \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_R} \langle \langle \mathcal{B}(s, y(s)), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}, \langle \mathcal{B}(s, y(s)), e_j \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \rangle_{\ell^2} \cdot e_i \otimes e_j \mathrm{d}s.$$

Burkholder's inequality (cf. [172, Theorem 1.1]) applied to the  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued martingale  $N_t := M^{R,n}(t,y) - M^{R,m}(t,y)$  implies that for any T > 0

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \| M^{R,n}(t,y) - M^{R,m}(t,y) \|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \right] \\ &\leq C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ < M^{R,n} - M^{R,m} > (T,y) \right] \\ &= C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \operatorname{Tr} \ \ll M^{R,n} - M^{R,m} \gg_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} (T,y) \right] \\ &= C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \operatorname{Tr} \ \ll \sum_{j=m}^{n} M_{e_{j}}(t \wedge \tau_{R}, y) e_{j} \gg_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} (T,y) \right] \\ &= C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \sum_{i,j=m}^{n} \operatorname{Tr} \ \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y(s)), e_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \cdot (e_{i} \otimes e_{j}) \, \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \sum_{e_{l} \in \mathcal{E}} \sum_{i,j=m}^{n} \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y(s)), e_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}, \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \langle (e_{i} \otimes e_{j}) \, e_{l}, e_{l} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \, \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \sum_{e_{l} \in \mathcal{E}} \sum_{i,j=m}^{n} \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y(s)), e_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}, \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \delta_{j,l} \delta_{i,l} \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \delta_{j,l} \delta_{i,l} \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \sum_{j=m}^{n} \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \delta_{j,l} \delta_{i,l} \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \sum_{j=m}^{n} \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \delta_{j,l} \delta_{i,l} \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \sum_{j=m}^{n} \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \delta_{j,l} \delta_{i,l} \mathrm{d}s \right] \\ &= C \sum_{j=m}^{n} \mathbb{E}^{P_{\vartheta}} \left[ \int_{0}^{T \wedge \tau_{R}} \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \left( \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)), e_{j} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right) \delta_{j,l} \delta_{j,l} \delta_{j,l} \delta_{j,l} \delta_{j,l} \right) \right]$$

as  $n, m \to \infty$ . Here we have used the equality

$$\mathbb{E}\left[ \langle M \rangle_t \right] = \mathbb{E}\left[ \text{Tr } \ll M \gg_t \right]$$

for Hilbert space-valued martingales, cf. [176, p. 9 and Equation (2.3.7)]. This proves convergence of the series of (3.2) in  $C([0,T];\mathcal{H}^1)$ ,  $P_{\vartheta}$ -a.s. and hence,  $M^R(t,y) := M(t \wedge \tau_R, y)$  is an  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued continuous square-integrable martingale with tensor-quadratic process

$$\ll M^R \gg_{\mathcal{H}^1} (t, y) = \sum_{i,j=1}^{\infty} [M_{e_i}, M_{e_j}](t \wedge \tau_R, y) \cdot e_i \otimes e_j$$
$$= \sum_{i,j=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_R} \langle \langle \mathcal{B}(s, y(s)), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}, \langle \mathcal{B}(s, y(s)), e_j \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \rangle_{\ell^2} \cdot e_i \otimes e_j \mathrm{d}s.$$

Letting  $R \to \infty$ , we obtain that M(t, y) is an  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued continuous local martingale. In particular, we find that the following semimartingale representation holds in  $\mathcal{H}^0$ :

$$y(t) = y(0) + \int_0^t \mathcal{A}(y(s)) ds + \int_0^t f(s, y(s)) ds + M(t, y), \quad P_{\vartheta} - a.s.$$

Now, applying Itô's formula to  $\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2$ , we find that  $t \mapsto \|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2$  and hence also  $t \mapsto \|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  are  $P_{\vartheta}$ -a.s. continuous functions. Considering the evolution triple

$$\mathcal{H}^2 \subset \mathcal{H}^1 \subset \mathcal{H}^0$$
.

with the semimartingale representation of y(t) from above, we see that  $t \mapsto y(t)$  is  $P_{\vartheta}$ -almost surely continuous in  $\mathcal{H}^0$  and hence weakly continuous in  $\mathcal{H}^1$ . By [248, Proposition 21.23 (d), p. 258], weak continuity and continuity of the norm imply strong continuity in  $\mathcal{H}^1$ , thus

$$P_{\vartheta}(C([0,T];\mathcal{H}^1)) = 1.$$

As any continuous martingale can be represented as the stochastic integral of some Brownian motion  $\mathcal{W}$  (by means of the martingale representation theorem, applied on the space  $\mathcal{H}^1$ , cf. [52, Theorem 8.2, p. 220 f.]), we get the existence of a weak solution  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}), P_{\vartheta}, (\mathcal{B}_t(\mathcal{X}))_{t>0}; \mathcal{W}; y)$ .

To be able to define the notion of strong solutions to Equation (2.4), we need a canonical realisation of an infinite sequence of independent standard Brownian motions on a Polish space. To this end, consider the space  $C(\mathbb{R}_+, \mathbb{R})$  of continuous functions on  $\mathbb{R}_+$  with the metric

$$\tilde{\rho}(w, w') := \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} 2^{-k} \left( \sup_{t \in [0, k]} |w(t) - w'(t)| \wedge 1 \right).$$

We define the product space  $\mathbb{W} := \prod_{j=1}^{\infty} C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathbb{R})$  and endow it with the metric

$$\rho_{\mathbb{W}}(w, w') := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} 2^{-j} \left( \tilde{\rho}(w^j, w'^j) \wedge 1 \right), \quad w = (w^1, w^2, \dots), \quad w' = (w'^1, w'^2, \dots).$$

The space  $(\mathbb{W}, \rho_{\mathbb{W}})$  is a Polish space. We denote the  $\sigma$ -algebra up to time t by  $\mathcal{B}_t(\mathbb{W}) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{W})$  and endow  $(\mathbb{W}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{W}))$  with the Wiener measure  $\mathbb{P}$  such that the coordinate process

$$w(t) := \left(w^1(t), w^2(t), \ldots\right)$$

is an infinite sequence of independent standard  $(\mathcal{B}_t(\mathbb{W}))_t$ -Brownian motions on the probability space  $(\mathbb{W}, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{W}), \mathbb{P})$ .

To cater for the two noise terms present in the stochastic MHD equations, we take two copies of  $\mathbb{W}$  and take their product  $\mathfrak{W} := \mathbb{W} \times \mathbb{W}$ , with the metric

$$\rho_{\mathfrak{W}}((w,\bar{w}),(w',\bar{w}')) := \rho_{\mathbb{W}}(w,w') + \rho_{\mathbb{W}}(\bar{w},\bar{w}').$$

Then  $(\mathfrak{W}, \rho_{\mathfrak{W}})$  is also a Polish space. In the same way as above, we introduce the filtration  $\mathcal{B}_t(\mathfrak{W}) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{W})$ , and endow  $(\mathfrak{W}, \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{W}))$  with the product  $\mathfrak{P} := \mathbb{P} \otimes \mathbb{P}$  of the two Wiener measures. Then the coordinate process

$$\mathcal{W}(t) := \begin{pmatrix} W(t) \\ \bar{W}(t) \end{pmatrix}$$

consists of two independent infinite sequences of independent standard Brownian motions. For simplicity, in the following we will sometimes refer to the process  $\mathcal{W}$  as a Brownian motion

Now consider the space of continuous,  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued paths that are square-integrable in time with values in  $\mathcal{H}^2$ ,  $\mathfrak{B} := C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^1) \cap L^2_{loc}(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^2)$  with the metric

$$\rho_{\mathfrak{B}}(y,y') := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-k} \left( \sup_{t \in [0,k]} \|y(t) - y'(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1} + \int_0^k \|y(t) - y'(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 dt \right) \wedge 1.$$

The  $\sigma$ -algebra up to time t of this space is denoted by  $\mathcal{B}_t(\mathfrak{B}) \subset \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{B})$ . For any measure space  $(S, \mathcal{S}, \lambda)$ , we denote the completion of the  $\sigma$ -algebra  $\mathcal{S}$  with respect to the measure  $\lambda$  by  $\bar{\mathcal{S}}^{\lambda}$ .

DEFINITION 3.5. Let  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}; \mathcal{W}; y)$  be a weak solution of Equation (2.4) with initial distribution  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ . If there exists a  $\overline{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^1) \times \mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{W})}^{\vartheta \otimes P}/\mathcal{B}(\mathfrak{B})$ -measurable function  $F_{\vartheta} \colon \mathcal{H}^1 \times \mathfrak{W} \to \mathfrak{B}$  such that

- (i) For every t > 0,  $F_{\vartheta}$  is  $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_t/\mathcal{B}_t(\mathfrak{B})$ -measurable, where  $\hat{\mathcal{B}}_t := \overline{\mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^1) \times \mathcal{B}_t(\mathfrak{W})}^{\vartheta \otimes P}$ ,
- (ii)  $y(\cdot) = F_{\vartheta}(y(0), \mathcal{W}(\cdot)), P\text{-}a.s.,$

then we call (W, y) a strong solution.

REMARK 3.6. The function  $F_{\vartheta}$  is a "machine" that turns an initial value  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1$  and a Brownian motion  $\mathcal{W} \in \mathfrak{W}$  into a solution via  $y = F_{\vartheta}(y_0, \mathcal{W})$ . The first property of  $F_{\vartheta}$  is a type of adaptedness.

Our next definition serves the purpose to clarify what we mean by a unique solution.

DEFINITION 3.7. Equation (2.4) is said to have a unique strong solution associated to  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  if there exists a function  $F_\vartheta \colon \mathcal{H}^1 \times \mathfrak{W} \to \mathfrak{B}$  as in Definition 3.5 such that also the following two conditions are satisfied:

- (i) for any two independent copies of infinite sequence of independent standard Brownian motions  $\{W(t) \mid t \geq 0\}$  on the stochastic basis  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0})$  and any  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -valued,  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable random variable  $y_0$  with distribution  $P \circ y_0^{-1} = \vartheta$ ,
  - $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}; \mathcal{W}; F_{\vartheta}(y_0, \mathcal{W}(\cdot)))$  is a weak solution of Equation (2.4);
- (ii) for any weak solution  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}; \mathcal{W}; y)$  of Equation (2.4) with initial law  $\vartheta$ ,

$$y(\cdot) = F_{\vartheta}(y(0), \mathcal{W}(\cdot)), \quad P - a.s.$$

The following Yamada-Watanabe theorem shows the relationship between the different definitions introduced in this section and gives a way to show existence of a unique strong solution to our equation.

THEOREM 3.8 (Yamada-Watanabe). If there exists a weak solution to Equation (2.4) and pathwise uniqueness holds, then there exists a unique strong solution to Equation (2.4).

PROOF. We want to apply the results of M. Röckner, B. Schmuland and X.C. Zhang [193, Theorem 2.1]. In the setting of that paper, we have  $V := \mathcal{H}^2$ ,  $H := \mathcal{H}^1$ ,  $E := \mathcal{H}^0$  such that  $V \subset H \subset E$ . Furthermore,  $U := \ell^2 \times \ell^2$ . We define the operators

$$b(t,Y)(x) := \mathcal{A}(Y(t,x)) + f(t,x,Y(t,x)), \quad t \in [0,T], Y \in \mathfrak{B},$$
  
 $\sigma(t,Y)(x) := \mathcal{B}(t,x,Y(t,x)), \quad t \in [0,T], Y \in \mathfrak{B},$ 

so our equation assumes the form

$$dY = b(t, Y)dt + \sigma(t, Y)dW(t), \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

Then one can easily check that our assumptions imply the assumptions on the coefficients b and  $\sigma$  in [193]. In particular, the integrability conditions

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|b(s, Y(\omega))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds + \int_{0}^{T} \|\sigma(s, Y(\omega))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2} ds < \infty, \quad P - a.e. \ \omega \in \Omega$$

follow from Equation (2.5) of Lemma 2.3, and Equation (2.13) in Lemma 2.5. Therefore we can apply the Yamada-Watanabe theorem [193, Theorem 2.1], which concludes the proof.  $\Box$ 

**3.2. Pathwise Uniqueness.** In this section we prove that pathwise uniqueness holds for the tamed MHD equations, following the ideas of [196].

Theorem 3.9 (pathwise uniqueness). Let the Assumptions (H1)–(H3) be satisfied. Then pathwise uniqueness holds for (2.4).

PROOF. Let  $y_1, y_2$  belong to two weak solutions defined on the same stochastic basis  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0})$  and with the same Brownian motion  $\mathcal{W}$  and same initial condition  $y_0$ . Let T>0, R>0 and define the stopping time

$$\tau_R := \inf\{t \in [0, T] \mid ||y_1(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \vee ||y_2(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \ge R\} \wedge T.$$

By Assumption (ii) of the definition of a weak solution, we know that for P-a.e.  $\omega$   $y_i(\cdot,\omega) \in C([0,T];\mathcal{H}^1), i=1,2,$  and thus

$$\tau_R \uparrow T$$
, as  $R \to \infty$ ,  $P - a.s$ .

So  $\tau_R$  is a localising sequence. Now we set  $z(t) := y_1(t) - y_2(t)$ . z satisfies the equation

$$dz(t) = \left[ \mathcal{A}(y_1(t)) - \mathcal{A}(y_2(t)) + \mathcal{P}\left(f(t, y_1(t)) - f(t, y_2(t))\right) \right] dt$$
$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left( \mathcal{B}_k(t, y_1(t)) - \mathcal{B}_k(t, y_2(t)) d\mathcal{W}_t^k \right),$$
$$z(0) = 0.$$

Thus by Itô's formula for  $||z||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2$ , we find (noting the self-adjointness of the projection  $\mathcal{P}$  with respect to  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} = \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{L}^2}$ )

$$||z(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} = 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mathcal{A}(y_{1}(s)) - \mathcal{A}(y_{2}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle f(s, y_{1}(s)) - f(s, y_{2}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s, y_{1}(s)) - \mathcal{B}_{k}(s, y_{2}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} d\mathcal{W}_{s}^{k}$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t} ||\mathcal{B}_{k}(s, y_{1}(s)) - \mathcal{B}_{k}(s, y_{2}(s))||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$=: I_{1}(t) + I_{2}(t) + I_{3}(t) + I_{4}(t).$$

We stop with  $\tau_R$  and estimate each term separately.

The first term  $I_1(t \wedge \tau_R)$  can be rewritten and estimated using integration by parts and Young's inequality:

$$I_{1}(t \wedge \tau_{R}) = -2 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} (\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{2}) - (\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - \boldsymbol{B}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{2}) \\ (\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{2}) - (\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - \boldsymbol{B}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{2}) \end{pmatrix}, \nabla z \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$- 2 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \left\langle g_{N}(y_{1})y_{1} - g_{N}(y_{2})y_{2}, z \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} ds$$

$$\leq - \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \left[ \|\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - \boldsymbol{B}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}}^{2} \right]$$

$$+ \|\boldsymbol{v}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{1} - \boldsymbol{v}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{B}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}}^{2} + \|\boldsymbol{B}_{1} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{1} - \boldsymbol{B}_{2} \otimes \boldsymbol{v}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$- 2 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \left\langle g_{N}(y_{1})y_{1} - g_{N}(y_{2})y_{2}, z \right\rangle_{\mathcal{L}^{2}} ds =: J_{1}(t \wedge \tau_{R}) + J_{2}(t \wedge \tau_{R}) + J_{3}(t \wedge \tau_{R}).$$

The terms of  $J_2(t \wedge \tau_R)$  are of the general form

$$\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_1 \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi}_1 - \boldsymbol{\theta}_2 \otimes \boldsymbol{\psi}_2\|_{\mathbb{L}^2}^2, \quad \boldsymbol{\theta}_i, \boldsymbol{\psi}_i \in \{\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B}\}, i = 1, 2,$$

and can be estimated as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\otimes\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\otimes\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}}^{2} \\ &=\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\otimes(\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2})+(\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2})\otimes\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq 2\left(\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{4}}^{2}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{4}}^{2}+\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{4}}^{2}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{L}^{4}}^{2}\right) \\ &\leq 2C_{1,4}^{2}\left(\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{3/2}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{1/2}+\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{3/2}\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{1/2}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2}\right) \\ &\leq 2C_{1,4}^{2}R^{2}\left(\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{3/2}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{1/2}+\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{3/2}\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{1/2}\right) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{16}\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2}+\frac{1}{16}\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{1}}^{2}+C_{R}\left(\|\boldsymbol{\psi}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\psi}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2}+\|\boldsymbol{\theta}_{1}-\boldsymbol{\theta}_{2}\|_{\mathbb{H}^{0}}^{2}\right). \end{split}$$

Counting all possible combinations of  $\theta$  and  $\psi$  and combining the v and B-norms into the corresponding norms for y, we find that

$$J_2(t \wedge \tau_R) \le \frac{1}{4} \int_0^t \|\nabla z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds + C_R \int_0^t \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds.$$

Since  $|g_N(r) - g_N(r')| \le 2|r - r'|$ , we see, using a short calculation similar to the one in Lemma 2.4 as well as the Sobolev embedding from above and Young's inequality, that

$$J_{3}(t \wedge \tau_{R}) \leq 8 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \||z| \cdot (|y_{1}| + |y_{2}|)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds \leq 16 \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|z\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2} (\|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2} + \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{2}) ds$$

$$\leq 16C_{1,4}^{2} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{3/2} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{1/2} (\|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}) ds$$

$$\leq 16C_{1,4}^{2} R^{2} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{3/2} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{1/2} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds + C_{R} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds.$$

Thus, altogether we find that

$$I_1(t \wedge \tau_R) \le -\frac{1}{2} \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_R} \|\nabla z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds + C_R \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_R} \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds.$$

By Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski and Assumption (H1), we find for  $I_2(t \wedge \tau_R)$ 

$$2\int_0^t \langle f(s, y_1(s)) - f(s, y_2(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} ds \le C_{T,F} \int_0^{t \wedge \tau_R} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds.$$

The term  $I_3(t \wedge \tau_R)$  is a martingale and thus killed upon taking expectations. For  $I_4(t \wedge \tau_R)$  we have by Assumptions (H2) and (H3)

$$I_{4}(t \wedge \tau_{R}) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\mathcal{B}_{k}(s, y_{1}(s)) - \mathcal{B}_{k}(s, y_{2}(s))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$= \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\mathcal{P}\left((\Sigma^{k} \cdot \nabla)z(s)\right) + \mathcal{P}\left(H^{k}(s, y_{1}(s)) - H^{k}(s, y_{2}(s))\right)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \sup_{t \in [0, T], x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma(t, x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds + C_{T, H} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{4} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|\nabla z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds + C_{T, H} \int_{0}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}} \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds.$$

Hence, if we stop (3.3) with  $\tau_R$  and take expectations, we find, using the previous estimates, that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t \wedge \tau_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2\right] \leq C_{R,T} \mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^{t \wedge \tau_R} \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 ds\right]$$
$$\leq C_{R,T,f,H} \int_0^t \mathbb{E}\left[\|z(s \wedge \tau_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2\right] ds.$$

Applying Gronwall's lemma yields that for any  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t\wedge\tau_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2\right]=0.$$

Finally, we employ Fatou's lemma to find

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2\right] \le \liminf_{R \to \infty} \mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t \wedge \tau_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2\right] = 0.$$

Thus, z(t) = 0 for all  $t \ge 0$ , P-a.s., i.e. pathwise uniqueness holds.

**3.3. Existence of Martingale Solutions.** The main result of this section is the following

THEOREM 3.10. Under the Assumptions (H1)-(H3), for any initial law  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ , there exists a weak solution for Equation (2.4) in the sense of Definition 3.1.

The proof proceeds in the usual fashion, analogously to the proof of [196, Theorem 3.8] by considering Faedo-Galerkin approximations of our equation. To be precise, fix a stochastic basis  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0})$  and two independent infinite sequences of independent standard  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_t$ -Brownian motions  $\{\mathcal{W}^k(t) \mid t \geq 0, k \in \mathbb{N}\}$  and an  $\mathcal{F}_0$ -measurable random variable  $y_0$  with initial law  $\vartheta \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ .

The set  $\mathcal{E} = \{e_i \mid i \in \mathbb{N}\} \subset \mathcal{V}$  was chosen as a complete orthonormal basis of  $\mathcal{H}^1$ . We consider the finite-dimensional subspaces

$$\mathcal{H}_n^1 := \operatorname{span}\{e_i \mid i = 1, \dots, n\}$$

and consider the projections onto  $\mathcal{H}_n^1$ , i.e. for  $y \in \mathcal{H}^0$ , we define (recalling our convention (2.14))

$$\Pi_n y := \sum_{i=1}^n \langle y, e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} e_i = \sum_{i=1}^n \langle y, (I - \Delta) e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} e_i.$$

We want to study the following finite-dimensional stochastic ordinary differential equations in  $\mathcal{H}_n^1$  as approximations for our infinite-dimensional equation:

$$\begin{cases} dy_n(t) &= [\Pi_n \mathcal{A}(y_n(t)) + \Pi_n f(t, y_n(t))] dt + \sum_k \Pi_n \mathcal{B}_k(t, y_n(t)) d\mathcal{W}_t^k, \\ y_n(0) &= \Pi_n y_0. \end{cases}$$

Using the Lemmas 2.4 and 2.5, there exists a constant  $C_{n,N}$  such that for any  $y \in \mathcal{H}_n^1$  the following growth conditions holds:

$$\langle y, \Pi_n \mathcal{A}(y) + \Pi_n f(t, y) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_n^1} \le C_{n,N} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1}^2 + 1 \right)$$
  
 $\|\Pi_n \mathcal{B}(t, y)\|_{\ell^2 \times \mathcal{H}_n^1} \le C_{n,N} \left( \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1}^2 + 1 \right).$ 

This can be seen as follows: by using linearity, the definition (2.2) of  $\langle \mathcal{A}(y), \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$  and inequality (2.8) of Lemma 2.3 (where we drop all terms with negative sign)

$$\langle y, \Pi_n \mathcal{A}(y) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_n^1} = \left\langle y, \sum_{i=1}^n \langle \mathcal{A}(y), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} e_i \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_n^1} = \langle \mathcal{A}(y), \sum_{i=1}^n \langle y, e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}$$
$$= \langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle \mathcal{A}(y), (I - \Delta)y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0}$$
$$= \langle \mathcal{A}(y), y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \leq (2N + 1) \|\nabla y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \leq 2N \|y\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1}^2,$$

and similarly for the other terms.

Furthermore, our Assumptions (H1)–(H3) ensure that the maps

$$\mathcal{H}_n^1 \ni y \mapsto \Pi_n \mathcal{A}(y) + \Pi_n f(t, y) \in \mathcal{H}_n^1,$$
  
$$\mathcal{H}_n^1 \ni y \mapsto \Pi_n \mathcal{B}(y) \in L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2; \mathcal{H}_n^1),$$

are locally Lipschitz continuous: by Equation (2.11)

$$\|\Pi_{n} \left( \mathcal{A}(y_{1}) - \mathcal{A}(y_{2}) \right)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}} = \left\| \sum_{i=1}^{n} \langle \mathcal{A}(y_{1}) - \mathcal{A}(y_{2}), (I - \Delta)e_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} e_{i} \right\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}}$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} |\langle \mathcal{A}(y_{1}) - \mathcal{A}(y_{2}), e_{i} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} |\|e_{i}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{n} C_{i} \|y_{1} - y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O}_{i})} \left( 1 + \|y_{1}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}}^{2} + \|y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}}^{2} \right),$$

where  $\mathcal{O}_i := \text{supp}(e_i)$ , and similarly by Assumption (H1)

$$\|\Pi_n \left( f(t, y_1) - f(t, y_2) \right)\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1} \leq \sum_{i=1}^n |\langle f(t, y_1) - f(t, y_2), (I - \Delta) e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^0} |\|e_i\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1}$$

$$\leq \sum_{i=1}^n C_{T,f} \|(I - \Delta) e_i\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^0} \|y_1 - y_2\|_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{O}_i)} \|e_i\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1},$$

and by Assumption (H2) and (H3)

$$\begin{split} &\|\Pi_{n}\left(\mathcal{B}(t,y_{1})-\mathcal{B}(t,y_{2})\right)\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1})} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n}\|\langle(\Sigma\cdot\nabla)(y_{1}-y_{2})+(H(t,y_{1})-H(t,y_{2})),(I-\Delta)e_{i}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}e_{i}\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1})} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n}\|\langle(\Sigma\cdot\nabla)(y_{1}-y_{2})+(H(t,y_{1})-H(t,y_{2})),(I-\Delta)e_{i}\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}\|_{\ell^{2}}\|e_{i}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}} \\ &\leq \sum_{i=1}^{n}\left(\sup_{x\in\mathbb{D},t\in[0,T]}\|\Sigma(t,x)\|_{\ell^{2}}+C_{T,H}\right)\|e_{i}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{2}}\|e_{i}\|_{\mathcal{H}_{n}^{1}}\|y_{1}-y_{2}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O}_{i})}. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we can employ the theory of stochastic (ordinary) differential equations (cf. [167, Theorem 3.1.1, p. 56]) to find a unique  $(\mathcal{F}_t)_t$ -adapted process  $y_n(t)$  such that P-a.s. for all  $t \in [0, T]$ 

(3.4) 
$$y_n(t) = y_n(0) + \int_0^t \Pi_n \mathcal{A}(y_n(s)) ds + \int_0^t \Pi_n f(s, y_n(s)) ds + \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_0^t \Pi_n \mathcal{B}_k(s, y_n(s)) d\mathcal{W}_s^k,$$

and for any  $i \leq n$ 

$$\langle y_n(t), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} = \langle y_n(0), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} + \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{A}(y_n(s)), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds + \int_0^t \langle f(s, y_n(s)), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^\infty \int_0^t \langle \mathcal{B}_k(s, y_n(s)), e_i \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} d\mathcal{W}_s^k.$$
(3.5)

Our strategy now is as follows:

- 1. Prove uniform a priori estimates for  $y_n$ .
- 2. Use these to prove tightness of the associated laws.
- 3. Use Skorokhod's embedding theorem to translate the weak convergence from the previous step to P-a.s. convergence of the random variables.
- 4. Prove uniform moment estimates for the terms of the associated martingale problem.
- 5. Show convergence in probability of the martingale problems.

We start with the *a priori* estimates.

LEMMA 3.11 (a priori estimates). For any T > 0, there exists a constant  $C_{T,N,f,H,y_0} > 0$  such that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ 

(3.6) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right] + \int_0^T \mathbb{E}\left[\|y_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2\right] ds + \int_0^T \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla|y_n(s)|^2\|_{L^2}^2\right] ds \\ \leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_0}.$$

Furthermore, in the periodic case it holds that

(3.7) 
$$\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4}\right] ds \leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}}.$$

PROOF. We use Itô's formula as well as Lemmas 2.3 and 2.5 to find

$$||y_{n}(t)||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} = ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle \mathcal{A}(y_{n}(s)), y_{n}(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} ds + 2 \int_{0}^{t} \langle f(s, y_{n}(s)), y_{n}(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} ds + M(t) + \int_{0}^{t} ||\mathcal{B}(s, y_{n}(s))||_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq ||y_{0}||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} - \int_{0}^{t} ||y_{n}(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} - 2 \int_{0}^{t} \left( |||\mathbf{v}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \mathbf{v}_{n}|||_{L^{2}}^{2} + |||\mathbf{B}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \mathbf{B}_{n}|||_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) ds$$

$$+ |||\mathbf{v}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \mathbf{B}_{n}|||_{L^{2}}^{2} + |||\mathbf{B}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \mathbf{v}_{n}|||_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} (2N + 1) ||\nabla y_{n}(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + ||y_{n}(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t} ||f(s, y_{n}(s))||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ||y_{n}(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} ds + M(t)$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \left( \frac{1}{2} ||y_{n}(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{T,H} ||y_{n}(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C ||F_{H}(s)||_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} \right) ds,$$

where the term M(t) is a continuous martingale and has the representation

$$M(t) := 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \langle \mathcal{B}_k(s, y_n(s)), y_n(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} d\mathcal{W}_s^k.$$

Taking expectations in Equation (3.8) and applying Young's inequality in the force term thus gives

$$\mathbb{E}\|y_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\Big[\||\boldsymbol{v}_{n}|\cdot|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}_{n}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}_{n}|\cdot|\nabla\boldsymbol{B}_{n}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{v}_{n}|\cdot|\nabla\boldsymbol{B}_{n}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}_{n}|\cdot|\nabla\boldsymbol{v}_{n}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\Big] ds 
\leq \mathbb{E}\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\int_{0}^{t} \|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds + 2\int_{0}^{t} \left((2N+1)\|\nabla y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right) ds 
+ 4\int_{0}^{t} \|f(s,y_{n}(s))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds + C_{T,H}\int_{0}^{t} \left(\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C\|F_{H}(s)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})}\right) ds$$

and therefore we find,

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathbb{E} \|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \frac{1}{4} \int_0^T \|y_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds 
+ 2 \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \Big[ \||\boldsymbol{v}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 + \||\boldsymbol{B}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 + \||\boldsymbol{v}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 + \||\boldsymbol{B}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 \Big] ds 
\leq \mathbb{E} \|y_0\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + C_{T,H,N} \int_0^T \sup_{r \in [0,s]} \mathbb{E} \|y_n(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds + C_{T,H,f}.$$

Gronwall's lemma then implies

(3.9) 
$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \mathbb{E} \|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + \int_0^T \|y_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds + \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \Big[ \||\boldsymbol{v}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 + \||\boldsymbol{B}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 + \||\boldsymbol{v}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 + \||\boldsymbol{B}_n| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_n|\|_{L^2}^2 \Big] ds \\ \leq C_{T,N,H,f,y_0}.$$

To "exchange" expectation and supremum, we use the Burkholder-Davis-Gundy (BDG) inequality (cf. [172], Theorem 1.1). More precisely, dropping the negative terms in (3.8), taking suprema and expectations, applying (3.9) and then using the BDG inequality, we find

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|y_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] \leq \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}|M(t)|\right] + C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}} \leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}} + 3\mathbb{E}\left[\langle M\rangle_{T}^{1/2}\right] \\
\leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}} + 6\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\int_{0}^{T}\sum_{k=1}^{\infty}\|\mathcal{B}_{k}(s,y_{n}(s))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{1/2}\right] \\
\leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}} + 6\mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|\mathcal{B}(t,y_{n}(t))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2}\int_{0}^{T}\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s\right)^{1/2}\right] \\
\leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}} + \varepsilon\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|\mathcal{B}(t,y_{n}(t))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2}\right] + C_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{T}\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s,$$

where we applied Young's inequality in the last step.

Now, an application of Lemma 2.5 as well as (3.9) yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right] \leq C_{T,N,f,H,y_0,\varepsilon} + \varepsilon C_T \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right],$$

which for small enough  $\varepsilon > 0$  yields

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t\in[0,T]}\|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right] \le C_{T,N,f,H,y_0}.$$

Combining this with (3.9) yields the desired estimate.

In the periodic case, as  $\mathcal{E}$  is also orthogonal in  $\mathcal{H}^0$ , we get an Itô formula for the  $\mathcal{H}^0$ -norms as well and find upon taking expectations and using (2.7) of Lemma 2.3 as well as Equation (3.6),

$$\mathbb{E}\|y_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} = \mathbb{E}\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\langle\mathcal{A}(y_{n}(s)), y_{n}(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$+ 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\langle f(s, y_{n}(s)), y_{n}(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\|\mathcal{B}(s, y_{n}(s))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \mathbb{E}\|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[-\|\nabla y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4} + CN\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$+ 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[C_{T,F}\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|F_{f}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})}\right] ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{2}\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{T}\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|F_{H}(t)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})}\right] ds$$

$$\leq -2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4}\right] ds + C_{T,N,F}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$+ C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}},$$

and an application of Gronwall's lemma implies (3.7).

Next we want to prove tightness of the laws of the solutions to the approximate equations (3.4). We recall the notation  $\mathcal{X} := C(\mathbb{R}_+; \mathcal{H}^0_{loc})$  from Section 2.3.

LEMMA 3.12 (tightness). Let  $\mu_n := P \circ (y_n)^{-1}$  be the law of  $y_n$  in  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}))$ . Then the family  $(\mu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is tight on  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}))$ .

PROOF. Let R > 0. We set

$$\tau_R^n := \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid ||y_n(t)||_{\mathcal{H}_n^1} \ge R\}.$$

Then, using the Chebychev inequality as well as the a priori estimate (3.6), we find

(3.10) 
$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} P(\tau_R^n < T) = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} P\left(\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1} \ge R\right) \\ \le \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{R^2} \mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_n^1}^2\right] \le \frac{C_{T,N,f,H,y_0}}{R^2}.$$

For any  $q \geq 2$  and  $s, t \in [0, T]$  and any  $e \in \mathcal{E}$  (whose support we denote by  $\mathcal{O}$ ), we find by using Equations (3.5), (2.9) as well as the BDG inequality (cf. [172], Theorem 1.1)

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\left\langle y_{n}(t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}) - y_{n}(s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}), e\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}\right|^{q}\right] \\
\leq 3^{q-1} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \left\langle \mathcal{A}(y_{n}(r)), e\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} dr\right|^{q}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \left\langle f(r, y_{n}(r)), e\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} dr\right|^{q}\right] \\
+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \left\langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(r, y_{n}(r)), e\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} d\mathcal{W}_{r}^{k}\right|^{q}\right]\right) \\
\leq C_{e,q} \left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \left(1 + \|y_{n}\|_{\mathcal{L}^{3}(\mathcal{O})}^{3}\right) dr\right|^{q}\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \|f(r, y_{n}(r))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} dr\right|^{q}\right] \\
+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \|\mathcal{B}(r, y_{n}(r))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2} dr\right|^{q/2}\right]\right),$$

where we transferred all the spatial derivatives onto e via (2.14). Applying the Hölder embedding  $\mathcal{L}^6(\mathcal{O}) \subset \mathcal{L}^3(\mathcal{O})$  as well as the Sobolev embedding  $\mathcal{H}^1 \subset \mathcal{L}^6$ , Assumptions (H1), (H3) and Equation (2.12), we can see that

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\langle y_{n}(t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}) - y_{n}(s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}), e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}\right|^{q}\right] \\ &\leq C_{e,q,T}\left(\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \left(1 + \sup_{r \in [0,T]} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{3}\right) dr\right|^{q}\right] \\ &+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \|F_{f}(r)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} dr\right|^{q}\right] \\ &+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\int_{s \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}}^{t \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \|F_{H}(r)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})} dr\right|^{q/2}\right] \right) \\ &\leq C_{e,q,T}\left\{\mathbb{E}\left[\left(1 + \sup_{r \in [0,T \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}]} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{3q}\right)\right] |t - s|^{q} \right. \\ &+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sup_{r \in [0,T \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}]} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2q} + \|F_{f}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];L^{1}(\mathbb{D}))}^{q}\right)\right] |t - s|^{q} \\ &+ \mathbb{E}\left[\left(\sup_{r \in [0,T \wedge \tau_{R}^{n}]} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{q} + \|F_{H}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];L^{1}(\mathbb{D}))}^{q/2}\right)\right] |t - s|^{q/2} \right\} \\ &\leq C_{e,q,T,R}\mathbb{E}\left[\left(1 + \sup_{r \in [0,T]} \|y_{n}(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \|F_{f}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];L^{1}(\mathbb{D}))}^{q} + \|F_{H}\|_{L^{\infty}([0,T];L^{1}(\mathbb{D}))}^{q/2}\right] |t - s|^{q/2} \\ &\leq C_{e,q,T,R,t,H,N,u_{0}} |t - s|^{q/2}, \end{split}$$

where we have used in the penultimate step that  $q \geq 2$  as well as the definition of  $\tau_R^n$  and hence that  $\|y_n(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^q = \|y_n(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^{q-2} \cdot \|y_n(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 \leq R^{q-2} \|y_n(r)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2$  and similarly for the other terms. Finally, we have used the *a priori* estimate (3.6) in the last step.

Thus by the Kolmogorov-Čentsov continuity criterion (e.g. in the version of [85, Theorem 3.1, p. 28 f.]) with parameters  $\beta = \frac{q/2}{q} = 1/2$ , we find that for every T > 0 and  $\alpha \in (0, \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{q})$ 

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s,t\in[0,T],|t-s|\leq\delta}|\langle y_n(t\wedge\tau_R^n)-y_n(s\wedge\tau_R^n),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}|^q\right]\leq C_{e,q,T,R,f,H,N,y_0}\cdot\delta^{\alpha}.$$

Therefore, for arbitrary  $\varepsilon > 0$  and R > 0, we find using (3.10)

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} P \left\{ \sup_{s,t \in [0,T], |t-s| \le \delta} |\langle y_n(t) - y_n(s), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| > \varepsilon \right\} 
\leq \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} P \left\{ \sup_{s,t \in [0,T], |t-s| \le \delta} |\langle y_n(t) - y_n(s), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| > \varepsilon; \tau_R^n \ge T \right\} + \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} P \left\{ \tau_R^n < T \right\} 
\leq \frac{C_{e,q,T,R,f,H,N,y_0} \cdot \delta^{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^q} + \frac{C_{T,N}}{R^2}.$$

Letting first  $\delta \downarrow 0$  and then  $R \to \infty$ , we find

(3.11) 
$$\lim_{\delta \downarrow 0} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} P \left\{ \sup_{s,t \in [0,T], |t-s| \le \delta} |\langle y_n(t) - y_n(s), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| > \varepsilon \right\} = 0.$$

Thanks to (3.10) and (3.11), we can now invoke Lemma 2.6 to conclude that  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a tight family of probability measures on  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}))$ .

The tightness implies the existence of a subsequence (which we again denote by  $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ ) that converges weakly to a measure  $\mu\in\mathcal{P}(\mathcal{X})$ .

Next we apply Skorokhod's coupling theorem (cf. [125, Theorem 4.30, p. 79]) to infer the existence of a probability space  $(\tilde{\Omega}, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \tilde{P})$  and  $\mathcal{X}$ -valued random variables  $\tilde{y}^n$  and  $\tilde{y}$  such that

- (I) the law of  $\tilde{y}^n$  is the same as that of  $y_n$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , i.e.  $\tilde{P} \circ \tilde{y}_n^{-1} = \mu_n$ ;
- (II) the convergence  $\tilde{y}_n \to \tilde{y}$  holds in  $\mathcal{X}$ ,  $\tilde{P}$ -a.s., and  $\tilde{y}$  has law  $\mu$ .

By Fatou's lemma and the uniform (in n) a priori estimates (3.6), the same estimates also hold for the limiting process: for every T > 0

(3.12) 
$$\mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\tilde{y}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \right] \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\tilde{y}_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \right]$$
$$= \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E} \left[ \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|y_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \right] < \infty,$$

as well as

(3.13) 
$$\int_0^T \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \|\tilde{y}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \right] ds \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_0^T \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \|\tilde{y}_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \right] ds \\ \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[ \|y_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \right] ds < \infty,$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}| \cdot |\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}| \cdot |\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}| \cdot |\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| |\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}| \cdot |\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right] ds$$

$$\leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E} \left[ \| |\boldsymbol{v}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_{n}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| |\boldsymbol{B}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_{n}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \| |\boldsymbol{v}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}_{n}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right] ds$$

$$+ \| |\boldsymbol{B}_{n}| \cdot |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}_{n}| \|_{L^{2}}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \infty.$$

In the periodic case  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}^3$ , we additionally have

(3.15) 
$$\int_0^t \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \|\tilde{y}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^4}^4 \right] ds \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} \int_0^t \mathbb{E} \left[ \|y_n(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^4}^4 \right] ds < \infty.$$

Next we want to study the martingale problem associated to our solutions  $\tilde{y}_n$  and prove that their limit solves a martingale problem as well, giving existence of a weak solution to the TMHD equations. To this end, take any  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ ,  $e \in \mathcal{E}$ ,  $t \geq 0$ ,  $y \in \mathcal{X}$ . We define the following process:

$$M_e^{\varphi}(t,y) := I_1^{\varphi}(t,y) - I_2^{\varphi}(t,y) - I_3^{\varphi}(t,y) - I_4^{\varphi}(t,y) - I_5^{\varphi}(t,y),$$

where

$$\begin{split} I_1^{\varphi}(t,y) &:= \varphi(\langle y(t),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}), \\ I_2^{\varphi}(t,y) &:= \varphi(\langle y(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}), \\ I_3^{\varphi}(t,y) &:= \int_0^t \varphi'(\langle y(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \cdot \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \mathrm{d}s, \\ I_4^{\varphi}(t,y) &:= \int_0^t \varphi'(\langle y(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \cdot \langle f(s,y(s)),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} \mathrm{d}s, \\ I_5^{\varphi}(t,y) &:= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^t \varphi''(\langle y(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) \cdot \|\langle \mathcal{B}(s,y(s)),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}\|_{\ell^2}^2 \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Our aim now is to show that  $M_e^{\varphi}(\cdot, y)$  is a martingale with respect to the stochastic basis  $(\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{X}), \mu, (\mathcal{B}_t(\mathcal{X}))_{t\geq 0})$ , i.e. it solves the martingale problem. This implies the existence of a weak solution.

Since  $e \in \mathcal{E} \subset \mathcal{V}$ , as noted before, it has compact support, i.e. there exists an  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\operatorname{supp}(e) \subset \mathcal{O} := \overline{B_m(0)} \subset \mathbb{R}^3$ .

We will use the following estimate below.

LEMMA 3.13. For a function  $y = (\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B})$  such that  $|\boldsymbol{v}| |\nabla \boldsymbol{v}| \in L^2$ ,  $|\boldsymbol{B}| |\nabla \boldsymbol{B}| \in L^2$ , it holds that  $y \in \mathcal{L}^{12}$  and

(3.16) 
$$||y||_{\mathcal{L}^{12}}^{4} \leq C \left( ||v||\nabla v||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||B||\nabla B||_{L^{2}}^{2} \right).$$

PROOF. By the Gagliardo-Nirenberg-Sobolev inequality (cf. Chapter II, Equation (2.5)) for scalar functions  $f \in W^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$ 

$$||f||_{L^6} \le C||\nabla f||_{L^2},$$

it follows that

$$||y|^{2}||_{L^{6}}^{2} \leq C||\nabla|y|^{2}||_{L^{2}}^{2} = ||\nabla(|\mathbf{v}|^{2} + |\mathbf{B}|^{2})||_{L^{2}}^{2} = C||\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} |\partial_{i}(|\mathbf{v}|^{2} + |\mathbf{B}|^{2})|^{2}\right)^{1/2}||_{L^{2}}^{2}$$

$$= C||\left(\sum_{i=1}^{3} \left|\sum_{j=1}^{3} \partial_{i}(v_{j}^{2} + B_{j}^{2})\right|^{2}\right)^{1/2}||_{L^{2}}^{2} = 4C\int\sum_{i=1}^{3} \left|\sum_{j=1}^{3} (v_{j}\partial_{i}v_{j} + B_{j}\partial_{i}B_{j})\right|^{2} dx$$

$$\leq 24C\int\sum_{j=1}^{3} \left(|v_{j}|^{2}\sum_{i=1}^{3} |\partial_{i}v_{j}|^{2} + |B_{j}|\sum_{i=1}^{3} |\partial_{i}B_{j}|^{2}\right) dx$$

$$= 24C\int\int\sum_{j=1}^{3} \left(|v_{j}|^{2}|\nabla v_{j}|^{2} + |B_{j}||\nabla B_{j}|^{2}\right) dx$$

$$\leq 24C\int\left(\sup_{j\in\{1,2,3\}} |v_{j}|^{2}\sum_{j=1}^{3} |\nabla v_{j}|^{2} + \sup_{j\in\{1,2,3\}} |B_{j}|^{2}\sum_{j=1}^{3} |\nabla B_{j}|^{2}\right) dx$$

$$\leq 24C\int\left(|\mathbf{v}|^{2}|\nabla \mathbf{v}|^{2} + |\mathbf{B}|^{2}|\nabla \mathbf{B}|^{2}\right) dx = 24C\left(||\mathbf{v}||\nabla \mathbf{v}|||_{L^{2}}^{2} + ||\mathbf{B}||\nabla \mathbf{B}|||_{L^{2}}^{2}\right),$$

which proves the claim.

In order to show convergence of the martingale problems, we need to prove uniform moment estimates as well as convergence in probability. The next lemma provides the moment estimates.

LEMMA 3.14 (uniform integrability of  $M_e^{\varphi}$ ). The following estimate holds

(3.17) 
$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \left| M_e^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) \right|^{4/3} \right] + \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \left| M_e^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}) \right|^{4/3} \right] < \infty.$$

PROOF. We show that each of the terms of  $M_e^{\varphi}$  are bounded. The terms  $I_{1,2}^{\varphi}$  are obviously bounded by a constant  $C_{\varphi}$ , since  $\varphi \in C_c^{\infty}$ .

For  $I_3^{\varphi}$  we have by Jensen's inequality for the temporal integral, as well as Equations (2.9) and (3.16)

$$\mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[|I_{3}^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y}_{n})|^{4/3}\right] \leq T^{4/3-1} \|\varphi'\|_{L^{\infty}}^{4/3} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[|\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}_{n}(s)), e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}|^{4/3}\right] ds 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 + \|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{3}(\mathcal{O})}^{4}\right] ds 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 + \|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{12}(\mathcal{O})}^{4}\right] ds 
= C_{T,\varphi,e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 + \|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{L^{6}(\mathcal{O})}^{2}\right] ds 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 + \|\nabla|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{L^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{2}\right] ds 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 + \|\nabla|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right] ds.$$

This last term is bounded by our a priori estimates (3.14).

In the case of periodic domain  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}^3$ , we have by Equations (2.9) and (3.15)

$$\mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ |I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_{n})|^{4/3} \right] \leq T^{4/3 - 1} \|\varphi\|_{L^{\infty}}^{4/3} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ |\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}_{n}(s)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}|^{4/3} \right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T, \varphi, e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ 1 + \|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{3}(\mathbb{T}^{3})}^{4} \right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T, \varphi, e} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ 1 + \|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}(\mathbb{T}^{3})}^{4} \right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T, \varphi, e, N, f, H, y_{0}}.$$

The other two terms can be dealt with swiftly: by Jensen's inequality for the convex function  $x \mapsto x^{4/3}$ , Hölder's inequality for p = 3/2, q = 3, Jensen's inequality for the concave function  $x \mapsto x^{2/3}$ , Assumption (H1) and (3.12) we find

$$\mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[|I_{4}^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y}_{n})|^{4/3}\right] \leq C_{T,\varphi}\|e\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 \cdot \|f(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{4/3}\right] ds 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \int_{0}^{T} \left(\mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\|f(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right]\right)^{2/3} ds 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \left(1 + \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] + \|F_{f}(s)\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})}\right) ds\right)^{2/3} 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e} \left(1 + \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\sup_{s \in [0,T]} \|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] + \|F_{f}\|_{L^{1}([0,T] \times \mathbb{D})}\right)^{2/3} 
\leq C_{T,\varphi,e,N,f,H,y_{0}},$$

and by Equation (2.10), we have in a similar manner

$$\mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[|I_{5}^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y}_{n})|^{4/3}\right] \leq C_{T,\varphi} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\|\mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2\cdot4/3}\right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T,\varphi,e,H,\Sigma} \int_{0}^{T} 1 + \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}(\mathcal{O})}^{8/3}\right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T,\varphi,e,H,\Sigma} \int_{0}^{T} 1 + \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{3}(\mathcal{O})}^{4}\right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T,\varphi,e,H,\Sigma} \int_{0}^{T} 1 + \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\|\tilde{y}_{n}(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{12}(\mathcal{O})}^{4}\right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T,\varphi,e,H,\Sigma} \int_{0}^{T} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[1 + \||\boldsymbol{v}||\nabla \boldsymbol{v}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \||\boldsymbol{B}||\nabla \boldsymbol{B}|\|_{L^{2}}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$\leq C_{T,\varphi,e,H,\Sigma,N,y_{0}}.$$

Our next and last ingredient for the existence proof of weak solutions is the convergence in probability of the martingales defined above, as in [196, Lemma 3.12, p. 236 f.].

Lemma 3.15 (convergence in probability). For every t > 0,  $M_e^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) \to M_e^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})$  in probability, i.e. for every  $\varepsilon > 0$ 

(3.18) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P}\left\{ |M_e^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - M_e^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon \right\} = 0.$$

PROOF. As before, we show convergence of all the terms of  $M_e^{\varphi}$  and we denote  $\mathcal{O} := \sup(e)$ . Note that by (II), and since  $\mathcal{O}$  is bounded, we find by the definition of the metric on  $\mathcal{X}$  that

(3.19) 
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{\mathcal{O}} |\tilde{y}_n(t, x, \tilde{\omega}) - \tilde{y}(t, x, \tilde{\omega})|^2 dx = 0, \quad \tilde{P} - \text{a.a. } \tilde{\omega} \in \tilde{\Omega}.$$

This then implies that for P-a.a.  $\tilde{\omega} \in \tilde{\Omega}$  and all  $t \in [0, T]$ 

$$|\langle \tilde{y}_n(t,\cdot,\tilde{\omega}) - \tilde{y}(t,\cdot,\tilde{\omega}), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| \leq ||\tilde{y}_n(t,\cdot,\tilde{\omega}) - \tilde{y}(t,\cdot,\tilde{\omega})||_{\mathcal{L}^2(\mathcal{O})}||e||_{\mathcal{H}^2} \to 0,$$

as  $n \to \infty$ . By the continuity and boundedness of  $\varphi$  and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem, we find

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[|I_1^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_1^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})|\right] = \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[|\varphi\left(\langle \tilde{y}_n(t), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}\right) - \varphi\left(\langle \tilde{y}(t), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}\right)|\right] = 0,$$

and similarly

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\left|I_2^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y}_n) - I_2^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y})\right|\right] = \lim_{n\to\infty} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}}\left[\left|\varphi\left(\langle \tilde{y}_n(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}\right) - \varphi\left(\langle \tilde{y}(0),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}\right)\right|\right] = 0.$$

For  $I_3^{\varphi}$ , we define for any R > 0 and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  the stopping times

$$\tilde{\tau}_R^n := \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid \|\tilde{y}_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1} \ge R\}.$$

Then by Chebychev's inequality, (I) and (3.6), we get

(3.20) 
$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \tilde{P} \left\{ \tilde{\tau}_{R}^{n} \leq T \right\} = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \tilde{P} \left\{ \|\tilde{y}_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \geq R \right\} \leq \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{R^{2}} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \|\tilde{y}_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \right]$$
$$\leq \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{1}{R^{2}} \mathbb{E}^{P} \left[ \|y_{n}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \right] \leq \frac{C_{T,N,f,H,y_{0}}}{R^{2}}.$$

For arbitrary R > 0 we thus find

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P} \left\{ |I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon \right\}$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P} \left\{ |I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon, \tilde{\tau}_R^n > T \right\}$$

$$+ \lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P} \left\{ |I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon, \tilde{\tau}_R^n \leq T \right\}$$

$$\leq \lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P} \left\{ |I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_3^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon, \tilde{\tau}_R^n > T \right\} + \frac{C_{T, N, f, H, y_0}}{R^2}.$$

Equations (2.9), (2.11) of Lemma 2.4 – and again the continuity and boundedness of  $\varphi$  – imply that for any  $t \in [0, T]$  and all  $\tilde{\omega} \in \tilde{\Omega}$  with  $\tilde{\tau}_R^n(\tilde{\omega}) > T$ 

$$\begin{aligned} &|\varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}_n(t,\tilde{\omega}),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1})\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}_n(t,\tilde{\omega})),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} - \varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}(t,\tilde{\omega}),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1})\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}(t,\tilde{\omega})),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}|\\ &\leq |\varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}_n(t,\tilde{\omega}),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}) - \varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}(t,\tilde{\omega}),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1})| |\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}_n(t,\tilde{\omega})),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}|\\ &+ |\varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}(t,\tilde{\omega}),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1})| |\langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}(t,\tilde{\omega})) - \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}_n(t,\tilde{\omega})),e\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1}| \to 0, \quad \text{as } n \to \infty. \end{aligned}$$

This – combined with Markov's inequality and Lebesgue's dominated convergence theorem – yields the desired convergence:

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P} \left\{ |I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_{n}) - I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon \right\}$$

$$\leq \lim_{R \to \infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P} \left\{ |I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_{n}) - I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon, \tilde{\tau}_{R}^{n} > T \right\}$$

$$\leq \lim_{R \to \infty} \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ 1_{\{\tilde{\tau}_{R}^{n} > T\}} |I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_{n}) - I_{3}^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| \right]$$

$$\leq \lim_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{0}^{t} 1_{\{\tilde{\tau}_{R}^{n} > T\}} \cdot \left| \varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}_{n}(t), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}) \langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}_{n}(t)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right| - \varphi'(\langle \tilde{y}(t), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}) \langle \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}(t)), e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right| ds \right] = 0.$$

Similarly, for  $I_4^{\varphi}$  we get by Assumption (H1) and similar convergence arguments that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P}\left\{ |I_4^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_4^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon \right\} = 0.$$

Finally, for  $I_5^{\varphi}$  we find that since

$$\begin{aligned} & \left| \left\| \langle \mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} - \left\| \langle \mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \right| \\ & \leq \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left| \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right|^{2} - \left| \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right|^{2} \right| \\ & \leq \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left| \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)) - \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right| \cdot \left| \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} + \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right| \\ & \leq \left\| e \right\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} \left| \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left| \langle \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)) - \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right| \cdot \left( \left\| \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \left\| \mathcal{B}_{k}(s,\tilde{y}(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \right) \right| \\ & \leq C_{e} \left\| \langle \mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)) - \mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}(s)),e \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right\|_{\ell^{2}} \cdot \left( \left\| \mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}(s)) \right\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})} + \left\| \mathcal{B}(s,\tilde{y}(s)) \right\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})} \right), \end{aligned}$$
when combining this with (2.12), the convergence

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{P}\left\{ |I_5^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y}_n) - I_5^{\varphi}(t, \tilde{y})| > \varepsilon \right\} = 0,$$

follows. This concludes the proof.

We are now in a position to prove the main result of this section.

PROOF OF THEOREM 3.10. Let t > s, G be a bounded  $\mathbb{R}$ -valued,  $\mathcal{B}_s(\mathcal{X})$ -measurable continuous function on  $\mathcal{X}$ . Then we have by the generalised Lebesgue theorem

$$\mathbb{E}^{\mu} \left[ \left( M_{e}^{\varphi}(t,y) - M_{e}^{\varphi}(s,y) \right) \cdot G(y) \right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \left( M_{e}^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y}) - M_{e}^{\varphi}(s,\tilde{y}) \right) \cdot G(\tilde{y}) \right] \qquad (\mu = \tilde{P} \circ \tilde{y}^{-1})$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}^{\tilde{P}} \left[ \left( M_{e}^{\varphi}(t,\tilde{y}_{n}) - M_{e}^{\varphi}(s,\tilde{y}_{n}) \right) \cdot G(\tilde{y}_{n}) \right] \qquad ((3.17), (3.18))$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} \mathbb{E}^{P} \left[ \left( M_{e}^{\varphi}(t,y_{n}) - M_{e}^{\varphi}(s,y_{n}) \right) \cdot G(y_{n}) \right] \qquad (\tilde{P} \circ \tilde{y}_{n}^{-1} = P \circ y_{n}^{-1})$$

$$= 0.$$

The last step holds due to the martingale property of  $M_e^{\varphi}(s, y_n)$  on the stochastic basis  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, P, (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0})$  and since  $G(y_n)$  is  $\mathcal{F}_s$ -measurable. Therefore,  $\mu$  solves the martingale problem and by Proposition 3.4 we infer the existence of a weak solution to (2.4).

### 3.4. Proof of Theorem 1.1.

PROOF OF THEOREM 1.1. The only thing left to prove is estimate (1.3). By Itô's formula, taking expectations and using (2.6), Assumption (H1) and Equation (2.12), we find

$$\mathbb{E}\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} = \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\langle\mathcal{A}(y(s)), y(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds$$

$$+ 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\langle f(s, y(s)), y(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\|\mathcal{B}(s, y(s))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \|y_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \frac{3}{2}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds + C_{f,H} + C_{T,f,H} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds,$$

which by Gronwall's lemma implies

$$\mathbb{E}\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + \int_0^t \mathbb{E}\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds \le C_{T,f,H} \left(\|y_0\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + 1\right).$$

Applying Burkholder's inequality and performing similar calculations as in the proof of Lemma 3.11, we get the desired estimate.  $\Box$ 

## 4. Feller Property and Existence of Invariant Measures

In this section we prove further properties of the tamed MHD equations. First, we show that they generate a Feller semigroup under stronger assumptions. Then, we prove that there exists an invariant measure for this Feller semigroup in the case of periodic boundary conditions.

We consider the *time-homogeneous case*, i.e. the functions  $f, \Sigma, H$  of our equations are assumed to be independent of time. Furthermore, we assume Lipschitz conditions on the first-order derivatives of the function H:

(H3)' There exists a constant  $C_H > 0$  and a function  $F_H \in L^1(\mathbb{D})$  such that for all  $x \in \mathbb{D}$ ,  $y, y' \in \mathbb{R}^6$ , j = 1, 2, 3 the following conditions hold:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_{x^{j}}H(x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} + \|H(x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} &\leq C_{H}|y|^{2} + F_{H}(x), \\ \|\partial_{x^{j}}H(x,y) - \partial_{x^{j}}H(x,y')\|_{\ell^{2}} &\leq C_{H}|y - y'|, \\ \|\partial_{y^{j}}H(x,y)\|_{\ell^{2}} &\leq C_{H}, \\ \|\partial_{y^{j}}H(x,y) - \partial_{(y')^{j}}H(x,y')\|_{\ell^{2}} &\leq C_{H}|y - y'|. \end{aligned}$$

For an initial condition  $y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1$ , let  $y(t; y_0)$  be the unique solution to (2.4) with  $y(0; y_0) = y_0$ . Then by the uniqueness of solutions, we know that  $\{y(t; y_0) \mid y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1, t \geq 0\}$  is a strong Markov process with state space  $\mathcal{H}^1$ . In proving the Feller property of the associated semigroup, we need the following result.

LEMMA 4.1. For  $y_0, y_0' \in \mathcal{H}^1$ , R > 0, define the stopping times

$$\tau_R^{y_0} := \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid ||y(t; y_0)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} > R\},$$
  
$$\tau_R := \tau_R^{y_0, y_0'} := \tau_R^{y_0} \wedge \tau_R^{y_0'}.$$

Assume (H1), (H2), (H3)'. Then there is a constant  $C_{t,R,N,f,H,\Sigma} > 0$  such that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|y(t \wedge \tau_R; y_0) - y(t \wedge \tau_R; y_0')\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right] \le C_{t,R,N,f,H,\Sigma} \|y_0 - y_0'\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2.$$

PROOF. We follow the proof of [196, Lemma 4.1, p. 238 ff.] For notational convenience, we denote  $y(t) := y(t; y_0)$ ,  $\tilde{y}(t) := y(t; y_0')$ ,  $z(t) := y(t) - \tilde{y}(t)$  and  $t_R := t \wedge \tau_R$ . By Itô's formula, we have

$$||z(t_R)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 = ||z(0)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + 2 \int_0^{t_R} \langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)) - \mathcal{A}(\tilde{y}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds$$

$$+ 2 \int_0^{t_R} \langle f(y(s)) - f(\tilde{y}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} ds$$

$$+ 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{t_R} \langle \mathcal{B}_k(y(s)) - \mathcal{B}_k(\tilde{y}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^1} d\mathcal{W}_s^k$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_0^{t_R} ||\mathcal{B}_k(y(s)) - \mathcal{B}_k(\tilde{y}(s)), z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds$$

$$=: ||z(0)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + I_1(t_R) + I_2(t_R) + I_3(t_R) + I_4(t_R).$$

We denote by  $z_v$  the velocity component of z, i.e.  $z_v := v - \tilde{v}$ , and similarly we write  $z_B := B - \tilde{B}$ . Then  $I_1(t_R)$  has the following form:

$$I_{1}(t_{R}) = 2 \int_{0}^{t_{R}} \langle \Delta z, z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} - 2 \int_{0}^{t_{R}} \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y - g_{N}(|\tilde{y}|^{2})\tilde{y}, z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}$$

$$+ 2 \int_{0}^{t_{R}} \left\{ \langle -(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} + (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \cdot \nabla)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}, \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} - (\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \cdot \nabla)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}, \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} + \langle -(\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{B} + (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \cdot \nabla)\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}}, \boldsymbol{z}_{B} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} + \langle (\boldsymbol{B} \cdot \nabla)\boldsymbol{v} - (\tilde{\boldsymbol{B}} \cdot \nabla)\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}, \boldsymbol{z}_{B} \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \right\} ds.$$

The first term is readily analysed:

$$2\int_{0}^{t_{R}} \langle \Delta z, z \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} = -2\int_{0}^{t_{R}} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds + 2\int_{0}^{t_{R}} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} ds.$$

For the second term, we find by using Young's inequality,  $g_N(r) \leq Cr$ , Hölder's inequality (with p = 3, q = 3/2) and the Sobolev embedding  $\mathcal{H}^1 \subset \mathcal{L}^6$  that for some  $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$ 

$$\begin{split} &\langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})y - g_{N}(|\tilde{y}|^{2})\tilde{y}, z\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} = \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})z, z\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} + \left\langle \left(g_{N}(|y|^{2}) - g_{N}(|\tilde{y}|^{2})\right)\tilde{y}, z\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \\ &= \langle g_{N}(|y|^{2})z, (I - \Delta)z\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} + \left\langle g_{N}'(\theta)\left(|y|^{2} - |\tilde{y}|^{2}\right)\tilde{y}, (I - \Delta)z\right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}} \\ &\leq \left\|g_{N}(|y|^{2})|z|\right\|_{L^{2}} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} + \left\||g_{N}'(\theta)| \cdot |z|(|y| + |\tilde{y}|)|\tilde{y}|\right\|_{L^{2}} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}} \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,N} \left(\left\|g_{N}(|y|^{2})|z|\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \left\||z|(|y|^{2} + |\tilde{y}|^{2})\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,N} \||z|(|y|^{2} + |\tilde{y}|^{2})\right\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,N} \|z\|_{\mathcal{L}^{6}}^{2} \left(\|y\|_{\mathcal{L}^{6}}^{4} + \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{4} \right) \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,N} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \left(\|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{4} + \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{4} \right) \\ &\leq 2\varepsilon \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,N,R} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

The third term consists of four sub-terms, all of which are very similar. We thus only estimate one of them: Young's inequality, the Sobolev embedding  $H^1 \subset L^6$  as well as the Gagliardo-Nirenberg-Sobolev inequalities  $\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^{\infty}} \leq C\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{H^2}^{3/4}\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^2}^{1/4}$  and  $\|\nabla \boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^3} \leq C\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{H^2}^{3/4}\|\boldsymbol{u}\|_{L^2}^{1/4}$ , combined with another application of Young's inequality (with p=4/3, q=4) yield

$$\begin{aligned}
&\langle (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v} - (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \cdot \nabla) \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}, \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{H^{1}} = \langle (\boldsymbol{z}_{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{H^{1}} + \langle (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{z}_{v}, \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{H^{1}} \\
&= \langle (\boldsymbol{z}_{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}, (I - \Delta) \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{H^{0}} + \langle (\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{z}_{v}, (I - \Delta) \boldsymbol{z}_{v} \rangle_{H^{0}} \\
&\leq 2\varepsilon \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon} \left( \|(\boldsymbol{z}_{v} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|(\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \right) \\
&\leq 2\varepsilon \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon} \left( \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{L^{\infty}}^{2} \|\nabla \boldsymbol{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\|_{L^{6}}^{2} \|\nabla \boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{L^{3}}^{2} \right) \\
&\leq 2\varepsilon \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon} \left( \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{3/2} \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2} \|\boldsymbol{v}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \|\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{3/2} \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{1/2} \right) \\
&\leq 4\varepsilon \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,R} \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \leq 4\varepsilon \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{2}}^{2} + C_{\varepsilon,R} \|\boldsymbol{z}_{v}\|_{H^{1}}^{2}.
\end{aligned}$$

Analysing the other sub-terms in the same way and putting everything together, we find

$$(4.1) I_1(t_R) \le -2 \int_0^{t_R} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds + C_{\varepsilon,N,R} \int_0^{t_R} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds + 10\varepsilon \int_0^{t_R} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds.$$

 $I_2(t_R)$  is analysed using Young's inequality and Assumption (H1)

$$I_{2}(t_{R}) = 2 \int_{0}^{t_{R}} \langle f(y(s)) - f(\tilde{y}(s)), z(s) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} ds$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t_{R}} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds + C_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t_{R}} ||f(y(s)) - f(\tilde{y}(s))||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \int_{0}^{t_{R}} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} ds + C_{\varepsilon, f} \int_{0}^{t_{R}} ||z(s)||_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} ds.$$

The term  $I_3(t_R)$  is a martingale and thus vanishes after taking expectations.

For  $I_4(t_R)$ , we use the following considerations, similar to the ones in the proof of Lemma 2.5:

$$\|\mathcal{B}(y)-\mathcal{B}(\tilde{y})\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2}=\|\mathcal{B}(y)-\mathcal{B}(\tilde{y})\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2}+\|\nabla\left(\mathcal{B}(y)-\mathcal{B}(\tilde{y})\right)\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2}\times\ell^{2};\mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2}\,,$$

and the latter term consists (by using the chain rule) of terms of the following form:

$$\begin{split} &\partial_{x^{j}}\left(\mathcal{B}_{k}(y)-\mathcal{B}_{k}(\tilde{y})\right)=\partial_{x^{j}}\left(\mathcal{P}\left(\Sigma_{k}(x)\cdot\nabla\right)z+\mathcal{P}\left(H_{k}(x,y)-H_{k}(x,\tilde{y})\right)\right)\\ &=\mathcal{P}\bigg\{\left(\left(\partial_{x^{j}}\Sigma_{k}(x)\right)\cdot\nabla\right)z+\left(\Sigma_{k}(x)\cdot\nabla\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z+\left(\partial_{x^{j}}H_{k}\right)(x,y)-\left(\partial_{x^{j}}H_{k}\right)(x,\tilde{y})\\ &+\sum_{i=1}^{6}\left[\left(\partial_{y^{i}}H_{k}(x,y)\right)\partial_{x^{j}}y^{i}-\left(\partial_{\tilde{y}^{i}}H_{k}(x,\tilde{y})\right)\partial_{x^{j}}\tilde{y}^{i}\right]\bigg\}\\ &=\mathcal{P}\bigg\{\left(\left(\partial_{x^{j}}\Sigma_{k}(x)\right)\cdot\nabla\right)z+\left(\Sigma_{k}(x)\cdot\nabla\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z+\left(\partial_{x^{j}}H_{k}\right)(x,y)-\left(\partial_{x^{j}}H_{k}\right)(x,\tilde{y})\\ &+\sum_{i=1}^{6}\left[\left(\partial_{y^{i}}H_{k}(x,y)\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z^{i}-\left\{\left(\partial_{y^{i}}H_{k}(x,y)\right)-\left(\partial_{\tilde{y}^{i}}H_{k}(x,\tilde{y})\right)\right\}\partial_{x^{j}}\tilde{y}^{i}\right]\bigg\}. \end{split}$$

Thus we find, using Assumptions (H2) and (H3)', as well as Equation (2.1), the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality and Young's inequality, that

$$\begin{split} &\|\mathcal{B}(y) - \mathcal{B}(\tilde{y})\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2} \\ &= \|(\Sigma \cdot \nabla)z + H(y) - H(\tilde{y})\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|\nabla \left(\mathcal{B}_{k}(y) - \mathcal{B}_{k}(\tilde{y})\right)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \\ &\leq 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \|(\Sigma_{k} \cdot \nabla)z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|H_{k}(y) - H_{k}(\tilde{y})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} \\ &+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left| \left((\partial_{x^{j}} \Sigma_{k}(x)) \cdot \nabla\right)z + \left(\Sigma_{k}(x) \cdot \nabla\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z + \left(\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}\right)(x,y) - \left(\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}\right)(x,\tilde{y}) \right. \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{6} \left[ \left(\partial_{y^{i}} H_{k}(x,y)\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z^{i} - \left\{ \left(\partial_{y^{i}} H_{k}(x,y)\right) - \left(\partial_{\tilde{y}^{i}} H_{k}(x,\tilde{y})\right) \right\}\partial_{x^{j}}\tilde{y}^{i} \right] \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq 2 \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma_{k}(x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \|\nabla z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left| \left(\Sigma_{k}(x) \cdot \nabla\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ 2 \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{D}} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left| \left(\left(\partial_{x^{j}} \Sigma_{k}(x)\right) \cdot \nabla\right)z + \left(\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}\right)(x,y) - \left(\partial_{x^{j}} H_{k}\right)(x,\tilde{y}) \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{6} \left(\partial_{y^{i}} H_{k}(x,y)\right)\partial_{x^{j}}z^{i} - \sum_{i=1}^{6} \left\{ \left(\partial_{y^{i}} H_{k}(x,y)\right) - \left(\partial_{\tilde{y}^{i}} H_{k}(x,\tilde{y})\right) \right\}\partial_{x^{j}}\tilde{y}^{i} \right|^{2} \mathrm{d}x \\ &\leq 2 \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma_{k}(x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2 \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma_{k}(x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \sum_{j,l=1}^{3} \|\partial_{x^{i}}\partial_{x^{j}}z\|_{\mathcal{L}^{2}}^{2} \\ &+ 8 \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\nabla \Sigma_{k}(x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \|\nabla z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{L}^{\infty}}^{2} \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{8}. \\ &\leq 2 d^{2} \sup_{x \in \mathbb{D}} \|\Sigma_{k}(x)\|_{\ell^{2}}^{2} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\Sigma,H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} \|\tilde{y}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{8}. \\ &\leq 2 \left(\frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon\right) \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2} + C_{\Sigma,H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{H}\|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

Integrating over time we finally get

$$I_4(t_R) = \int_0^{t_R} \|\mathcal{B}(y(s)) - \mathcal{B}(\tilde{y}(s))\|_{L_2(\ell^2 \times \ell^2; \mathcal{H}^1)}^2 ds$$

$$\leq \int_0^{t_R} (\frac{1}{2} + \varepsilon) \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 + C_{H,R} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 + C_{\Sigma} \|z\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds,$$

and thus, adding all the contributions together,

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right]$$

$$\leq \|z(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 - (3/2 - 12\varepsilon)\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^t \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 ds\right] + C_{\varepsilon,R,N,f,H,\Sigma}\mathbb{E}\left[\int_0^t \|z(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds\right].$$

Choosing  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{8}$ , we find

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|z(t \wedge \tau_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2\right] \leq \|z(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 + C_{R,N,f,H,\Sigma} \int_0^t \mathbb{E}\left[\|z(s \wedge \tau_R)\|_{\mathcal{H}^1}^2 ds\right].$$

An application of Gronwall's Lemma then yields the desired result.

Let  $BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  denote the set of bounded, locally uniformly continuous functions on  $\mathcal{H}^1$ . The supremum norm

$$\|\phi\|_{\infty} := \sup_{y \in \mathcal{H}^1} |\phi(y)|$$

turns this space into a Banach space.

For  $t \geq 0$ , define the semigroup  $T_t$  associated with the Markov process  $\{y(t; y_0) \mid y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1, t \geq 0\}$  by

$$T_t \phi(y_0) := \mathbb{E}\left[\phi(y(t; y_0))\right], \quad \phi \in BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1).$$

Using the previous lemma, we show that this is a Feller semigroup.

THEOREM 4.2 (Feller property). Under the Assumptions (H1), (H2) and (H3)', for every  $t \geq 0$ ,  $T_t$  maps  $BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  into itself, i.e. it is a Feller semigroup on  $BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ .

PROOF. Let  $\phi \in BC_{\text{loc}}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  be arbitrary. We need to show that for every t>0,  $m\in\mathbb{N}$ 

$$\lim_{\delta \to 0} \sup_{y_0, y_0' \in \mathbb{B}_m, ||y_0 - y_0'||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \le \delta} |T_t \phi(y_0) - T_t \phi(y_0')| = 0,$$

where  $\mathbb{B}_m := \{ y \in \mathcal{H}^1 \mid ||y||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \leq m \}$  denotes the  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -ball of radius m.

As before, we define the stopping times

$$\tau_R^{y_0} := \inf\{t \ge 0 \mid ||y(t; y_0)||_{\mathcal{H}^1} > R\},$$
  
$$\tau_R := \tau_R^{y_0, y_0'} := \tau_R^{y_0} \wedge \tau_R^{y_0'}.$$

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We estimate using the definition of the semigroup and the triangle inequality

$$|T_{t}\phi(y_{0}) - T_{t}\phi(y'_{0})| \leq \mathbb{E}\left[|\phi(y(t; y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0}))|\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[|\phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0}))|\right] + \mathbb{E}\left[|\phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0})) - \phi(y(t; y'_{0}))|\right].$$

The first term can be estimated by

$$\begin{split} &\mathbb{E}\left[|\phi(y(t;y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R};y_{0}))|\right] = \mathbb{E}\left[1_{\{\tau_{R} < t\}}|\phi(y(t;y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R};y_{0}))|\right] \\ &\leq 2\|\phi\|_{\infty}P\{\tau_{R} < t\} \leq 2\|\phi\|_{\infty}P\left(\{\tau_{R}^{y_{0}} < t\} \cup \{\tau_{R}^{y'_{0}} < t\}\right) \\ &\leq 2\|\phi\|_{\infty}\frac{1}{R^{2}}\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s \in [0,t]}\|y(s;y_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + \sup_{s \in [0,t]}\|y(s;y'_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] \\ &\leq 4\|\phi\|_{\infty}\frac{1}{R^{2}}\sup_{y_{0} \in \mathbb{B}_{m}}\mathbb{E}\left[\sup_{s \in [0,t]}\|y(s;y_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] \leq 4\|\phi\|_{\infty}\frac{C_{t,N,f,H,m}}{R^{2}}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the *a priori* estimates of (1.3).

The same estimate applies to the third term, so we can find R > m sufficiently large such that for  $y_0, y_0' \in \mathbb{B}_m$  we have

$$(4.3) \qquad \mathbb{E}\left[\left|\phi(y(t;y_0)) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_R;y_0))\right|\right] \le \varepsilon,$$

(4.4) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\left|\phi(y(t \wedge \tau_R; y_0')) - \phi(y(t; y_0'))\right|\right] \le \varepsilon.$$

For the remaining term, we note that since  $\phi$  is uniformly continuous on  $\mathbb{B}_R \supset \mathbb{B}_m$ , we can choose  $\eta > 0$  sufficiently small such that for all  $y, y' \in \mathbb{B}_R$  satisfying  $||y - y'||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \leq \eta$ , we find

$$|\phi(y) - \phi(y')| \le \varepsilon.$$

Thus, for every  $y_0, y_0' \in \mathbb{B}_m$  with  $||y_0 - y_0'||_{\mathcal{H}^1} \leq \delta := \frac{\sqrt{\varepsilon\eta}}{\sqrt{2||\phi||_{\infty}C_{t,R,N,f,H,\Sigma}}}$  – here,  $C_{t,R,N,f,H,\Sigma}$  denotes the constant from Lemma 4.1 – by applying said lemma, we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[|\phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0}))|\right]$$

$$= \mathbb{E}\left[1_{\{\|y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0}) - y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} \leq \eta\}} |\phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0}))|\right]$$

$$+ \mathbb{E}\left[1_{\{\|y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0}) - y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} > \eta\}} |\phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0})) - \phi(y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0}))|\right]$$

$$\leq \varepsilon + 2\|\phi\|_{\infty} P\left\{\|y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0}) - y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}} > \eta\right\}$$

$$\leq \varepsilon + \frac{2\|\phi\|_{\infty}}{\eta^{2}} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y_{0}) - y(t \wedge \tau_{R}; y'_{0})\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right]$$

$$\leq \varepsilon + \frac{2\|\phi\|_{\infty} C_{t,R,N,f,H,\Sigma}}{\eta^{2}} \|y_{0} - y'_{0}\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} \leq 2\varepsilon.$$

The claim now follows from combining Equations (4.2)–(4.5).

In the periodic case, we can show existence of an invariant measure for our equations:

THEOREM 4.3 (Invariant measures in the periodic case). Under the hypotheses (H1), (H2), (H3)', in the periodic case  $\mathbb{D} = \mathbb{T}^3$ , there exists an invariant measure  $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  associated to  $(T_t)_{t>0}$  such that for every  $t \geq 0$ ,  $\phi \in BC_{loc}(\mathcal{H}^1)$ 

$$\int_{\mathcal{H}^1} T_t \phi(y_0) d\mu(y_0) = \int_{\mathcal{H}^1} \phi(y_0) d\mu(y_0).$$

PROOF. By Itô's formula in  $\mathcal{H}^0$ , we have

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] = \|y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)), y(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}\right] ds$$
$$+ 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle f(y(s)), y(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}\right] ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|\mathcal{B}(y(s))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{0})}^{2}\right] ds.$$

By Equation (2.7), Young's inequality, Equation (2.12) as well as Assumption (H1), this can be estimated as

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] \leq \|y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|\nabla y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4} - CN\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|f(s, y(s))\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$+ \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\frac{1}{2}\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + C_{H}\|y\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + \|F_{H}\|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{D})}\right] ds$$

$$\leq \|y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} - \frac{3}{2}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] ds - 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4}\right] ds$$

$$+ C_{f,H,N}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] ds + C_{f,H} \cdot t.$$

Since we are in the case of bounded domains, we have by the embedding  $\mathcal{L}^4(\mathbb{T}^3) \subset \mathcal{L}^2(\mathbb{T}^3)$  and Young's inequality

$$||y||_{\mathcal{H}^0}^2 \le C_{\mathbb{D}}||y||_{\mathcal{L}^4}^2 \le \varepsilon ||y||_{\mathcal{L}^4}^4 + C_{\varepsilon,\mathbb{D}}.$$

and hence for sufficiently small  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_{f,N,H} > 0$ , after rearranging

(4.6) 
$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2}\right] + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{L}^{4}}^{4}\right] ds \\ \leq C_{f,H,N,\mathbb{D}}\left(\|y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{0}}^{2} + t\right).$$

Now using the  $\mathcal{H}^1$ -Itô formula and the corresponding higher-order estimates (2.8), (2.13), we find by proceeding in the same way as in the above calculations and additionally using (4.6) that

$$\mathbb{E}\left[\|y(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] = \|y(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2} + 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle \mathcal{A}(y(s)), y(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}\right] ds$$

$$+ 2\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\langle f(y(s)), y(s)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}\right] ds + \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|\mathcal{B}(y(s))\|_{L_{2}(\ell^{2} \times \ell^{2}; \mathcal{H}^{1})}^{2}\right] ds$$

$$\leq -\frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\right] ds + C_{f,H,N}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{1}}^{2}\right] ds + C_{f,H,N} \cdot t$$

$$\leq -\frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\right] ds + C_{f,H,N,\mathbb{D}} \cdot t,$$

which implies that

(4.7) 
$$\frac{1}{t} \int_{0}^{t} \mathbb{E}\left[\|y(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}^{2}}^{2}\right] ds \leq C_{f,H,N,\mathbb{D}}.$$

Note that this inequality is uniform in t and in the initial condition  $y_0$ .

We now conclude as follows: following the notation of G. Da Prato and J. Zabczyk [49], we define the kernels

$$R_T(y_0,\Gamma) := \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T (T_s 1_\Gamma)(y_0) \mathrm{d}t, \quad y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^1, \Gamma \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H}^1).$$

Set  $E = \mathcal{H}^1$  and let  $\nu \in \mathcal{P}(\mathcal{H}^1)$  be an arbitrary probability measure. Define the associated measure

$$R_T^* \nu(\Gamma) = \int_E R_T(y_0, \Gamma) \nu(\mathrm{d}y_0).$$

We will show that these measures are tight. To this end, consider the sets  $\Gamma_r := \{y_0 \in \mathcal{H}^2 \mid ||y_0||_{\mathcal{H}^2} \leq r\} \subset \mathcal{H}^2 \subset \mathcal{H}^1$ . Since they are bounded subsets of  $\mathcal{H}^2$  and the embedding  $\mathcal{H}^2 \subset \mathcal{H}^1$  is compact, they are compact subsets of  $\mathcal{H}^1$ . Now, using (4.7), we show that the measures  $R_T^*\nu$  are concentrated on  $\Gamma_r$  for sufficiently large r > 0, hence tight: denoting the complement of a set  $A \subset E$  by  $A^c$  and using Chebychev's inequality, we find

$$R_T^* \nu(\Gamma_r^c) = \int_E R_T(y_0, \Gamma_r^c) \nu(\mathrm{d}y_0) = \int_E \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[ 1_{\Gamma_r^c}(y(t; y_0)) \right] \mathrm{d}t \ \nu(\mathrm{d}y_0)$$

$$\leq \int_E \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[ \frac{\|y(t; y_0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2}{r^2} \right] \mathrm{d}t \ \nu(\mathrm{d}y_0) = \frac{1}{r^2} \int_E \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T \mathbb{E} \left[ \|y(t; y_0)\|_{\mathcal{H}^2}^2 \right] \mathrm{d}t \ \nu(\mathrm{d}y_0)$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{r^2} \int_E C_{f,H,N,\mathbb{D}} \ \nu(\mathrm{d}y_0) = \frac{C_{f,H,N,\mathbb{D}}}{r^2}.$$

Therefore, the Krylov-Bogoliubov theorem [49, Corollary 3.1.2, p. 22] ensures the existence of an invariant measure.  $\Box$ 

Remark 4.4. Note that Z. Brzeźniak and G. Dhariwal [23] prove existence of an invariant measure for a similar system even in the case of the full space, so there might be hope to extend this theorem also in our case.

#### CHAPTER IV

# **Dynamical Systems and Random Attractors**

ABSTRACT. In this chapter, we prove the existence of random dynamical systems and random attractors for a large class of locally monotone stochastic partial differential equations perturbed by additive Lévy noise. The main result is applicable to various types of SPDEs such as stochastic Burgers-type equations, stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equations, the stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model, stochastic power law fluids, the stochastic Ladyzhenskaya model, stochastic Cahn-Hilliard-type equations, stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky-type equations, stochastic porous media equations and stochastic p-Laplace equations.

## 1. Introduction

Since the foundational work in [45, 47, 200] the long-time behaviour of SPDEs in terms of the existence of random attractors has been extensively investigated (cf. e.g. [17,31,71,80,94–97,99,105,106,138,156,158,202,221,245,255,256,263]), resulting in an ever increasing list of specific SPDEs for which the existence of a random attractor has been verified. While the proofs rely on common ideas, the field yet lacks a general, unifying framework overcoming the case-by-case verification. The main aim of this work is to further push in the direction of such a unifying framework by providing a general, abstract result on the existence of random attractors for locally monotone SPDEs.

More precisely, we prove the existence of random dynamical systems and random attractors for SPDEs of the form

$$(1.1) dX_t = A(X_t)dt + dN_t,$$

where  $N_t$  is a Lévy type noise satisfying a moment condition (N) and A is locally monotone (cf. (A2) below) with respect to a Gelfand triple  $V \subseteq H \subseteq V^*$ . The abstract framework introduced here relies on the concept of locally monotone operators. This extends previously available results, which were restricted to monotone operators, and constitutes important progress in so far that, in contrast to the monotone framework, it includes SPDEs arising in fluid dynamics as particular examples. Indeed, the generality of this framework is demonstrated by application to a large class of SPDEs, including, stochastic reaction-diffusion equations, stochastic Burgers-type equations, stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equations, the stochastic Leray- $\alpha$  model, stochastic power law fluids, the stochastic Ladyzhenskaya model, stochastic Cahn-Hilliard-type equations as well as stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky-type equations. This recovers results from the literature as simple applications of the abstract framework introduced here and generalises many known results. In particular, we generalise the results given in [17,94,97]. We refer to Section 6 for more details.

The first main result, stated in detail in Theorem 4.1 below, addresses the existence of random dynamical systems associated to (1.1).

Theorem 1.1 (Theorem 4.1 below). Assume that A is hemicontinuous, locally monotone, coercive and satisfies a growth condition. Further assume that  $V \subseteq H$  is compact and that there exists a hemicontinuous, strictly monotone operator  $M: V \to V^*$  satisfying a growth condition. Then there is a continuous random dynamical system S generated by solutions to (1.1).

Under a slightly stronger coercivity condition we then prove the existence of a random attractor, leading to the second main result.

Theorem 1.2 (Theorem 5.1 below). Assume that A is hemicontinuous, locally monotone, coercive and satisfies a growth condition. Further assume that  $V \subseteq H$  is compact and that there exists a hemicontinuous, strictly monotone operator  $M: V \to V^*$  satisfying a growth condition. Then the random dynamical system S is compact and there is a random attractor for S.

Notably, the Lévy process  $N_t$  in (1.1) is only assumed to take values in H which is the natural choice of noise as far as trace-class noise is considered. This is in contrast to a number of works where the noise was assumed to take values in the domain of the operator A, in order to make sense of the transformed equation for  $\tilde{Z}_t := X_t - N_t$  which has the form

$$\mathrm{d}\tilde{Z}_t = A(\tilde{Z}_t + N_t)\mathrm{d}t.$$

It was later noticed in [94] that this assumption can be relaxed to  $N_t \in H$  by not subtracting the noise directly, but a form of nonlinear Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process instead. More precisely, if the operator A possesses a strongly monotone part M, we construct in Theorem 3.1 a strictly stationary solution  $u_t$  of the equation (for sufficiently large  $\sigma > 0$ )

$$du_t = \sigma M(u_t) dt + dN_t.$$

Here, the smoothing properties of the operator M guarantee that  $u_t$  takes values in the space V. This allows us to prove the existence of a random dynamical system, assuming only trace-class noise in H.

The existence of a random attractor is typically proven in two steps: In the first step, uniform bounds on the H-norm of the flow are established, which means that there exists a bounded attracting set. In the second step, the existence of a compact attracting set is shown. In this work, we use the compactness of the embedding  $V \subseteq H$  to prove that the cocycle S is compact, which together with the first step implies the existence of a compact attracting set. Notably, the approach introduced here only relies on the standard coercivity assumption of the variational approach to SPDE. This avoids further assumptions typically required in the literature in order to prove higher regularity of solutions. In particular, this avoids to pose stronger regularity assumptions on the noise.

From a technical perspective, we provide general, by now standard and relatively easy to check conditions that guarantee that a given SPDE generates a random dynamical system with an associated random attractor. We allow for additive, trace-class Lévy noise which results in more involved estimates, e.g. when checking exponential integrability properties of the strictly stationary Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process. The step of transforming the SPDE into a random PDE compared to that step of [94] employs a more general deterministic result, namely the well-posedness of deterministic PDE with locally monotone coefficients as proved by W. Liu and M. Röckner in [165]. In the examples, we tried to find optimal conditions on the parameters within the limitations of the framework, especially the condition  $\beta(\alpha-1) \leq 2$  using interpolation inequalities, which was not necessary in the monotone case, as there  $\beta=0$ . This requires a more careful analysis of these examples.

1.1. Literature. We now give a brief account on the available literature on random attractors for SPDE. Since this is a very active research field, this attempt has to remain incomplete and we restrict ourselves to those works which appear most relevant to the results of this work.

Randoms attractor were first studied in [45, 47, 200]. They are a very important concept of capturing the long-time behaviour of random dynamical systems (RDS) and there are many results on existence and properties of random attractors for various SPDEs [31,71,80,96,99,105,106,138,156,158,202,221,245,255,256,263].

Equivalent conditions for the existence of random attractors were given in [46]. Further properties of random attractors that have been studied include measurability [45, 47, 48], upper-semicontinuity [35, 36, 154, 220, 242], regularity [104, 155, 157], and dimension estimates [55, 143, 259]. The problem of unbounded domains has also been addressed, e.g. in [12, 25, 136, 168, 219]. Furthermore, the concept of a weak random attractor has been introduced recently in [222, 223]. Further references are given in the discussion of the examples in Section 6.

Stochastic (partial) differential equations driven by Lévy noise have been studied widely, motivated among other things by applications in finance, statistical mechanics, fluid dynamics. For an overview we refer to [189]. For results on random attractors, cf.. [97] and the references therein. Well-posedness for locally monotone SPDEs driven by Lévy noise was first studied by Z. Brzeźniak, W. Liu and J.H. Zhu [26].

1.2. Overview. In Section 2 we state the assumptions on the coefficients and the noise N. In Section 3 we study strictly stationary solutions for strongly monotone SPDEs. The following section, Section 4, is devoted to constructing a stochastic flow via transformation of equation (2.1) into a random PDE. This stochastic flow is then proven to be compact in Section 5. Combining this with the existence of a random bounded absorbing set then immediately imply the existence of a random attractor. Applications to various SPDEs are given in Section 6. Appendix 7 gathers the necessary results on random PDEs with locally monotone coefficients. In Appendix C we recall the basic notions and results concerning stochastic flows, random dynamical systems and random attractors.

Within the project, the authors role was to apply the theory to examples, i.e. write Section 6, as well as the introduction and to simplify the proofs wherever possible. I have also provided a proof of the perfection theorem in Appendix C, Theorem C.12, which was needed for proving the existence of the nonlinear Ornstein-Uhlenbeck process.

## 2. Main Framework

Let  $(H, \langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_H)$  be a real separable Hilbert space, identified with its dual space  $H^*$  by the Riesz isomorphism. Let V be a real reflexive Banach space continuously and densely embedded into H. In particular, there is a constant  $\lambda > 0$  such that  $\lambda ||v||_H^2 \leq ||v||_V^2$  for all  $v \in V$ . Then we have the following Gelfand triple

$$V \subset H \equiv H^* \subset V^*$$
.

If  $V^*\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_V$  denotes the dualization between V and its dual space  $V^*$ , then

$$_{V^*}\langle u, v \rangle_V = \langle u, v \rangle_H, \quad \forall u \in H, v \in V.$$

As mentioned in the introduction, we consider SPDEs of the form

$$dX_t = A(X_t)dt + dN_t,$$

where  $A: V \to V^*$  is  $\mathcal{B}(V)/\mathcal{B}(V^*)$ -measurable (we extend A by 0 to H) and  $N: \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to H$  is a centered, two-sided Lévy process on H.

We assume that N is given by its canonical realization on  $\Omega := D(\mathbb{R}; H)$ , the space of all càdlàg paths in H endowed with the canonical filtration

$$\mathcal{F}_s^t = \sigma(\omega(u) - \omega(v) | \omega \in \Omega, \ s \le u, v \le t)$$

and Wiener shifts  $\{\theta_t\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  (cf. e.g. [7, Appendix A.3], [6, Section 1.4.1]). We impose some moment condition on N which will be specified below. Let  $\mathbb{P}$  be the law of N on  $\Omega$ . Then  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \{\mathcal{F}_s^t\}_{t \in [s,\infty)}, \{\theta_t\}_{t \in \mathbb{R}}, \mathbb{P})$  is an ergodic metric dynamical system. We denote the augmented filtration by  $\{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t\}_{t\in[s,\infty)}$  and note that  $\{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t\}_{t\in[s,\infty)}$  is right-continuous. The extension of  $\mathbb{P}$  to  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}$  is denoted by  $\bar{\mathbb{P}}$  and we define  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{-\infty}^t := \sigma\left(\bigcup_{-\infty < s \leq t} \bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t\right)$ . Suppose that for some  $\alpha \geq 2$  and  $\beta \geq 0$  with  $\beta(\alpha - 1) \leq 2$ , there exist constants

C, K > 0 and  $\gamma > 0$  such that the following conditions hold for all  $v, v_1, v_2 \in V$ :

- (A1) (Hemicontinuity) The map  $s \mapsto_{V^*} \langle A(v_1 + sv_2), v \rangle_V$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- (A2) (Local monotonicity)

$$2_{V^*}\langle A(v_1) - A(v_2), v_1 - v_2 \rangle_V \le (C + \eta(v_1) + \rho(v_2)) \|v_1 - v_2\|_H^2$$

where  $\eta, \rho: V \to \mathbb{R}_+$  are locally bounded measurable functions.

(A3) (Coercivity)

$$2_{V^*}\langle A(v), v \rangle_V < -\gamma ||v||_V^\alpha + K||v||_H^2 + C.$$

(A4) (Growth)

$$||A(v)||_{V^*}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} \le C(1+||v||_V^{\alpha})(1+||v||_H^{\beta}).$$

In order to be able to deduce the existence and uniqueness of solutions from the results derived in [26], we note that due to the Lévy-Itô decomposition (cf. e.g. [1, Theorem 4.1]), and since  $\nu$  is assumed to have first moment, we have  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

(2.2) 
$$N_t = mt + W_t + \int_H z\tilde{N}(t, dz), \quad \forall t \in \mathbb{R},$$

where  $m \in H$ ,  $W_t$  is a trace-class Q-Wiener process on H and N is a compensated Poisson random measure on H with intensity measure  $\nu$  (cf. [1] for Definitions). Now we state the assumptions on the Lévy noise as follows:

(N) The process  $(N_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  is a two-sided Lévy process with values in H and the corresponding Lévy measure has finite moments up to order 4. Furthermore, without loss of generality, we assume m=0.

Throughout this chapter we work with the convention that  $C, \tilde{C} \geq 0$  and  $c, \tilde{c} > 0$ are generic constants, each of which is not important for its specific value and allowed to change from line to line.

Let us now define what we mean by a solution to (2.1).

DEFINITION 2.1. A càdlàg, H-valued,  $\{\bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t\}_{t\in[s,\infty)}$ -adapted process  $\{S(t,s;\omega)x\}_{t\in[s,\infty)}$ is a solution to (2.1) with initial condition x at time s if for  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.a.  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $S(\cdot, s; \omega)x \in \mathbb{P}$  $L_{loc}^{\alpha}([s,\infty);V)$  and

$$S(t, s; \omega)x = x + \int_{s}^{t} A(S(r, s; \omega)x)dr + N_{t}(\omega) - N_{s}(\omega), \quad \forall t \ge s.$$

### 3. Strictly Stationary Solutions for Monotone SPDE

The construction of stochastic flows for locally monotone SPDEs driven by Lévy noise (presented in Section 4 below) is based on strictly stationary solutions for strongly monotone SPDE driven by Lévy noise. The existence and uniqueness of such strictly stationary solutions is proven in this section, which might be of independent interest. This generalises a similar construction presented in [94] for the case of trace-class Wiener noise.

More precisely, in this section we consider strongly monotone SPDE of the form

(3.1) 
$$dX_t = \sigma M(X_t) dt + dN_t,$$

where  $\sigma > 0$ ,  $N_t$  is a two-sided Lévy process (as above) and  $M: V \to V^*$  is measurable. Instead of the local monotonicity condition (A2), we assume that M is strongly monotone, i.e.

(A2') (Strong monotonicity) There exists a constant c > 0 such that

$$2_{V^*}\langle M(v_1) - M(v_2), v_1 - v_2 \rangle_V \le -c \|v_1 - v_2\|_V^\alpha, \quad \forall v_1, v_2 \in V,$$

where  $\alpha$  is the same constant as in (A3).

It is easy to see that (A2') implies that (A3) also holds for M.

By the above Lévy-Itô decomposition (2.2), we may rewrite (3.1) as

(3.2) 
$$dX_t = \sigma M(X_t)dt + dW_t + \int_H z\theta dN(dt, dz)$$

and [26, Theorem 1.2] implies the existence and uniqueness of an  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t$ -adapted variational solution  $X(t,s;\omega)x$  for each  $x\in H$ . Strictly stationary solutions to (3.1) are constructed by letting  $s\to -\infty$  in  $X(t,s;\omega)x$  and then selecting a strictly stationary version u from the resulting stationary limit process using Proposition C.12 in Appendix B.

THEOREM 3.1 (Strictly stationary solutions). Suppose that M satisfies (A1), (A2'), (A4) with  $\beta = 0$  and let  $X(\cdot, s; \omega)x$  be the solution to (3.2) starting in  $x \in H$  at time s. Then

(i) There exists an  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{-\infty}^t$ -adapted,  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable process

$$u \in L^2(\Omega; D(\mathbb{R}; H)) \cap L^{\alpha}(\Omega; L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V))$$

such that

$$\lim_{s \to -\infty} X(t, s; \cdot) x = u_t$$

in  $L^2(\Omega; H)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $x \in H$ .

(ii) u solves (3.1) in the following sense:

(3.3) 
$$u_t = u_s + \sigma \int_s^t M(u_r) dr + N_t - N_s, \ \mathbb{P}\text{-}a.s., \ t \ge s.$$

- (iii) u can be chosen to be strictly stationary with càdlàg paths and satisfying  $u.(\omega) \in L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$ , for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ .
- (iv) Let  $2 \le p \le 4$ , then for each  $\delta \ge 0$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and large enough  $\sigma > \frac{8\delta}{pc\lambda}$ , there is a constant  $C(\delta, \sigma) > 0$  such that

(3.4) 
$$\mathbb{E} \int_{-\infty}^{t} e^{\delta r} \|u_r\|_{V}^{\alpha} \|u_r\|_{H}^{p-2} dr \le C(\delta, \sigma) e^{\delta t},$$

where  $C(\delta, \sigma) \to 0$  for  $\sigma \to \infty$ .

(v) There exists a  $\theta$ -invariant set  $\Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega$  of full  $\mathbb{P}$ -measure such that for  $\omega \in \Omega_0$  and  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}, \ s < t,$ 

$$\frac{1}{t-s} \int_{s}^{t} \|u_r(\omega)\|_{V}^{\alpha} dr \to \mathbb{E} \|u_0\|_{V}^{\alpha} \le C(\sigma), \ s \to -\infty,$$

where  $C(\sigma) \to 0$  for  $\sigma \to \infty$ .

Let  $p \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $p \geq 2$ , then

(vi) There exists a  $\theta$ -invariant set  $\Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega$  of full  $\mathbb{P}$ -measure such that for  $\omega \in \Omega_0$ 

(3.5) 
$$\frac{1}{t} \int_0^t \|u_r(\omega)\|_H^p dr \to \mathbb{E} \|u_0\|_H^p, \quad t \to \pm \infty.$$

(vii)  $||u_t(\omega)||_H^p$  has sublinear growth, i.e.

$$\lim_{t \to \pm \infty} \frac{\|u_t(\omega)\|_H^p}{|t|} = 0.$$

PROOF. As the operator in (3.2) is strongly monotone, some parts of the proof here are similar to the associated statements in [94]. So here we only highlight the differences arising from allowing Lévy noise and otherwise refer to [94].

Let  $X(t,s;\omega)x$  denote the variational solution to (3.1) starting at time s in  $x \in H$ (cf. [**26**]).

(i) First we show that there is an  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{-\infty}^t$ -adapted,  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable process  $u: \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to H$ such that

$$\lim_{s \to -\infty} X(t, s; \cdot) x = u_t,$$

in  $L^2(\Omega; H)$  for each  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , independent of  $x \in H$ .

Following the same line of argument as in [94, p. 143], using the coercivity, Itô's formula and the comparison lemma [94, Lemma 5.1] for  $\alpha > 2$  or Gronwall's lemma for  $\alpha = 2$ , respectively, we obtain that for all  $t \wedge 0 \geq s_2$ 

$$\mathbb{E} \sup_{r \in [t,\infty)} \|X(r,s_2;\cdot)x - X(r,s_1;\cdot)y\|_H^2$$

$$\leq \int \left( \left(\frac{\alpha}{2} - 1\right)c\sigma\lambda^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}(t - s_2) \right)^{-\frac{2}{\alpha - 2}}, \qquad \text{if}$$

$$\leq \begin{cases}
\left(\left(\frac{\alpha}{2}-1\right)c\sigma\lambda^{\frac{\alpha}{2}}(t-s_2)\right)^{-\frac{2}{\alpha-2}}, & \text{if } \alpha > 2; \\
2\left(e^{\frac{c\sigma\lambda}{2}s_1}||y||_H^2 + e^{\frac{c\sigma\lambda}{2}s_2}||x||_H^2 + C\right)e^{\frac{c\sigma\lambda}{2}s_2}e^{-c\sigma\lambda t}, & \text{if } \alpha = 2.
\end{cases}$$

Hence,  $X(\cdot, s; \cdot)x$  is a Cauchy sequence in  $L^2(\Omega; D([t, \infty); H))$  and

$$u_t := \lim_{s \to -\infty} X(t, s; \cdot) x$$

exists as a limit in  $L^2(\Omega; H)$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and u is  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^t_{-\infty}$ -adapted.

Since  $X(\cdot, s; \cdot)x$  also converges in  $L^2(\Omega; D([t, \infty); H))$ , u is càdlàg  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost surely. Since u is  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable, we can choose an indistinguishable  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable version of u.

(ii) The next step consists of showing that u solves (3.3).

This is achieved using Itô's formula for  $\|\cdot\|_H^2$  (with the only difference being an additional term of  $\int_H \|z\|_H^2 \nu(\mathrm{d}z)$  on the right-hand side), the compactness of the embedding as well as the monotonicity trick and the hemicontinuity (A1). For details, cf. [94, p.144].

(iii) Now we prove the crude stationarity for u. Let us first show  $X(t,s;\omega)x =$  $X(0, s - t; \theta_t \omega)x$  for all  $t \geq s$ ,  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost surely.

Let  $h > 0, t \ge s$  and define  $\bar{X}_h(t)(\omega) := X(t - h, s - h; \theta_h \omega)x$ . Then for  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.a.  $\omega \in \Omega$  (with zero set possibly depending on s, h, x)

$$\bar{X}_h(t)(\omega) = X(t - h, s - h; \theta_h \omega) x$$

$$= x + \sigma \int_{s-h}^{t-h} M(X(r, s - h; \theta_h \omega) x) dr + N_{t-h}(\theta_h \omega) - N_{s-h}(\theta_h \omega)$$

$$= x + \sigma \int_{s-h}^{t-h} M(X(r, s - h; \theta_h \omega) x) dr + N_t(\omega) - N_s(\omega)$$

$$= x + \sigma \int_s^t M(\bar{X}_h(r)(\omega)) dr + N_t(\omega) - N_s(\omega).$$

Hence, by uniqueness,  $X(t-h,s-h;\theta_h\omega)x=X(t,s;\omega)x$ ,  $\mathbb{P}$ -almost surely. In particular

$$(3.6) X(0, s - t; \theta_t \omega) x = X(t, s; \omega) x,$$

 $\mathbb{P}$ -almost surely (with zero set possibly depending on t, s, x).

Now for an arbitrary sequence  $s_n \to -\infty$  there exists a subsequence (again denoted by  $s_n$ ) such that  $X(t, s_n; \cdot)x \to u_t$  and  $X(0, s_n - t; \cdot)x \to u_0$   $\mathbb{P}$ -almost surely. Thus passing to the limit in (3.6) gives

$$u_0(\theta_t \omega) = u_t(\omega),$$

 $\mathbb{P}$ -almost surely (with zero set possibly depending on t).

Since  $u \in L^{\alpha}(\Omega; L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V))$ , in particular  $u(\omega) \in L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$  for almost all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and since u is  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable, we now use Proposition C.12 in Appendix B to deduce the existence of an indistinguishable,  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable,  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}^t_{-\infty}$ -adapted, strictly stationary, càdlàg process  $\tilde{u}$  such that  $\tilde{u}(\omega) \in L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ , i.e. crude stationarity.

(iv) Next we proceed to prove (3.4). Let  $\delta \geq 0$  and note that by (A2') and (A4)

$$2\sigma_{V^*}\langle M(v),v\rangle_V + \mathrm{tr} Q \leq -\frac{c\sigma}{2}\|v\|_V^\alpha + C, \quad \forall v \in V.$$

An application of Itô's formula and the product rule yields that

$$e^{\delta t_{2}} \|u_{t_{2}}\|_{H}^{p} = e^{\delta t_{1}} \|u_{t_{1}}\|_{H}^{p}$$

$$+ \frac{p}{2} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} (2\sigma_{V^{*}} \langle M(u_{r}), u_{r} \rangle_{V} + \text{tr}Q) dr$$

$$+ p \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \langle u_{r}, dW_{r} \rangle_{H} + p(\frac{p}{2} - 1) \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-4} \|Q^{\frac{1}{2}} u_{r}\|_{H}^{2} dr$$

$$+ p \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{H} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \langle u_{r}, z \rangle_{H} \tilde{N}(dr, dz)$$

$$+ \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{H} e^{\delta r} (\|u_{r} + z\|_{H}^{p} - \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p} - p\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \langle u_{r}, z \rangle_{H}) N(dr, dz)$$

$$+ \delta \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p} dr.$$

Therefore, by (A3)

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{E}e^{\delta t_{2}} \|u_{t_{2}}\|_{H}^{p} &\leq \mathbb{E}e^{\delta t_{1}} \|u_{t_{1}}\|_{H}^{p} \\ &+ \frac{p}{2} \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \left( -\frac{c\sigma}{2} \|u_{r}\|_{V}^{\alpha} + C \right) dr \\ &+ p(\frac{p}{2} - 1) \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-4} \|Q^{\frac{1}{2}} u_{r}\|_{H}^{2} dr \\ &+ \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{H} e^{\delta r} \left( \|u_{r} + z\|_{H}^{p} - \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p} - p\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \langle u_{r}, z \rangle_{H} \right) N(\mathrm{d}r, \mathrm{d}z) \\ &+ \delta \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p} dr. \end{split}$$

Noting that

$$|||x+h||_H^p - ||x||_H^p - p||x||_H^{p-2}\langle x,h\rangle_H| \le C_p(||x||_H^{p-2}||h||_H^2 + ||h||^p),$$

we obtain by using the moment Assumption (N) that

$$\mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{H} e^{\delta r} \left( \|u_{r} + z\|_{H}^{p} - \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p} - p\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \langle u_{r}, z \rangle_{H} \right) N(\mathrm{d}r, \mathrm{d}z) 
= \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{H} e^{\delta r} \left( \|u_{r} + z\|_{H}^{p} - \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p} - p\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \langle u_{r}, z \rangle_{H} \right) \nu(\mathrm{d}z) \mathrm{d}r 
\leq C \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \int_{H} e^{\delta r} \left( \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} \|z\|_{H}^{2} + \|z\|_{H}^{p} \right) \nu(\mathrm{d}z) \mathrm{d}r 
\leq C \left( \mathbb{E} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} e^{\delta r} \left( \|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2} + 1 \right) \mathrm{d}r \right),$$

and thus

$$\mathbb{E}e^{\delta t_{2}}\|u_{t_{2}}\|_{H}^{p} \leq \mathbb{E}e^{\delta t_{1}}\|u_{t_{1}}\|_{H}^{p} - \frac{pc\sigma}{4}\mathbb{E}\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}e^{\delta r}\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2}\|u_{r}\|_{V}^{\alpha}dr$$

$$+ \left(p(\frac{p}{2} - 1)\operatorname{tr}Q + C\right)\mathbb{E}\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}e^{\delta r}\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p-2}dr$$

$$+ \delta\mathbb{E}\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}e^{\delta r}\|u_{r}\|_{H}^{p}dr + C\int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}}e^{\delta r}dr.$$

Applying Young's inequality and the embedding  $V \subset H$ , we get

$$e^{\delta t_2} \mathbb{E} \|u_{t_2}\|_H^p \le e^{\delta t_1} \mathbb{E} \|u_{t_1}\|_H^p - \left(\frac{pc\sigma}{4} - 2\delta\lambda^{-1}\right) \mathbb{E} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} e^{\delta r} \|u_r\|_H^{p-2} \|u_r\|_V^{\alpha} dr + C \int_{t_1}^{t_2} e^{\delta r} dr.$$

Stationarity of  $u_t$  implies

(3.7) 
$$\left(\frac{pc\sigma}{4} - 2\delta\lambda^{-1}\right) \mathbb{E} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} e^{\delta r} \|u_r\|_H^{p-2} \|u_r\|_V^{\alpha} dr \le C \int_{t_1}^{t_2} e^{\delta r} dr$$

and thus (3.4) holds, provided  $\sigma$  is sufficiently large that  $\frac{pc\sigma}{4} - 2\delta\lambda^{-1} > 0$ .

(v) Applying (3.7) for  $\delta = 0$  and p = 2 yields

$$\mathbb{E} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|u_r\|_V^{\alpha} dr \le C(t_2 - t_1).$$

Since  $u_t$  is stationary, we have  $\mathbb{E}||u_t||_V^\alpha = \mathbb{E}||u_0||_V^\alpha$ . Hence,

$$\mathbb{E}\|u_0\|_V^\alpha \le C < \infty,$$

and Birkhoff's ergodic theorem implies the claimed convergence.

- (vi) The convergence (3.5) follows exactly as in [94, Proof of Theorem 3.3 (i), 146 f.] from the stationarity and Birkhoff's ergodic theorem as well as an application of Itô's formula and the *a priori* bounds arising from [94, Lemma 5.2] in the case  $\alpha > 2$  and Gronwall's lemma for  $\alpha = 2$ , respectively.
- (vii) This is proven by invoking the dichotomy of linear growth (cf. [7, Proposition 4.1.3]) in the same way as in [94, Proof of Theorem 3.3 (ii), p. 147].  $\Box$

## 4. Generation of Random Dynamical Systems

In order to construct a stochastic flow associated to (2.1), we aim to transform (2.1) into a random PDE. However, since we only assume that  $N_t$  takes values in H we cannot directly subtract the noise. Motivated by [94] we use the transformation based on a strongly stationary solution to the strictly monotone part of (2.1). More precisely, we impose the following assumption:

(V) There exists an operator  $M: V \to V^*$  satisfying (A1), (A2') and (A4) with  $\beta = 0$ .

The motivation behind the Assumption (V) is that M is the strongly monotone part of A in (2.1). For example, for many semilinear SPDE such as stochastic reaction-diffusion equations, stochastic Burgers equations and stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equations, one can take  $M = \Delta$  (standard Laplace operator). For quasilinear SPDE like stochastic porous media equations, stochastic p-Laplace equations or stochastic Cahn-Hilliard type equations one can take  $M(v) = \Delta(|v|^{r-1}v)$ ,  $M(v) = div(|\nabla v|^{p-2}\nabla v)$  and  $M(v) = -\Delta^2 v$ , respectively (see Section 6 for more concrete examples).

Following the arguments given in [94], for  $\sigma > 0$  we may consider the  $\mathcal{F}$ -measurable, strictly stationary solution  $u_t$  (given by Theorem 3.1) to

$$du_t = \sigma M(u_t) dt + dN_t.$$

The key point is that u takes values in V, while N takes values in H. The operator M is used to construct Ornstein-Uhlenbeck type process corresponding to  $dX_t = \sigma M(X_t)dt + dN_t$ . If  $N_t$  takes values in V (cf. [97]), then this regularizing property is not needed and we can just choose  $M = -Id_H$ . The condition (V) can be removed in this case.

Let  $X(t, s; \omega)x$  denote a variational solution to (2.1) starting in x at time s (the existence and uniqueness of this solution is proved in Theorem 4.1).

Defining  $\bar{X}(t,s;\omega)x := X(t,s;\omega)x - u_t(\omega)$  we get

$$\langle \bar{X}(t,s;\omega)x,v\rangle_{H} = \langle x-u_{s},v\rangle_{H} + \int_{s}^{t} {}_{V^{*}}\langle A(\bar{X}(r,s;\omega)x+u_{r}),v\rangle_{V} dr$$
$$-\sigma \int_{s}^{t} {}_{V^{*}}\langle M(u_{r}),v\rangle_{V} dr, \ v \in V, \ \mathbb{P}\text{-}a.s.$$

We have used the following stationary conjugation mapping

$$(4.1) T(t,\omega)y := y - u_t(\omega),$$

and the conjugated process  $Z(t,s;\omega)x:=T(t,\omega)X(t,s;\omega)T^{-1}(s,\omega)x$  satisfies

(4.2) 
$$Z(t,s;\omega)x = x + \int_{s}^{t} \left(A(Z(r,s;\omega)x + u_r) - \sigma M(u_r)\right) dr$$

as an equation in  $V^*$ . Let

$$A_{\omega}(r,v) := \begin{cases} A(v+u_r) - \sigma M(u_r), & \text{if } u_r \in V; \\ A(v), & \text{else,} \end{cases}$$

where for the simplicity of notations we suppressed the  $\omega$ -dependency of  $u_r$ . Since  $u_r(\omega) \in V$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and a.a.  $r \in \mathbb{R}$ , from (4.2) we obtain

(4.3) 
$$Z(t,s;\omega)x = x + \int_{s}^{t} A_{\omega}(r,Z(r,s;\omega)x) dr.$$

In order to define the associated stochastic flow to (2.1), we first solve (4.3) for each  $\omega \in \Omega$  and then set

(4.4) 
$$S(t,s;\omega)x := T(t,\omega)^{-1}Z(t,s;\omega)T(s,\omega)x.$$

This is done in detail in the proof of Theorem 4.1 below. For this purpose and also in order to subsequently prove the compactness of the stochastic flow, we need to impose the following additional assumption:

(A5) The embedding  $V \subseteq H$  is compact.

THEOREM 4.1 (Generation of stochastic flows). Suppose that (A1)–(A5), (V) are satisfied and there exist non-negative constants C and  $\kappa$  such that

(4.5) 
$$\eta(v_1 + v_2) \le C(\eta(v_1) + \eta(v_2)), 
\rho(v_1 + v_2) \le C(\rho(v_1) + \rho(v_2)), 
\eta(v) + \rho(v) \le C(1 + ||v||_V^{\kappa})(1 + ||v||_H^{\kappa}), \quad \forall v_1, v_2, v \in V.$$

Then we have the following:

- (i) There is a unique solution  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  to (4.3).  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  and  $S(t, s; \omega)$  (defined in (4.4)) are stationary conjugated continuous RDS in H and  $S(t, s; \omega)x$  is a solution of (2.1) in the sense of Definition 2.1.
- (ii) The maps  $t \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$ ,  $S(t, s; \omega)x$  are càdlàg,  $x \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$ ,  $S(t, s; \omega)x$  are continuous locally uniformly in s, t and  $s \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$ ,  $S(t, s; \omega)x$  are right-continuous.

PROOF. (i) We consider (4.3) as an  $\omega$ -wise random PDE. We use this point of view to define the associated stochastic flow.

In order to obtain the existence and uniqueness of solutions to (4.3) for each fixed  $(\omega, s) \in \Omega \times \mathbb{R}$ , we need to verify the Assumptions (H1)–(H4) (see Appendix 7) for  $(t, v) \mapsto A_{\omega}(t, v)$ . We check (H1)–(H4) for  $A_{\omega}(t, v)$  on each bounded interval  $[S, T] \subset \mathbb{R}$  and for each fixed  $\omega \in \Omega$ . For ease of notations we suppress the  $\omega$ -dependency of the coefficients in the following calculations.

(H1): Follows immediately from (A1) for A.

(H2): Let  $v_1, v_2 \in V$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u_t(\omega) \in V$ . Then by (A2) and (4.5) we find

$$2_{V^*} \langle A_{\omega}(t, v_1) - A_{\omega}(t, v_2), v_1 - v_2 \rangle_V$$

$$= 2_{V^*} \langle A(v_1 + u_t) - A(v_2 + u_t), (v_1 + u_t) - (v_2 + u_t) \rangle_V$$

$$\leq (C + \eta(v_1 + u_t) + \rho(v_2 + u_t)) \|v_1 - v_2\|_H^2$$

$$\leq (C + C\eta(u_t) + C\rho(u_t) + C\eta(v_1) + C\rho(v_2)) \|v_1 - v_2\|_H^2.$$

Note that by (4.5)

$$\eta(u_t) + \rho(u_t) \le C \left(1 + \|u_t\|_V^{\alpha}\right) \left(1 + \|u_t\|_H^{\kappa}\right).$$

Since  $u_{\cdot}(\omega) \in L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V) \cap L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; H)$ , we have

$$f(t) := C + C\eta(u_t) + C\rho(u_t) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}),$$

i.e. (H2) holds for  $A_{\omega}$ . For  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u_t(\omega) \notin V$  a similar calculation holds. (H3): For  $v \in V$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u_t(\omega) \in V$ , by (A3) we can estimate

$$(4.6) 2_{V^*} \langle A_{\omega}(t,v), v \rangle_{V} = 2_{V^*} \langle A(v+u_t), v+u_t \rangle_{V} -2_{V^*} \langle A(v+u_t), u_t \rangle_{V} -2\sigma_{V^*} \langle M(u_t), v \rangle_{V} \leq K \|v+u_t\|_{H}^{2} -\gamma \|v+u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + C +2 \|A(v+u_t)\|_{V^*} \|u_t\|_{V} -2\sigma_{V^*} \langle M(u_t), v \rangle_{V}.$$

For any  $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2 > 0$ , by (A4), the condition  $(\alpha - 1)\beta \leq 2$  and Young's inequality there exist constants  $C_{\varepsilon_1}, C_{\varepsilon_2}$  such that

$$2\|A(v + u_t)\|_{V^*} \|u_t\|_{V}$$

$$\leq C \left(1 + \|v + u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha - 1}\right) \left(1 + \|v + u_t\|_{H}^{\beta \frac{\alpha - 1}{\alpha}}\right) \|u_t\|_{V}$$

$$\leq \varepsilon_1 \left(1 + \|v + u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha}\right) + C_{\varepsilon_1} \left(1 + \|v + u_t\|_{H}^{\beta(\alpha - 1)}\right) \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha}$$

$$\leq \varepsilon_1 \|v + u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} \|v + u_t\|_{H}^{2} + 2C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + \varepsilon_1$$

and

$$2\sigma_{V^*}\langle M(u_t), v \rangle_V \le C_{\varepsilon_2} \|M(u_t)\|_{V^*}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} + \varepsilon_2 \|v\|_V^{\alpha}$$
$$\le C_{\varepsilon_2} \Big( C \|u_t\|_V^{\alpha} + C \Big) + \varepsilon_2 \|v\|_V^{\alpha},$$

where we recall that M satisfies (A4) with  $\beta = 0$ .

Combining the above estimates with (4.6) we have

$$2_{V^*} \langle A_{\omega}(t, v), v \rangle_{V} \leq (K + C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha}) \|v + u_t\|_{H}^{2} - (\gamma - \varepsilon_1) \|v + u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + 2C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + C + \varepsilon_1 + C_{\varepsilon_2} (C \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + C) + \varepsilon_2 \|v\|_{V}^{\alpha}.$$

Using

$$||v + u_t||_V^{\alpha} \ge 2^{1-\alpha} ||v||_V^{\alpha} - ||u_t||_V^{\alpha}$$

we obtain (for  $\varepsilon_1$  small enough):

$$\begin{aligned} & 2_{V^*} \langle A_{\omega}(t, v), v \rangle_{V} \\ & \leq -(\gamma - \varepsilon_1 - 2^{\alpha - 1} \varepsilon_2) 2^{1 - \alpha} \|v\|_{V}^{\alpha} + 2(K + C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha}) \|v\|_{H}^{2} \\ & + (\gamma - \varepsilon_1 + 2C_{\varepsilon_1} + CC_{\varepsilon_2}) \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha} + 2(K + C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_{V}^{\alpha}) \|u_t\|_{H}^{2} + CC_{\varepsilon_2} + C + \varepsilon_1. \end{aligned}$$

Now choosing  $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2$  small enough yields

$$(4.7) 2_{V^*} \langle A_{\omega}(t, v), v \rangle_V \le -\tilde{\gamma} \|v\|_V^{\alpha} + g(t) \|v\|_H^2 + \tilde{f}(t),$$

where

$$\tilde{\gamma} := (\gamma - \varepsilon_1 - 2^{\alpha - 1} \varepsilon_2) 2^{1 - \alpha} > 0;$$

$$g(t) := 2(K + C_{\varepsilon_1} \| u_t \|_V^{\alpha}) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R});$$

$$\tilde{f}(t) := (\gamma - \varepsilon_1 + 2C_{\varepsilon_1} + CC_{\varepsilon_2}) \| u_t \|_V^{\alpha} + 2(C + C_{\varepsilon_1} \| u_t \|_V^{\alpha}) \| u_t \|_H^2 + CC_{\varepsilon_2} + C + \varepsilon_1 \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}).$$

Here the local integrability of g and  $\tilde{f}$  follows from the local  $L^{\alpha}$ -integrability of u in V and local boundedness of u in H. For  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u_t(\omega) \notin V$  we can use the same calculation to prove (H3).

(H4): For  $v \in V$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u_t(\omega) \in V$ :

$$\begin{aligned} \|A_{\omega}(t,v)\|_{V^{*}}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} &= \|A\left(v+u_{t}\right) - \sigma M(u_{t})\|_{V^{*}}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} \\ &\leq C\left(\|A\left(v+u_{t}\right)\|_{V^{*}}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} + \|M(u_{t})\|_{V^{*}}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}}\right) \\ &\leq C\left(1 + \|v+u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha}\right)\left(1 + \|v+u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta}\right) + C\|M(u_{t})\|_{V^{*}}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} \\ &\leq C\left(1 + \|v\|_{V}^{\alpha} + \|u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha} + \|v\|_{H}^{\beta} + \|u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta} + \|v\|_{V}^{\alpha}\|v\|_{H}^{\beta} \\ &+ \|v\|_{V}^{\alpha}\|u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta} + \|u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha}\|v\|_{H}^{\beta} + \|u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha}\|u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta}\right) \\ &\leq C\left(1 + \|u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta}\right)\|v\|_{V}^{\alpha} + C\left(1 + \|u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha}\right)\|v\|_{H}^{\beta} + C\|v\|_{V}^{\alpha}\|v\|_{H}^{\beta} \\ &+ C\left(1 + \|u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha} + \|u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta} + \|u_{t}\|_{V}^{\alpha}\|u_{t}\|_{H}^{\beta}\right) \\ &\leq \left(C_{1}(t) + C_{2}(t)\|v\|_{V}^{\alpha}\right)\left(1 + \|v\|_{H}^{\beta}\right), \end{aligned}$$

where

$$C_1(t) := C \left( 1 + \|u_t\|_V^{\alpha} + \|u_t\|_H^{\beta} + \|u_t\|_V^{\alpha} \|u_t\|_H^{\beta} \right) \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R});$$

$$C_2(t) := C \left( 1 + \|u_t\|_H^{\beta} \right) \in L^{\infty}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}).$$

This yields (H4) on any bounded interval  $[S,T] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ .

For  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $u_t \notin V$  one can show (H4) by a similar calculation.

Hence, (H1)–(H4) are satisfied for  $A_{\omega}$  for each  $\omega \in \Omega$  and on each bounded interval  $[S,T] \subseteq \mathbb{R}$ . By Theorem 7.1 there thus exists a unique solution

$$Z(\cdot, s; \omega)x \in L^{\alpha}_{loc}([s, \infty); V) \cap L^{\infty}_{loc}([s, \infty); H)$$

to (4.3) for every  $(s, \omega, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \times H$ .

By the uniqueness of solutions for (4.3) we have the flow property

$$Z(t, s; \omega)x = Z(t, r; \omega)Z(r, s; \omega)x.$$

Therefore, by Proposition C.9 the family of maps given by

(4.8) 
$$S(t, s; \omega) := T(t, \omega) \circ Z(t, s; \omega) \circ T^{-1}(s, \omega)$$

defines a stochastic flow.

Strict stationarity of  $u_t$  implies that  $A_{\omega}(t,v) = A_{\theta_t\omega}(0,v)$ . By the uniqueness of solutions for (4.3) we deduce that

$$Z(t, s; \omega)x = Z(t - s, 0; \theta_s \omega)x$$

and thus  $Z(t, s; \omega)x$  is a cocycle. Since  $T(t, \omega)$  is a stationary conjugation, the same holds for  $S(t, s; \omega)x$ .

Measurability of  $\omega \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$  follows as in the proof of [97, Theorem 1.4]. In fact, the same argument proves  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t$ -adaptedness of  $\omega \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$ . Due to (4.8), in order to deduce measurability and  $\bar{\mathcal{F}}_s^t$ -adaptedness of  $S(t, s; \omega)x$  we only need to prove local uniform continuity of  $x \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$  which is done in (ii) below. Then it is simple to show that  $S(t, s; \omega)x$  is a solution to (2.1).

(ii) Since  $T(t, \omega)y$  is càdlàg in t locally uniformly in  $y, t \mapsto S(t, s; \omega)x$  is càdlàg. Since (H2) holds for  $A_{\omega}$ , by Gronwall's lemma (cf. [167, Theorem 5.2.4 (i), Eq. (5.32)]) we have for  $s \leq t$ ,

$$||Z(t,s;\omega)x - Z(t,s;\omega)y||_H^2$$

$$\leq \exp\left[\int_s^t (f(r) + \eta(Z(r,s;\omega)x) + \rho(Z(r,s;\omega)y)) dr\right] ||x - y||_H^2.$$

By (4.5) for  $y \in B(x,r) := \{y \in H | \|x - y\|_H \le r\}$  we have

$$\int_{s}^{t} (f(r) + \eta(Z(r, s; \omega)x) + \rho(Z(r, s; \omega)y)) dr \le C.$$

Thus  $x \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$  is continuous locally uniformly in s, t. Moreover, for  $s_1 < s_2$  we have

$$||Z(t, s_1; \omega)x - Z(t, s_2; \omega)x||_H^2$$

$$= ||Z(t, s_2; \omega)Z(s_2, s_1; \omega)x - Z(t, s_2; \omega)x||_H^2$$

$$\leq \exp\left[\int_{s_2}^t (f(r) + \eta(Z(r, s_1; \omega)x) + \rho(Z(r, s_2; \omega)x)) dr\right] ||Z(s_2, s_1; \omega)x - x||_H^2,$$

which implies right-continuity of  $s \mapsto Z(t, s; \omega)x$ .

Right continuity of  $s \mapsto S(t, s; \omega)x$  and continuity of  $x \mapsto S(t, s; \omega)x$  locally uniformly in s, t follow from the corresponding properties of  $Z(t, s; \omega)$ .

#### 5. Existence of a Random Attractor

In the following let  $\mathcal{D}$  be the system of all tempered sets. Now we are in a position to state the main result of this chapter.

THEOREM 5.1. Suppose that (A1)–(A5), (V) and (4.5) hold and let  $S(t,s;\omega)$  be the continuous cocycle constructed in Theorem 4.1. Then

(i)  $S(t, s; \omega)$  is a compact cocycle.

For  $\alpha = 2$  additionally assume  $K < \frac{\gamma \lambda}{4}$  in (A3). Then (ii) there is a random  $\mathcal{D}$ -attractor  $\mathcal{A}$  for  $S(t, s; \omega)$ .

As a first step of the proof of Theorem 5.1 we shall prove bounded absorption. Let  $B(x,r) := \{ y \in H | \|x - y\|_H \le r \}.$ 

PROPOSITION 5.2 (Bounded absorption). Assume (A1)-(A5), (V) and (4.5). If  $\alpha = 2$ , additionally assume  $K < \frac{\gamma \lambda}{4}$  in (A3). Then there is a random bounded  $\mathcal{D}$ -absorbing set  $\{F(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega} \text{ for } S(t,s;\omega).$ 

More precisely, there is a measurable function  $R:\Omega\to\mathbb{R}_+\setminus\{0\}$  such that for all  $D\in\mathcal{D}$ there is an absorption time  $s_0 = s_0(D; \omega)$  such that

(5.1) 
$$S(0, s; \omega)D(\theta_s \omega) \subseteq B(0, R(\omega)), \quad \forall s \le s_0, \ \mathbb{P}\text{-}a.s.$$

PROOF. By (4.7) we have

$$2_{V^*} \langle A_{\omega}(t,v), v \rangle_V \le -(\gamma - \varepsilon_1 - 2^{\alpha - 1}\varepsilon_2) 2^{1 - \alpha} \|v\|_V^{\alpha} + 2(K + C_{\varepsilon_1} \|u_t\|_V^{\alpha}) \|v\|_H^2 + \tilde{f}(t).$$

Note that for  $\alpha = 2$  we also have  $K < \frac{\gamma \lambda}{4}$ , and choosing  $\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2$  small enough, we conclude

$$2_{V*}\langle A_{\omega}(t,v),v\rangle_{V} \leq c(t,\omega)\|v\|_{H}^{2} + \tilde{f}(t,\omega), \quad \forall v \in V,$$

where  $c(t, \omega) := -\tilde{c} + C \|u_t(\omega)\|_V^{\alpha}$  and

$$\tilde{f}(t,\omega) = C \left( 1 + \|u_t\|_V^\alpha + \|u_t\|_H^2 + \|u_t\|_H^2 \|u_t\|_V^\alpha \right)$$

for some  $C, \tilde{c} > 0$ .

Note that  $\tilde{c}$  does not depend on  $\sigma$ . For a.e.  $t \geq s$  we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \| Z(t, s; \omega) x \|_{H}^{2} = 2 _{V^{*}} \langle A_{\omega}(t, Z(t, s; \omega) x), Z(t, s; \omega) x \rangle_{V}$$

$$\leq c(t, \omega) \| Z(t, s; \omega) x \|_{H}^{2} + \tilde{f}(t, \omega).$$

By Theorem 3.1, for sufficiently large  $\sigma$ , there is a subset  $\Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega$  of full  $\mathbb{P}$ -measure such that

$$\frac{1}{-s} \int_{s}^{0} \|u_{\tau}(\omega)\|_{V}^{\alpha} d\tau \to \mathbb{E} \|u_{0}\|_{V}^{\alpha} < \frac{\tilde{c}}{2C}, \quad \text{for } s \to -\infty$$

and  $||u_t(\omega)||_H^2 ||u_t(\omega)||_V^\alpha$  is exponentially integrable for all  $\omega \in \Omega_0$ .

Hence, there is an  $s_0(\omega) \leq 0$  such that

$$\frac{1}{-s} \int_{s}^{0} \left( -\tilde{c} + C \|u_{\tau}\|_{V}^{\alpha} \right) d\tau \leq -\frac{\tilde{c}}{2},$$

for all  $s \leq s_0(\omega)$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega_0$  and some  $\tilde{c} > 0$ .

Let  $D \in \mathcal{D}$ ,  $x_s(\omega) \in D(\theta_s \omega)$ . For some  $\tilde{s}_0 = \tilde{s}_0(D; \omega)$ , by Gronwall's lemma we obtain  $\|Z(0, s; \omega)x_s(\omega)\|_H^2$ 

$$(5.2) \qquad \leq \|x_{s}(\omega)\|_{H}^{2} e^{\frac{\tilde{c}s}{2}} + \int_{s}^{s_{0}} \tilde{e}^{\frac{\tilde{c}}{2}} f(r,\omega) dr + \int_{s_{0}}^{0} e^{\int_{r}^{0} (-\tilde{c}+C\|u_{r}\|_{V}^{\alpha}) d\tau} \tilde{f}(r,\omega) dr$$

$$\leq 1 + \int_{-\infty}^{s_{0}} e^{\frac{\tilde{c}}{2}r} \tilde{f}(r,\omega) dr + \int_{s_{0}}^{0} e^{\int_{r}^{0} (-\tilde{c}+C\|u_{r}\|_{V}^{\alpha}) d\tau} \tilde{f}(r,\omega) dr$$

$$=: R(\omega), \quad \forall s \leq \tilde{s}_{0}, \ \mathbb{P} - \text{a.s.},$$

where the finiteness of the second term follows from the exponential integrability of  $\tilde{f}$ .

Since  $T(t, \omega) = T(\theta_t \omega)$  is a bounded tempered map, we find bounded absorption for  $S(t, s; \omega)$ .

PROOF OF THEOREM 5.1. (i) Compactness of the cocycles  $S(t, s; \omega)$ ,  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  follows as in [95, Theorem 3.1].

(ii) We prove that  $Z(t, s; \omega)x$  is  $\mathcal{D}$ -asymptotically compact. By Proposition 5.2 there is a random, bounded  $\mathcal{D}$ -absorbing set F. Let

$$K(\omega) := \overline{Z(0, -1; \omega) F(\theta_{-1}\omega)}, \ \forall \omega \in \Omega.$$

Since  $F(\theta_{-1}\omega)$  is a bounded set and  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  is a compact flow,  $K(\omega)$  is compact. Furthermore,  $K(\omega)$  is  $\mathcal{D}$ -absorbing:

$$Z(0, s; \omega)D(\theta_s \omega) = Z(0, -1; \omega)Z(-1, s; \omega)D(\theta_s \omega)$$
  

$$\subseteq Z(0, -1; \omega)F(\theta_{-1}\omega) \subseteq K(\omega),$$

for all  $s \leq s_0$  P-almost surely. By Theorem C.7 this yields the existence of a random  $\mathcal{D}$ -attractor for  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  and thus, by Theorem C.10 for  $S(t, s; \omega)$ .

#### 6. Examples

The main results of Theorems 4.1 and 5.1 are applicable to a large class of SPDE, which not only generalises/improves many existing results but also can be used to obtain the existence of random attractors for some new examples. In this section, we mostly present those stochastic equations with a locally monotone operator in the drift, hence the existing results of [94,95,97] concerning only monotone operators are not applicable to those examples. We gather the examples considered in these papers at the end of this section.

Here is an overview of the examples considered: In Section 6.1 we study general Burgers-type equations. Sections 6.2 and 6.3 are devoted to Newtonian fluids, in particular we study the 2D Navier-Stokes equations and the 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model. More similar examples where the framework can be applied are summarised in Remark 6.2. We then move on to non-Newtonian fluids in Sections 6.4 and 6.5, where power law fluids and the Ladyzhenskaya model are discussed. Sections 6.6 and 6.7 are concerned with Cahn-Hilliard-type equations in the sense of [184] and general Kuramoto-Sivashinsky-type equations. Finally, in Section 6.8 we show how the aforementioned equations with monotone operators can be embedded into framework presented here.

**Notations** In this section we use  $D_i$  to denote the spatial derivative  $\frac{\partial}{\partial x_i}$  and  $\Lambda \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$  is supposed to be an open, bounded domain with smooth boundary and outward pointing unit normal vector n on  $\partial \Lambda$ . For the Sobolev space  $W_0^{1,p}(\Lambda,\mathbb{R}^d)$   $(p \geq 2)$  we always use the following (equivalent) Sobolev norm

$$||u||_{1,p} := \left( \int_{\Lambda} |\nabla u(x)|^p dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Most examples below deal with equations for vector-valued quantities. However, in some examples like those of Sections 6.1, 6.6 and 6.7, we are in the scalar-valued case. We use the same notation for  $L^p$  and Sobolev spaces in either case, as there is no risk of confusion. Thus, for  $p \geq 1$ , let  $L^p$  denote either the vector-valued  $L^p$ -space  $L^p(\Lambda, \mathbb{R}^d)$  or the scalar-valued  $L^p$ -space  $L^p(\Lambda, \mathbb{R})$ , with norm  $\|\cdot\|_{L^p}$ .

For an  $\mathbb{R}^d$ -valued function  $u:\Lambda\to\mathbb{R}^d$  we define

$$u \cdot \nabla = \sum_{j=1}^{d} u_j \partial_j$$

and for an  $\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}$ -valued function  $M:\Lambda\to\mathbb{R}^{d\times d}$ 

$$\operatorname{div}(M) = \left(\sum_{j=1}^{d} \partial_{j} M_{i,j}\right)_{i=1}^{d}.$$

For the reader's convenience, we recall the following Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality (cf. e.g. [210, Theorem 2.1.5]).

If  $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $q \in [1, \infty]$  such that

$$\frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{n}{d} - \frac{m\theta}{d}, \ \frac{n}{m} \le \theta \le 1,$$

then there exists a constant C > 0 such that

(6.1) 
$$||u||_{W^{n,q}} \le C||u||_{W^{m,2}}^{\theta} ||u||_{L^2}^{1-\theta}, \quad u \in W^{m,2}(\Lambda).$$

In particular, if d=2, we have the following well-known estimate on  $\mathbb{R}^2$  (cf. [165, 214]):

(6.2) 
$$||u||_{L^4}^4 \le C||u||_{L^2}^2 ||\nabla u||_{L^2}^2, \ u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Lambda).$$

**6.1. Stochastic Burgers-type and Reaction-Diffusion Equations.** We consider the following semilinear stochastic equation

(6.3) 
$$dX_{t} = \left(\Delta X_{t} + \sum_{i=1}^{d} f_{i}(X_{t})D_{i}X_{t} + f_{0}(X_{t})\right)dt + dN_{t},$$

for the scalar quantity X on  $\Lambda$ . Let  $(N_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  be an  $L^2(\Lambda)$ -valued two-sided Lévy process satisfying (N). Suppose the coefficients satisfy the following conditions:

- (i)  $f_i$  is Lipschitz on  $\mathbb{R}$  for all  $i = 1, \ldots, d$ ;
- (ii)  $f_0 \in C^{\bar{0}}(\mathbb{R})$  satisfies

(6.4) 
$$|f_0(x)| \le C(|x|^r + 1), \ x \in \mathbb{R};$$

$$(f_0(x) - f_0(y))(x - y) \le C(1 + |y|^s)(x - y)^2, \ x, y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

where C, r, s are some positive constants.

Example 1. Assume

- (1) If d = 1, r = 2, s = 2,
- (2) If d=2, r=2, s=2, and  $f_i, i=1,2,3$  are bounded, (3) If  $d=3, r=2, s=\frac{4}{3}$  and  $f_i, i=1,2,3$  are bounded measurable functions which are independent of  $X_t$ .

Furthermore assume that the constant K in the condition (A3) and the domain  $\Lambda$ satisfy  $K < \frac{\lambda}{8}$ .

Then there is a continuous cocycle and a random attractor associated to (6.3).

PROOF. We consider the following Gelfand triple

$$V := W_0^{1,2}(\Lambda) \subseteq H := L^2(\Lambda) \subseteq V^* = (W_0^{1,2}(\Lambda))^*$$

and define the operator

$$A(u) = \tilde{A}(u) + f_0(u) = \Delta u + \sum_{i=1}^{d} f_i(u)D_iu + f_0(u), \ u \in V.$$

One can show that A satisfies (A1)–(A3) with  $\alpha=2$  and  $\gamma=\frac{1}{2}$  and a constant K (see [165, Example 3.2]). For (A4) we note that

$$\|\tilde{A}u + f_0(u)\|_{V^*}^2 \le C\left(\|\tilde{A}u\|_{V^*}^2 + \|f_0(u)\|_{V^*}^2\right).$$

The first term satisfies

$$\|\tilde{A}u\|_{V^*}^2 \le C(1 + \|u\|_V^2)(1 + \|v\|_H^{\nu}),$$

where  $\nu = 2$  in case (1) and  $\nu = 0$  in case (2). For the second term we note that by applying Hölder's inequality and (6.1)

$$|v|_{V^*}\langle f_0(u), v \rangle_V|^2 \le \begin{cases} ||v||_{L^{\infty}}^2 \left(1 + ||u||_{L^2}^4\right), & d = 1\\ ||v||_{L^2}^2 \left(1 + ||u||_{L^4}^4\right), & d = 2\\ ||v||_{L^6}^2 \left(1 + ||u||_{L^{12/5}}^4\right), & d = 3 \end{cases}$$
  
$$\le ||v||_V^2 \left(1 + ||u||_V^2 ||u||_H^2\right).$$

Therefore, (A4) holds with  $\alpha = \beta = 2$ .

Note that (A5), (V) and (4.5) hold obviously with  $M=\Delta$ , therefore, the assertion follows from Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 5.1.

Remark 6.1. (1) If d = 1, one may take  $f_1(x) = x$  such that Theorem 1 can be applied to the classical stochastic Burgers equation (i.e. (6.3) with  $f_0 \equiv 0$ ). Note that we may also allow a polynomial perturbation  $f_0$  in the drift of (6.3). Hence, Theorem 1 also covers stochastic reaction-diffusion-type equations. Due to the restrictions of the variational approach to (S)PDE we can only consider reaction terms of at most quadratic growth. However, as outlined in [94, Remark 4.6], the main ideas apply to SRDE with higher-order reaction terms as well, e.g. using the mild approach to SPDE.

(2) The stochastic Burgers equation has been studied intensively over the last decades. W. E, K.M. Khanin, A.E. Mazel and Y.G. Sinai [66] proved the existence of singleton random attractors in 1D for periodic boundary conditions and noise of spatial regularity  $C^3$ . R. Iturriaga and Khanin in [120] generalised these periodic results to the multidimensional case with spatial  $C^4$  noise. Y. Bakhtin [8] studied the case on [0,1] with random boundary conditions of Ornstein-Uhlenbeck-type. The case on the whole space driven by a space-time homogeneous Poisson point field was studied by Bakhtin, E. Cator and Khanin [9].

- In [51], G. Da Prato and A. Debussche study the stochastic Burgers equation on an interval with Dirichlet boundary conditions and for cylindrical Wiener noise. They note [51, Remark 2.4] that one can prove existence of a random attractor using essentially the same techniques as [47]. The theorems proved in this chapter extend the above results to the case of more general, rougher noise as well as to the more general class of equations of the form (6.3).
- 6.2. Stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes Equation and Other Hydrodynamical Models. The next example is stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equation driven by additive noise. The Navier-Stokes equation is an important model in fluid mechanics to describe the time evolution of incompressible fluids. It can be formulated as follows

(6.5) 
$$\partial_t u(t) = \nu \Delta u(t) - (u(t) \cdot \nabla) u(t) + \nabla p(t) + f, \\ \operatorname{div}(u) = 0, \ u|_{\partial \Lambda} = 0, \ u(0) = u_0,$$

where  $u(t, x) = (u^1(t, x), u^2(t, x))$  represents the velocity field of the fluid,  $\nu$  is the viscosity constant, p(t, x) is the pressure and f is a (known) external force field acting on the fluid. The stochastic version was first considered by A. Bensoussan and R. Temam in [13] and has since been studied intensively. Random attractors for additive (as well as linear multiplicative) Wiener noise were first obtained by H. Crauel and F. Flandoli [47].

As usual we define (cf. [214, Theorems 1.4 and 1.6]):

(6.6) 
$$H = \left\{ u \in L^2(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^2) : \nabla \cdot u = 0 \text{ in } \Lambda, \ u \cdot n = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Lambda \right\};$$
$$V = \left\{ u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^2) : \nabla \cdot u = 0 \text{ in } \Lambda \right\}.$$

The Helmholtz-Leray projection  $P_H$  and the Stokes operator L with viscosity constant  $\nu$  are defined by

$$P_H: L^2(\Lambda, \mathbb{R}^2) \to H$$
, orthogonal projection;  
  $L: H^{2,2}(\Lambda, \mathbb{R}^2) \cap V \to H$ ,  $Lu = \nu P_H \Delta u$ .

We thus arrive at the following abstract formulation of the Navier-Stokes equation

(6.7) 
$$u' = Lu + F(u) + f, \ u(0) = u_0 \in H,$$

where  $f \in H$  (for simplicity we write f for  $P_H f$  again) and

$$F: V \times V \to V^*, \ F(u,v) := -P_H[(u \cdot \nabla) v], \ F(u) := F(u,u).$$

It is well known that  $F: V \times V \to V^*$  is well-defined and continuous. Using the Gelfand triple  $V \subset H \equiv H^* \subset V^*$ , one sees that L extends by continuity to a map  $L: V \to V^*$ . Now we consider a random forcing and thus obtain the stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equation

(6.8) 
$$dX_t = (LX_t + F(X_t) + f) dt + dN_t,$$

where  $(N_t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$  is a two-sided trace-class Lévy process in H satisfying (N).

Example 2. (Stochastic 2D Navier-Stokes equation) There exists a continuous cocycle and a random attractor associated to (6.8).

PROOF. According to the result in [165, Example 3.3], (A1)–(A4) hold with  $\alpha = \beta = 2$ ,  $\eta \equiv 0$  and  $\rho(v) = ||v||_{L^4}^4$  and K = 0. (A5), (V) and (4.5) hold obviously (with M := L). Therefore, the assertion follows from Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 5.1.

Remark 6.2. (1) The above result improves the classical results in [47, Theorem 7.4] and [45, Example 3.1] by allowing more general types of noise. Besides Lévy-type noise being allowed here, even for Wiener-type noise, we don't need impose any further assumptions on the noise except those needed for the well-posedness of the equation.

(2) As we mentioned in the introduction, many other hydrodynamical systems also satisfy the local monotonicity (A2) and coercivity condition (A3). For example, I.D. Chueshov and A. Millet [40] studied well-posedness and large deviation principles for abstract stochastic semilinear equations (driven by Wiener noise), covering a wide class of fluid dynamical models.

In fact, they consider abstract equations of the form

$$du(t) = (Lu(t) + B(u(t), u(t)) + \mathcal{R}u(t))dt + \sigma(u(t))dW(t).$$

The operator L is a linear unbounded, self-adjoint and negative definite operator with  $V = D((-L)^{1/2})$ , H is a separable Hilbert space such that the Gelfand triple  $V \subseteq H \subseteq V^*$  holds. In [40], the inclusions do not have to be compact, but we have to assume this.  $\mathcal{R} \colon H \to H$  is a bounded linear operator. The bilinear operator B satisfies certain continuity, symmetry and interpolation/growth conditions, cf. [40, (C1)]. These assumptions imply the conditions of this article:

(A1) is clear by the continuity assumptions on the operators. (A2) has been shown in [40, Eq. (2.8)] for the operator B. For the other two operators this follows immediately. (A3) with  $\alpha = 2$ ,  $\gamma = 1$  and  $K = ||\mathcal{R}||$  follows as by assumption  $_{V^*}\langle B(v,v),v\rangle_V = 0$ , and (A4) with  $\beta = 2$  is implied by

$$| v_* \langle B(v, v), u \rangle_V | = | v_* \langle B(v, u), v \rangle_V | \le C ||u||_V ||v||_H ||v||_V.$$

As we assumed bounded domains, (A5) holds and finally (V) holds for M=L. Since  $\alpha=2$ , we get the additional constraint  $K=\|\mathcal{R}\|<\frac{\lambda}{4}$ .

Therefore, Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 5.1 can be applied to show the existence of a continuous cocycle and of a random attractor for all the hydrodynamical models studied in [40] driven by additive Lévy-type noise. These models include stochastic magneto-hydrodynamic equations, the stochastic Boussinesq model for the Bénard convection, the stochastic 2D magnetic Bénard problem and the stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model driven by additive noise. For brevity we shall restrict our attention to one further example, namely the stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model.

**6.3.** Stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  Model. We now apply the main result to the 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model of turbulence, which is a regularization of the 3D Navier-Stokes equation and was first considered by J. Leray [148] in order to prove the existence of a solution to the Navier-Stokes equation in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . Here we use a special smoothing kernel, which goes back to A. Cheskidov, D.D. Holm, E. Olson and E.S. Titi [39] (cf. [218] for more references). It has been shown there that the 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model compares successfully with experimental data from turbulent channel and pipe flows for a wide range of Reynolds numbers and therefore has the potential to become a good sub-grid-scale large-eddy simulation model for turbulence. The (deterministic) Leray- $\alpha$  model can be formulated as follows:

(6.9) 
$$\partial_t u = \nu \Delta u - (v \cdot \nabla) u - \nabla p + f, \\ \operatorname{div}(u) = 0, \ u_{|\partial \Lambda} = 0, \ u = v - \varepsilon^2 \Delta v,$$

where  $\nu > 0$  is the viscosity, u is the velocity, p is the pressure and f is a given body-forcing term. Using the same divergence-free Hilbert spaces V and H as in (6.6) (but in the 3D case), one can rewrite the stochastic Leray- $\alpha$  model in the following abstract form:

(6.10) 
$$dX_t = (LX_t + F(X_t, X_t) + f) dt + dN_t,$$

where  $f \in H$ ,  $(N_t)_{t \in \mathbb{R}}$  is a trace-class Lévy process in H satisfying condition (N), and

$$Lu = \nu P_H \Delta u, \quad F(u, v) = -P_H \left[ \left( \left( I - \varepsilon^2 \Delta \right)^{-1} u \cdot \nabla \right) v \right].$$

The stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model was studied by G. Deugoue and M. Sango in [59] and I.D. Chueshov and A. Millet in [40] for the case of Brownian motion noise. The inviscid case  $\nu = 0$  was investigated by D. Barbato, H. Bessaih and B. Ferrario in [10]. The model has also been extended to the case of 3D MHD equations by Deugoué, P.A. Razafimandimby and Sango in [57].

Example 3. (Stochastic 3D Leray- $\alpha$  model) There exists a continuous cocycle and a random attractor associated to (6.10).

PROOF. Conditions (A1)–(A4) have been checked above and in [164, Example 3.6] with  $\alpha = 2$ , K = 0,  $\beta = 2$ . Condition (V) holds with M := L and (A5) is clear. The assertion now follows from Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 5.1.

Remark 6.3. To the best of our knowledge, the existence of a random attractor seems to be new for this model.

**6.4. Stochastic Power Law Fluids.** The next example is an SPDE model which describes the velocity field of a viscous and incompressible non-Newtonian fluid subject to random forcing in dimension  $2 \le d \le 4$ . The deterministic model has been studied intensively in PDE theory (cf. [84, 121] and the references therein). For a vector field  $u: \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^d$ , we define the rate-of-strain tensor by

$$e(u): \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d; \ e_{i,j}(u) = \frac{\partial_i u_j + \partial_j u_i}{2}, \ i, j = 1, \dots, d$$

and we consider the case that the stress tensor has the following polynomial form:

$$\tau(u): \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d; \ \tau(u) = 2\nu(1 + |e(u)|)^{p-2}e(u),$$

where  $\nu > 0$  is the kinematic viscosity and p > 1 is a constant, and for  $U \in \mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d$  we define  $|U| = \left(\sum_{i,j=1}^d |U_{ij}|^2\right)^{1/2}$ .

In the case of deterministic forcing, the dynamics of power law fluids can be modelled by the following PDE (cf. [121, Chapter 5]):

(6.11) 
$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t u &= \operatorname{div} \left( \tau(u) \right) - (u \cdot \nabla) u - \nabla p + f, \\ \operatorname{div}(u) &= 0, \ u|_{\partial \Lambda} = 0, \ u(0) = u_0, \end{aligned}$$

where  $u = u(t, x) = (u_i(t, x))_{i=1}^d$  is the velocity field, p is the pressure and f is an external force.

Remark 6.4. For p = 2, (6.11) describes Newtonian fluids and (6.11) reduces to the classical Navier-Stokes equation (6.5).

The cases  $p \in (1,2)$  and  $p \in (2,\infty)$  are called shear-thinning fluids and shear-thickening fluids, respectively. They have been widely studied in different fields of science and engineering (cf. e.g. [84, 121] and the references therein).

In this section, we only consider the case  $p \ge \frac{d+2}{2} \ge 2$ , i.e. the shear-thickening case. In the following we consider the Gelfand triple  $V \subset H \subset V^*$ , where

$$V = \left\{ u \in W_0^{1,p}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) : \nabla \cdot u = 0 \text{ in } \Lambda \right\};$$
  
$$H = \left\{ u \in L^2(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) : \nabla \cdot u = 0 \text{ in } \Lambda, \ u \cdot n = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Lambda \right\}.$$

Let  $P_H$  be the orthogonal (Helmholtz-Leray) projection from  $L^2(\Lambda, \mathbb{R}^d)$  to H. As in Example 6.2, the operators

$$\mathcal{N}: W^{2,p}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V \to H, \ \mathcal{N}(u) := P_H[\operatorname{div}(\tau(u))];$$

$$F: (W^{2,p}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V) \times (W^{2,p}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V) \to H;$$
  
$$F(u,v) := -P_H [(u \cdot \nabla)v], \ F(u) := F(u,u)$$

can be extended to the well defined operators:

$$\mathcal{N}: V \to V^*; F: V \times V \to V^*.$$

In particular, one can show that

$$V^*\langle \mathcal{N}(u), v \rangle_V = -\int_{\Lambda} \sum_{i,j=1}^d \tau_{i,j}(u) e_{i,j}(v) dx, \ u, v \in V;$$

$$V^*\langle F(u,v),w\rangle_V = -V^*\langle F(u,w),v\rangle_V, \ V^*\langle F(u,v),v\rangle_V = 0, \ u,v,w\in V.$$

Now (6.11) with random forcing can be reformulated in the following abstract form:

(6.12) 
$$dX_t = (\mathcal{N}(X_t) + F(X_t) + f)dt + dN_t,$$

with  $f \in H$  and  $N_t$  being a trace-class Lévy process in H satisfying the condition (N).

Example 4. (Stochastic power law fluids) Suppose that  $2 \le d \le 4$  and  $p \in \left[\frac{d+2}{2}, 3\right]$ , then there exists a continuous cocycle and a random attractor associated to (6.12).

PROOF. From [166, Example 3.5] we know that (A1) and (A2) hold with  $\rho(v) = C_{\varepsilon} ||v||_{V}^{\frac{2p}{2p-d}}$  and  $\eta \equiv 0$ , and the operator  $M := \mathcal{N}$  is in fact strongly monotone. (A3) holds with  $\alpha = p$  and K = 0. Furthermore, we have

$$||F(v)||_{V^*} \le ||v||_{L^{\frac{2p}{p-1}}}^2, \ v \in V.$$

An application of the Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality (6.1) yields

$$||v||_{L^{\frac{2p}{p-1}}} \le C||v||_V^{\theta}||v||_H^{1-\theta},$$

with  $\theta = \frac{d}{(d+2)p-2d}$ . Note that  $2\theta \leq p-1$  if  $p \geq \frac{d+2}{2}$ , hence the embedding  $V \subseteq H$  implies

$$||F(v)||_{V^*} \le C||v||_V^{2\theta} ||v||_H^{2(1-\theta)} \le C||v||_V^{2\theta} ||v||_H^{(p-1)-2\theta} ||v||_H^{2(1-\theta)-((p-1)-2\theta)}$$

$$\le ||v||_V^{p-1} ||v||_H^{3-p} \Rightarrow ||F(v)||_{V^*}^{\frac{p}{p-1}} \le C||v||_V^p ||v||_H^{\frac{(3-p)p}{p-1}},$$

which implies  $\alpha = p$ ,  $\beta = \frac{(3-p)p}{p-1}$ . Since  $p \leq 3$ , we get  $\beta \geq 0$ . The condition  $\beta(\alpha - 1) \leq 2$  is equivalent to  $(3-p)p \leq 2$ , which is satisfied for  $p \geq 2$ .

It is also easy to see that

$$\|\mathcal{N}(v)\|_{V^*} \le C(1 + \|v\|_V^{p-1}), \ v \in V.$$

Hence the growth condition (A4) holds with the above  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ . (V) and (A5) are clearly satisfied. The assertion now follows from Theorem 4.1 and Theorem 5.1.

**6.5.** Stochastic Ladyzhenskaya Model. The Ladyzhenskaya model is a higher order variant of the power law fluid where the stress tensor has the form

$$\tau(u) \colon \Lambda \to \mathbb{R}^d \otimes \mathbb{R}^d, \quad \tau(u) = 2\mu_0 (1 + |e(u)|^2)^{\frac{p-2}{2}} e(u) - 2\mu_1 \Delta e(u) = \tau^{\mathcal{N}}(u) + \tau^{\mathcal{L}}(u).$$

The model was pioneered by O.A. Ladyzhenskaya [142] and further analyzed by various authors (see [254] and the references therein). Compared to the power law fluids considered above, there is an additional fourth order term  $\nabla \cdot (-2\mu_1 \Delta e(u))$  present in the equation.

The existence of random attractors for this model has been studied for  $p \in (1, 2)$ , i.e. shear-thinning fluids, by J.Q. Duan and C.D. Zhao in [254] and for p > 2 by B.L. Guo and C.X. Guo [108].

In this section we apply the general framework to this model in the case  $p \in (1,3]$ , recovering the results of [254] and parts of the results of [108]. This restriction on p allows us to understand the nonlinear term as a perturbation of the linear term. It is necessary again due to the restriction  $\beta(\alpha-1) \leq 2$  which restricts the homogeneity in (A4). Furthermore, applying the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (6.1), we find a "maximal" range  $(1, p_c) \subset (1, 3]$  of parameters p to which the method presented here applies.

In what follows, the exact form of the powers in the stress tensor does not play any role, i.e. the results apply just as well to the case

$$\tilde{\tau}^{\mathcal{N}}(u) = 2\mu_0(1 + |e(u)|)^{p-2}e(u).$$

Consider the Gelfand triple  $V \subset H \subset V^*$ , where

$$V = \left\{ u \in W_0^{2,2}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) : \nabla \cdot u = 0 \text{ in } \Lambda \right\};$$
  
$$H = \left\{ u \in L^2(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) : \nabla \cdot u = 0 \text{ in } \Lambda, \ u \cdot n = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Lambda \right\}.$$

Let  $P_H$  be the orthogonal (Helmholtz-Leray) projection from  $L^2(\Lambda, \mathbb{R}^d)$  to H. Similar to Examples 6.2 and 6.4, the operators

$$\mathcal{N}: C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V \to H, \ \mathcal{N}(u) := P_H \left[ \operatorname{div}(\tau^{\mathcal{N}}(u)) \right];$$

$$\mathcal{L}: C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V \to H, \ \mathcal{L}u := P_H \left[ \operatorname{div}(\tau^{\mathcal{L}}(u)) \right];$$

$$F: \left( C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V \right) \times \left( C_c^{\infty}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d) \cap V \right) \to H;$$

$$F(u, v) := -P_H \left[ (u \cdot \nabla)v \right], \ F(u) := F(u, u);$$

can be extended to the well defined operators:

$$\mathcal{N}: V \to V^*; \ \mathcal{L}: V \to V^*; \ F: V \times V \to V^*.$$

With these preparations, we can write the model in the abstract form

(6.13) 
$$dX_t = (\mathcal{N}(X_t) + \mathcal{L}X_t + F(X_t) + f)dt + dN_t,$$

where  $N_t$  is a two-sided Lévy-process satisfying the condition (N). We then have the following result:

EXAMPLE 5. (Ladyzhenskaya model) Let  $d \leq 6$ . Then there exists a  $p_c = p_c(d) > 2$  such that for  $p \in (1, p_c]$  there is a continuous cocycle and a random attractor associated to (6.13).

PROOF. We note the following properties of  $\tau^{\mathcal{N}}$  [121, pp. 198, Lemma 1.19]:

(6.14) 
$$(\tau_{ij}^{\mathcal{N}}(e(u)) - \tau_{ij}^{\mathcal{N}}(e(v)))(e_{ij}(u) - e_{ij}(v)) \ge 0;$$

(6.15) 
$$\tau_{ij}^{\mathcal{N}}(e(u))e_{ij}(u) \ge 0;$$

(6.16) 
$$|\tau_{ij}^{\mathcal{N}}(e(u))| \le C(1 + |e(u)|)^{p-1}.$$

Furthermore, we need the following higher-order version of Korn's inequality (a proof can be found at the end of this section):

(6.17) 
$$\|\nabla e(u)\|_{L^2} \ge C\|u\|_{H^{2,2}} \quad \forall u \in W_0^{2,2}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d).$$

The condition (A1) is clear. For (A2) we have to estimate three terms:

- (a)  $_{V^*}\langle \mathcal{N}(u) \mathcal{N}(v), u v \rangle_V = \langle \tau^{\mathcal{N}}(e(u)) \tau^{\mathcal{N}}(e(v)), e(u) e(v) \rangle_H \le 0$  by (6.14).
- (b) In this case we get by (6.17)

$$V^*\langle \mathcal{L}(u-v), u-v\rangle_V = -2\mu_1 \|\nabla e(u-v)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -C\|u-v\|_{H^{2,2}}^2.$$

(c) We estimate

$$V^* \langle F(u) - F(v), u - v \rangle_V = V^* \langle F(u - v, v), u - v \rangle_V$$

$$\leq C \|\nabla v\|_{L^q} \|u - v\|_{L^{\frac{2q}{q-1}}}^2 \leq C \|\nabla v\|_{L^q} \|u - v\|_V^{2\theta} \|u - v\|_H^{2(1-\theta)}$$

$$\leq \varepsilon \|u - v\|_V^2 + C_\varepsilon \|\nabla v\|_{L^q}^\nu \|u - v\|_H^2,$$

where we applied the Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality (6.1) as well as Young's inequality. Here the exponents  $\theta$  and  $\gamma$  are defined by

$$\theta = \frac{d}{4q}, \quad \nu = \frac{1}{1-\theta}, \quad \nu' = \frac{\nu}{\nu - 1} = \frac{1}{\theta}.$$

For the above calculations to work, we need to have

$$\frac{d}{4q} = \theta \in (0,1)$$
 and  $q > 1 \Leftrightarrow q \in \left(\frac{d}{4} \lor 1, \infty\right)$ ,

On the other hand, for the term  $\|\nabla v\|_{L^q}$  to be bounded, we need the Sobolev embedding  $H^{2,2} \subset H^{1,q}$  which holds only if

$$2-\frac{d}{2} \geq 1-\frac{d}{q} \Leftrightarrow q \leq \frac{2d}{d-2}.$$

Furthermore, to check (4.5), we have to interpolate once more:

$$\|\nabla v\|_{L^q} \le \|v\|_{H^{2,2}}^{\theta} \|v\|_{L^2}^{1-\theta},$$

which implies

$$\theta = \frac{qd + 2q - 2d}{4q}.$$

The condition  $\theta \in [\frac{1}{2}, 1)$  from (6.1) implies  $q \geq 2$  and the condition  $\nu \theta = \frac{4q}{4q-d}\theta \leq 2$  implies  $d \leq 6$ .

Thus, in total we have to have

$$q \in \left(\frac{d}{4} \vee 2, \frac{2d}{d-2}\right],$$

which is nonempty for 1 < d < 10.

Putting the three estimates together we find

$$V^* \langle \mathcal{N}(u) + \mathcal{L}u + F(u) - \mathcal{N}(v) - \mathcal{L}v - F(v), u - v \rangle_V$$

$$\leq -(C - \varepsilon) \|u - v\|_{H^{2,2}}^2 + C_\varepsilon \|\nabla v\|_{L^q}^{\frac{4q}{4q-d}} \|u - v\|_H^2,$$

i.e. (A2) with  $\rho(v) = C_{\varepsilon} \|\nabla v\|_{L^q}^{\frac{4q}{4q-d}}$  and  $\eta = 0$ . By the choice of q and the Sobolev embedding theorem,  $\rho$  is locally bounded.

For Assumption (A3) we proceed in a similar fashion (by the incompressibility condition, the term involving F is zero):

(a)  $_{V^*}\langle \mathcal{N}(v), v \rangle_V = -\langle \tau^{\mathcal{N}}(e(v)), e(v) \rangle_H \leq 0$  by (6.15).

(b) 
$$_{V^*}\langle \mathcal{L}(v), v \rangle_V = -\|\nabla e(v)\|_{L^2}^2 \le -C_1\|v\|_{H^{2,2}}^2 = -C_1\|v\|_V^2$$

and thus (A3) holds with  $\alpha = 2$ . Here we have again the case that the constant K in (A3) vanishes, thus the condition  $K < \frac{\lambda C_1}{4}$  is trivially satisfied.

Note that up to this point, the parameter p did not appear in any of the calculations. Assumption (A4) requires to calculate three terms again:

- (a) For the term  $\mathcal{N}$ , we distinguish two cases:
  - (i) Let 1 . By (6.16) we find

$$| v_* \langle \mathcal{N}(v), u \rangle_V | \leq \int_{\Lambda} |\tau^{\mathcal{N}}(e(v))| |e(u)| dx \leq C \int_{\Lambda} (1 + |e(v)|)^{p-1} |e(u)| dx$$

$$\leq C(1 + ||e(v)||_{L^p}^{p-1}) ||e(u)||_{L^p} \leq C(1 + ||v||_V^{p-1}) ||u||_V$$

$$\leq C(1 + ||v||_V) ||u||_V.$$

(ii) Now let p > 2. Again, applying (6.16) we get

$$|v^*\langle \mathcal{N}(v), u \rangle_V| \le \int_{\Lambda} |\tau^{\mathcal{N}}(e(v))| |e(u)| dx \le C \int_{\Lambda} (1 + |e(v)|)^{p-1} |e(u)| dx$$

$$\le C(1 + ||e(v)||_{L^p}^{p-1}) ||e(u)||_{L^p} \le C(1 + ||v||_{H^{1,p}}^{p-1}) ||u||_{H^{1,p}}$$

$$\le C \left(1 + ||v||_V^{\theta(p-1)} ||v||_H^{(1-\theta)(p-1)}\right) ||u||_V$$

where we used the Sobolev embedding  $V=H^{2,2}\subset H^{1,p}$  which holds for  $p\leq \frac{2d}{d-2}$  and the Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality (6.1) with

$$\theta = \frac{dp + 2p - 2d}{4p},$$

which has to be in  $\left[\frac{1}{2},1\right)$ . However, since  $\alpha=2$ , we need that  $\theta(p-1)\leq 1$ . As long as  $p\leq 2$  this condition is always satisfied. For p>2 this is more difficult. We want to have

$$1 \ge \theta(p-1) \Leftrightarrow 0 \ge p^2 - 3p + \frac{2d}{d+2}.$$

We see that the latter condition is always strictly satisfied for p=2 but never satisfied for p=3. The critical value of p can be calculated as

$$p_c = \frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{d+18}{d+2}}.$$

As d > 1 we find that  $p_c < 2.618$ . As  $d \le 6$  we find  $p_c \ge \frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{24}{8}} \approx 2.36$ .

This leaves us with two conditions for this range of p:

$$2$$

(b)  $| v_* \langle \mathcal{L}v, u \rangle_V | = |\langle \nabla e(v), \nabla e(u) \rangle_{L^2}| \le ||\nabla e(v)||_{L^2} ||\nabla e(u)||_{L^2} \le ||v||_V ||u||_V.$ 

(c) For the last term we find

$$|\langle F(v,v), u \rangle| = |\langle F(v,u), v \rangle| \le C \|\nabla u\|_{L^q} \|v\|_{L^{\frac{2q}{q-1}}}^2 \le C \|u\|_V \|v\|_V^{2\theta} \|v\|_H^{2(1-\theta)},$$

where we have taken the biggest possible q,  $q = \frac{2d}{d-2}$ , and where  $\theta = \frac{d-2}{8}$  and since  $\alpha = 2$  we again need to have

$$2\theta < 1 \Leftrightarrow d < 6$$
.

The conditions (V) and (A5) are easily seen to be satisfied.

PROOF OF (6.17). The classical Korn inequality states that

(6.18) 
$$\int_{\Lambda} |e(u)|^2 dx \ge C ||u||_{H^{1,2}}^2 \quad \forall u \in H_0^{1,2}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d).$$

We would like to set  $u = \nabla v$  for  $v \in H_0^{2,2}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d)$ . Note that

$$(\nabla e(v))_k = (\partial_k e_{ij}(v))_{i,j=1}^d = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_i (\partial_k v)_j + \partial_j (\partial_k v)_i) = e(\partial_k v).$$

Now by applying (6.18) to the vector  $\partial_k v$  for fixed k, we find

$$\int_{\Lambda} |\nabla e(v)|^2 dx = \sum_{k} \int_{\Lambda} |\partial_k e(v)|^2 dx = \sum_{k} \int_{\Lambda} |e(\partial_k v)|^2 dx$$

$$\geq C \sum_{k} ||\partial_k v||_{H^{1,2}}^2 = C \sum_{k} \sum_{i,j} ||\partial_i \partial_k v_j||_{L^2}^2$$

$$= C \sum_{k} \sum_{i} ||\partial_i \partial_k v||_{L^2(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d)}^2 = C ||v||_{H^{2,2}(\Lambda; \mathbb{R}^d)}^2.$$

**6.6.** Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard-type Equations. The Cahn-Hilliard equation is a classical model to describe phase separation in a binary alloy. The reader is referred to A. Novick-Cohen [185] for a survey of the classical Cahn-Hilliard equation (see also G. Da Prato, A. Debussche [50] and N. Elezović, A. Mikelić [67] for the stochastic case) and to [184] for Cahn-Hilliard type equations. Let  $d \leq 3$ . We want to study stochastic Cahn-Hilliard type equations of the following form:

(6.19) 
$$dX = (-\Delta^2 X + \Delta \varphi(X)) dt + dN_t, \ X(0) = X_0,$$

$$\nabla X \cdot n = \nabla(\Delta X) \cdot n = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Lambda.$$

where X is a scalar function,  $N_t$  is an  $L^2(\Lambda)$ -valued, two-sided Lévy process satisfying condition (N), and the nonlinearity  $\varphi$  is a function that is specified below. Let

$$V_0 := \{ u \in H^{4,2}(\Lambda) : \nabla u \cdot n = \nabla(\Delta u) \cdot n = 0 \text{ on } \partial \Lambda \},$$

where  $H^{4,2}(\Lambda)$  denotes the standard Sobolev space on  $\Lambda$  (with values in  $\mathbb{R}$ ).

We consider the following Gelfand triple

$$V \subset H := L^2(\Lambda) \subset V^*$$

where

$$V := \text{completion of } V_0 \quad w.r.t. \parallel \cdot \parallel_{H^{2,2}}.$$

Recall that we use the following (equivalent) Sobolev norm on  $H^{2,2}$ :

$$||u||_{H^{2,2}} := \left(\int_{\Lambda} |\Delta u|^2 dx\right)^{1/2}.$$

Then we get the following result for (6.19).

Example 6. (Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard type equations) Suppose that  $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$  and there exist some positive constants C and  $p \leq 2$  such that

(6.20) 
$$\varphi'(x) \ge -C_{\varphi}, \ |\varphi(x)| \le C(1+|x|^p), \ x \in \mathbb{R};$$

$$|\varphi(x) - \varphi(y)| \le C(1+|x|^{p-1}+|y|^{p-1})|x-y|, \ x, y \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Let  $C_{GN}$  be the constant from the Gagliardo-Nirenberg interpolation inequality (6.1) for  $H^{1,2}(\Lambda) \subset H^{2,2}(\Lambda) \cap L^2(\Lambda)$  and  $\lambda$  the constant from the embedding  $V \subset H$ . Assume that  $C_{\varphi} < \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2C_{GN}^2}$ .

Then there exists a continuous cocycle and a random attractor associated to (6.19).

Proof. We denote

$$A(u) := -\Delta^2 u + \Delta \varphi(u), \ u \in H^{4,2}(\Lambda).$$

Note that for  $u \in V_0$  by Sobolev's inequality (the embedding  $V \subset W^{d,1} \subset L^{\infty}$  holds by our assumption on the dimension d) we have

$$|_{V^*}\langle A(u), v \rangle_V| = |\langle -\Delta u + \varphi(u), \Delta v \rangle_{L^2}| \le ||v||_V (||u||_V + ||\varphi(u)||_{L^2})$$
  
$$\le C||v||_V (1 + ||u||_V + ||u||_{L^{\infty}}^p) \le C||v||_V (1 + ||u||_V + ||u||_V^p), \ v \in V.$$

Therefore, by continuity A can be extended to a map from V to  $V^*$ . Moreover, this also implies that A is hemicontinuous, i.e. (A1) holds.

The other conditions (A2)–(A4) as well as (4.5) were shown in [166, Example 3.3] with  $\alpha = 2$ ,  $\beta = 2(p-1)$ . As we need the exact form of the coercivity condition (A3) to check the condition  $K < \frac{\gamma \lambda}{4}$ , we repeat its proof. By the interpolation inequality (6.1) and Young's inequality we have for any  $v \in V$ ,

$$\begin{split} v^* \langle \Delta \varphi(v), v \rangle_V &= -\int_{\Lambda} \varphi'(v) |\nabla v|^2 dx \leq C_{\varphi} \|v\|_{H^{1,2}}^2 \leq C_{\varphi} C_{GN}^2 \|v\|_V \|v\|_H \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} \|v\|_V^2 + \frac{1}{2} C_{\varphi}^2 C_{GN}^4 \|v\|_H^2, \end{split}$$

i.e. (A3) holds with  $\alpha=2$  and  $K=\frac{1}{2}C_{\varphi}^{2}C_{GN}^{4}$  and  $\gamma=\frac{1}{2}$ . Thus by our assumption on  $C_{\varphi}$ , the inequality  $K<\frac{\gamma\lambda}{4}=\frac{\lambda}{8}$  holds. The condition (V) is satisfied as the operator  $M:=-\Delta^{2}$  is strongly monotone. (A5) and (4.5) are clearly satisfied as well.

REMARK 6.5. (1) Note that the technical constraint  $\beta(\alpha - 1) = 2(p - 1) \le 2$  forces  $p \le 2$ , so the method does not cover the "classical" Cahn-Hilliard equation for which  $\varphi$  is a double-well potential,  $\varphi(u) = u^3 - u$ , i.e. p = 3.

- (2) The results of this article on existence of a random attractor for stochastic Cahn-Hilliard type equations seem not have been established in the literature before.
- **6.7.** Stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky Equation. The Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation combines features of the Burgers equation with the Cahn-Hilliard type equations studied in the previous section. It was introduced in the works of Y. Kuramoto [139] and D.M. Michelson and G.I. Sivashinsky [177, 204] as a model for flame propagation. The equation in one spatial dimension has the form

(6.21) 
$$\partial_t u = -\partial_x^4 u - \partial_x^2 u - u \partial_x u.$$

The first two terms on the right-hand side are of Cahn-Hilliard type (with  $\varphi(x) = x$ ), the last term is of Burgers type. We briefly show the existence of a continuous cocycle as well as a random attractor in the periodic case for a slightly generalised model.

EXAMPLE 7 (Stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation). Let  $\Lambda = (-L, L)$ , L > 0 and  $p \leq 2$ . Let  $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$  satisfy the conditions (6.20) as well as  $C_{\varphi} < \frac{\sqrt{\lambda}}{2C_{GN}^2}$ , where  $C_{GN}$  is as in Section 6.6. Furthermore, let  $N_t$  be an H-valued two-sided Lévy process satisfying condition (N). The space H is defined below.

Then the equation

(6.22) 
$$du = \left(-\partial_x^4 u - \partial_x^2 \varphi(u) - u \partial_x u\right) dt + dN_t$$

with boundary conditions

$$\partial_x^i u(-L,t) = \partial_x^i u(L,t), \quad i = 0,\dots,3$$

and initial condition  $u(x,0) = u_0(x), x \in \Lambda$  generates a continuous cocycle and has a random attractor.

PROOF. Let

$$H = \left\{ u \in L^2(\Lambda) : \int_{\Lambda} u(x) dx = 0 \right\}, \quad V = H_{per}^2 \cap H.$$

We write

$$A(u) := \mathcal{L}u + \mathcal{N}(u) + \mathcal{B}(u) := -\partial_x^4 u + \partial_x^2 \varphi(u) - u \partial_x u, \quad u \in H^{4,2}(\Lambda).$$

 $\mathcal{L}$ ,  $\mathcal{N}$  have been extended to operators from V to  $V^*$  in Section 6.6, where the conditions (A1)–(A4) were checked for them as well. That  $\mathcal{B}$  is well-defined can be seen from the following calculations: by (6.1) we find

$$|v_*\langle u\partial_x u, v\rangle_V| = \frac{1}{2} |\langle \partial_x (u^2), v\rangle_{L^2}| \le \frac{1}{2} ||u||_{L^4}^2 ||\partial_x v||_{L^2} \le C||u||_V ||u||_H ||v||_V.$$

This not only implies the extendability but also gives the remaining contribution to (A1) as well as to (A4) with  $\alpha=2,\ \beta=2$ . For the local monotonicity we note that by the embeddings  $H^{2,2}\subseteq H^{1,2}\subseteq W^{1,1}\subseteq L^{\infty}$ , we find

$$2_{V^*}\langle u\partial_x u - v\partial_x v, u - v\rangle_V = 2\int_{\Lambda} (u - v)^2 \partial_x v dx \le C\|\partial_x v\|_{L^{\infty}} \|u - v\|_H^2$$

which gives (A2) with another locally bounded contribution  $\rho_{\mathcal{B}}(v) = \|\partial_x v\|_{L^{\infty}}$ . For (A3) we note that  $_{V^*}\langle \mathcal{B}(v), v\rangle_V = 0$ . Thus the conditions (A1)–(A4) are satisfied with  $\alpha = \beta = 2$ . The conditions (A5), (V) and (4.5) are again clearly satisfied.

Remark 6.6. D.S. Yang [238] has studied stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation in the case d=1,  $\varphi(x)=-x$  with periodic boundary conditions and proved the existence of a random attractor for H-valued trace-class Wiener noise. The above result extends this to a more general class of equations and also to the case of Lévy noise.

**6.8. SPDE with Monotone Coefficients.** In [94], the stochastic evolution equation

$$dX_t = A(t, X_t)dt + dW_t + \mu X_t \circ d\beta_t$$

is considered on a Gelfand triple  $V \subseteq H \subseteq V^*$ , where the Wiener process takes values in  $H, \mu \in \mathbb{R}, \beta_t$  is a real-valued Brownian motion and  $\circ$  denotes Stratonovich integration. The operator A in this context satisfies (A1), (A2) with  $\rho = \eta = 0, (A3),$  and (A4) with  $\beta = 0$  and coefficients  $C, \gamma, K$  depending on  $(t, \omega)$ . This case of a "globally" monotone operator (typically just called *monotone operator*) is covered by the theorems in this work, if  $\mu = 0$  and the coefficients  $C, \gamma, K$  are independent of  $(t, \omega)$  and satisfy  $K < \frac{\gamma\lambda}{4}$ . Note that  $\beta(\alpha - 1) = 0 \le 2$  is satisfied in this case, and so is (4.5).

Accordingly, all examples considered in [94] under these assumptions are covered by the results of this chapter. These examples include the stochastic generalised p-Laplace equations on a Riemannian manifold, stochastic reaction diffusion equations, the stochastic porous media equation as well as the stochastic p-Laplace type equations studied by W.Q. Zhao and Y.R. Li [258] and the degenerate semilinear parabolic equation considered by M.H. Yang and P.E. Kloeden in [239]. For more details the reader is referred to [94] and the references therein.

#### 7. Existence and Uniqueness of Solutions to Locally Monotone PDE

In this section we recall an existence and uniqueness result for locally monotone PDE (cf. [164, 166, 167]). As before, let  $V \subseteq H \subseteq V^*$  be a Gelfand triple. We consider the following general nonlinear evolution equation

(7.1) 
$$u'(t) = A(t, u(t)), \quad \forall 0 < t < T, u(0) = u_0 \in H,$$

where T > 0, u' is the generalised derivative of u on (0,T) and  $A : [0,T] \times V \to V^*$  is restrictedly measurable, *i.e.* for each dt-version of  $u \in L^1([0,T];V)$ ,  $t \mapsto A(\cdot,u(\cdot))$  is  $V^*$ -measurable on [0,T].

Suppose that for some  $\alpha > 1, \beta \geq 0$  there exist constants  $c > 0, C \geq 0$  and functions  $f, g \in L^1([0,T];\mathbb{R})$  such that the following conditions hold for all  $t \in [0,T]$  and  $v, v_1, v_2 \in V$ :

- (H1) (Hemicontinuity) The map  $s \mapsto_{V^*} \langle A(t, v_1 + sv_2), v \rangle_V$  is continuous on  $\mathbb{R}$ .
- (H2) (Local monotonicity)

$$2_{V^*}\langle A(t,v_1) - A(t,v_2), v_1 - v_2 \rangle_V \le (f(t) + \eta(v_1) + \rho(v_2)) \|v_1 - v_2\|_H^2,$$

where  $\eta, \rho: V \to [0, +\infty)$  are measurable and locally bounded functions.

(H3) (Coercivity)

$$2_{V^*} \langle A(t,v), v \rangle_V \le -c \|v\|_V^{\alpha} + g(t) \|v\|_H^2 + f(t).$$

(H4) (Growth)

$$||A(t,v)||_{V^*}^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}} \le \left(f(t) + C||v||_V^{\alpha}\right) \left(1 + ||v||_H^{\beta}\right).$$

Theorem 7.1. Suppose that  $V \subseteq H$  is compact and (H1)–(H4) hold. Then for any  $u_0 \in H$ , (7.1) has a solution u on [0,T], i.e.

$$u \in L^{\alpha}([0,T];V) \cap C([0,T];H), \ u' \in L^{\frac{\alpha}{\alpha-1}}([0,T];V^*),$$

and

$$\langle u(t), v \rangle_H = \langle u_0, v \rangle_H + \int_0^t V^* \langle A(s, u(s)), v \rangle_V ds, \quad \forall t \in [0, T], v \in V.$$

Moreover, if there exist non-negative constants C,  $\gamma$  such that

(7.2) 
$$\eta(v) + \rho(v) \le C(1 + ||v||_V^\alpha)(1 + ||v||_H^\gamma), \ v \in V,$$

then the solution of (7.1) is unique.

PROOF. The conclusions follow from a more general result in [166] (see Theorem 1.1 and Remark 1.1(3)) or [167, Theorem 5.2.2].  $\Box$ 

# Appendices

## A. $L^p$ Solutions and Integral Equations

In [69] E.B. Fabes, B.F. Jones and N.M. Riviere proved that the weak formulation for the Navier-Stokes equations on the whole space is equivalent to solving a nonlinear integral equation of the form

(A.1) 
$$u(x,t) + \mathcal{B}(u,u)(x,t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(x-y,t)u_0(y)dy.$$

They used this formulation to prove regularity estimates in mixed space-time  $L^p$  spaces. Their results play an important role in showing smoothness for smooth initial data for the weak solution of the tamed Navier-Stokes equations in [197] and in this section we attempt to derive analogous results for the MHD equations.

The main idea of [69] is threefold:

- 1. Find a divergence-free solution to the heat equation with the initial data of the Navier- Stokes problem via Fourier analysis.
- 2. Use this solution as a test function in the weak formulation to derive the integral equation.
- 3. Prove regularity of the solution to the integral equation (which amounts to estimating the nonlinear term  $\mathcal{B}(u,u)$ .

We follow their steps with the necessary modifications of the MHD case. Fabes, Jones and Riviere consider mixed space-time  $L^{p,q}$ -norms on  $S_T := \mathbb{R}^d \times [0,T]$  for  $p,q \geq 2$ , defined by

$$||u||_{L^{p,q}(S_T)} := \sum_{j=1}^d \left[ \int_0^T \left( \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |u_j(x,t)|^p dx \right)^{q/p} dt \right]^{1/q},$$

where  $\frac{d}{p} + \frac{2}{q} \leq 1$ ,  $d . The space of functions that have finite <math>L^{p,q}$ -norm is denoted by  $L^{p,q}(S_T)$ . As we are only interested in the case p = q, we will occasionally assume this for simplicity in the following. All the results that follow, however, are true also in the more general case.

A.1. A Divergence-Free Solution to the Heat Equation on the Whole Space. The first step consists in constructing a symmetric  $d \times d$  matrix-valued function  $(t, x) \mapsto (E_{ij}(x, t))_{i,j=1}^d$  with the following properties:

- (i)  $\Delta E_{ij}(x,t) \partial_t E_{ij}(x,t) = 0$  for all  $t > 0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ .
- (ii)  $\nabla \cdot E_i(x,t) = 0$  for all  $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ , t > 0 where  $E_i$  is the i-th row of  $E_{ij}$ , i.e.  $E_i = (E_{i1}, \ldots, E_{id})$
- (iii) For  $g \in \mathbb{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $1 \leq p < \infty$  (i.e.  $g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  and  $\nabla \cdot g = 0$  in the sense of distributions), the following convergence holds:

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E(x-y,t)(g(y))dy \to g(x) \quad \text{in} \quad L^p(\mathbb{R}^d) \quad \text{as} \quad t \downarrow 0.$$

The function is given by

(A.2) 
$$E_{ij}(x,t) = \delta_{ij}\Gamma(x,t) - R_i R_j \Gamma(x,t),$$

where

$$\Gamma(x,t) := \frac{1}{(4\pi t)^{n/2}} e^{-|x|^2/4t}$$

denotes the Weierstraß kernel and  $R_j$  denotes the Riesz transformation,

$$R_j(f)(x) := L^p - \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} c_j \int_{|x-y| > \varepsilon} \frac{x_j - y_j}{|x - y|^{n+1}} f(y) dy.$$

Then one can show that  $E_{ij}(x,t) \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d \times (0,\infty))$ , and for  $1 \leq p < \infty$  and  $g \in \mathbb{L}^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,

(A.3) 
$$E_{ij}(x,t)(g_i)(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(x-y,t)g_i(y)dy, \quad a.e.$$

We now want to define the nonlinear operator  $\mathcal{B}$ . Recall that  $E_i$  denotes the i-th row of  $E_{ij}$ . We denote by  $\langle u(y,s), \nabla E(x-y,t-s) \rangle$  the  $d \times d$ -matrix<sup>1</sup>

$$(\langle u(y,s), D_{x_k} E_i(x-y,t-s) \rangle)_{i,k=1}^d = \left( \sum_{j=1}^d u_j(y,s) D_{x_k} E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) \right)_{i,k=1}^d,$$

and define the operator  $\bar{\mathcal{B}}(u, w)$  by

(A.4) 
$$\bar{\mathcal{B}}(u,w)(x,t) := \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle u(y,s), \nabla E(x-y,t-s) \rangle \cdot w(y,s) dy ds.$$

Note that even though  $E_{ij}(\cdot,1) \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}^d)$ , since its Fourier transform is not continuous at the origin, and  $L^1$  functions have uniformly continuous Fourier transform, cf. [230, Satz V.2.2, p. 212], we still have  $D_{x_k}E_{ij} \in L^1(S_T)$ . This implies the following:

LEMMA A.1. Let 
$$u, w \in L^p(S_T), p \geq 2$$
. Then  $\bar{\mathcal{B}}(u, w) \in L^{p/2}(S_T)$ .

PROOF. As this statement is not entirely obvious and we will need it below, we prove it here for the reader's convenience. We want to estimate

$$\sum_{i} \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\bar{\mathcal{B}}_{i}(u, w)|^{p/2} dx dt \right]^{2/p}$$

$$= \sum_{i} \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \sum_{j,k} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} D_{x_{k}} E_{ij}(x - y, t - s) u_{j}(y, s) v_{k}(y, s) dy ds \right|^{p/2} dx dt \right]^{2/p}.$$

To simplify notations, we let

$$F_{ijk}(y,s) := |D_{x_k}E_{ij}(y,s)|1_{[0,T]}(s) \text{ and } G_{jk}(y,s) := 1_{[0,T]}(s)|u_j(y,s)v_k(y,s)|.$$

We denote by  $f \otimes g$  the convolution in space and time, i.e.

$$f \circledast g(x,t) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x-y,t-s)g(y,s) dy ds.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Note that E is a  $d \times d$ -matrix, so taking its gradient we get a tensor of rank 3. By multiplying with the vector u, we obtain a tensor of rank 2, i.e. a matrix.

Then, using that  $s \in [0, t]$  if and only if  $t - s \in [0, t]$ , the inner integral of the expression we want to estimate can be written and estimated as

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \sum_{j,k} \int_{0}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} D_{x_{k}} E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) u_{j}(y,s) v_{k}(y,s) dy ds \right|^{p/2} dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left| \sum_{j,k} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} 1_{[0,t]}(t-s) D_{x_{k}} E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) 1_{[0,t]}(s) u_{j}(y,s) v_{k}(y,s) dy ds \right|^{p/2} dx dt$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left( \sum_{j,k} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} 1_{[0,T]}(t-s) \left| D_{x_{k}} E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) 1_{[0,T]}(s) \right| |u_{j}(y,s) v_{k}(y,s)| dy ds \right)^{p/2} dx dt$$

$$= \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left( \sum_{j,k} (F_{ijk} \circledast G_{jk})(x,t) \right)^{p/2} dx dt.$$

Thus by Young's convolution inequality and the Cauchy-Schwarz-Buniakowski inequality

$$\sum_{i} \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |\bar{\mathcal{B}}_{i}(u, w)|^{p/2} dx dt \right]^{2/p} \\
\leq \sum_{i} \left[ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \left( \sum_{j,k} (F_{ijk} \circledast G_{jk})(x, t) \right)^{p/2} dx dt \right]^{2/p} \\
= \sum_{i} \| \sum_{j,k} 1_{[0,T]} (F_{ijk} \circledast G_{jk}) \|_{L^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})} \\
\leq \sum_{i,j,k} \| (F_{ijk} \circledast G_{jk}) \|_{L^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})} \\
\leq \sum_{i,j,k} \| F_{ijk} \|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})} \| G_{jk} \|_{L^{p/2}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})} \\
= \sum_{i,j,k} \| D_{x_{k}} E_{ij} \|_{L^{1}(S_{T})} \| u_{j} v_{k} \|_{L^{p/2}(S_{T})} \\
= \sum_{i,j,k} \| D_{x_{k}} E_{ij} \|_{L^{1}(S_{T})} \| u_{j} \|_{L^{p}(S_{T})} \| v_{k} \|_{L^{p}(S_{T})} \\
\leq \left( \sum_{i,j,k} \| D_{x_{k}} E_{ij} \|_{L^{1}(S_{T})} \right) \left( \sum_{j,k} \| u_{j} \|_{L^{p}(S_{T})} \| v_{k} \|_{L^{p}(S_{T})} \right) \\
= \left( \sum_{i,j,k} \| D_{x_{k}} E_{ij} \|_{L^{1}(S_{T})} \right) \| u \|_{L^{p}(S_{T})} \| v \|_{L^{p}(S_{T})},$$

where we used Hölder's inequality for  $p=1, p'=\infty$  for the sum  $\sum_{j,k}$  and the embedding  $\ell^{\infty}(d) \subset \ell^{1}(d)$ . The proof is complete.

Given this operator, we define the operator  $\mathcal{B}(y_1, y_2)$  by

(A.5) 
$$\mathcal{B}(y_1, y_2) := \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\mathcal{B}}(v_1, v_2) - \bar{\mathcal{B}}(B_1, B_2) \\ \bar{\mathcal{B}}(v_1, B_2) - \bar{\mathcal{B}}(B_1, v_2) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The operator  $\mathcal{B}$  occurs naturally when we (formally) use the function  $E_i$  as a test function in the weak formulation. This will be the subject of the next section.

Before moving on with the theory, let us give a useful Sobolev version of the classical Schauder estimates (for lack of a better name) for the heat equation. To this end, we introduce another short-hand notation for the convolution appearing in the definition of  $\bar{\mathcal{B}}$ , Equation (A.4):

$$(f \bar{\circledast} g)(x,t) := \int_{-\infty}^{t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(x-y,t-s)g(y,s) dy ds.$$

LEMMA A.2. Let  $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $p, q \in (1, \infty)$ , and  $f \in L^q((0, T); W^{\gamma,p})$  be a function. Then the convolution of f with the heat kernel  $\Gamma$  lies in the space  $L^q((0, T); W^{\gamma+2,p})$ . More precisely,

$$\|\Gamma \widehat{\otimes} f\|_{L^q((0,T);W^{\gamma+2,p})} \le c \|f\|_{L^q((0,T);W^{\gamma,p})}.$$

These can also be rewritten into estimates with respect to temporal derivatives.

PROOF. In the case p=q, the result is classical, cf. e.g. the book of O.A. Ladyzhenskaya, V.A. Solonnikov, N.N. Ural'ceva [140, Chapter IV, Equation (3.1), p. 288]. For  $p \neq q$ , it was proven by N.V. Krylov in [137, Theorem 1.1] using a Banach space version of the Calderón-Zygmund theorem.

A.2. Equivalence of Weak Solutions to the MHD Equations and Solutions to the Integral Equation. By  $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$  we denote the Schwartz space of rapidly decreasing functions, and by  $\mathcal{S}'(\mathbb{R}^{d+1})$  we denote its dual space, the space of tempered distributions. Our space of test functions for the weak formulation of the MHD equations is

$$\mathcal{D}_T := \{ \phi(x,t) \in \mathbb{R}^d \mid \phi_i \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^{d+1}), \phi_i \equiv 0 \text{ for } t \ge T, \nabla \cdot \phi(x,t) = 0 \ \forall x, t \}.$$

DEFINITION A.3 (Weak solution). A function  $y(x,t) = (v(x,t), B(x,t)) \in \mathbb{R}^{2d}$  is a weak solution of the MHD equations with initial value  $y_0 = (v_0, B_0)$  if the following conditions hold:

- (i)  $v, B \in L^{p,q}(S_T), p, q > 2.$
- (ii) For all test functions  $\tilde{y} = (\tilde{v}, \tilde{B}) \in \mathcal{D}_T$  we have the following equality:

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle y, \partial_{t} \tilde{y} + \Delta \tilde{y} \rangle dx + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle v, (\nabla \tilde{v})(v) - (\nabla \tilde{B})(B) \rangle dx dt 
+ \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle B, (\nabla \tilde{B})(v) - (\nabla \tilde{v})(B) \rangle dx dt 
= - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle y_{0}(x), \tilde{y}(x, 0) \rangle dx - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle f, \tilde{y} \rangle dx dt.$$

(iii) For dt-a.e.  $t \in [0,T]$ ,  $\nabla \cdot u(\cdot,t) = 0$  in the sense of distributions.

Note that this definition of weak solution does not directly correspond to the notion of weak solution given in Chapter II, Section 2.2. But we have the following:

LEMMA A.4. Let d=3, T>0 be arbitrary and let  $y=(\boldsymbol{v},\boldsymbol{B})$  be a weak solution in the sense of Chapter II, Definition 2.5. Then y is also a weak solution in the sense of Definition A.3.

PROOF. We first prove that  $\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B}$  lie in  $L^{p,q}(S_T)$  for appropriate p, q. By definition, we have

$$v, B \in L^{\infty}([0, T]; L^4(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)) \subset L^q([0, T]; L^4(\mathbb{R}^3; \mathbb{R}^3)).$$

Since we need to have  $\frac{3}{p} + \frac{2}{q} \le 1$ , and p = 4, this implies  $\boldsymbol{v}, \boldsymbol{B} \in L^{4,q}(S_T)$  for any  $q \ge 4$ .

Next we need to prove that the weak formulation of the equation follows for the different set of test functions  $\mathcal{D}_T$ . This follows directly from Proposition 2.6. The divergence-freeness is then clear as well.

The weak solution satisfies a scalar equation. We cast this scalar equation, by choosing suitable test functions, into an equivalent vector-valued equation. More precisely, we have the following result, corresponding to Theorem (2.1) in [69] for f = 0 and Theorem (4.4) for  $f \neq 0$ .

THEOREM A.5 (Integral Equation). Let  $y_0 \in \mathbb{L}^r(\mathbb{R}^d)$ ,  $1 \leq r < \infty$ ,  $p, q \geq 2$ ,  $p < \infty$ . If  $y \in L^{p,q}(S_T)$  is a weak solution of the MHD equations with initial value  $y_0$ , then y solves the integral equation

(A.7) 
$$y + \mathcal{B}(y,y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(x-z,t)y_0(z)dz + \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E(x-z,t-s)(f(z,s))dzds.$$

PROOF. The idea is to use  $E_i$  (the i-th row of the matrix  $E_{ij}$ ) as a test function in the weak formulation. The problem is that this function is not in  $\mathcal{D}_T$ , so it needs to be regularised first.

To this end, take functions  $a \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d, \mathbb{R}_+), \psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}_+)$  with

$$a(x) = \begin{cases} 1, & |x| \ge 2, \\ 0, & |x| \le 1, \end{cases} \quad \psi(t) = \begin{cases} 1, & t \ge 2, \\ 0, & t \le 1. \end{cases}$$

Let  $a_{\lambda}(x) := a(\lambda x), \ \psi_{\varepsilon}(t) := \psi(t/\varepsilon)$ . We first regularise in space by defining

(A.8) 
$$E_{ij}^{(\lambda)} := \mathcal{F}_x^{-1} \left( a_{\lambda} \mathcal{F}_x(E_{ij}) \right).$$

Then  $E_{ij}^{(\lambda)}(\cdot,t) \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^d)$  for all t>0 and is divergence-free:  $\sum_j \partial_{x_j} E_{ij}^{(\lambda)}(x,t) = 0$  for all  $t>0, x \in \mathbb{R}^d$  which can be seen by taking Fourier transforms. We fix (x,t) and let  $E_i^{\lambda}$  be the i-th row of  $E_{ij}^{\lambda}$ . The space-time regularised i-th row is then defined by

(A.9) 
$$\phi_{\varepsilon,\lambda}(z,s) := \psi(s+2)\psi_{\varepsilon}(t-s)E_{i}^{(\lambda)}(x-z,t-s).$$

This function is defined on all of  $\mathbb{R}^{d+1}$  and moreover  $(\phi_{\varepsilon,\lambda},0),(0,\phi_{\varepsilon,\lambda})\in\mathcal{D}_T$ . We can thus plug these test functions  $\tilde{y}_{\varepsilon,\lambda}$  into (A.6) to find

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle v, (\partial_{s} + \Delta_{z}) \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda} \rangle dz ds + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle v, (\nabla_{z} \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda})(v) \rangle - \langle B, (\nabla_{z} \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda})(B) \rangle dz ds$$

$$= - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle v_{0}(x), \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda}(x, 0) \rangle dz - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle f_{1}, \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda} \rangle dz ds$$

and

$$\int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle B, (\partial_{s} + \Delta_{z}) \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda} \rangle dz ds + \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle B, (\nabla_{z} \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda})(v) \rangle - \langle v, (\nabla_{z} \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda})(B) \rangle dz ds 
= - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle B_{0}(x), \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda}(x, 0) \rangle dz - \int_{0}^{T} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \langle f_{2}, \phi_{\varepsilon, \lambda} \rangle dz ds,$$

respectively. These two equations can be treated in the same way, so we focus on the first one – the equation for the velocity. The first factor in the definition of  $\phi_{\varepsilon,\lambda}$  is identically

one for  $s \ge 0$ , so we can omit it in the following calculations. To calculate the first term on the left-hand side, note that for  $s \ge 0$  by applying the product rule and the chain rule

$$(\Delta_z + \partial_s)\phi_{\varepsilon,\lambda} = (\Delta_z + \partial_s)\psi_{\varepsilon}(t - s)E_i^{(\lambda)}(x - z, t - s)$$

$$= (\Delta_z - \partial_s)\left(\psi_{\varepsilon}E_i^{(\lambda)}\right)(x - z, t - s)$$

$$= \psi_{\varepsilon}(t - s)(\Delta_z - \partial_s)\left(E_i^{(\lambda)}\right)(x - z, t - s)$$

$$- \frac{1}{\varepsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}'(t - s)E_i^{(\lambda)}(x - z, t - s)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\psi_{\varepsilon}'(t - s)E_i^{(\lambda)}(x - z, t - s),$$

where we used the definition of  $E_{ij}$  in the last line. The function  $\psi_{\varepsilon}(t-s)$  is constant for  $s \notin [t-2\varepsilon, t-\varepsilon]$ , and thus  $\psi'_{\varepsilon}(t-s) \equiv 0$  for  $s \notin [t-2\varepsilon, t-\varepsilon]$ . Furthermore,  $\psi_{\varepsilon}(t-s) = 0$  for  $s \notin [0, t-\varepsilon]$ . Thus we find that the left-hand-side of the tested equation equals

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle v, E_i^{(\lambda)}(x-z,t-s) \rangle \psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) dz ds$$
$$+ \int_0^{t-\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi_{\varepsilon}(t-s) \left( \langle v, (\nabla E_i^{(\lambda)})(x-z,t-s)(v) \rangle - \langle B, (\nabla E_i^{(\lambda)})(x-z,t-s)(B) \rangle \right) dz ds.$$

Next we would like to let  $\lambda \to \infty$ . Since  $E_i^{(\lambda)} \to E_i$  in  $L^p$ , 1 , in particular for <math>p = 2 and p = 4, we find that the above converges in  $L^{p,q}(S_T)$  to

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle v, E_i(x-z, t-s) \rangle \psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) dz ds$$

$$+ \int_0^{t-\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \psi_{\varepsilon}(t-s) \left(\langle v, (\nabla E_i)(x-z, t-s)(v) \rangle - \langle B, (\nabla E_i)(x-z, t-s)(B) \rangle\right) dz ds$$

We first consider the first term. Since  $v(\cdot, s) \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^d)$  is weakly divergence-free for a.e.  $s \in (0, T)$  by definition, we find that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle v(z,s), E_i(x-z,t-s) \rangle dz ds = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(x-z,t-s) v_i(z,s) dz ds.$$

Thus, by inserting suitable zeroes,

$$\begin{split} &-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon}\psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\Gamma(x-z,t-s)v_i(z,s)\mathrm{d}z\mathrm{d}s\\ &=-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon}\psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\Gamma(x-z,t-s)v_i(x,s)\mathrm{d}z\mathrm{d}s\\ &-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon}\psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\Gamma(x-z,t-s)[v_i(z,s)-v_i(x,s)]\mathrm{d}z\mathrm{d}s\\ &=-v_i(x,t)-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon}\psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right)[v_i(x,s)-v_i(x,t)]\mathrm{d}s\\ &-\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon}\psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right)\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}\Gamma(x-z,t-s)[v_i(z,s)-v_i(x,s)]\mathrm{d}z\mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>These norms are with respect to the still variable and until this point fixed parameters x and t.

We are left to prove that the last two terms converge to zero in  $L^{p/2,q/2}(S_T)$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . The idea is that, as  $\psi_{\varepsilon}$  is a smooth cutoff function,  $\psi'_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \psi'(\frac{\cdot}{\varepsilon})$  is a mollifier: it is compactly supported on  $[\varepsilon, 2\varepsilon]$ , has integral one and as we send  $\varepsilon$  towards zero, it converges to the Dirac distribution, which can be seen as follows: for a Schwartz function  $\varphi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R})$ , substitution and integration by parts shows that

$$(\psi_{\varepsilon}' * \varphi)(t) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}} \psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) \varphi(s) ds = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon} \psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) \varphi(s) ds$$
$$= \int_{1}^{2} \psi'(z) \varphi(t-\varepsilon z) dz = \left[\psi(z) \varphi(t-\varepsilon z)\right]_{1}^{2} + \varepsilon \int_{1}^{2} \psi(z) \varphi(t-\varepsilon z) dz$$
$$= \varphi(t-2\varepsilon) + \varepsilon \int_{1}^{2} \psi(z) \varphi(t-\varepsilon z) dz \to \varphi(t).$$

This implies that, as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ .

$$-\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{t-2\varepsilon}^{t-\varepsilon} \psi'\left(\frac{t-s}{\varepsilon}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Gamma(x-z,t-s) v_i(z,s) dz ds \to -v_i(x,t) \quad \text{in } L^{p/2,q/2}(S_T).$$

In a similar way the nonlinear terms converge to

$$\bar{\mathcal{B}}(v,v)(x,t) - \bar{\mathcal{B}}(B,B)(x,t) = \mathcal{B}_1(y,y)(x,t),$$

and by the (weak) divergence-freeness of the initial conditions, we find

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \psi\left(\frac{t}{\varepsilon}\right) \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle v_0(x), E_i^{(\lambda)}(x-z,t) \rangle dz = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v_{0,i}(z) \Gamma(x-z,t) dz.$$

The forcing term converges in the same way (but without cancellations due to divergence-freeness) to

$$-\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle f_1, E_i(x-z, t-s) \rangle dz ds = -\int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E(x-z, t-s) (f_1) dz ds.$$

Doing the same for the equation tested against  $(0, E_i^{(\lambda)})$  and putting all the terms together, we arrive at the desired equation.

Remark A.6. We have only shown that y being a weak solution to the MHD equations implies that y solves an integral equation. In fact, one can prove, following the steps in [69] that this is actually an equivalence, i.e. that solutions to the integral equation are also weak solutions.

### A.3. Regularity of Solutions to the Integral Equation.

THEOREM A.7 (Regularity). Let y be a solution to the equation  $y + \mathcal{B}(y,y) = f$  and  $y \in L^{p,q}(S_T)$ ,  $\frac{2}{q} + \frac{d}{p} \leq 1$ . Let k be a positive integer such that  $k + 1 < p, q < \infty$ . If

$$D_r^{\alpha} D_t^j f \in L^{p/(|\alpha|+2j+1),q/(|\alpha|+2j+1)}(S_T)$$
 whenever  $|\alpha| + 2j \le k$ ,

then also

$$D_r^{\alpha} D_t^j y \in L^{p/(|\alpha|+2j+1),q/(|\alpha|+2j+1)}(S_T) \quad for \ |\alpha| + 2j \le k.$$

PROOF. The proof proceeds along the same lines as that of Theorem 3.4 in [69], with the necessary modifications to the MHD case. Since  $y = f - \mathcal{B}(y, y)$ , we only have to show that  $D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j \mathcal{B}(y, y) \in L^{p/(|\alpha|+2j+1),q/(|\alpha|+2j+1)}(S_T)$ .

For k = 1, our assumptions read  $f \in L^{p,q}(S_T)$  and  $D_{x_i}f \in L^{p/2,q/2}(S_T)$  for all i. We split the argument into two parts: that for the v-part of the equation, i.e. for the equation  $v + \mathcal{B}_1(y,y) = f_1$  and that for the B-part of the equation, i.e.  $B + \mathcal{B}_2(y,y) = f_2$ . Since the terms  $\bar{\mathcal{B}}_i(u,v)(x,t)$  are of the form (with summation convention)

$$\bar{\mathcal{B}}_i(u,v)(x,t) = (D_{x_k}\Gamma) \,\bar{\otimes} \, (u_l \, [\delta_{il}v_k - R_iR_lv_k]) \, (x,t),$$

and as our assumption on the coefficients p, q implies  $1 < \frac{p}{2}, \frac{q}{2} < \infty$ , we can apply Lemma A.2 as well as the  $L^{p,q}$ -boundedness of the Riesz transform (cf. J.E. Lewis [149, Theorem 4, p. 226]) to find that

$$\begin{split} \|D_{x_{j}}\bar{\mathcal{B}}_{i}(u,v)\|_{L^{p/2,q/2}(S_{T})} &\leq C\|u_{l}\left[\delta_{il}v_{k} - R_{i}R_{l}v_{k}\right]\|_{L^{p/2,q/2}(S_{T})} \\ &\leq C\|u_{l}\|_{L^{p,q}(S_{T})}\left(\|\delta_{il}v_{k}\|_{L^{p,q}(S_{T})} + \|R_{i}R_{l}v_{k}\|_{L^{p,q}(S_{T})}\right) \\ &\leq C\|u\|_{L^{p,q}(S_{T})}\|v\|_{L^{p,q}(S_{T})}, \end{split}$$

and therefore  $D_{x_i}\mathcal{B}_1(y,y) \in L^{p/2,q/2}(S_T)$ . This in turn implies  $D_{x_i}v \in L^{p/2,q/2}(S_T)$ . The same argument yields  $D_{x_i}B \in L^{p/2,q/2}(S_T)$ .

For k > 1, we use induction over k, assuming that the theorem is true for k. Now assume

$$D_x^{\alpha} D_t^j f \in L^{p/(|\alpha|+2j+1),q/(|\alpha|+2j+1)}(S_T)$$
 for  $|\alpha| + 2j \le k+1$ ,  $p, q > k+2$ .

Derivatives with respect to multi-indices  $(j, \alpha)$  with  $2j + |\alpha| \le k$  are covered by the induction hypothesis. We thus only need to consider the case  $2j + |\alpha| = k + 1$ .

Case 1: j=0. In this case, we apply all but one derivative and see that  $D_x^{\alpha} \mathcal{B}_1(y,y)$  and  $D_x^{\alpha} \mathcal{B}_2(y,y)$  each can be written as a sum of terms of the form  $D_{x_m} \bar{\mathcal{B}}(D_x^{\beta} u_1, D_x^{\gamma} u_2)$ ,  $u_1, u_2 \in \{v, B\}$  with  $|\beta| + |\gamma| = k$ . The same reasoning as above, since the (induction) hypothesis implies  $1 < \frac{p}{k+2}, \frac{q}{k+2} < \infty$ , yields

$$||D_{x_m}\bar{\mathcal{B}}(D_x^{\beta}u_1, D_x^{\gamma}u_2)||_{L^{p/(k+2),q/(k+2)}(S_T)} \le C||\langle D_x^{\beta}u_1, D_x^{\gamma}u_2\rangle_{\mathbb{R}^d}||_{L^{p/(k+2),q/(k+2)}(S_T)}.$$

If we set  $\bar{p} := \frac{p}{|\beta|+1}$ ,  $\bar{q} := \frac{p}{|\gamma|+1}$ , we can apply the generalised Hölder inequality with  $\bar{r} := \frac{p}{k+2}$  because

$$\frac{1}{\bar{r}} = \frac{k+2}{p} = \frac{|\gamma|+1}{p} + \frac{|\beta|+1}{p} = \frac{1}{\bar{p}} + \frac{1}{\bar{a}}.$$

This implies that

$$||D_{x_m}\bar{\mathcal{B}}(D_x^{\beta}u_1, D_x^{\gamma}u_2)||_{L^{p/(k+2),q/(k+2)}(S_T)} \leq C||D_x^{\beta}u_1||_{L^{\frac{p}{|\beta|+1}}}||D_x^{\gamma}u_2||_{L^{\frac{p}{|\gamma|+1}}},$$

which is finite by the induction hypothesis.

Case 2: j > 0. In this case, we place all the spatial derivatives on the functions  $u_1, u_2$ , so we can write

(A.10) 
$$D_t^j D_x^{\alpha} \bar{\mathcal{B}}(u_1, u_2) = \sum_{|\beta| + |\gamma| = |\alpha|} C_{\beta, \gamma} D_t^j \bar{\mathcal{B}}(D_x^{\beta} u_1, D_x^{\gamma} u_2).$$

Since by definition and integration by parts we have

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{B}}(u,w) &= \int_0^t \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle u(y,s), \nabla E(x-y,t-s) \rangle \cdot w(y,s) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}s \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(t-s) D_{x_k} E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) u_j(y,s) w_k(y,s) \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}s \\ &= -\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E_{ij}(x-y,s) \mathbf{1}_{[0,t]}(t-s) D_{x_k} \left[ u_j(y,t-s) w_k(y,t-s) \right] \mathrm{d}y \mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

by applying  $D_t$  we get two kinds of terms from the product rule:

(i) If the derivative hits the indicator function, we (formally) get terms of the form

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \delta_{\{0\}}(t-s) E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) D_{x_k} [u_j(y,s)w_k(y,s)] \, dy ds 
- \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \delta_{\{t\}}(t-s) E_{ij}(x-y,t-s) D_{x_k} [u_j(y,s)w_k(y,s)] \, dy ds 
= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E_{ij}(x-y,0) D_{x_k} [u_j(y,t)w_k(y,t)] \, dy 
- \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E_{ij}(x-y,t) D_{x_k} [u_j(y,t)w_k(y,t)] \, dy 
= D_{x_k} [u_j(x,t)w_k(x,t)] - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} E_{ij}(x-y,t) D_{x_k} [u_j(y,t)w_k(y,t)] \, dy,$$

i.e. in the first term both integrals shrink to a point due to the delta functions and we are left with one spatial derivative of u and w. In the second term, we are left with an unproblematic spatial integral.

(ii) If the derivative operator hits the function  $E_{ij}$ , we use the definition of  $E_{ij}$  to find  $D_t E_{ij} = \Delta E_{ij}$ . So each temporal derivative is transformed into two spatial derivatives. We can then use integration by parts again to transfer all but one of these (spatial) derivatives to u and w, so this term becomes proportional to

$$D_{x_m}\bar{\mathcal{B}}(D_x^{\beta'}u, D_x^{\gamma'}w),$$

where  $|\beta'| + |\gamma'| = 1$ .

Proceeding inductively, we see that if we apply  $D_t$  for j > 1 times, we have two cases:

(i) The time derivative hits the indicator function at least once. In this case we get a term

$$D_t^{r-s}D_x^{\nu}u(x,t)(D_t^sD_x^{\eta}w)(x,t),$$

where  $s \leq r$  and  $|\nu| + |\eta| + 2r = 2(j-1) + 1 = 2j-1$ . Here we get the factor j-1 because we "lose" one time derivative to the  $\delta$ -distribution, but we get one more spatial derivative (with the scaling factor 1) due to the derivative from  $\nabla E$ .

(ii) All the derivatives hit  $\nabla E$ . In this case, by continuing as in case 2 above, transferring all but one derivative onto u and w, we get a term

$$D_{x_m}\bar{\mathcal{B}}(D_x^{\beta'}u, D_x^{\gamma'}w),$$

where  $|\beta'| + |\gamma'| = 2j - 1$ .

With regard to (A.10), we replace u by  $D_x^{\beta}u$  and w by  $D_x^{\gamma}w$ ,  $|\beta| + |\gamma| = |\alpha|$  and apply Lemma A.2 to find

$$\|D_t^j D_x^\alpha \bar{B}(u,w)\|_{L^{\frac{p}{k+2}}(S_T)} \leq C \sum_{|\beta|+|\gamma|+2r=k} \sum_{s \leq r} \|(D_t^{r-s} D_x^\beta u)(D_t^s D_x^\gamma w)\|_{L^{\frac{p}{k+2}}(S_T)}.$$

The summation runs over  $|\beta| + |\gamma| + 2r = k$  since in either case we "lose" one (spatial) derivative. By the inductive hypothesis for the induction over k, we have

$$D_t^{r-s}D_x^{\beta}u \in L^{\frac{p}{|\beta|+2r-2s+1}}(S_T), \quad D_t^sD_x^{\gamma}w \in L^{\frac{p}{|\gamma|+2s+1}}(S_T).$$

Noting that

$$\frac{|\beta| + 2r - 2s + 1}{p} + \frac{|\gamma| + 2s + 1}{p} = \frac{k+2}{p},$$

we apply the generalised Hölder inequality to find

$$\begin{split} & \|D_t^j D_x^{\alpha} \bar{B}(u,w)\|_{L^{\frac{p}{k+2}}(S_T)} \\ & \leq C \sum_{|\beta|+|\gamma|+2r=k} \sum_{s \leq r} \|D_t^{r-s} D_x^{\beta} u\|_{L^{\frac{p}{|\beta|+2r-2s+1}}(S_T)} \|D_t^s D_x^{\gamma} w\|_{L^{\frac{p}{|\gamma|+2s+1}}(S_T)}, \end{split}$$

which is finite.

## B. A Note on Vector Calculus

The condensed notation employed for MHD equations can be confusing at times, so, for the reader's convenience, we would like to clarify some of the notation used throughout this thesis.

B.1. Gradient of a Vector – Navier-Stokes Case. Let 
$$\boldsymbol{v} = \begin{pmatrix} v^1 \\ v^2 \\ v^3 \end{pmatrix} : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^3$$

be a sufficiently smooth vector field. Then its gradient is defined as the rank 2 tensor (i.e.  $3 \times 3$  matrix)

$$\nabla \boldsymbol{v} := \begin{pmatrix} \partial_1 v^1 & \partial_2 v^1 & \partial_3 v^1 \\ \partial_1 v^2 & \partial_2 v^2 & \partial_3 v^2 \\ \partial_1 v^3 & \partial_2 v^3 & \partial_3 v^3 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Formally, one can think of this as being " $\nabla \otimes v$ " (in the sense of the Kronecker product). This then induces the usual Euclidean Hilbert-Schmidt scalar product:

$$\langle \nabla \boldsymbol{u}, \nabla \boldsymbol{v} \rangle = \nabla \boldsymbol{u} \cdot (\nabla \boldsymbol{v})^T = \sum_{i=1}^3 \langle \nabla u^i, \nabla v^i \rangle = \sum_{i,j=1}^3 \partial_j u^i \partial_j v^i.$$

**B.2.** Gradient of a Vector – MHD Case. In the MHD case we are dealing with 6-dimensional vector fields

$$y = \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v} \\ \boldsymbol{B} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} v^1 \\ v^2 \\ v^3 \\ B^1 \\ B^2 \\ B^3 \end{pmatrix} : \mathbb{R}^3 \to \mathbb{R}^6,$$

where  $\mathbb{R}^6 = \mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3$  is endowed with the scalar product

$$\langle y, \tilde{y} \rangle := \left\langle \begin{pmatrix} v \\ B \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{v} \\ \tilde{B} \end{pmatrix} \right\rangle := \langle v, \tilde{v} \rangle + S \langle B, \tilde{B} \rangle.$$

The gradient is then defined as the rank 2 tensor (a  $6 \times 3$  matrix)

$$\nabla y := \nabla \begin{pmatrix} \boldsymbol{v} \\ \boldsymbol{B} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} \nabla \boldsymbol{v} \\ \nabla \boldsymbol{B} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} \partial_1 v^1 & \partial_2 v^1 & \partial_3 v^1 \\ \partial_1 v^2 & \partial_2 v^2 & \partial_3 v^2 \\ \partial_1 v^3 & \partial_2 v^3 & \partial_3 v^3 \\ \partial_1 B^1 & \partial_2 B^1 & \partial_3 B^1 \\ \partial_1 B^2 & \partial_2 B^2 & \partial_3 B^2 \\ \partial_1 B^3 & \partial_2 B^3 & \partial_3 B^3 \end{pmatrix} (= \text{``}\nabla \otimes y\text{''})$$

This in turn induces the Hilbert-Schmidt scalar product

$$\langle \nabla y, \nabla \tilde{y} \rangle = \nabla \boldsymbol{v} \cdot (\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}})^T + S \nabla \boldsymbol{B} \cdot (\nabla \tilde{\boldsymbol{B}})^T = \sum_{i=1}^3 \left( \langle \nabla v^i, \nabla \tilde{v}^i \rangle + S \langle \nabla B^i, \nabla \tilde{B}^i \rangle \right).$$

## C. Stochastic Flows and Random Dynamical Systems

We recall the framework of stochastic flows, random dynamical system (RDS) and random attractors. For more details we refer to [7,45,47,200]. Let (H,d) be a complete separable metric space and  $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbb{P}, \{\theta_t\}_{t\in\mathbb{R}})$  be a metric dynamical system, i.e.  $(t,\omega) \mapsto \theta_t(\omega)$  is  $(\mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathcal{F}, \mathcal{F})$ -measurable,  $\theta_0 = \mathrm{id}$ ,  $\theta_{t+s} = \theta_t \circ \theta_s$  and  $\theta_t$  is  $\mathbb{P}$ -preserving for all  $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

DEFINITION C.1. A family of maps  $S(t, s; \omega) : H \to H$ ,  $s \le t$  is said to be a stochastic flow, if for every  $\omega \in \Omega$ 

- i.  $S(s, s; \omega) = id_H$ , for all  $s \in \mathbb{R}$ .
- ii.  $S(t,s;\omega)x = S(t,r;\omega)S(r,s;\omega)x$ , for all  $t \ge r \ge s$ ,  $x \in H$ .

A stochastic flow  $S(t, s; \omega)$  is called

- iii. measurable if  $(t, s, \omega, x) \to S(t, s; \omega)x$  is measurable.
- iv. continuous if  $x \mapsto S(t, s; \omega)x$  is continuous for all  $s \leq t$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$ .
- v. a cocycle if  $S(t, s; \omega)x = S(t s, 0; \theta_s \omega)x$ , for all  $x \in H$ ,  $t \geq s$ ,  $\omega \in \Omega$ .

A measurable, cocycle stochastic flow is also called a random dynamical system (RDS).

For a cocycle stochastic flow the notation of the initial time  $s \in \mathbb{R}$  is redundant. Therefore, often the notation  $\varphi(t,\omega) := S(t,0;\omega)$  is chosen for cocycles in the literature. Since all the results may be extended to a time-inhomogeneous setup (where  $S(t,s;\omega)$  is not a cocycle in general) we prefer to use the notation  $S(t,s;\omega)$ .

DEFINITION C.2. A function  $f: \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}_+$  is said to be

- i. tempered if  $\lim_{r\to -\infty} f_r e^{\eta r} = 0$  for all  $\eta > 0$ ;
- ii. exponentially integrable if  $f \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; \mathbb{R}_+)$  and  $\int_{-\infty}^t f_r e^{\eta r} dr < \infty$  for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\eta > 0$ .

Let us note that the product of two tempered functions is tempered and that the product of a tempered and an exponentially integrable function is exponentially integrable if it is locally integrable.

In the following, let  $S(t, s; \omega)$  be a cocycle.

DEFINITION C.3. A family  $\{D(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  of subsets of H is said to be

- i. a random closed set if it is  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.s. closed and  $\omega \to d(x, D(\omega))$  is measurable for each  $x \in H$ . In this case we also call D measurable.
- ii. tempered if  $t \mapsto \|D(\theta_t \omega)\|_H$  is a tempered function for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  (assuming H to be a normed space).
- iii. strictly stationary if  $D(t, \omega) = D(0, \theta_t \omega)$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ .

From now on let  $\mathcal{D}$  be a system of families  $\{D(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  of subsets of H. For two subsets  $A, B\subseteq H$  we define

$$d(A, B) := \begin{cases} \sup \inf_{a \in A} d(a, b), & \text{if } A \neq \emptyset; \\ \infty, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Definition C.4. A family  $\{K(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$  of subsets of H is said to be

i. D-absorbing, if there exists an absorption time  $s_0 = s_0(\omega, D)$  such that

$$S(0, s; \omega)D(\theta_s\omega) \subseteq K(\omega), \quad \forall s \le s_0$$

for all  $D \in \mathcal{D}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega_0$ , where  $\Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega$  is a subset of full  $\mathbb{P}$ -measure.

ii.  $\mathcal{D}$ -attracting, if

$$d(S(0,s;\omega)D(\theta_s\omega),K(\omega))\to 0, \quad s\to -\infty$$

for all  $D \in \mathcal{D}$  and  $\omega \in \Omega_0$ , where  $\Omega_0 \subseteq \Omega$  is a subset of full  $\mathbb{P}$ -measure.

Definition C.5. A cocycle  $S(t, s; \omega)$  is called

- i.  $\mathcal{D}$ -asymptotically compact if there exists a random, compact,  $\mathcal{D}$ -attracting set  $\{K(\omega)\}_{\omega\in\Omega}$ .
- ii. compact if for all t > s,  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $B \subseteq H$  bounded,  $S(t, s; \omega)B$  is precompact in H.

We define the  $\Omega$ -limit set by

$$\Omega(D;\omega) := \bigcap_{r<0} \overline{\bigcup_{\tau< r}} S(0,\tau;\omega) D(\theta_{\tau}\omega),$$

and one can show that (cf. [47])

$$\Omega(D;\omega) = \{x \in H | \exists s_n \to -\infty, \ x_n \in D(\theta_{s_n}\omega) \text{ such that } S(0,s_n;\omega)x_n \to x\}.$$

DEFINITION C.6. Let  $S(t, s; \omega)$  be a cocycle. A random closed set  $\{A(\omega)\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$  is called a  $\mathcal{D}$ -random attractor for  $S(t, s; \omega)$  if it satisfies  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.s.

- i.  $\mathcal{A}(\omega)$  is nonempty and compact.
- ii. A is D-attracting.
- iii.  $A(\omega)$  is invariant under  $S(t, s; \omega)$ , i.e. for each  $s \leq t$

$$S(t, s; \omega) \mathcal{A}(\theta_s \omega) = \mathcal{A}(\theta_t \omega).$$

The following theorem gives a sufficient condition for the existence of a random attractor (cf. e.g. [47]). Let  $o \in H$  be an arbitrary point in H.

Theorem C.7. Let  $S(t, s; \omega)$  be a continuous,  $\mathcal{D}$ -asymptotically compact cocycle and let K be a corresponding random, compact,  $\mathcal{D}$ -attracting set. Then

$$\mathcal{A}(\omega) := \begin{cases} \overline{\bigcup_{D \in \mathcal{D}} \Omega(D; \omega)} &, \text{ if } \omega \in \Omega_0; \\ \{o\} &, \text{ otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

defines a random  $\mathcal{D}$ -attractor for  $S(t, s; \omega)$  and  $\mathcal{A}(\omega) \subseteq K(\omega) \cap \Omega(K; \omega)$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega_0$  (where  $\Omega_0$  is as in Definition C.4).

Now we introduce the notion of (stationary) conjugation mappings and conjugated stochastic flows (cf. [119,131]).

Definition C.8. Let (H, d) and  $(\tilde{H}, \tilde{d})$  be two metric spaces.

- i. A family of homeomorphisms  $\mathcal{T} = \{T(\omega) : H \to \tilde{H}\}_{\omega \in \Omega}$  such that the maps  $\omega \mapsto T(\omega)x$  and  $\omega \mapsto T^{-1}(\omega)y$  are measurable for all  $x \in H, y \in \tilde{H}$ , is called a stationary conjugation mapping. We set  $T(t, \omega) := T(\theta_t \omega)$ .
- ii. Let  $Z(t, s; \omega)$ ,  $S(t, s; \omega)$  be cocycles.  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  and  $S(t, s; \omega)$  are said to be stationary conjugated, if there is a stationary conjugation mapping  $\mathcal{T}$  such that

$$S(t, s; \omega) = T(t, \omega) \circ Z(t, s; \omega) \circ T^{-1}(s, \omega).$$

It is easy to show that stationary conjugation mappings preserve the stochastic flow and cocycle property.

Proposition C.9. Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a stationary conjugation mapping and  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  be a continuous cocycle. Then

$$S(t,s;\omega) := T(t,\omega) \circ Z(t,s;\omega) \circ T^{-1}(s,\omega)$$

defines a conjugated continuous cocycle.

The existence of a random attractor is preserved under conjugation.

Theorem C.10. Let  $S(t, s; \omega)$  and  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  be cocycles conjugated by a stationary conjugation mapping  $\mathcal{T}$  consisting of uniformly continuous mappings  $T(\omega): H \to H$ . Assume that there is a  $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}$ -attractor  $\tilde{\mathcal{A}}$  for  $Z(t, s; \omega)$  and let

$$\mathcal{D} := \left\{ \{ T(\omega) \tilde{D}(\omega) \}_{\omega \in \Omega} | \ \tilde{D} \in \tilde{\mathcal{D}} \right\}.$$

Then  $\mathcal{A}(\omega) := T(\omega)\tilde{\mathcal{A}}(\omega)$  is a random  $\mathcal{D}$ -attractor for  $S(t, s; \omega)$ .

We will require the following strong notion of stationarity:

Definition C.11. A map  $X : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to H$  is said to satisfy (crude) strict stationarity, if

$$X(t,\omega) = X(0,\theta_t\omega)$$

for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  (for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.s., where the zero-set may depend on t resp.).

As  $\mathbb{P}$  is  $\theta$ -invariant, crude strict stationarity implies stationarity of the law. Objects obtained as limits in  $L^2(\Omega)$  or limits in probability usually only satisfy crude strict stationarity. Thus one needs the existence of selections of indistinguishable strictly stationary versions. The following Proposition provides these.

PROPOSITION C.12. Let  $V \subseteq H$  and  $X : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to H$  be a process satisfying crude stationarity. Assume that  $X \in D(\mathbb{R}; H) \cap L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$  for some  $\alpha \geq 1$ ,  $\mathbb{P}$ -a.s. Then there exists a process  $\tilde{X} : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to H$  such that

- i.  $\tilde{X}_{\cdot}(\omega) \in D(\mathbb{R}; H) \cap L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ .
- ii. X,  $\tilde{X}$  are indistinguishable, i.e.

$$\mathbb{P}[X_t \neq \tilde{X}_t \text{ for some } t \in \mathbb{R}] = 0,$$

with a  $\theta$ -invariant exceptional set.

iii. X is strictly stationary.

PROOF. The proof is based on [147, Proposition 2.8], which in turn is based on [7, Theorem 1.3.2]. Throughout the proof, we denote the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$  by  $\lambda$ .

We first note that we may change X on a set of measure zero, so that  $X_{\cdot}(\omega) \in D(\mathbb{R}; H) \cap L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$ . Let

$$\Omega_0 = \{ \omega \in \Omega | X_t(\omega) = X_0(\theta_t \omega) \text{ for a.a. } t \},$$
  
$$\Omega_1 = \{ \omega \in \Omega | \theta_t \omega \in \Omega_0 \text{ for a.a } t \}.$$

**Step 1:** Show  $\Omega_0 \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_0) = 1$ . Since X has càdlàg paths, by [127, Remark 1.1.14, p. 5],  $X : \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \to H$  is product-measurable. As  $(t, \omega) \mapsto \theta_t \omega$  is measurable by the definition of a metric dynamical system, we find that

$$A := \{ (t, \omega) \in \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \mid X_t(\omega) \neq X_0(\theta_t \omega) \}$$
$$= (X, X_0 \circ \theta)^{-1} ((H \times H) \setminus \Delta) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathcal{F},$$

where  $\Delta := \{(x,x) \mid x \in H\}$  is the diagonal. By [125, Lemma 1.26], for every  $\omega \in \Omega$ , the  $\omega$ -section  $A_{\omega} := \{t \in \mathbb{R} \mid (t,\omega) \in A\}$  is Lebesgue-measurable. Thus, since the maps  $I: f \mapsto \int f d\lambda$  and  $J: \omega \mapsto 1_{A_{\omega}}$  are measurable, we find

$$\Omega \backslash \Omega_0 = \{ \omega \in \Omega \mid \lambda(A_\omega) > 0 \} = (I \circ J)^{-1}((0, \infty)) \in \mathcal{F}.$$

Now, by Fubini's theorem we find

$$\int_{\Omega} \lambda(A_{\omega}) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) = \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}} 1_{A}(t, \omega) d\lambda(t) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) 
= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\Omega} 1_{A}(t, \omega) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) d\lambda(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P}\left[X_{t} \neq X_{0} \circ \theta_{t}\right] d\lambda(t) = 0,$$

where we used the crude stationarity assumption in the last step. Hence  $\lambda(A_{\omega}) = 0$  for a.a.  $\omega \in \Omega$ , i.e. there exists an  $N' \subset \Omega$  with  $\mathbb{P}(N') = 0$  such that  $\lambda(A_{\omega})$  for all  $\omega \in (N')^c$ . This means that  $\Omega \setminus \Omega_0 \subset N'$  and therefore  $\mathbb{P}(\Omega \setminus \Omega_0) = 0$ .

Step 2: In a similar way, we establish  $\Omega_1 \in \mathcal{F}$  and  $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_1) = 1$ . Since by the first step,

$$B := \{(t, \omega) \in \mathbb{R} \times \Omega \mid \theta_t \omega \notin \Omega_0\} = \theta^{-1}(\Omega_0^c) \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathcal{F},$$

we can again consider the measurable  $\omega$ -sections  $B_{\omega} := \{t \in \mathbb{R} \mid (t, \omega) \in B\} \in \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R})$  and

$$\Omega \setminus \Omega_1 = \{ \omega \in \Omega \mid \lambda(B_\omega) > 0 \} \in \mathcal{F}.$$

Therefore, applying Fubini's theorem as well as the  $\theta$ -invariance of  $\mathbb{P}$  gives

$$\int_{\Omega} \lambda(B_{\omega}) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) = \int_{\Omega} \int_{\mathbb{R}} 1_{B}(t, \omega) d\lambda(t) d\mathbb{P}(\omega)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \int_{\Omega} 1_{B}(t, \omega) d\mathbb{P}(\omega) d\lambda(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P} \left[\theta_{t} \omega \notin \Omega_{0}\right] d\lambda(t)$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P} \circ \theta_{t}^{-1}(\Omega_{0}^{c}) d\lambda(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{P}(\Omega_{0}^{c}) d\lambda(t) = 0.$$

Furthermore,  $\Omega_1$  is  $(\theta_t)_t$ -invariant, which can be seen as follows: let  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  be arbitrary. By definition we have

$$\omega \in \Omega_1 \Leftrightarrow \theta_s \omega \in \Omega_0 \quad \forall s \in \Lambda(\omega)^c, \lambda(\Lambda(\omega)) = 0.$$

Now for any  $s \in \Lambda(\omega)^c - t$  (which is still a Lebesgue-nullset by translation invariance of the Lebesgue measure), there is an  $\tilde{s} \in \Lambda(\omega)^c$  such that  $s + t = \tilde{s}$  and hence

$$\theta_s \theta_t \omega = \theta_{t+s} \omega = \theta_{\tilde{s}} \omega \in \Omega_0$$

which implies that  $\theta_t \omega \in \Omega_1$ .

Step 3: Definition and well-definedness of  $\tilde{X}$ .

Let  $x_0 \in H$  be an arbitrary point. Set

(C.1) 
$$\tilde{X}_t(\omega) := \begin{cases} X_{t-s}(\theta_s \omega), & \omega \in \Omega_1, s \in \mathbb{R} \text{ arbitrary such that } \theta_s \omega \in \Omega_0, \\ x_0, & \omega \in \Omega \backslash \Omega_1. \end{cases}$$

We show that  $\tilde{X}$  is well-defined. To this end, let  $\omega \in \Omega_1$ ,  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $s_i \in \mathbb{R}$  such that  $\theta_{s_i}\omega \in \Omega_0$ , i = 1, 2. Then there exist  $\Lambda(\theta_{s_i}\omega) \subset \mathbb{R}$  with  $\lambda(\Lambda(\theta_{s_i}\omega)) = 0$  and

$$X_u(\theta_{s_i}\omega) = X_0(\theta_u \circ \theta_{s_i}\omega) = X_0(\theta_{u+s_i}(\omega)) \quad \forall u \in \Lambda(\theta_{s_i}\omega)^c.$$

The set  $s_i + \Lambda(\theta_{s_i}\omega)$ , i = 1, 2 is still a nullset and hence so is  $(s_1 + \Lambda(\theta_{s_1}\omega)) \cap (s_2 + \Lambda(\theta_{s_2}\omega))$ . Now we let  $u_n \in (s_1 + \Lambda(\theta_{s_1}\omega))^c \cup (s_2 + \Lambda(\theta_{s_2}\omega))^c$  with  $u_n \downarrow t$ . Then

$$X_{t-s_1}(\theta_{s_1}\omega) = \lim_{n \to \infty} X_{u_n-s_1}(\theta_{s_1}\omega) \quad (X \text{ is right - continuous})$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} X_0(\theta_{u_n}\omega) \qquad (u_n - s_1 \in \Lambda(\theta_{s_1}\omega))$$

$$= \lim_{n \to \infty} X_{u_n-s_2}(\theta_{s_2}\omega) \quad (u_n - s_2 \in \Lambda(\theta_{s_2}\omega))$$

$$= X_{t-s_2}(\theta_{s_2}\omega) \qquad (X \text{ is right - continuous}).$$

**Step 4:**  $\tilde{X}$  is strictly stationary.

If  $\omega \notin \Omega_1$ , then  $\theta_t \omega \notin \Omega_1$  since otherwise by the  $\theta$ -invariance of  $\Omega_1$ ,  $\omega = \theta_{-t} \circ \theta_t \omega \in \Omega_1$ . Thus, we have for such  $\omega$  that

$$\tilde{X}_t(\omega) = x_0 = X_0(\theta_t \omega).$$

Now let  $\omega \in \Omega_1$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then there are  $\lambda$ -nullsets  $\Lambda(\theta_t \omega)$ ,  $\Lambda(\omega)$  such that

$$\tilde{X}_t(\omega) = X_{t-s}(\theta_s \omega), \quad \forall s \in \Lambda(\theta_t \omega)^c,$$
  
 $\tilde{X}_0(\theta_t \omega) = X_{-r}(\theta_{t+r} \omega), \quad \forall s \in \Lambda(\omega)^c.$ 

Therefore, for  $s \in (\Lambda(\theta_t \omega) \cup (t + \Lambda(\omega)))^c$  we have

$$\tilde{X}_{t}(\omega) = X_{t-s}(\theta_{s}\omega) \qquad (s \in \Lambda(\theta_{t}\omega)^{c}) 
= X_{-(s-t)}(\theta_{(s-t)+t}\omega) 
= \tilde{X}_{0}(\theta_{t}\omega) \qquad (s-t \in \Lambda(\omega)^{c}),$$

i.e. the strict stationarity of  $\tilde{X}$ .

**Step 5:** Regularity of X.

The regularity properties  $\tilde{X}_{\cdot}(\omega) \in D(\mathbb{R}; H) \cap L^{\alpha}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}; V)$  for all  $\omega \in \Omega$  follow immediately from the ones for  $X_{\cdot}$ .

**Step 6:**  $\tilde{X}$  is measurable and  $\tilde{X}$ , X are indistinguishable.

We have

(C.2) 
$$\omega \in \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_0 \Rightarrow \tilde{X}_t(\omega) = X_t(\omega)$$

for all  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  by letting s = 0 in the definition (C.1). The space  $(\Omega, \tilde{\mathcal{F}}, \mathbb{P})$  is complete and since  $\mathbb{P}(\Omega_0^c \cup \Omega_1^c) = 0$ , we deduce the measurability of  $\tilde{X}$  as follows: let  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $A \in \mathcal{B}(H)$ . Then

$$\begin{split} \tilde{X}_t^{-1}(A) &= \left( \tilde{X}_t^{-1}(A) \cap (\Omega_0 \cap \Omega_1) \right) \sqcup \left( \tilde{X}_t^{-1}(A) \cap (\Omega_0 \cap \Omega_1)^c \right) \\ &= \left( X_t^{-1}(A) \cap (\Omega_0 \cap \Omega_1) \right) \sqcup \left( \tilde{X}_t^{-1}(A) \cap (\Omega_0 \cap \Omega_1)^c \right) \\ &=: B \sqcup C. \end{split}$$

The first term satisfies  $B \in \bar{\mathcal{F}}$  since X is measurable and  $\Omega_0, \Omega_1 \in \mathcal{F}$  by Step 1 and 2. The second term C is contained in the set  $\Omega_0^c \cup \Omega_1^c$ , which is a  $\mathbb{P}$ -nullset by Step 1 and 2 and hence  $C \in \bar{\mathcal{F}}$  by completeness. Both imply  $\tilde{X}_t^{-1}(A) \in \bar{\mathcal{F}}$  and thus  $\tilde{X}$  is measurable.

Moreover, by (C.2), we have

$$\mathbb{P}[X_t \neq \tilde{X}_t \text{ for some } t] \leq \mathbb{P}(\Omega_0^c \cup \Omega_1^c) = 0.$$

Therefore, X and  $\tilde{X}$  are indistinguishable, which concludes the proof.

Remark C.13. From Step 6 of this proof we see that  $\tilde{X}$  is  $(\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{-\infty}^t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ -adapted if X is  $(\bar{\mathcal{F}}_{-\infty}^t)_{t\in\mathbb{R}}$ -adapted.

## **Bibliography**

- [1] Sergio Albeverio and Barbara Rüdiger. Stochastic integrals and the Lévy-Ito decomposition theorem on separable Banach spaces. *Stoch. Anal. Appl.*, 23(2):217–253, 2005.
- [2] Cung The Anh and Nguyen Van Thanh. On the existence and long-time behavior of solutions to stochastic three-dimensional Navier-Stokes-Voigt equations. *Stochastics*, 91(4):485–513, 2019.
- [3] Cung The Anh and Pham Thi Trang. On the 3D Kelvin-Voigt-Brinkman-Forchheimer equations in some unbounded domains. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 89:36–54, 2013.
- [4] Cung The Anh and Pham Thi Trang. Pull-back attractors for three-dimensional Navier-Stokes-Voigt equations in some unbounded domains. *Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A*, 143(2):223–251, 2013.
- [5] Stanislav Nikolaevich Antontsev and Hermenegildo Borges de Oliveira. The Navier-Stokes problem modified by an absorption term. *Appl. Anal.*, 89(12):1805–1825, 2010.
- [6] David Applebaum. Lévy processes and stochastic calculus, volume 116 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, 2009.
- [7] Ludwig Arnold. Random dynamical systems. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [8] Yuri Bakhtin. Burgers equation with random boundary conditions. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 135(7):2257–2262, 2007.
- [9] Yuri Bakhtin, Eric Cator, and Konstantin M. Khanin. Space-time stationary solutions for the Burgers equation. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 27(1):193–238, 2014.
- [10] David Barbato, Hakima Bessaih, and Benedetta Ferrario. On a stochastic Leray- $\alpha$  model of Euler equations. Stoch. Proc. Appl., 124(1):199–219, 2014.
- [11] Viorel Barbu and Giuseppe Da Prato. Existence and ergodicity for the two-dimensional stochastic magneto-hydrodynamics equations. *Appl. Math. Optim.*, 56(2):145–168, 2007.
- [12] Peter W. Bates, Kening Lu, and Bixiang Wang. Random attractors for stochastic reaction-diffusion equations on unbounded domains. *J. Differential Equations*, 246(2):845–869, 2009.
- [13] Alain Bensoussan and Roger Temam. Equations stochastiques du type Navier-Stokes. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 13(2):195–222, 1973.
- [14] Hakima Bessaih and Benedetta Ferrario. Inviscid limit of stochastic damped 2D Navier-Stokes equations. *Nonlinearity*, 27(1):1–15, 2014.
- [15] Hakima Bessaih, María J. Garrido-Atienza, and Björn Schmalfuß. On 3D Navier-Stokes equations: regularization and uniqueness by delays. Phys. D, 376/377:228–237, 2018.
- [16] Hakima Bessaih, Saber Trabelsi, and Hamdi Zorgati. Existence and uniqueness of global solutions for the modified anisotropic 3D Navier-Stokes equations. ESAIM Math. Model. Numer. Anal., 50(6):1817–1823, 2016.
- [17] Wolf-Jürgen Beyn, Benjamin Gess, Paul Lescot, and Michael Röckner. The global random attractor for a class of stochastic porous media equations. *Comm. Partial Differential Equations*, 36(3):446–469, 2011.
- [18] Vladimir I. Bogachev, Giuseppe Da Prato, Michael Röckner, and Wilhelm Stannat. Uniqueness of solutions to weak parabolic equations for measures. *Bull. Lond. Math. Soc.*, 39(4):631–640, 2007.
- [19] Didier Bresch and Benoît Desjardins. Existence of global weak solutions for a 2D viscous shallow water equations and convergence to the quasi-geostrophic model. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 238(1-2):211–223, 2003.
- [20] Russell Murray Brown and Zhongwei Shen. Estimates for the Stokes operator in Lipschitz domains. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 44(4):1183–1206, 1995.
- [21] Zdzislaw Brzeźniak, Marek Capiński, and Franco Flandoli. Stochastic partial differential equations and turbulence. *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.*, 1(1):41–59, 1991.
- [22] Zdzislaw Brzeźniak, Marek Capiński, and Franco Flandoli. Stochastic Navier-Stokes equations with multiplicative noise. *Stochastic Anal. Appl.*, 10(5):523–532, 1992.

- [23] Zdzislaw Brzeźniak and Gaurav Dhariwal. Stochastic tamed Navier-Stokes equations on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ : existence, uniqueness of solution and existence of an invariant measure.  $arXiv\ preprint$ , https://arxiv.org/abs/1904.13295, 2019.
- [24] Zdzislaw Brzeźniak and Benedetta Ferrario. Stationary solutions for stochastic damped Navier-Stokes equations in  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . Indiana Univ. Math. J., 68(1):105–138, 2019.
- [25] Zdzislaw Brzeźniak and Yuhong Li. Asymptotic compactness and absorbing sets for 2D stochastic Navier-Stokes equations on some unbounded domains. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc., 358(12):5587–5629, 2006.
- [26] Zdzislaw Brzeźniak, Wei Liu, and Jiahui Zhu. Strong solutions for SPDE with locally monotone coefficients driven by Levy noise. Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl., 17:283–310, 2014.
- [27] Michel Buès, Mikhail Panfilov, Sonia Crosnier, and Constantin Oltean. Macroscale model and viscous-inertia effects for Navier-Stokes flow in a radial fracture with corrugated walls. *J. Fluid Mech.*, 504:41–60, 2004.
- [28] Xiaojing Cai and Quansen Jiu. Weak and strong solutions for the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations with damping. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 343(2):799–809, 2008.
- [29] Marco Cannone and Grzegorz Karch. About the regularized Navier-Stokes equations. *J. Math. Fluid Mech.*, 7(1):1–28, 2005.
- [30] Chongsheng Cao and Jiahong Wu. Two regularity criteria for the 3D MHD equations. *J. Differential Equations*, 248(9):2263–2274, 2010.
- [31] Daomin Cao, Chunyou Sun, and Meihua Yang. Dynamics for a stochastic reaction-diffusion equation with additive noise. *J. Differential Equations*, 259(3):838–872, 2015.
- [32] Yanping Cao, Evelyn M. Lunasin, and Edriss Saleh Titi. Global well-posedness of the three-dimensional viscous and inviscid simplified Bardina turbulence models. *Commun. Math. Sci.*, 4(4):823–848, 2006.
- [33] Tomás Caraballo and Peter E. Kloeden. The three-dimensional globally modified Navier-Stokes equations: recent developments. In *Recent trends in dynamical systems*, volume 35 of *Springer Proc. Math. Stat.*, pages 473–492. Springer, Basel, 2013.
- [34] Tomás Caraballo, Peter E. Kloeden, and José Real. Invariant measures and statistical solutions of the globally modified Navier-Stokes equations. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B, 10(4):761–781, 2008
- [35] Tomás Caraballo and José A. Langa. On the upper semicontinuity of cocycle attractors for non-autonomous and random dynamical systems. *Dyn. Contin. Discrete Impuls. Syst. Ser. A Math. Anal.*, 10(4):491–513, 2003.
- [36] Tomás Caraballo, José A. Langa, and James C. Robinson. Upper semicontinuity of attractors for small random perturbations of dynamical systems. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 23(9-10):1557–1581, 1998.
- [37] Tomás Caraballo and José Real. Navier-Stokes equations with delays. R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 457(2014):2441–2453, 2001.
- [38] Tomás Caraballo, José Real, and Peter E. Kloeden. Unique strong solutions and V-attractors of a three dimensional system of globally modified Navier-Stokes equations. Adv. Nonlinear Stud., 6(3):411–436, 2006.
- [39] Alexey Cheskidov, Darryl D. Holm, Eric Olson, and Edriss Saleh Titi. On a Leray-α model of turbulence. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 461(2055):629–649, 2005.
- [40] Igor Dmitrievich Chueshov and Annie Millet. Stochastic 2D hydrodynamical type systems: well posedness and large deviations. *Appl. Math. Optim.*, 61(3):379–420, 2010.
- [41] Igor Dmitrievich Chueshov and Annie Millet. Stochastic two-dimensional hydrodynamical systems: Wong-Zakai approximation and support theorem. Stoch. Anal. Appl., 29(4):570–611, 2011.
- [42] Peter Constantin. Near identity transformations for the Navier-Stokes equations. In *Handbook of mathematical fluid dynamics*, Vol. II, pages 117–141. North-Holland, Amsterdam, 2003.
- [43] Richard Courant and David Hilbert. *Methoden der Mathematischen Physik. Vol. II.* Interscience Publishers, Inc., N.Y., 1943.
- [44] Hans Crauel. Global random attractors are uniquely determined by attracting deterministic compact sets. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 176:57–72, 1999.
- [45] Hans Crauel, Arnaud Debussche, and Franco Flandoli. Random attractors. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 9(2):307–341, 1997.
- [46] Hans Crauel, Georgi Dimitroff, and Michael Scheutzow. Criteria for strong and weak random attractors. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 21(2):233–247, 2009.

- [47] Hans Crauel and Franco Flandoli. Attractors for random dynamical systems. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 100(3):365–393, 1994.
- [48] Hongyong Cui, José A. Langa, and Yangrong Li. Measurability of random attractors for quasi strong-to-weak continuous random dynamical systems. *J. Dynam. Differential Equations*, 30(4):1873–1898, 2018.
- [49] G. Da Prato and J. Zabczyk. Ergodicity for infinite-dimensional systems, volume 229 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1996.
- [50] Giuseppe Da Prato and Arnaud Debussche. Stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 26(2):241–263, 1996.
- [51] Giuseppe Da Prato and Arnaud Debussche. *m*-dissipativity of Kolmogorov operators corresponding to Burgers equations with space-time white noise. *Potential Anal.*, 26(1):31–55, 2007.
- [52] Giuseppe Da Prato and Jerzy Zabczyk. Stochastic equations in infinite dimensions, volume 44 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1992.
- [53] Edward Brian Davies. Heat kernels and spectral theory, volume 92 of Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1990.
- [54] Latifa Debbi. Well-posedness of the multidimensional fractional stochastic Navier-Stokes equations on the torus and on bounded domains. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 18(1):25–69, 2016.
- [55] Arnaud Debussche. On the finite dimensionality of random attractors. Stochastic Anal. Appl., 15(4):473–491, 1997.
- [56] Gabriel Deugoué. Approximation of the trajectory attractor of the 3D MHD system. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal., 12(5):2119–2144, 2013.
- [57] Gabriel Deugoué, Paul André Razafimandimby, and Mamadou Sango. On the 3-D stochastic magnetohydrodynamic- $\alpha$  model. Stochastic Process. Appl., 122(5):2211–2248, 2012.
- [58] Gabriel Deugoué and Mamadou Sango. On the stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes-α model of fluids turbulence. Abstr. Appl. Anal., pages Art. ID 723236, 27, 2009.
- [59] Gabriel Deugoué and Mamadou Sango. On the strong solution for the 3D stochastic Leray-alpha model. Bound. Value Probl., 2010.
- [60] Gabriel Deugoué and Mamadou Sango. Weak solutions to stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes- $\alpha$  model of turbulence:  $\alpha$ -asymptotic behavior. J. Math. Appl., 384(1):49–62, 2011.
- [61] Gabriel Deugoué and Mamadou Sango. Convergence for a splitting-up scheme for the 3D stochastic Navier-Stokes-α model. Stoch. Anal. Appl., 32(2):253–279, 2014.
- [62] Gabriel Deugoué and Mamadou Sango. Strong solutions for the stochastic 3D LANS-α model driven by non-Gaussian Lévy noise. Stoch. Dyn., 15(2):1550011, 38, 2015.
- [63] Gabriel Deugoué and Theodore Tachim Medjo. The stochastic 3D globally modified Navier-Stokes equations: existence, uniqueness and asymptotic behavior. *Commun. Pure Appl. Anal.*, 17(6):2593–2621, 2018.
- [64] Zhao Dong and Rangrang Zhang. 3D tamed Navier-Stokes equations driven by multiplicative Lévy noise: Existence, uniqueness and large deviations. arXiv preprint, https://arxiv.org/abs/1810. 08868, 2018.
- [65] Georges Duvaut and Jacques-Louis Lions. Inéquations en thermoélasticité et magnétohydrodynamique. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 46:241–279, 1972.
- [66] Weinan E, Konstantin M. Khanin, Alexander E. Mazel, and Yakov G. Sinai. Invariant measures for Burgers equation with stochastic forcing. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 151(3):877–960, 2000.
- [67] Neven Elezović and Andro Mikelić. On the stochastic Cahn-Hilliard equation. Nonlinear Anal., 16(12):1169–1200, 1991.
- [68] Lawrence Craig Evans. Partial differential equations, volume 19 of Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second edition, 2010.
- [69] Eugene Barry Fabes, B. Frank. Jones Jr., and Néstor Marcelo Rivière. The initial value problem for the Navier-Stokes equations with data in  $L^p$ . Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 45:222–240, 1972.
- [70] Jishan Fan and Tohru Ozawa. Global Cauchy problem for the 2-D magnetohydrodynamic- $\alpha$  models with partial viscous terms. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 12(2):306–319, 2010.
- [71] Xiaoming Fan. Random attractor for a damped sine-Gordon equation with white noise. *Pacific J. Math.*, 216(1):63–76, 2004.
- [72] Daoyuan Fang and Ruizhao Zi. On the well-posedness of inhomogeneous hyperdissipative Navier-Stokes equations. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 33(8):3517–3541, 2013.

- [73] Charles L. Fefferman, David S. McCormick, James C. Robinson, and Jose L. Rodrigo. Higher order commutator estimates and local existence for the non-resistive MHD equations and related models. J. Funct. Anal., 267(4):1035–1056, 2014.
- [74] Charles L. Fefferman, David S. McCormick, James C. Robinson, and Jose L. Rodrigo. Local existence for the non-resistive MHD equations in nearly optimal Sobolev spaces. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 223(2):677–691, 2017.
- [75] Benedetta Ferrario. Well posedness of a stochastic hyperviscosity-regularized Navier-Stokes equation. In *Stochastic partial differential equations and applications*, volume 25 of *Quad. Mat.*, pages 127–138. Dept. Math., Seconda Univ. Napoli, Caserta, 2010.
- [76] Benedetta Ferrario. Characterization of the law for 3D stochastic hyperviscous fluids. Electron. J. Probab., 21:Paper No. 26, 22, 2016.
- [77] Mouaouia Firdaouss, Jean-Luc Guermond, and Patrick Le Quéré. Nonlinear corrections to Darcy's law at low Reynolds numbers. *J. Fluid Mech.*, 343:331–350, 1997.
- [78] Franco Flandoli. Regularity theory and stochastic flows for parabolic SPDEs, volume 9 of Stochastics Monographs. Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, Yverdon, 1995.
- [79] Franco Flandoli and Dariusz Gatarek. Martingale and stationary solutions for stochastic Navier-Stokes equations. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 102(3):367–391, 1995.
- [80] Franco Flandoli, Benjamin Gess, and Michael Scheutzow. Synchronization by noise. Probab. Theory Related Fields, 168(3-4):511-556, 2017.
- [81] Philipp Forchheimer. Wasserbewegung durch Boden. Z. Vereines deutscher Ing., 45(50):1782–1788, 1901.
- [82] Mostafa Fourar, Giovanni Radilla, Roland Lenormand, and Christian Moyne. On the non-linear behavior of a laminar single-phase flow through two and three-dimensional porous media. *Advances in Water Resources*, 27(6):669–677, 2004.
- [83] Franca Franchi and Brian Straughan. Continuous dependence and decay for the Forchheimer equations. R. Soc. Lond. Proc. Ser. A Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 459(2040):3195–3202, 2003.
- [84] Jens Frehse and Michael Růžička. Non-homogeneous generalized Newtonian fluids. *Math. Z.*, 260(2):355–375, 2008.
- [85] Peter K. Friz and Martin Hairer. A course on rough paths. Universitext. Springer, Cham, 2014.
- [86] Hongjun Gao and Hui Liu. Stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes equations with nonlinear damping: martingale solution, strong solution and small time LDP. In Stochastic PDEs and modelling of multiscale complex system, volume 20 of Interdiscip. Math. Sci., pages 9–36. World Sci. Publ., Hackensack, N.J. 2019.
- [87] Hongjun Gao and Hui Liu. Well-posedness and invariant measures for a class of stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes equations with damping driven by jump noise. *J. Differential Equations*, 267(10):5938–5975, 2019.
- [88] Hongjun Gao and Chengfeng Sun. Random dynamics of the 3D stochastic Navier-Stokes-Voight equations. *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.*, 13(3):1197–1205, 2012.
- [89] Xiancheng Gao and Hongjun Gao. Existence and uniqueness of weak solutions to stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes equations with delays. *Appl. Math. Lett.*, 95:158–164, 2019.
- [90] Krzysztof Gawedzki and Massimo Vergassola. Universality in turbulence: An exactly solvable model. Low-Dimensional Models in Statistical Physics and Quantum Field Theory. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1996.
- [91] Krzysztof Gawedzki and Massimo Vergassola. Phase transition in the passive scalar advection. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 138(1):63–90, 2000.
- [92] Massimo Germano. Differential filters for the large eddy numerical simulation of turbulent flows. *Phys. Fluids*, 29(6):1755–1757, 1986.
- [93] Massimo Germano. Differential filters of elliptic type. Phys. Fluids, 29(6):1757–1758, 1986.
- [94] Benjamin Gess. Random Attractors for Degenerate Stochastic Partial Differential Equations. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 25(1):121–157, 2013.
- [95] Benjamin Gess. Random attractors for singular stochastic evolution equations. *J. Differential Equations*, 255(3):524–559, 2013.
- [96] Benjamin Gess. Random attractors for stochastic porous media equations perturbed by space-time linear multiplicative noise. *Ann. Probab.*, 42(2):818–864, 2014.
- [97] Benjamin Gess, Wei Liu, and Michael Röckner. Random attractors for a class of stochastic partial differential equations driven by general additive noise. J. Differential Equations, 251(4-5):1225– 1253, 2011.

- [98] Benjamin Gess, Wei Liu, and Andre Schenke. Random attractors for locally monotone stochastic partial differential equations. arXiv preprint, https://arxiv.org/abs/1908.03539, 2019.
- [99] Benjamin Gess and Jonas M. Tölle. Ergodicity and local limits for stochastic local and nonlocal p-Laplace equations. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 48(6):4094–4125, 2016.
- [100] David Gilbarg and Neil Sidney Trudinger. *Elliptic partial differential equations of second order*. Classics in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. Reprint of the 1998 edition.
- [101] Nathan Glatt-Holtz, Vladimír Šverák, and Vlad Vicol. On inviscid limits for the stochastic Navier-Stokes equations and related models. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 217(2):619–649, 2015.
- [102] Jonathan Pietarila Graham, Darryl D. Holm, Pablo D. Mininni, and Annick Pouquet. Three regularization models of the Navier–Stokes equations. *Phys. Fluids*, 20(20):035107, 15 pp., 2008.
- [103] Alexander Groisman and Victor Steinberg. Elastic turbulence in a polymer solution flow. *Nature*, 405:53–55, 2000.
- [104] Anhui Gu, Dingshi Li, Bixiang Wang, and Han Yang. Regularity of random attractors for fractional stochastic reaction-diffusion equations on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . J. Differential Equations, 264(12):7094–7137, 2018.
- [105] Anhui Gu and Yangrong Li. Dynamic behavior of stochastic p-Laplacian-type lattice equations. Stoch. Dyn., 17(5):1750040, 19, 2017.
- [106] Anhui Gu and Bixiang Wang. Asymptotic behavior of random Fitzhugh-Nagumo systems driven by colored noise. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B*, 23(4):1689–1720, 2018.
- [107] Jean-Luc Guermond, John Tinsley Oden, and Serge M. Prudhomme. An interpretation of the Navier-Stokes-alpha model as a frame-indifferent Leray regularization. *Phys. D*, 177(1-4):23–30, 2003
- [108] Boling Guo and Chunxiao Guo. Remark on random attractors of stochastic non-Newtonian fluid. J. Partial Differ. Equ., 23(1):16–32, 2010.
- [109] Sandro Marcos Guzzo and Gabriela Planas. On a class of three dimensional Navier-Stokes equations with bounded delay. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B*, 16(1):225–238, 2011.
- [110] Sandro Marcos Guzzo and Gabriela Planas. Existence of solutions for a class of Navier-Stokes equations with infinite delay. *Appl. Anal.*, 94(4):840–855, 2015.
- [111] Cheng He and Zhouping Xin. On the regularity of weak solutions to the magnetohydrodynamic equations. J. Differential Equations, 213(2):235–254, 2005.
- [112] Cheng He and Zhouping Xin. Partial regularity of suitable weak solutions to the incompressible magnetohydrodynamic equations. J. Funct. Anal., 227(1):113–152, 2005.
- [113] Martina Hofmanová, James-Michael Leahy, and Torstein Nilssen. On the Navier-Stokes equation perturbed by rough transport noise. J. Evol. Equ., 19(1):203–247, 2019.
- [114] Michael Holst, Evelyn Lunasin, and Gantumur Tsogtgerel. Analysis of a general family of regularized Navier-Stokes and MHD models. J. Nonlinear Sci., 20(5):523–567, 2010.
- [115] Eberhard Hopf. Über die Anfangswertaufgabe für die hydrodynamischen Grundgleichungen. *Math. Nachr.*, 4:213–231, 1951.
- [116] Chin-Tsau Hsu and Ping Cheng. Thermal dispersion in a porous medium. Int. J. Heat Mass Transfer, 33(8):1587–1597, 1990.
- [117] Feimin Huang and Ronghua Pan. Convergence rate for compressible Euler equations with damping and vacuum. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 166(4):359–376, 2003.
- [118] Jianhua Huang and Tianlong Shen. Well-posedness and dynamics of the stochastic fractional magneto-hydrodynamic equations. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 133:102–133, 2016.
- [119] Peter Imkeller and Christian Lederer. On the cohomology of flows of stochastic and random differential equations. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 120(2):209–235, 2001.
- [120] Renato Iturriaga and Konstantin M. Khanin. Burgers turbulence and random Lagrangian systems. Comm. Math. Phys., 232(3):377–428, 2003.
- [121] Mirko Rokyta Josef Málek, Jindřich Nečas and Michael Růžička. Weak and measure-valued solutions to evolutionary PDEs, volume 13 of Applied Mathematics and Mathematical Computation. Chapman & Hall, London, 1996.
- [122] Varga K. Kalantarov, Boris Levant, and Edriss Saleh Titi. Gevrey regularity for the attractor of the 3D Navier-Stokes-Voight equations. J. Nonlinear Sci., 19(2):133–152, 2009.
- [123] Varga K. Kalantarov and Edriss Saleh Titi. Global attractors and determining modes for the 3D Navier-Stokes-Voight equations. Chin. Ann. Math. Ser. B, 30(6):697-714, 2009.
- [124] Varga K. Kalantarov and Sergey Zelik. Smooth attractors for the Brinkman-Forchheimer equations with fast growing nonlinearities. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal., 11(5):2037–2054, 2012.

- [125] Olav Kallenberg. Foundations of modern probability. Probability and its Applications (New York). Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 2002.
- [126] Kyungkeun Kang and Jihoon Lee. Interior regularity criteria for suitable weak solutions of the magnetohydrodynamic equations. J. Differential Equations, 247(8):2310–2330, 2009.
- [127] Ioannis Karatzas and Steven E. Shreve. Brownian motion and stochastic calculus, volume 113 of Graduate Texts in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1991.
- [128] Nets Hawk Katz and Nataša Pavlović. A cheap Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality for the Navier-Stokes equation with hyper-dissipation. *Geom. Funct. Anal.*, 12(2):355–379, 2002.
- [129] Durga Jang K.C. and Kazuo Yamazaki. Logarithmically extended global regularity result of Lansalpha MHD system in two-dimensional space. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, 425(1):234–248, 2015.
- [130] Durga Jang K.C. and Kazuo Yamazaki. Regularity results on the Leray-alpha magnetohydrodynamics systems. *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.*, 32:178–197, 2016.
- [131] Hannes Keller. Attractors of second order stochastic differential equations. Logos Verlag Berlin, Berlin, 2002.
- [132] Peter E. Kloeden, Tomás Caraballo, José A. Langa, José Real, and José Valero. The three-dimensional globally modified Navier-Stokes equations. In Advances in nonlinear analysis: theory methods and applications, volume 3 of Math. Probl. Eng. Aerosp. Sci., pages 11–22. Camb. Sci. Publ., Cambridge, 2009.
- [133] Yukio Kōmura. Nonlinear semi-groups in Hilbert space. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 19:493–507, 1967.
- [134] Yukio Kōmura. Differentiability of nonlinear semigroups. J. Math. Soc. Japan, 21:375–402, 1969.
- [135] Robert H. Kraichnan. Small-Scale Structure of a Scalar Field Convected by Turbulence. *Phys. Fluids*, 11(5):945–953, 1968.
- [136] Andrew Krause and Bixiang Wang. Pullback attractors of non-autonomous stochastic degenerate parabolic equations on unbounded domains. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 417(2):1018–1038, 2014.
- [137] Nicolai Vladimirovich Krylov. Some properties of traces for stochastic and deterministic parabolic weighted Sobolev spaces. J. Funct. Anal., 183(1):1–41, 2001.
- [138] Sergeĭ B. Kuksin and Shirikyan Armen R. On random attractors for systems of mixing type. Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen., 38(1):34–46, 2004.
- [139] Yoshiki Kuramoto. Diffusion-induced chaos in reaction systems. *Progress of Theoretical Physics Supplement*, 64:346–367, 1978.
- [140] Olga Aleksandrovna Ladyzhenskaja, Vsevolod Alekseevich Solonnikov, and Nina Nikolaevna Ural'ceva. Linear and quasilinear equations of parabolic type. Translated from the Russian by S. Smith. Translations of Mathematical Monographs, Vol. 23. American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1967.
- [141] Olga Aleksandrovna Ladyzhenskaya. The mathematical theory of viscous incompressible flow. Second English edition, revised and enlarged. Translated from the Russian by Richard A. Silverman and John Chu. Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 2. Gordon and Breach, Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, 1969.
- [142] Olga Aleksandrovna Ladyzhenskaya. New equations for the description of the viscous incompressible fluids and solvability in large of the boundary value problems for them, volume V of Boundary Value Problems of Mathematical Physics. 1970.
- [143] José A. Langa. Finite-dimensional limiting dynamics of random dynamical systems. *Dyn. Syst.*, 18(1):57–68, 2003.
- [144] Adam Larios. The Inviscid Voigt-Regularization for Hydrodynamic Models: Global Regularity, Boundary Conditions, and Blow-Up Phenomena. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2011. Thesis (Ph.D.)—University of California, Irvine.
- [145] Adam Larios and Edriss Saleh Titi. On the higher-order global regularity of the inviscid Voigt-regularization of three-dimensional hydrodynamic models. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B*, 14(2):603–627, 2010.
- [146] Adam Larios and Edriss Saleh Titi. Higher-order global regularity of an inviscid Voigt-regularization of the three-dimensional inviscid resistive magnetohydrodynamic equations. *J. Math. Fluid Mech.*, 16(1):59–76, 2014.
- [147] Christian Lederer. Konjugation stochastischer und zufälliger stationärer Differentialgleichungen und eine Version des lokalen Satzes von Hartman-Grobman für stochastische Differentialgleichungen. *PhD thesis*, 2001.
- [148] Jean Leray. Sur le mouvement d'un liquide visqueux emplissant l'espace. *Acta Math.*, 63(1):193–248, 1934.

- [149] Jeff Earl Lewis. Mixed estimates for singular integrals and an application to initial value problems in parabolic differential equations. In *Singular Integrals (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Chicago, Ill.,* 1966), pages 218–231. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1967.
- [150] Fang Li and Bo You. Long-time behavior of the three dimensional globally modified Navier-Stokes equations. arXiv preprint, https://arxiv.org/abs/1703.05538, 2017.
- [151] Shihu Li, Wei Liu, and Yingchao Xie. Ergodicity of 3D Leray-α model with fractional dissipation and degenerate stochastic forcing. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., 22(1):1950002, 20, 2019.
- [152] Shihu Li, Wei Liu, and Yingchao Xie. Exponential mixing for stochastic 3D fractional Leray- $\alpha$  model with degenerate multiplicative noise. *Appl. Math. Lett.*, 95:1–6, 2019.
- [153] Shihu Li, Wei Liu, and Yingchao Xie. Large deviations for stochastic 3D Leray-α model with fractional dissipation. Commun. Pure Appl. Anal., 18(5):2491–2510, 2019.
- [154] Yangrong Li, Hongyong Cui, and Jia Li. Upper semi-continuity and regularity of random attractors on p-times integrable spaces and applications. Nonlinear Anal., 109:33–44, 2014.
- [155] Yangrong Li, Anhui Gu, and Jia Li. Existence and continuity of bi-spatial random attractors and application to stochastic semilinear Laplacian equations. *J. Differential Equations*, 258(2):504–534, 2015.
- [156] Yangrong Li and Boling Guo. Random attractors for quasi-continuous random dynamical systems and applications to stochastic reaction-diffusion equations. J. Differential Equations, 245(7):1775– 1800, 2008.
- [157] Yangrong Li and Jinyan Yin. Existence, regularity and approximation of global attractors for weakly dissipative p-Laplace equations. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. S, 9(6):1939–1957, 2016.
- [158] Yangrong Li and Jinyan Yin. A modified proof of pullback attractors in a Sobolev space for sto-chastic FitzHugh-Nagumo equations. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B*, 21(4):1203–1223, 2016.
- [159] Jasmine S. Linshiz and Edriss Saleh Titi. Analytical study of certain magnetohydrodynamic-α models. J. Math. Phys., 48(6):065504, 28, 2007.
- [160] Jacques-Louis Lions. Quelques méthodes de résolution des problèmes aux limites non linéaires. Dunod; Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1969.
- [161] Hui Liu and Hongjun Gao. Ergodicity and dynamics for the stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes equations with damping. *Commun. Math. Sci.*, 16(1):97–122, 2018.
- [162] Hui Liu, Lin Lin, Chengfeng Sun, and Qingkun Xiao. The exponential behavior and stabilizability of the stochastic 3D Navier-Stokes equations with damping. Rev. Math. Phys., 31(7):1950023, 15, 2019.
- [163] Hui Liu and Chengfeng Sun. Large deviations for the 3D stochastic Navier-Stokes-Voight equations. Appl. Anal., 97(6):919–937, 2018.
- [164] Wei Liu. Existence and uniqueness of solutions to nonlinear evolution equations with locally monotone operators. Nonlinear Anal., 74:7543-7561, 2011.
- [165] Wei Liu and Michael Röckner. SPDE in Hilbert space with locally monotone coefficients. *J. Funct. Anal.*, 259(11):2902–2922, 2010.
- [166] Wei Liu and Michael Röckner. Local and global well-posedness of SPDE with generalized coercivity conditions. J. Differential Equations, 254:725–755, 2013.
- [167] Wei Liu and Michael Röckner. Stochastic partial differential equations: an introduction. Universitext. Springer, Cham, 2015.
- [168] Hong Lu, Jiangang Qi, Bixiang Wang, and Mingji Zhang. Random attractors for non-autonomous fractional stochastic parabolic equations on unbounded domains. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 39(2):683–706, 2019.
- [169] Utpal Manna and Manil T. Mohan. Two-dimensional magneto-hydrodynamic system with jump processes: well posedness and invariant measures. *Commun. Stoch. Anal.*, 7(1):153–178, 2013.
- [170] Utpal Manna, Manil T. Mohan, and Sivaguru S. Sritharan. Stochastic non-resistive magnetohydrodynamic system with Lévy noise. Random Oper. Stoch. Equ., 25(3):155–193, 2017.
- [171] Fabien Marche. Derivation of a new two-dimensional viscous shallow water model with varying topography, bottom friction and capillary effects. Eur. J. Mech. B Fluids, 26(1):49–63, 2007.
- [172] Carlo Marinelli and Michael Röckner. On the maximal inequalities of Burkholder, Davis and Gundy. Expo. Math., 34(1):1–26, 2016.
- [173] Peter A. Markowich, Edriss Saleh Titi, and Saber Trabelsi. Continuous data assimilation for the three-dimensional Brinkman-Forchheimer-extended Darcy model. *Nonlinearity*, 29(4):1292–1328, 2016.

- [174] Jonathan Christopher Mattingly and Yakov Grigorevich Sinai. An elementary proof of the existence and uniqueness theorem for the Navier-Stokes equations. *Commun. Contemp. Math.*, 1(4):497–516, 1999
- [175] Jonathan Christopher Mattingly and Toufic Mubadda Suidan. The small scales of the stochastic Navier-Stokes equations under rough forcing. J. Stat. Phys., 118(1-2):343–364, 2005.
- [176] Michel Métivier. Stochastic partial differential equations in infinite-dimensional spaces. Scuola Normale Superiore di Pisa. Quaderni. [Publications of the Scuola Normale Superiore of Pisa]. Scuola Normale Superiore, Pisa, 1988. With a preface by G. Da Prato.
- [177] Daniel M. Michelson and Gregory I. Sivashinsky. Nonlinear analysis of hydrodynamic instability in laminar flames. II. Numerical experiments. *Acta Astronaut.*, 4(11-12):1207–1221, 1977.
- [178] Remigijus Mikulevicius and Boris L. Rozovskii. On equations of stochastic fluid mechanics. In Stochastics in finite and infinite dimensions, Trends Math., pages 285–302. Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 2001.
- [179] Remigijus Mikulevicius and Boris L. Rozovskii. Stochastic Navier-Stokes equations for turbulent flows. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 35(5):1250–1310, 2004.
- [180] Remigijus Mikulevicius and Boris L. Rozovskii. Global  $L_2$ -solutions of stochastic Navier-Stokes equations. Ann. Probab., 33(1):137–176, 2005.
- [181] Pablo D. Mininni, David C. Montgomery, and Annick G. Pouquet. A numerical study of the alpha model for two-dimensional magnetohydrodynamic turbulent flows. *Phys. Fluids*, 17(3):17 pp., 2005.
- [182] Elżbieta Motyl. Stochastic hydrodynamic-type evolution equations driven by Lévy noise in 3D unbounded domains—abstract framework and applications. *Stochastic Process. Appl.*, 124(6):2052–2097, 2014.
- [183] César J. Niche and Gabriela Planas. Existence and decay of solutions in full space to Navier-Stokes equations with delays. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 74(1):244–256, 2011.
- [184] Amy Novick-Cohen. On Cahn-Hilliard type equations. Nonlinear Anal., 15(9):797–814, 1990.
- [185] Amy Novick-Cohen. The Cahn-Hilliard equation: mathematical and modeling perspectives. Adv. Math. Sci. Appl., 8(2):965–985, 1998.
- [186] Anatolii Petrovich Oskolkov. The uniqueness and solvability in the large of boundary value problems for the equations of motion of aqueous solutions of polymers. Zap. Naučn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 38:98–136, 1973. Boundary value problems of mathematical physics and related questions in the theory of functions, 7.
- [187] Anatolii Petrovich Oskolkov. On the theory of unsteady flows of Kelvin-Voigt fluids. Zap. Nauchn. Sem. Leningrad. Otdel. Mat. Inst. Steklov. (LOMI), 115:191–202, 1982. Boundary value problems of mathematical physics and related questions in the theory of functions, 14.
- [188] Yan Ouyang and Ling-E Yang. A note on the existence of a global attractor for the Brinkman-Forchheimer equations. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 70(5):2054–2059, 2009.
- [189] Szymon Peszat and Jerzy Zabczyk. Stochastic partial differential equations with Lévy noise, volume 113 of Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2007. An evolution equation approach.
- [190] Paul André Razafimandimby and Mamadou Sango. Existence and large time behavior for a stochastic model of modified magnetohydrodynamic equations. Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 66(5):2197–2235, 2015.
- [191] Daniel Revuz and Marc Yor. Continuous martingales and Brownian motion, volume 293 of Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences]. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, third edition, 1999.
- [192] James C. Robinson, José L. Rodrigo, and Witold Sadowski. The three-dimensional Navier-Stokes equations, volume 157 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2016.
- [193] Michael Röckner, Byron Schmuland, and Xicheng Zhang. Yamada-Watanabe theorem for stochastic evolution equations in infinite dimensions. *Condensed Matter Physics*, 11(2):247–259, 2008.
- [194] Michael Röckner and Tusheng Zhang. Stochastic 3D tamed Navier-Stokes equations: existence, uniqueness and small time large deviation principles. *J. Differential Equations*, 252(1):716–744, 2012.
- [195] Michael Röckner, Tusheng Zhang, and Xicheng Zhang. Large deviations for stochastic tamed 3D Navier-Stokes equations. *Appl. Math. Optim.*, 61(2):267–285, 2010.
- [196] Michael Röckner and Xicheng Zhang. Stochastic tamed 3D Navier-Stokes equations: existence, uniqueness and ergodicity. *Probab. Theory Related Fields*, 145(1-2):211–267, 2009.

- [197] Michael Röckner and Xicheng Zhang. Tamed 3D Navier-Stokes equation: existence, uniqueness and regularity. *Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top.*, 12(4):525–549, 2009.
- [198] Andre Schenke. The Deterministic Tamed MHD Equations. In preparation.
- [199] Andre Schenke. The Stochastic Tamed MHD Equations. In preparation.
- [200] Björn Schmalfuss. Backward cocycle and attractors of stochastic differential equations. In V. Reitmann, T. Riedrich, and N. Koksch, editors, International Seminar on Applied Mathematics Nonlinear Dynamics: Attractor Approximation and Global Behavior, pages 185–192. Technische Universität Dresden, 1992.
- [201] Michel Sermange and Roger Temam. Some mathematical questions related to the MHD equations. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 36(5):635–664, 1983.
- [202] Yadong Shang, Jianjun Paul Tian, and Bixiang Wang. Asymptotic behavior of the stochastic Keller-Segel equations. Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. Ser. B, 24(3):1367–1391, 2019.
- [203] Tianlong Shen and Jianhua Huang. Ergodicity of stochastic magneto-hydrodynamic equations driven by α-stable noise. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 446(1):746–769, 2017.
- [204] Gregory I. Sivashinsky. On flame propagation under conditions of stoichiometry. SIAM J. Appl. Math., 39(1):67–82, 1980.
- [205] Sivaguru S. Sritharan. Deterministic and stochastic control of Navier-Stokes equation with linear, monotone, and hyperviscosities. Appl. Math. Optim., 41(2):255–308, 2000.
- [206] Sivaguru S. Sritharan and Padmanabhan Sundar. The stochastic magneto-hydrodynamic system. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., 2(2):241–265, 1999.
- [207] Elias Menachem Stein. Singular integrals and differentiability properties of functions. Princeton Mathematical Series, No. 30. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1970.
- [208] Chengfeng Sun and Hongjun Gao. Hausdorff dimension of random attractor for stochastic Navier-Stokes-Voight equations and primitive equations. *Dyn. Partial Differ. Equ.*, 7(4):307–326, 2010.
- [209] Padmanabhan Sundar. Stochastic magneto-hydrodynamic system perturbed by general noise. Commun. Stoch. Anal., 4(2):253–269, 2010.
- [210] Kazuaki Taira. Analytic semigroups and semilinear initial boundary value problems. Cambridge University Press, 1995.
- [211] Zhong Tan, Dehua Wang, and Huaqiao Wang. Global strong solution to the three-dimensional stochastic incompressible magnetohydrodynamic equations. *Math. Ann.*, 365(3-4):1219–1256, 2016.
- [212] Quoc Bao Tang. Dynamics of stochastic three dimensional Navier-Stokes-Voigt equations on unbounded domains. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 419(1):583–605, 2014.
- [213] Roger Temam. Infinite-dimensional dynamical systems in mechanics and physics, volume 68 of Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, second edition, 1997.
- [214] Roger Temam. Navier-Stokes equations. AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI, 2001. Theory and numerical analysis, Reprint of the 1984 edition.
- [215] Edriss Saleh Titi and Saber Trabelsi. Global Well-Posedness of a 3D MHD Model in Porous Media. arXiv preprint, https://arxiv.org/abs/1805.10661, 2018.
- [216] Davut Uğurlu. On the existence of a global attractor for the Brinkman-Forchheimer equations. Nonlinear Anal., 68(7):1986–1992, 2008.
- [217] Werner Varnhorn. The Navier-Stokes equations with time delay. Appl. Math. Sci. (Ruse), 2(17-20):947–960, 2008.
- [218] Mark I. Vishik, Edriss Saleh Titi, and Vladimir V. Chepyzhov. On the convergence of trajectory attractors of the three-dimensional Navier-Stokes  $\alpha$ -model as  $\alpha \to 0$ . Mat. Sb., 198(12):3–36, 2007.
- [219] Bixiang Wang. Random attractors for the stochastic Benjamin-Bona-Mahony equation on unbounded domains. J. Differential Equations, 246(6):2506–2537, 2009.
- [220] Bixiang Wang. Existence and upper semicontinuity of attractors for stochastic equations with deterministic non-autonomous terms. Stoch. Dyn., 14(4), 2014.
- [221] Bixiang Wang. Asymptotic behavior of non-autonomous fractional stochastic reaction-diffusion equations. *Nonlinear Anal.*, 158:60–82, 2017.
- [222] Bixiang Wang. Weak Pullback Attractors for Mean Random Dynamical Systems in Bochner Spaces. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 2018.
- [223] Bixiang Wang. Weak pullback attractors for stochastic Navier-Stokes equations with nonlinear diffusion terms. *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 147(4):1627–1638, 2019.
- [224] Bixiang Wang and Siyu Lin. Existence of global attractors for the three-dimensional Brinkman-Forchheimer equation. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, 31(12):1479–1495, 2008.

- [225] Feng-Yu Wang and Lihu Xu. Derivative formula and applications for hyperdissipative stochastic Navier-Stokes/Burgers equations. Infin. Dimens. Anal. Quantum Probab. Relat. Top., 15(3):1250020, 19, 2012.
- [226] Guiren Wang, Fang Yang, and Wei Zhao. There can be turbulence in microfluidics at low Reynolds number. Lab on a Chip, 14:1452–1458, 2014.
- [227] Huaqiao Wang. The exponential behavior and stabilizability of the stochastic magnetohydrodynamic equations. Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 69(3):Art. 82, 15, 2018.
- [228] Shulin Wang and Yangrong Li. Longtime robustness of pullback random attractors for stochastic magneto-hydrodynamics equations. *Phys. D*, 382/383:46–57, 2018.
- [229] Zhihong Wen. Global regularity of 2D incompressible Leray-alpha-MHD equations with only magnetic diffusion. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 475(1):782–789, 2019.
- [230] Dirk Werner. Funktionalanalysis. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, seventh edition, 2011. (in German).
- [231] Nicholas E. Wilson. On the Leray-deconvolution model for the incompressible magnetohydrodynamics equations. *Appl. Math. Comput.*, 218(21):10557–10571, 2012.
- [232] Nicholas E. Wilson. On the well-posedness and conservation laws of a family of multiscale deconvolution models for the magnetohydrodynamics equations. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, 416(2):534–552, 2014.
- [233] Jiahong Wu. Generalized MHD equations. J. Differential Equations, 195(2):284-312, 2003.
- [234] Kazuo Yamazaki. Global martingale solution to the stochastic nonhomogeneous magnetohydrodynamics system. Adv. Differential Equations, 21(11-12):1085–1116, 2016.
- [235] Kazuo Yamazaki. Stochastic Lagrangian formulations for damped Navier-Stokes equations and Boussinesq system, with applications. *Commun. Stoch. Anal.*, 12(4):Article 5, 447–471, 2018.
- [236] Kazuo Yamazaki. Ergodicity of a Galerkin approximation of three-dimensional magnetohydrodynamics system forced by a degenerate noise. *Stochastics*, 91(1):114–142, 2019.
- [237] Kazuo Yamazaki. Gibbsian dynamics and ergodicity of magnetohydrodynamics and related systems forced by random noise. *Stoch. Anal. Appl.*, 37(3):412–444, 2019.
- [238] Desheng Yang. Random attractors for the stochastic Kuramoto-Sivashinsky equation. Stoch. Anal. Appl., 24(6):1285–1303, 2006.
- [239] Meihua Yang and Peter E. Kloeden. Random attractors for stochastic semi-linear degenerate parabolic equations. *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.*, 12(5):2811–2821, 2011.
- [240] Wanrong Yang, Quansen Jiu, and Jiahong Wu. The 3D incompressible magnetohydrodynamic equations with fractional partial dissipation. J. Differential Equations, 266(1):630–652, 2019.
- [241] Zhuan Ye. Regularity and decay of 3D incompressible MHD equations with nonlinear damping terms. Colloq. Math., 139(2):185–203, 2015.
- [242] Jinyan Yin and Yangrong Li. Two types of upper semi-continuity of bi-spatial attractors for non-autonomous stochastic p-Laplacian equations on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 40(13):4863–4879, 2017.
- [243] Zensho Yoshida and Yoshikazu Giga. A nonlinear semigroup approach to the Navier-Stokes system. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 9(3):215–230, 1984.
- [244] Bo You. The existence of a random attractor for the three dimensional damped Navier-Stokes equations with additive noise. *Stoch. Anal. Appl.*, 35(4):691–700, 2017.
- [245] Honglian You and Rong Yuan. Random attractor for stochastic partial functional differential equations with infinite delay. *Bull. Korean Math. Soc.*, 51(5):1469–1484, 2014.
- [246] Yuncheng You, Caidi Zhao, and Shengfan Zhou. The existence of uniform attractors for 3D Brinkman-Forchheimer equations. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 32(10):3787–3800, 2012.
- [247] Yongjiang Yu and Kaitai Li. Existence of solutions for the MHD-Leray-alpha equations and their relations to the MHD equations. *J. Math. Anal. Appl.*, 329(1):298–326, 2007.
- [248] Eberhard Zeidler. Nonlinear functional analysis and its applications. II/A. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1990. Linear monotone operators, Translated from German by the author and Leo F. Boron.
- [249] Rangrang Zhang. Backward uniqueness of 3D MHD- $\alpha$  model driven by linear multiplicative Gaussian noise. *Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences*, pages 1–15, 2019.
- [250] Xicheng Zhang. A tamed 3D Navier-Stokes equation in uniform  $C^2$ -domains. Nonlinear Anal., 71(7-8):3093–3112, 2009.
- [251] Zujin Zhang, Chupeng Wu, and Zheng-an Yao. Remarks on global regularity for the 3D MHD system with damping. *Appl. Math. Comput.*, 333:1–7, 2018.
- [252] Zujin Zhang, Xinglong Wu, and Ming Lu. On the uniqueness of strong solution to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations with damping. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 377(1):414–419, 2011.

- [253] Zujin Zhang and Xian Yang. Global regularity for the 3D MHD system with damping. Colloq. Math., 145(1):107–110, 2016.
- [254] Caidi Zhao and Jinqiao Duan. Random attractor for the Ladyzhenskaya model with additive noise. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 362(1):241–251, 2010.
- [255] Wenqiang Zhao. Long-time random dynamics of stochastic parabolic p-Laplacian equations on  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . Nonlinear Anal., 152:196–219, 2017.
- [256] Wenqiang Zhao. Random dynamics of stochastic p-Laplacian equations on  $\mathbb{R}^N$  with an unbounded additive noise. J. Math. Anal. Appl., 455(2):1178–1203, 2017.
- [257] Wenqiang Zhao and Yangrong Li. Asymptotic behavior of two-dimensional stochastic magneto-hydrodynamics equations with additive noises. J. Math. Phys., 52(7):072701, 18, 2011.
- [258] Wenqiang Zhao and Yangrong Li. Existence of random attractors for a p-Laplacian-type equation with additive noise. Abstract and Applied Analysis, pages 1–21, 2011.
- [259] Shengfan Zhou and Min Zhao. Fractal dimension of random attractor for stochastic non-autonomous damped wave equation with linear multiplicative white noise. *Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst.*, 36(5):2887–2914, 2016.
- [260] Yong Zhou. Regularity and uniqueness for the 3D incompressible Navier-Stokes equations with damping. Appl. Math. Lett., 25(11):1822–1825, 2012.
- [261] Yong Zhou and Jishan Fan. Global well-posedness for two modified-Leray-α-MHD models with partial viscous terms. *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.*, 33(7):856–862, 2010.
- [262] Yong Zhou and Jishan Fan. On the Cauchy problem for a Leray- $\alpha$ -MHD model. Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl., 12(1):648–657, 2011.
- [263] Rongchan Zhu and Xiangchan Zhu. Random attractor associated with the quasi-geostrophic equation. J. Dynam. Differential Equations, 29(1):289–322, 2017.